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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON ‘ - 1998-2003

QUINQUENNIAL REPORT
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Diocese of Wilmington was established in 1868. It consists of the State of
Delaware (3 counties, 1932 sq. miles) and 9 counties of the State of Maryland
(5307 sq. miles). It is located in the Delmarva Peninsula. Adjacent (Arch)
Dioceses are Philadelphia, Camden, Richmond, Baltimore, Harrisburg. The
diocese is divided into 7 deaneries. There are 57 parishes of which 3 are national
(2 Polish, 1 Italian) and 1 personal (University of Delaware students and faculty).
There are 19 missions, 2 Interparochial elementary schools, 25 parochial schools,
4 private, 2 diocesan high schools, 3 parochial high schools, 3 private high
schools. Total enrollment is 15,495. There are 10,200 students in grade and high
school reIigious education programs. Total registered Catholic population from
parishes is 220,000, but there are certainly more Catholics who are snnply
unaffiliated with the Church. Total population is 1,215,685.

Most Rev. Michael A. Saltarelli became the diocesan bishop in ]anuary of 1996.
There are two Vicars General - one for Pastoral Services and one for
Administrative Concerns who also serves as a Moderator of the Curia. Thirty-
four offices of the diocese are divided into six departments, i.e.,, Pastoral
Concerns, Finance, Christian Formation, Communications, Development, and
Catholic Charities. "There are also councils, commissions and committees for
other matters of concern to the diocese of which the College of Consultors (9
members), Priests” Council (17 members), Pastoral Council (18 members) and
Finance Council (9 members) are, of course, the more important.

The diocese is a mixture of urban and rural populations. The majority are
European Americans with minority populations of African-Americans and
Hispanics. There are some Asians. The Spanish speaking come largely from
Puerto Rico, Mexico, Guatemala and the islands of the Caribbean. Thirty-four
parishes are in New Castle County with the remaining 23 in the southern two
counties of Delaware and the nine counties of Maryland.

Bishop Saltarelli has personally been visible in all areas of the diocese and is
concerned that diocesan services be provided to all areas even though outside of
New Castle County the number of Catholics is much smaller. The challenge of
spiritual care of a growing Hispanic population, evangelization of the African-
American peoples in urban and rural areas is a major priority as is the concern
for the faith of Catholic students on six major secular college campuses. There
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are no institutions of higher learning operated by the Church or religious
commmunities.

To serve the parishes and apostolates there are 88 active diocesan priests, 86
religious priests, 8 extern priests, 76 permanent deacons, 29 brothers, 259 sisters,
1075 lay teachers in schools, colleges and religious educations programs. All
parishes have functioning parish councils and finance councils. The laity are
quite supportive of their parishes and the diocese. Only two parishes need
regular assistance from the diocese for the maintenance of the ordinary
operations. National organizations like the Knights of Columbus, St. Vincent de
Paul Society, Legion of Mary, Fatima Apostolate are represented by local groups.

The diocese has a shortage of priests. The number of active diocesan priests has
decreased from 128 to 105 despite the rise in the Catholic population. Nineteen
are retired, sick or absent. Only nine have been ordained in the quinquennium.
There are 16 seminarians for the diocese. There are 76 permanent deacons at
present.  The recruitment of African-American and Hispanic candidates is
difficult but they are critically needed.

Financially, the diocese is completing a capital campaign which has raised
monies for the construction of two elementary schools and an addition to St.
Thomas More Academy, one of the two diocesan high schools. The diocese and
several of its large ministries i.e., Catholic Charities, Catholic Cemeteries, The
Dialog, Diocese of Wilmington, Inc., along with all parishes are separately
incorporated in accordance with the State law of both Delaware and Maryland.

Parishioners are faced with a higher unemployment rate with many employers
downsizing. There are those looking for work who cannot find it. Those who
need and deserve full time jobs are limited to part time or temporary
employment and even among full time workers a substantial number fall below
subsistence wages and are unable to provide for the families basic necessities.
Through Catholic Charities, Ministry of Caring, Parish Outreach Centers and
ecumenical relationships the diocese serves the poor in homeless shelters, in food
pantries, with clothing drives and in literary centers as well as action on the
legislative sphere to resolve the real causes of poverty.

The faith of the people is challenged by secularism more than by other Christian
denominations and religions. However, fundamentalists do make inroads
among poorer Catholics especially the Hispanics and African Americans.
Spiritual values are constantly under attack. Catholic divorce statistics are little
different from the national average. To assist Catholics in practicing their faith
there is a priority placed on good liturgy. The diocese has produced updated
religious education curriculums in accordance with the Catechism of the Catholic
Church for both schools and religious education programs for those not in
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Catholic Schools. Confirmation is celebrated for the 8t, 90 and 10t grade
students but too many students with their parental approval consider it
graduation from religious education. There are preparation programs for First
Penance, First Bucharist, Confirmation, Marriage. The pre-marriage program
requires a one year preparation period. The diocese has a Pro Life Office, Family
Life Bureau, and Public Affairs Advisory Committee (for Delaware) and a
membership in the Maryland Catholic Conference to bring Catholic values
before our Catholic people, the legislatures of Delaware and Maryland and the
general public.

As in all dioceses, the Diocese of Wilmington has Catholics in every part of the
ecclesial spectrum. There is a small group that supports Latin Masses to which
diocesan approval in 2 parishes of the diocese has been given and a smaller
group of parents who choose to support a private school separate from diocesan
authorization and to school their children at home. By and large Catholics are
supportive of the bishop and his programs which are in accord with the
Magisterium and the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops. The great
challenge is to satisfy the thirst for greater spirituality on the part of many, re-
activate inactive Catholics, and reach out with programs of evangelization to the
unchurched while respecting the beliefs of the other Christian groups and
believers in other religions, i.e., the Jews and the Muslims.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON | 1998-2003

I. PASTORAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION
OF THE DIOCESE

A. Diocesan Ordinary

The Bishop of Wilmington is Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli, D.D. He is a
native-born American. He was ordained May 28, 1960. He was appointed
Titular Bishop of Mesarfelta and Auxiliary Bishop of Newark, New Jersey on
June 12, 1990. He was consecrated July 30, 1990. Bishop Saltarelli was appointed
Bishop of Wilmington November 21, 1995 and installed January 23, 1996. On
January 17, 1998 he reached the age of 65 years. His rank in the hierarchy is 260
as of July 7, 2003. His mother tongue is English. He can speak Italian and
Spanish.

B. There are no other bishops working or residing in the diocese.

C. Vicars General and Episcopal Vicars

Since February 27, 1996, there are two Vicars General. Under the previous
Ordinary, Bishop Mulvee, there was only one, Rev. Msgr. Paul ]J. Taggart.
Bishop Saltarelli for pastoral reasons (Canon 475) saw the need for two Vicars
General. As the highest ranking official in the Diocese after the Bishop, the Vicar
General has full jurisdiction in all matters which the Bishop has not reserved to
himself or which have not been reserved to him or to others by the common law
of the Church.

»  Reverend Monsignor John Thomas Cini was born August 6, 1942.

He was ordained May 4, 1968 and was named Vicar General for Administration
on February 27, 1996 while retaining his position as Moderator of the Curia.
Msgr. Cini was elevated to the ecclesial rank of monsignor in 1992. Msgr. Cini
has served as Episcopal Vicar for Administration since 1977, and Treasurer since
1983.

e Reverend Monsignor Joseph F. Rebman, STL, JCL was born December 6,
1935.

He was ordained December 18, 1960 and has been head of the Pastoral Services

Department of the Diocese since 1974. Msgr. Rebman was elevated to the

ecclesial rank of monsignor in 1975. He served as Chancellor from 1974 to 2000.

He was appointed Vicar General for Pastoral Services on February 27, 1996. He

retains his post as Diocesan Director of Cemeteries.

® Reverend Monsignor John O. Barres, S.T.D., J.C.L., was born September 20,
1960. He was ordained October 21, 1989 and was named Vice Chancellor in July

1999. In July 2000, he was appointed Chancellor and named a Chaplain to His

Holiness.
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* Reverend Monsignor Clement P. Lemon was born October 26, 1937.

He was ordained May 16, 1964. He was appointed Vicar for Priests in 1987 and
continues to serve in that role. Msgr. Lemon was elevated to the ecclesial rank of
monsignor in 1992, Msgr. Lemon’s area of responsibility is to be a delegate of the
Bishop to the clergy of the Diocese by keepmg the lines of communication
between the Bishop and the priests.

D. Diocesan Synod
No Diocesan Synod

Were there any other diocesan assemblies?
In September of 2000, our diocesan Jubilee celebration called Sonrise 2000

attracted a crowd of 5,000 for a weekend of communal faith and celebration.

E. Pastoral-Administrative Offices and consultative diocesan agencies, up. to
31 December of the last year of the quinquennium.

1. Diocesan Curia

Administrative Offices - Rev. Msgr. J. Thomas Cini, V.G.

Diocesan Tribunal - Very Rev. George J. Brubaker, J.C.L., Judicial Vicar.
(Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3107.
Presiding Judge: Very Rev. George J. Brukaber, ].C.L.
Judges: Rev. Stanley R. Drupieski, OSFS; Sr. Jeanne Hamilton, OSU, JCL;
Jacqueline Hannem, JCL. '
Defender of the Bond: -Jack D. Anderson, ].C.D., Sr. Patricia Smith, OSF,
JCD.
Auditor: Deacon Francis Staab
Notaries: Mrs. Marie Bradley, Mrs. Patricia Killen, Mrs. Gail Esposito.
Advocates by Deanery:
Brandywine Hundred Deanery: Deacon F. Edmund Lynch, Deacon
Joseph Cilia.
Central New Castle Deanery: Deacon William J. Johnston, Jr., Deacon
Francis Staab, Sr. Joan Marie Lewis, SSJ, Deacon John Giacci, Flora L.
Giacci. '
City Deanery: Deacon Harold Chalfant, Janet Chalfant, Deacon Mike
Wilber, Ann Marie Wilber.
Iron Hill Deanery: Shirley Certesio, Deacon Patrick ]ohnston, Deacon
William Murrian, Sr. Rose M. Breslin
Eastern Shore Deanery: Rev. Cornelius Breslin; Rev. Paul F Jennings,
Jr., Deacon Kenneth M. Hanbury; Elizabeth A. Hanbury.
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Silver Lake Deanery: , Joseph Parlett, Jr., James McGiffin, Deacon
Charles Robinson; Maureen Robinson, Deacon Anthony Bianco,
Florence Bianco, Deacon Don Carroll, Carol Carroll, Deacon John
Smith, Ann Smith, Deacon Dennis Hayden, Denise Hayden, Deacon
Edward Brink, Jane Brink, Deacon James Malloy.

Ocean Deanery: Deacon Carl Beers, Mary Jane Beers, Robert
Yankalunas, Sr. Agnes Oman, CSB, Deacon Tom Cimino, Ellen
Cimino, Deacon Ed Holson, Carlee Holson.

The judicial power to review and adjudicate all cases of marriages alleged null
and void and to conduct all other judicial processes under the laws of the Church
is vested in the Officialis or Judicial Vicar who constitutes but one Tribunal with
the Bishop. The members of the Tribunal who perform particular functions in
ecclesiastical trials are listed above. It is a Tribunal of First Instance located in the
Province of the Archdiocese of Baltimore.

The Dialog (Official Diocesan Weekly Newspaper) - Bishop Michael A.
Saltarelli, Publisher, Mr. Jim Grant, Editor/General Manager. (Mailing address:
PO Box 2208, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE
19806. Telephone: 302-573-3109.

The Dialog is the official weekly newspaper of the Diocese of Wilmington
published for distribution on Thursdays. It covers international, national and
local Catholic news including announcements and coverage of events of parish
interest. Circulation is 54,000.

Human Resources Office: - Sr. Suzanne Donovan, SC, Director. (Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3126.

This office was established in August 1999 (and separated from the Episcopal
Vicar for Administration Office) with responsibility for staffing, compensation
and benefits, training and development and general employee relations. The
office assists Department and Office Heads by strengthening both the internal
and external processes needed to recruit well qualified personnel.

Legal Services - James P. Collins, Sr., Esquire, Diocesan Attorney. (Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3138.

The norm is for all dioceses and archdioceses in the United States to retain
private firms of attorneys and/or to employ attorneys on the diocesan staff. The
Legal Services Office helps to advance the new expansion envisioned by the
Diocese as well as providing representation to the Diocese in routine matters and
other legal issues.
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Management Information System Office (MIS) - Mrs. Nancy Moore, Director.
(Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone; 302-573-3122.

The Management Information System Office provides maintenance of
communication and data information systems for the diocesan offices.

Pastoral Services Department Rev. Msgr. Joseph F. Rebman, V.G., S.T.L.,
J.C.L., Secretary

This department is responsible for guiding the religious and pastoral activities of
the diocese. These include concern for religious vocations, ethnic ministries,
ministering to the sick and dying, the missionary apostolate of the Church and
pastoral services in health care and penal facilities.

Chancery Office - Rev. Msgr. John O. Barres, STD, JCL, Chancellor. (Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899, 1925 Delaware Avenue,
Wilmington, DE 19806). Telephone 302-573-3100.

The Diocesan Curia is composed of those institutes and persons who assist the
Bishop in governing the entire Diocese, especially in directing pastoral action
and providing for the administration of the Diocese. The Chancery Office is an
integral part of the Bishop’s Curia and assists the Bishop with the administration
of the Diocese. The Chancery serves as a resource to parishes, clergy and laity
seeking information on matters of Canon Law, Diocesan guidelines and certain
items of civil law. The Chancery also helps to coordinate various diocesan
activities, reporting and projects.

The Chancellor receives delegated power from the Bishop involving a wide
range of matters and responsibilities and assists the Bishop, along with other
members of the Bishop’s Staff, in the ecclesial governance of the Diocese. The
Chancellor interprets Canon Law as it affects the canonical and pastoral life of
the Diocese of Wilmington.

Axchives - Mr. Donn Devine, Archivist and Notary. (Mailing address: PO Box
2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 8 Old Church Road, Greenville, DE 19807.
Telephone 302-655-0597. Tuesdays from 10:00 AM to 4:00 PM.

This office, under the Vicar General for Pastbral Services, contains non-current °

records and historical material on the diocese, its parishes and institutions. They
are kept in a climate controlled area in accordance with archival standards.
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Due Process Commission - Contact Very Rev. George ]. Brubaker. Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Telephone: 302-573-3107.

This commission composed of counselors and a conciliation staff exists to
provide counseling and/ or conciliation to people who feel that their rights have
been violated in the Church.

Censor of Books - Rev. Msgr. John H. Dewson, S.T.L., Vianney House, 905
Milltown Road, Wilmington, DE 19808. Telephone: 302-636-0200.

The Censor of Books examines Catholic books and writings that are to be
published in the diocese or by a subject of the diocese. His task is to see that the
book reviewed by him presents authentic church teachings. He grants the Nihil
Obstat; then the Bishop grants the “Imprimatur” or permission to publish the
work.

Catholic Cemeteries - Rev. Msgr. Joseph F. Rebman, V.G., Director; Mr. Mark A.
Christian, Executive Director. (Mailing address: PO Box 2506, Wilmington, DE
19805.)

All Saints Cemetery, 6001 Kirkwood Highway, Wilmington, DE 19808.
Phone: 302-737-2524.

Cathedral Cemetery, 2400 Lancaster Avenue, Wilmington, DE 19805.
Phone: 302-656-3323.

Gate of Heaven Cemetery, Vines Creek Road at Wingate Road, Ocean
View, DE 19970. Phone: 302-537-8953.

The Office of Catholic Cemeteries supervises all affairs that pertain to the
cemeteries of the diocese. The Diocesan Director is assisted by an Advisory
Board for the management of Cathedral and All Saints Cemeteries in New Castle
‘County and Gate of Heaven Cemetery in Sussex County, Delaware.

Vocations Office - Rev. Joseph M.P.R. Cocucci, Director; Rev. Ralph L. Maftin,
Director of Seminarians. (Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE
19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3113.

The Diocesan Director of Vocations directs and supervises full time all activities
aimed at fostering priestly vocations in the diocese by grade school, high school
and college programs, an outreach to young adults, offering Discernment
Retreats, Bishop’s Vocations Suppers, a diocesan-wide “Called by Name
Program” and the use of other suitable techniques.

The office is also responsible for the acceptance and pastoral care of the
seminarians studying for the diocese. This includes frequent visits to the
seminary, supervised summer pastoral placements, supervised transition from
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diaconate to priesthood and an annual diocesan retreat. In addition he is
charged with a 3-year program for all newly ordained priests. He is assisted in
his work by the Formation Committee, the Serra Club and the Mothers’ Guild.

Office for Deaéons ~ Deacon Harold D. Jopp, Jr., Director. (Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-2390.

The Office for Deacons is responsible for the organization and the administration
of the permanent deacon program of the diocese. It provides annual
opportunities for both pastoral/intellectual enrichment and spiritual growth in
addition to an annual retreat. It enjoys the assistance of both the Deacon Council
and the Continuing Formation Committee.

Office for Priests - Rev. Msgr. Clement P. Lemon, VP, Director. (Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3144.

The Office for Priests is responsible for guiding, counseling and providing priests
with personal pastoral care. This office also coordinates institutional chaplains.

Office for Religious - Sr. Celeste Crine, OSF, Delegate. (Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-3124.

The Office for Religious exists to assist the Bishop in his desire to foster within
the local church the gift of religious life lived in community and based on the
evangelical counsels.

Missions Office (Propagation of the Faith and Holy Childhood Association) -
Rev. John P. Klevence, Director. (Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE
19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3104.

The purpose of this office is to further evangelization of the world by united
prayer and the collection of monies for distribution to the missions in this
country and abroad. Affiliated with the office is the Holy Childhood Association
whose membership consists of children of elementary school age.

Office of Warship - Rev. Michael J. Carrier, Director. (Mailing address: PO Box
2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-3137. ‘
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This office fosters the liturgical life of the diocese through workshops, seminars,
evaluation of parish liturgies. The office prepares diocesan liturgies.

Ecumenical Office - Rev. Msgr. Joseph F. Rebman, V.G. (Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE
19806. Telephone: 302-573-3100.

This office promotes good relations and cooperative efforts among Catholics and
other faith communities within the territory of the Diocese. Bishop Saltarelli is a
Vice Chairman and a member of the Christian Council of Delaware and
Maryland’s Eastern Shore which numbers all the major denominational
executives of Christians in its membership.

Marian Devotions - Rev. Msgr. Joseph F. Rebman, V.G., Rev. Msgr. John O.
Barres, and Rev. Joseph ]. Piekarski, Directors. (Mailing address: PO Box 2030,
Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-3100.

This office directs pilgrimages to Marian shrines and encourages devotion to
Mary, Mother of God. Every other year there is a diocesan pilgrimage of some
1500 people to the National Shrine of the Immaculate Conception, Washington,
DC. The Bishop participates in all these events. The diocese was dedicated to
the Immaculate Heart of Mary by the former Bishop, Most Rev. Thomas J.
Mardaga. Bishop Saltarelli renewed that consecration.

Christian Formation Department - Mr. Edmund F. Gordon, Secretary

This department coordinates diocesan offices and agencies whose prime function
is the education and formation of the people of God.

Office for Religious Education - Mr. Edmund F. Gordon, Director; Sr. Sally
Russell, SS], Assistant Director. (Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE
19899), 1626 N. Union Street, Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3130.

This office is responsible for all formal re.ligious education programs in the
schools and parishes of the diocese. '

Educational Ministry for Persons with Special Needs - Mrs. JoAnn Dora,
Coordinator Special Religious Education; Mrs. Margaret Wynn, Coordinator
Hearing Impaired.

Under the director of the Office of Religious Education the diocese provides
religious education and other programs for the special needs mentally
challenged and hearing impaired.
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Office for Catholic Schools - Brother James Malone, CEX, Superintendent; Sr.
Kathleen Finnerty, OSU and Catherine Weaver, Assistant Superintendents.
(Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street,
Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3133.

This office has as its function the direction and supervision of all Catholic
(diocesan and parish) high schools and elementary schools in the diocese. It
maintains contact with all private Catholic schools in the diocese.

Office for Catholic Youth Ministry - Mr. Patrick Donovan, 1626 N. Union
Street, Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-658-3800.

The Office of Youth Ministry provides an integrated series of religious, social,
cultural, educational and athletic programs to enhance the comprehensive
development of youth ages 6-19. The office also coordinates youth retreats and
provides “Adult Leadership Training”, resources and assistance for parish youth
programs. The Catholic Youth Ministry is a member of the United Way of
Delaware, Inc.

Catholic Campus Ministry - Rev. Michael F. Szupper, Ph.D. Director,
University of Delaware, 45 Lovett Avenue, Newark, DE 19711. Telephone: 302-
368-4728. Salisbury University, Catholic Campus Ministry Center, 211 W.
College Avenue, Salisbury, MD 21801. Telephone: 410-219-3376.

This office coordinates campus ministry at the University of Delaware, Salisbury
State College, University of Maryland Eastern Shore, Wesley College and
Washington College. Programs include Sunday liturgy, sacraments, counseling,
retreats, speakers, study groups and social events.

In June 2003, Fr. Szupper received the Medal of Distinction from the Board of
Trustees of the University of Delaware. The award is “to recognize individuals
who have made humanitarian, cultural, intellectual, or scientific contributions to
society, have achieved noteworthy success in their chosen professions, or have
given significant service to the community, state or region.” Father has been
campus minister since 1964.

Catholic Scouting Program. -
Chaplain for Girl Scouts - Rev. Michael J. Carrier, 500 N. West Street,
Wilmington, DE 19801. Telephone: 302-654-5920.

Chaplain for Boy Scouts: Rev. James D. Hreha, 152 Tulip Drive, Lewes, DE
19958. Telephone: 302-644-7300. Associate Chaplain: Rev. Michael P. Darcy, 631
S. State Street, Dover, DE 19901. Telephone: 302-674-5787.

A group of adults aided by chaplains as spiritual advisors coordinate the
program for Catholic youth involved in all levels of scouting in the diocese.
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Department of Communications - Mr. Robert Krebs, Secretary.

The Department of Communications is responsible for the development and
implementation of the programs to insure an effective exchange of information
within the diocesan structure and with the laity and public at large.

Office for Public Relations & External Relations - Mr. Robert Krebs, Director.

(Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1626 N. Union Street,

Wilmington, DE 19806. Telephone: 302-573-3116.

This office acts as the liaison with the media of the diocese. Specific functions
include community relations, operation of a news bureau for print and electronic
media, and some media programming.

Department of Finance - Mr. Joseph P. Corsini, Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary '

The role of the Department of Finance is the supervision of all financial functions
of the diocese.

Finance Office - Mr. Joseph P. Corsini, Director. (Mailing address: PO Box 2030,
Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-3105.

The Finance Office is responsible for the handling of all monies, instituting broad
financial policy within the diocese, for parishes and all diocesan agencies and
ministries, supervision of diocesan assets and patrimony.

General Services -
Maintenance - Mr. Michael Saggione, PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE
19899. Telephone: 302-573-3115.
Delivery - Mr. Robert Bell, PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899.
Telephone: 302-573-3115.

Department of Development - Mrs. Deborah A. Fols, Development
Director and Secretary

Development Office - Mrs. Deborah Fols, Director. (Mailing address: PO Box
2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wllrmngton DE 19806.
Telephone: 302-573-3120.

Annual Catholic Appeal - Mrs. Deborah Fols, Director. (Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899), 1925 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE
19806. Telephone: 302-573-3120.

9
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The Development Department assists in securing the resources necessary to
fulfill the Church’s mission. The office conducts capital campaigns, annual
diocesan fundraising endeavors, special appeals, scholarship programs and
provides assistance to all parishes in maintaining adequate income.

Department of Catholic Charities

Administrative Offices: Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610,
Wilmington, DE 19805-0610. Telephone: 302-655-9624,
Fax: 302-655-9721

Acting Director: Barbara Grieco, MC, MBA

Catholic Charities is responsible for directing and coordinating the social service,
family service, child placement, aging and social action programs of the diocese.
The Advisory Board of Catholic Charities is an association of lay persons
organized for the purpose of assisting the agency in the establishment of policy
and guiding its management functions. The Board acts subject to the overall
jurisdiction of the Bishop.

Children’s Services

Director: Frederick Jones, MS

Children’s Homes, Inc., 2901 Green Street, Claymont, DE 19703. Telephone: 302~
798-0601; Fax: 302-798-0604.

Children’s Residential Services
Seton Villa - 800 Bellevue Road, Wilmington, DE 19809. Telephone: 302-762-2982.
Fax: 302-762-3187. Program Manager: Stephen LaPerle, MSW.

Children’s Home, Inc. -2901 Green Street, Claymont, DE 19703. Telephone: 302-
798-0601. Fax: 302-798-0604. Program Manager: Erin Sowden,
BA.

Specialized Therapeutic Group Care Program, 302-798-7354.
Program Manager: Lou Anne Pasquarella, M5

Pregnancy, Parenting and Adoption

Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805.
Telephone: 302-655-9624. Fax: 302-655-9753. Supervisor: Neomi D. Litonjua,
LCSW.

Catholic Charities provides casework for families and children including
marriage counseling and services to unmarried parents, adoptive couples, foster

homes, children at Seton Villa, Siena Hall, and Children’s Home and those in

need of social welfare information or referral.
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1155 West Walker Road, Dover, DE 19904. Telephone: 302-674-1600. Fax: 302-674-
1005. Clinical Supervisor: Gail Croft, LCMH

406 S. Bedford Street, Suite 9, Georgetown, DE 19947. Telephone 302-856-9578.
Fax: 302-856-6297. Clinical Supervisor: Stephanie Long, LCSW-C.

14-5 Wesley Drive, Salisbury, MD 21801. Telephone: 410-749-1121. Fax: 410-543-
0510. Clinical Supervisor. Stephanie Long, LCSW-C.

Behavioral Health Services

Director: Laura Hummel, MSN, RNCS, CADC

Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805.
Telephone: 302-656-0651. Fax: 302-654-6432.

Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805.
Telephone: 302-656-0651; Fax: 302-654-6432. Clinical Supervisor: Nicholas
Kotchision, LPCMH, CADC.

1155 West Walker Road, Dover, DE 19904. Telephone: 302-674-1600. Fax: 302-674-
1005. Clinical Supervisor: Stephanie Long, LCSW-C.

1405 Wesley Drive, Salisbury, MD 21801. Telephone: 410-749-1121. Fax: 410-543-
0510. Clinical Supervisor: Stephanie Long, LCSW-C.

Family Life Bureau

Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610 Wilmington, DE 19805.
Telephone: 302-655-9624. Fax: 302-655-9753. Program Manager: Thomas R.
Jewett, MC,

The Family Life Bureau coordinates the following programs: Marriage
Preparation (Pre-Cana, Engaged Encounter & Sponsor Couple Program),
Marriage and Family Enrichment, Natural Family Planning, Ministry to
Separated and Divorced Catholics, Ministry to the Widowed and various pro life
activities.

AIDS Ministry (Family Resource Center)
Mailing Address: 2825 Madison Street, Wilmington, DE 19802. Telephone: 302-
762-9244. Fax: 302-762-9246. Program Manager: Michael Hassler, MSW.

Community Services

Director: Katrina Furlong, BA

1155 West Walker Road, Dover, DE 19904. Telephone: 302-674-1782. Fax: 302-674-
4018.
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Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805.

Telephone:
Crisis Alleviation 302-654-6473; Fax 302-655-9753
Energy Assistance 302-654-9295; Fax 302-655-9753
Child and Adult Care Food Program  302-655-9624; Fax 302-655-9753
Immigration 302-654-6460; Fax 302-655-9753
1155 West Walker Road, Dover, DE 19904. Telephone:
Crisis Alleviation 302-674-4016; Fax 302-674-4018
Energy Assistance 302-674-1781; Fax 302-674-4018

Child and Adult Care Food Program  302-674-1600; Fax 302-674-1005

406 S. Bedford Street, Suite 9, Georgetown, DE 19947. Telephone:
Child and Adult Care Food Program  302-856-3414; Fax 302-856-6332
Energy Assistance 302-856-6310; Fax 302-856-6332
Immigration 302-856-9578; Fax 302-856-6297

1405 Wesley Drive, Salisbury, MD 21801. Telephone:
Immigration 410-749-1121; Fax 410-543-0510

Catholic Charities Thrift Store: 1320 E. 234 Street, Wilmington, DE 19802,
Telephone: 302-764-0217. Fax: 302-764-2743. Program Manager: Diane
Giovannozzi, BA. .

The Catholic Charities Thrift Store meets the needs of the poor and emergency
situations of the general public in cooperation with Catholic Charities and other
charitable organizations through donations from Catholic parishes and the
public at large of used furniture, clothing and household articles.

Casa San Francisco: 127 Broad Street, PO Box 38, Milton, DE 19968. Telephone:
302-684-8694. Fax: 302-684-2808. Program Manager: Elizabeth Moore.

Casa San Francisco provides a broad range of services aimed at assisting low
income residents of Sussex County with homeless shelter, emergency food, crisis
assistance, and education programs.

Seton Center: PO Box 401, Princess Anne, MD 21853. Telephone: 410-651-9608.

Fax: 410-651-1437. Program Manager: Sister Regina Hudson, SC, RN.
Seton Center is responsive to the needs of the local poor and migrant population

expanding their services to include crisis assistance, supplemental and
emergency food, health and education programs.
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Parigh Social Ministry

Director: Andrew A. Zampini, MS

Fourth Street and Greenhill Avenue, PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805.
Telephone: 302-654-9624. Fax: 302-655-9753.

This Ministry’s Salt and Light Training Program provides parish leaders with
both an understanding of Catholic Social Teaching and leadership skill
development and services as a framework for action in parishes.

Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc. - Rev. Msgr. ]J. Thomas Cini, VG,
Secretary. PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899.

Marydale Retirement Village - 135 Jeandell Drive, Newark, DE 19713.
Telephone: 302-368-2784. Administrator: Ronald Pierce; Pastoral Coordinator:
Sr. Mary Sheehan, IHM.

2. College of Consultors

The Consultors act as official advisors of the Bishop in certain matters pertaining
to the administration of the diocese and as a governing board of the diocese
when the See is vacant.

The Consultors are presently ten in number according to Diocesan Statutes.
However, the canonically required number are present. The Consultors meet
quarterly the same day as the Priests’” Council and frequently with the Council
on matters of mutual concern.

College of Consultors: Rev. Msgr. John Thomas Cini, V.G., Rev. Msgr. Joseph F.
Rebman, V.G.; Rev. Msgr. Paul . Taggart; Rev. Msgr. Clement P. Lemon, Rev.
Msgr. John O. Barres, Rev. John P. Hopkins, Rev. John J. Kavanaugh, Rev. Philip
P. Sheekey, Rev. Joseph ]. Piekarski, Rev. Barry Langley, OFM.

3. Council of Priests - Rev. John P. Hopkins, Executive Officer. Rev.
Msgr. John O. Barres, Secretary. Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington,
DE 19899.

The Priests” Council assists the Bishop in the governance of the diocese. It
represents the priests of the diocese in helping the Bishop promote the pastoral
welfare of the people of God. ,

It was established in 1983 in accordance with the New Code of Canon Law. It
replaced the Senate of Priests which had existed for 15 years. Blshop Saltarelli

attends every meeting as chairman.

The Priests’ Council currently consists of 7 members elected by the priests. Each
deanery elects one representative. There are also five ex-officio members, i.e.

13
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Vicars General, Vicar for Priests, Chairman of Priests’ Continuing Formation
Committee, and anyone with Episcopal ordination in the diocese. Four members
are also appointed by the Bishop. Elections are held every second and third year.
Terms of elected and appointed members are staggered to provide for continuity
of the group. During the quinquennium the Council met quarterly. The
Executive Committee consisting of the Executive Officer, Secretary and
Chairman of Standing Committees also meet quarterly with the Bishop to hear
matters he wishes to consult the Council on and act on their resolutions or
requests. Statutes were approved in the Spring of 1997. As needed, ad hoc
comumittees are established to attend to research problems and suggest solutions

for discussion by the full Council which will make recommendations to the -

Bishop.

4. Pastoral Council - Mr. Lawrence Bucci, Executive Officer; Billy Larson, Co-
Executive Officer; Ms. Monica Parisi, Recording Secretary, Rev. Msgr. John O.
Barres, Coordinator. Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, De 19899.

The function of this predominantly lay advisory council to the Bishop is to study
all aspects of the life of the people served by the diocese, evaluate the
effectiveness of the pastoral ministry and suggest possible or desirable
alternatives to the Bishop. It was established in accordance with the New Code
of Canon Law in 1983 replacing a previously existing Pastoral Commission.

The Pastoral Council is a body of lay persons, priests and religious appointed by
- the Bishop for three-year staggered terms. There is 1 pastor, 1 associate pastor, 1
permanent deacon, 1 male religious, 1 female religious, 4 laymen and 4
laywomen, 2 from the Youth Board, 1 delegate of the Ordinary. The Pastoral
Council meets as a whole quarterly under the chairmanship of the Bishop.

Finance Council - Mr. Joseph P. Corsini, Secretary. PO Box 2030, Wilmington,
DE 19899. Phone 302-573-3105. ’

Composed of laypersons skilled in financial matters and familiar with civil law
and priests. The Council assists and advises the Bishop in the administration of
the financial affairs of the Diocese and our plans for expansion.

Parish Priest Consultors - Vy. Rev. Stanley J. Russell, VE, Rev. Charles L. Brown,
Rev. Charles C. Dillingham, Rev. Thomas E. Hanley, Rev. John J. Kavanaugh,
Rev. Christopher LaBarge.

This group of clergy provides consultation to the Bishop in certain matters
regarding pastors as specified in the Code of Canon Law. (C. 1742)

Priests” Continuing Formation Committee - Rev. John P. Hopkihs, Chairman.
Mailing address: 230 Executive Drive., Suite 8, Newark, DE 19702. Phone 302-
369-8100.
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To assist the Bishop in his responsibilities to provide the means and institutions
needed for the continuing formation and education of priests.

Clergy Personnel Committee - Rev. John J. Mink, Director. Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone 302-328-1790.

The Personnel Committee is an Advisory Committee to the Bishop whose
delegated function is to advise him on the assignments of priests to parishes and
other ministries. The Diocese currently uses an “Open Listing” system where
priests are invited to apply to be pastors or associate pastors to parishes where a
particular pastor or‘associate is finishing his term. The Bishop reserves the right
for pastoral reasons to make direct appointments.

~ Council of Religious - Sr. Celeste Crine, OSF, Chairperson. Mailing address: PO
" Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone 302-573-3124.

The purpose of the Council is to promote the spiritual development of religious.
It serves as a means of communication for the Sisters of the diocese and acts as an
advisory body to the Bishop in matters pertaining to religious.

Building Committee - Mr. Paul S, Adams, Jr., Chairman. Mailing address: PO
Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Rev. Msgr. J. Thomas Cini, V.G., Episcopal
Liaison. Phone 302-573-3118.

The purpose of this committee is to study, advise and approve all plans for any
construction projects in the diocese. All members are experts in their fields.

Diocesan School Board - Brother James Malone, CFX, Secretary. Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone 302-573-3133.

This advisory body to the Bishop assists him in recommending policies for the
total educational mission of the Church including all formal religious educational
and academic programs for parishes and schools in the Diocese.

Diocesan Board of Religious Education - Mr. Edmund F. Gordon, Secretary.
Mailing address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone: 302-573-3130.

Diocesan Liturgical Commission - Rev. Michael J. Carrier, Chairman. Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone: 302-573-3137.

This commission advises the Bishop after research concerning publications and
educational programs for renewing and enriching Christian liturgical life.
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Public Affairs Advisory Committee - Rev. Msgr. J. Thomas Cini, V.G,
Chairman, Christopher DiPietro, Lobbyist. Mailing address: PO Box 2030,
Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone: 302-573-3118

A group of lay persons who assist the Bishop in an advisory capacity in dealing
with the Delaware Legislature and Delaware Governor’s Office in areas
concerning the Church’s interests. (The Bishop, as a member of the Maryland
Catholic Conference, is assisted in a similar way for the Maryland counties.)

Real Estate Committee - Rev. Msgr. J. Thomas Cini, VG, Chairman. Mailing
address: PO Box 2030, Wilmington, DE 19899. Phone: 302-573-3118.

The purpose of this committee is to advise the Bishop regarding the purchase
and sale of land by the diocese or its various parishes.

Respect Life Committee - Mr. Thomas R. Jewett, Chairman. Mailing address:
PO Box 2610, Wilmington, DE 19805. Phone: 302-655-9624.

The committee is responsible for all pro-life activity in the diocese.

5. Diocesan Tribunal - The Diocesan Tribunal's constitution was listed
previously with a brief description of its competence. Staffing can be
summarized as follows: 4 Judges (2 priests, 1 religious, 1 lay); 2 defenders of the
bond (1 religious, 1 lay); 43 advocates (2 priests, 20 permanent deacons; 3
religious, 18 lay). No canonical processes for the examination of heroic virtue
were begun.

Implemented a new computer program for tracking cases through the course of
the canonical process; trained 26 volunteers from parishes to act as advocates for
those who are preparing to present a marriage case for annulment; conducted
formation sessions in parishes on marriage and annulment.

Activity During Quinguennium
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Formal 113 129 131 118 129
Lack of Form 110 144 119 75 82
Pauline Priv. 0 0 0 4 3
Ligamen 10 8 1 14 11

F. The Cathedral of the Diocese
There are no Cathedral Chapters or Collegiate Chapters in the Diocese. The
Diocesan Consultors fulfill these canonical duties.
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G. Division of the Diocese into Deaneries

The Diocese of Wilmington is divided into seven Vicariates Forane or Deaneries.
The Dean is appointed by the Bishop for a three year term. The Dean sees to the
implementation of diocesan policy in his area and brings pastoral concerns to the
bishop for his attention. The Dean is required to have several clergy meetings a
year. The Dean also visits the parishes of his deanery every two years to check
on the maintenance of parish property and church records. The Deans meet
quarterly as a group with the Bishop. The deaneries vary in size with the largest
being the City of Wilmington with twelve parishes to the smallest being Silver
Lake Deanery which has six parishes.

H. As the Bishop of the Diocese since January 23, 1997, I have found the various
offices for the most part very efficiently run. The staff members, employees and
members of consultation bodies are dedicated to their work. They are
cooperative. Morale seems good. The Moderator of the Curia meets with the six
departmental secretaries monthly and files reports of the departmental activities
for my review.

Deans were of great assistance in the development of our recent Capital
Campaign, “Bringing the Vision to Life”. As of this date the 50 million dollar
goal has reached 46 million dollars. The Campaign was initiated to help build
two new elementary schools and add a needed new wing to our newest diocesan
high school. The deans helped to present the case in their respective deaneries.
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B. Themes of Meetings
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STATUTES FOR COLLEGE OF CONSULTORS

I. Nature of the College of Consultors

The Diocesan Consultors are a group of priests who act as official advisors
of the Bishop in certain matters pertaining to the Administration of the Diocese,
and as a governing board of the Diocese when the See is vacant or impeded
through inability of the Bishop to communicate with his Diocese. (c. 502)1

11, Membershm and Terms of Office

A) The membersl"up of the Consultors for the Diocese of Wllmmgton
shall be nine (9) in number. (C. 502:1)

B) Allshall be appointed solely by the Bxshop from  among the members
of the Priests’ Council. (C. 502:1)

O Two of the nine members chosen must be elected members of the
Priests” Council.

D) Consultors serve as a body for a five (5) year term. (C. 502:1)

E) The term of a Consultor does not cease with the termination of his term
on the Priests’ Council for any reason. (C. 502:1)

F) If any of the Consultors retires from office for any reasons before the
expiration of his term, the Bishop shall appoint from among the
members of the Priests” Council another in his place to fill the
unexpired term.

G) If the five (5) year term of the College of Consultors expires during the
vacancy of the Diocese, the Consultors remain in office until the new
Bishop takes possession of the Diocese and he subsequently
constitutes a new College of Consultors. (C. 502:1)

! Canons are cited from the Code of Canon Law promulgated by Pope John Paul Il on
January 25,1983,
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III. Officers

A) The Diocesan Bishop is the President of the College of Consultors.
(C. 502:2)

B) During the vacancy of the Diocese, the Administrator of the Diocese
is the President of the College of Consultors. (C. 502:2)

C) There shall be a secretary of the College of Consultors who shall be
appointed from the members of the College by the Bishop. His
function shall be to keep the minutes of the Consultors’ meetings.

D) If during vacancy of the Diocese the Secretary must be replaced, the
Administrator shall appoint another member of the College.

IV. Meetings

A) The College of Consultors meets on call of the Bishop.

B) During the vacancy of the Diocese the College of Consultors meets
on call of the Administrator.

C) For an election of an Administrator, the norms of Canon 119:1 and
Canon 164-179 are to be followed.

D) For consent and consultation, the norms of Canon 119:2 and
Canon 127 are to be followed.

V. Competence

A) As advisors to the Bishop they are to be consulted and give consent
for:

1. Acts of extraordinary administration (along with consent of
Finance Council). (C.1277)

2. Alienation of diocesan property (with consent of Finance
(Council) within limits set by the Episcopal Conference.
(C.1292)

B) They are to be consulted along with the Finance Council for the
hiring and firing of the finance officer. (C. 494)
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C) As a governing board when the See is vacant, their duties are:

1.

2.

To notify Holy See of vacancy. (C. 422)

To elect an Administrator within eight days of vacancy. (C. 421)

. To choose an Administrator when See is impeded through

inability of the Bishop to communicate with his Diocese. (C. 413)

. To give consent before Administrator can permit excardination,

incardination, or migration of clergy after See is vacant for one
year. (C. 272) ’

To give consent for Administrator to remove Chancellor or
other Notaries. (C.485)

. To fulfill role of Priests’ Council when the See is vacant. {C501:2)

To receive with the Chancellor the Apostolic Letters of
appointment of a Coadjutor Bishop. (C. 404:1)

VI. Amendments to Statuteé

. These Guidelines shall be subject to such amendments as the Diocesan
Bishop shall from time to time decide are necessary for the smooth functioning of
the Collegiate Body.

10/28/83
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON 1998-2003

Diocesan Consultors
Themes of Meetings

The College members are all simultaneously members of the Priests’ Council. If
their terms on Council are finished, they are continued on Council as a Bishop’s
appointee or invited to participate in Council meetings where their presence is
canonically required. The Bishop will call them into session as needed.

During the Quinquennium the Consultors did meet on September 9, 2002 to
consult on the splitting of St. Jude The Apostle Church from St. Edmond’s
Church. There was also consultation on the reconfiguration of the Deaneries.

On April 25, 2002 the Consultors met as the Bishop presented the issues for
consultation: 1) The need to pursue a tax exempt bond issue to finance Christ the
Teacher Catholic Interparochial Elementary School, 2) St. Thomas More
Academy, and 3) Most Blessed Sacrament Interparochial Elementary School.
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The Statutes of the Priests’ Council
Preamble

The Bishop and the Priests of the Diocese of Wilmington share in the one
* Priesthood of Jesus Christ by their Baptism and, in a special way, by their call to
Holy Orders. While all members of the church belong to the one Body of Christ,
priests, by their ordination, are called to a unique ministry in the church. The
Bishops and Priests are called to the same purpose: To proclaim the kingdom of
God and to build the Body of Christ.

As a sign of unity in ministry, the Priests’ Council enables the Bishop and
his priests to work collaboratively in proclaiming the gospel of Jesus Christ to the
faithful of the Diocese of Wilmington.

Article I: Name

The name of this .body- shall be “The Priests’ Council of the D1ocese of
Wilmington™.

Article IT: Purpose
The purpose of this Priests” Council shall be:

1. To serve as a consultative body, representative of both diocesan and
religious priests of the diocese.

2. To assist the Bishop in the governance of the diocese.

3. To provide a forum for the full and free discussion of issues of
pastoral concern in the diocese.

" 4. To research, deliberate and advise the Bishop on those matters
pertaining to the pastoral mission and well being of the entire
diocese.

5. To search for and propose ways and means for effective
pastoral ministry.
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Article III: Membership
Section 1

The Bishop of the Diocese of Wilmington is the President of the Priests’ Council
and presides at all meetings.

Section 2

Other members shall be the Vicars General, the Moderator of the Curia, the
Chancellor, the Vicar for the Clergy and the Chairperson -of the Priests’
Continuing Education Committee. These members serve in an ex-officio

capacity.
Section 3

One priest shall be elected from each of the eight Deaneries of the diocese.
Section 4

The Bishop may choose as many as four appointed members. However, it is
recommended that at all times at least two associate pastors should be on the
Council.

Article IV: Terms of Office
Section 1

The term of office of elected and appointed members is three years. Elected
members may serve a second term. Appointed members may be re-appointed by
the Bishop for a second term. A member whether elected or appointed shall not
serve more than two successive terms in the same category of membership.

Arxticle V: Officers
Section 1

The officers of the Priests’ Council shall be the President, the Executive Officer
and the Secretary.

Section 2

The President of the Council shall be the Diocesan Bishop. He shall preside at all
meetings of the Council.
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Section 3

The Executive Officer coordinates the work of the Council in seeking the opinions
and views of the presbyterate. The Executive Officer assists the Bishop in
preparing for meetings and implementing the proposals of the Council accepted
by the Bishop.

He is elected annually by thé Council membership.

Section 4

The Chancellor of the Diocese of Wilmington is the Secretary of the Priests’
Council ex officio with responsibility for the Minutes of the Council. The
Secretary shall record the acts of the Council. It is the Secretary’s responsibility to
prepare and forward the minutes to the presbyterate. He also shall assist the
Bishop and the Executive Officer in preparing for meetings.

Article VI: Elections
Section 1

All priests comprising the presbyterate of the Diocese of Wilmington, retired
priests and those religious engaged in parish or diocesan ministries, are eligible to
vote, to be nominated and elected.

Vacancies due to death, resignations or transfers shall be handled by a special
election to complete the unexpired term unless the Bishop decides this is
impractical in a particular case. '

Ex-officio members serve on the Council as long as they hold office in virtue of
which they are members of the Council.

Those members who were chosen as Consultors and whose term on the Council
expires during their tenure as Consultors remain as Consultors but cease to be
members of the Council unless the Bishop freely appoints them to a vacant
appointed seat or, if qualified, they are elected to a Council seat.

No one may decline service on the Council unless excused by the Diocesan
Bishop.
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Section 2 - Election Process

The process for nominating and electing members to the Priests’ Council respects
the principle that each deanery be represented on the Council at all times.

To this end, nominations and elections occur within each deanery. Only members
of a particular deanery are eligible to vote, be nominated, and elected.

If a vacancy on the Council occurs by reason of a transfer from one deanery to
another or by resignation or death, the seat is automatically vacated.

The Secretary of the Priests’ Council shall inform the deans when an election
within their deanery is warranted.

Normally, elections will occur in September. Using the resources of the
Chancery, the dean for his deanery will conduct the nomination and election
process which shall be by mail.

a) Two priests are nominated from the deanery.

b) From these nominations one is elected to serve on the Priests’
Council.

c) The results of this deanery election are forwarded by the dean
to the Secretary of the Priests’ Council. The Secretary in turn
advises the Bishop and members of the Priests” Council.
d) The newly elected member takes his seat on the Priests’Council at the
next regularly scheduled meeting.
Article VII: Meetings
Section 1 - Time
The Council shall meet at least four times a year.
A majority of the members exclusive of the Diocesan Bishop (who must also be

present) is a quorum for purposes of a meeting. At any time the Bishop may make
exceptions to the above.
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Section 2 - Ad Hoc Committees

Encouragement is given to all members of Council to participate fully. This
participation includes submission of topics for the agenda, open and frank
discussion, respect for all opinions, and the attempt to adopt a consensus approach
to deliberations.

The Priests’ Council does not have any standing committees. If warranted the
Bishop may form an “ad hoc” committee with a Council member as the convener.
Such committees will serve to assist the Bishop and Council in studying,
evaluating and making proposals concerning those matter assigned to it. The
convener will be urged to choose committee members from among the
Presbyterate. Special attention should be given to those who may have a
particular interest or expertise in the said topic.

The ad hoc committee will meet and make its report and recommendations to the
Bishop and Priests’ Council. Normally at that time the work of the ad hoc
committee will cease.

Should the term of the convener end before the work of the ad hoc committee is
finished, and he is not re-elected or appointed to another term, he will stay on
Council as a non-voting member until the work of the committee is finished.

Section 3 - Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of the Bishop, the Executive Officer, the
Secretary, a representative of the Deans, and two elected members chosen by the
Council. Others may be invited by the Bishop as the need arises. Its function
shall be to assist in the preparation of the agenda prior to each meeting and to
carry on the business of the Priests’ Council between regular meetings.

All members of the presbyterate are encouraged to submit agenda items through
their deanery representative or through any elected or ex-officio member or by
submitting the agenda item to the Bishop.

Article VIII: Competence

The Canonical responsibilities of the Council as listed in the Code of Canon Law
are the following:

a) To give counsel to the Bishop on the diocesan assessment (c.
1263).

b) To give counsel to the Bishop on the permanent use of a
Church for other purposes besides divine worship (c.1222:2).
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¢) To select those who serve on the group which deals with issues
related to the removal of pastors (c.1742:1), and the transfer of
pastors (c.1750).

d) To give counsel to the Bishop on whether a pastoral council is
to be established in each parish (c. 536).

e) To give counsel to the Bishop in the erection, suppression, or
notable alteration of parishes (c. 525:2).

f) To give counsel to the Bishop in his decision on whether to
convoke a diocesan synod (c. 461:1).

g) To give counsel to the Bishop on “matters of greater moment”
concerning the governance of the Diocese (c. 500:2).

h) To give counsel to the Bishop on the allocation of the fund to be
established among the parish accounts for offerings of the
faithful given for parochial functions done by persons other than
the pastor of the parish (c. 531).

November, 1996
Approved November 18, 1996
Amended September 9, 2002
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TOPICS OF PRIESTS’ COUNCIL MEETINGS

February 2, 1998

May 4, 1998

September 13, 1999

December 6, 1999

February 7, 2000

1998-2003

Mandatory Priests Retreat; January Clergy
Conference; Millennium Committee; Hispanic
Task Force; Priestly Remuneration; St. Mark’s
High School; A new parish in Bear-Glasgow
area.

Upcoming  Priests’ Retreat; Retirement
Conference’; Day of Reflection for Priests;
Study Week 2000; Millennium Committee
Report; Hispanic Task Force; Priests’
Retirement Policy; Priestly Remuneration
Study; Pastoral Council Concerns; Curia Study;

Election of Officers; Millenium; Boundaries of
St. Margaret’'s Parish; St. Monica Policy
Review; Update for Strategic Plan for Parishes
and Schools; Report of Ad Hoc Committee on
Stipends & Stole Fees; Women’s Convocation;
Lay Ministry Summit; Deanery Reconciliation
Talks; Priest’s Retirement Committee; Sonrise;
Feast of All Souls.

Personnel Procedures, Policies and Process:
Presentation by Director of Personnel;1998-
1999 Retreat;  Retirement Planming Day;
National Federation of Priests’ Councils;
Millenium Committee; Compensation Report;
Native American Ministry; Collaborative
Ministry Summits; How to reach inactive
Catholics; Capital Campaign; Two decrees on
canonical affairs from Rome; Ex Corde

“Renew 2000”; Study Week evaluation; Clergy
Day;Sabbaticals; Updatefrom Millennium
Committee and on SonRise 2000; RCIA in
parishes; Priests’ weekly overnights-new
policy promulgated; Response to Bishop
Saltarelli’s Statement on Inactive Catholics;
Deanery reconciliation services in deaneries;
Christ Our King Grade School.
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April 3, 2000

June 12, 2000

August 29, 2000

December 11, 2000

February 12, 2001

May 7, 2001

September 10, 2001

“Disciples in Mission”;Millennium Committee;
Compensation Committee Report; Debt Forgive-
ness; Ketchum Report on a future capital
campaign; Personnel developments; Consolidation
of Sunday collections; Elections for Personnel
Committee and Priests” Council; Priests’ Jubilee
celebration; diocesan Pastoral Council nominations.

Ad-hoc Committee report on evangelization
programs; Capital Campaign; Review of
deanery election procedures; Result of Clergy
Personnel elections.

Introduction of new members; Evangelization
discussion; Bishop Saltarelli’s rosary project

Political responsibility issues; Pastoral Council
report; deanery reports; Priests’ Study Days;
Priests’ Jubilee date; Compensation Committee;
State of the Diocese Report; Confidentiality
Issues

Presentation on “Courage”; “Disciples in Mission”;
State of the Diocese report; Pastors” Workshop;
sabbaticals; Capital Stewardship; Bishop’s meeting
with DRE’s and Principals’; “Church Women United”.

Presentation on Rite of Election & Priests” Funerals;
Units for retired priests at Oblate facility; Guidelines
for developing parish personnel manuals;
Compensation Committee Report; “Courage”;
Disciples in Mission progress; priests’ retreat;
Vietnamese Catholics’ Mass.

Compensation Committee update; Capital I
Campaign update; Priests” Anniversary Cele-
bration; Priestly Formation document; Bishop’s
Pastoral Letter ” Holiness in the World of Work”;
Sister diocese relationship; Feast of the
Ascension 2002; Deanery Visitation; Catholic
bioethical teaching & the Priest’s pastoral work.
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December 3, 2001

April 8, 2002

September 9, 2002

December 17, 2002

February 3, 2003

April 7, 2003

Catholic education presentation; Compensation
Committee report & discussion; Capital
Campaign update; Hospice care; Sister diocese
relationship committee progress; Overnight
conference Jan. 24/25.

Review of Clergy Conference; Planning for 2004
Study Week and January 2003 Priests’ Overnight;
New Pastor’s Workshop; Education Task Force;
Capital Campaign; Groundbreaking for Most
Blessed Sacrament School; Priest Ordination;
Disciples in Mission; Current Clergy Situation;
Bishop’s meeting with Attorney General.

Proposed change to Priests’ Council Statutes;
Election of Executive Officer; Separation of St.
Jude The Apostle Church from St. Edmond’s;

Presentation on reconfiguration of the deaneries;
Update on sister diocese relationship; Christ the
Teacher School registration; Capital Campaign
update; Post USCCB Dallas meeting concerns;
Victims” Assistance Ministry; Diocese Review
Board; Promulgation of particular legislation for
the Diocese; Required Retreat; Study Day and
Study Week; Priests’ Compensation update;
National Black Catholic Congress in Chicago.

Sister diocese relations with Diocese of San
Marcos, Guatemala; Boundaries of St. Jude The
Apostle Church; Capital Campaign update;
Annual Catholic Appeal; Priests’ Study Days;
New liturgical directives; Clergy updates.

Sister diocese relationship update; Work of the
Diocesan Review Board and Pastoral Qutreach to
parishes and victims.

Update on the education of all Church Personnel
about policies emanating from the Charter;
Capital Campaign; Report on Guatemala
Trip; Priests’ Jubilee Celebration; Long Range
Plan for Schools; Personnel Policy.
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September 8, 2003

New members welcomed; Faith for tomorrow:
On Good Soil presentation; National Review
Board Audit of Diocese and Update on Safe
Environment; New Courage Chapter in Lewes;
Future Revisions of Diocesan Pastoral Manual
and Handbook for Sacramental Registers;
Diocesan Stipend Sharing Account; Capital
Campaign Update; Mandatory Study Week in
February 2004; Revision of the Clergy

Sabbatical Policy; Mantle of Elijah program at.

St. Mary’s Seminary’s Center for Continuing
Formation; Diocesan Pilgrimage October 11t
Delegation from Diocese of San Marcos,
Guatemala in diocese from October 10-20th ;
Cardinal Oscar Rodriguez of Honduras
celebrates Mass in Georgetown on September
21st,
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GUIDELINES FOR THE PASTORAL COUNCIL

The Pastoral Council of the Diocese of Wilmington is established according to the
norms of Canons 511 and 514 to advise the bishop in those matters which concern the
pastoral works of the Diocese. Composed of clergy, religious and laity, the Pastoral
Council is a consultative body. The Council’s task is to study all aspects of the life of
the people of God in the Diocese of Wilmington and to make recommendations to the
Bishop concerning them.

Purposes
The purposes of the Diocesan Pastoral Council are:

1) To advise the Bishop in his responsibility for the total mission of the Church
in the Diocese of Wilmington;

2) To recommend to the Bishop positive actions for the common good of the
Church in the Diocese;

3) To provide a forum for dialogue and communication regarding pastoral
matters in the Diocese;

4) To act as representatives of the people of God in the Diocese—Ilay persons,
religious and clergy; ’

5) To be a sign of unity of the people of God.

Functions
The Diocesan Pastoral Council shall:

1) Listen to and gather informatijon from parishes, deaneries, institutions, and
other ecclesial groups with the Diocese and present that information to the
Bishop in a systematic and formal fashion;

2) 1dentify needs and priorities of parishes, deaneries, institutions, and other
groups for diocesan action;

3) Present to the Bishop information and recommendations on its own
initiative;

4) Review and evaluate periodically, in the light of Diocesan policy, programs
of all agencies and departments of the Diocese and to submit conclusions to

the Bishop;

5) Propose to the Bishop goals and objectives for achieving the mission of the
Diocese.
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Membership

1) The Diocesan Pastoral Council shall be composed of fifteen (15) members:
3 diocesan clergy — 1 pastor, 1 associate, 1 deacon
2 members of religious communities — 1 man, 1 woman
8 laypersons — 4 men, 4 women
1 Delegate of the Ordinary

2) All members shall be appointed by the Bishop;

3) As prescribed by Canon Law, laypersons appointed to the Diocesan
Pastoral Council must be in full communion with the Catholic Church, Only
those members of Christ’s faithful who are outstanding in faith, high moral
standards and prudence shall be appointed to the Council;

4) Members of the Diocesan Pastoral Council shall be selected in such way as
to truly reflect the people of God in the Diocese taking into account the

different regions of the diocese, social conditions and professions.

Terms of Office

1) Members of the Diocesan Pastoral Council shall serve for a three year term
and may be reappointed for a successive three year term. In the initial
appointment of the Pastoral Council some members will be appointed for
one and two year terms in order to allow for a staggering of terms.

2) When the See is vacant, the Council ceases to exist.
Officers
1) The Bishop shall convoke and preside over the Pastoral Council.

2) An executive office may be appointed by the Bishop from the Council to
assist him in coordinating the work of the Pastoral Council.

3) A recording secretary shall be chosen from among the Council and shall
keep the minutes and the records of the Council.

Committees

1) There shall be an executive committee consisting of the Bishop, the
executive officer and the delegate of the Bishop. Others may be invited
as the need arises. Its function shall be to assist in the preparation of
agenda and to carry on the business of the Pastoral Council between
regular meetings.
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2) The Pastoral Council shall establish other committees as necessary.
3) Committees shall make recommendations to the full Pastoral Council.
4) Committee chairpersons shall be appointed by the Bishop.

Meetings

1) The Diocesan Pastoral Council shall hold regular meetings four times a
year.

2) Special meetings may be called by the Bishop.

Canons are cited from the Code of Canon Law promulgated by John Paul II
on January 25, 1983.

11/24/99
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TOPICS OF PASTORAL COUNCIL MEETINGS
1998-2003

December 8, 1998 CFO & Secretary of Finance Dept. Report; Highlights
of Priests’ Council Mtg.; Diaconate Program Update;
Youth Ministry Report; Vocation Summit Evaluation;
Assessment of Diocesan Offices; Apostolate for Ethnic
Ministries; Hispanic Community; Korean Community;
Bishops of USA mtg. in Washington

February 1, 1999 Lay Ministry Proposal; Priests’ Continuing Formation;
NFPC Activities Report; Millennium Committee; _
Security; Diocese Offerings for Mass Stipends, Stole Fees,
etc.; Special Ministers of the Eucharist; Priests’ Salary
and Benefits for Fiscal Year 2000; Election of New
Executive Officer (Priests’ Council);

March 1, 1999 Proposal for Lay Ministry Institute; Highlights of Priests’
Council Mtg.; Millennium Report; Bishop’s Comments-
Pencader Parish/School, Capital Campaign; Hispanic
Report; Black Catholic Ministry

April 19, 1999 Black Catholic Community presentation; Youth Report;
Highlights of Priests’ Council Mtg.; Neo Catechumenal
Way; Continuing Formation Committee Report;
Millennium Committee Report; Membership status;

September 20, 1999 Report of Office of Catholic Schools; New Youth Board
: Reps.; Millennium Committee Report; Membership
Status and Possible Revision of Statutes; Youth Report;
Strategic Plan; Capital Campaign; Women’s Convocation;
Lay Ministry Summit; Introduction of Fr. John Barres;

December 13, 1999 Youth Ministry Update; Report from Priests’
Council; Millennium; Funeral Statement;
Review Priestly Compensation; Women’s
Convocation; Lay Ministry Summit; Combining
Collections; Ex Corde Ecclesiae

February 14, 2000 Bishop’s Pastoral on Work; Statement on Inactive
Catholics; Sonrise 2000; Youth Ministry;
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May 1, 2000

September 25, 2000

December 4, 2000

April 2, 2001

September 17, 2001

November 26, 2001

April 15,2002

September 16, 2002

December 17, 2002

-2-

SonRise 2000; Review of membership changes and
Statutes; Disciples in Mission; Priests’ Jubilee;
Millenium Committee; Youth Ministry; Spanish
Reconciliation Services;

Youth Group; Disciples in Mission; Sonrise; Bishop
recorded Rosary (tape/CD); New Churches; Campaign;

Dialog Article on Diocesan Pastoral Council; Director of
Communications; Youth Report; Discussion on drafts of
Bishop’s Pastoral on Work; Diocesan Web Page; 2001
Meetings; Capital Campaign; Catholic Physicians’ Guild,

Progress of Hispanic Ministry; Updates on Campaign;
Cemetery (Sussex County); Christ The Teacher & Most
Blessed Sacrament Catholic Schools; Concept of
Pastoral Council; Disciples in Mission; Capital Steward-
ship Campaign; Diocesan Web Page

St. Thomas More Academy; Bishop’s “Pastoral on Work”;
Guatemala; San Marcos; Disciples in Mission;

Diocesan Hispanic Ministry; Youth Ministry “Dare to be
Different” Video; “Theology on Tap”; Guidelines for
Funeral Masses; Diocesan Emergency Preparedness
Plan (parish nurses)

Capital Campaign and Projects Update; Youth Group
Report (Nexus; World Youth Day); Clergy Situation;
Members up for renewal

Dates for 2002-2003 meetings; Reviewed role of Pastoral
Council; Black Catholic Congress IX; A Legacy of Faith
document introduced; African American Catholics; St.
Peter’s Cathedral School History; Christ Our King School;
Youth Group; Dallas Charter

Sister Diocese Relationship with San Marcos; Solidarity;

Youth Report
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April 29, 2003

September 22, 2003

H.R. —Report on “For the Sake of God’s Children”,
background checks, etc.; Youth Report-Diocesan Youth
Board Mtg.; Nexus, US Youth Ministry Mtg., March for
Life; Covenant with Diocese of San Marcos signed on eve

* of feast of St. Mark; Pastoral Ministry among Spanish

speaking in Dover; 3 new priests ordained; New converts
received into church; Governor’s Breakfast-Dover;
Members term expiring

Hispanic Ministry presented copy of “A Journey Unfold-
ing: Pastoral Guidelines for Hispanic Ministry in the
Delmarva Peninsula”; Bishop presented members with a
copy of “For the Sake of God’s Children”; Diocese to be
audited by National Review Board (10/13/03); Catholic
Youth Ministry prepared folder: calendar of events,
preparing youth liturgies, pamphlet “Reaching Teens
Through Film”; Bishop asked approval of Pastoral Council
for new program “Faith for Tomorrow on Good Soil”; 7
men entered the seminary; announced that 10/19/03 is

25" Anniversary of Pope John Paul I’s pontificate and the
beatification of Mother Teresa; October is National
Hispanic Heritage Month

DOW 02877



Gﬁ]])EL]NES FOR THE DIOCESAN FINANCE COUNCIL

The Finance Council for the Diocese of Wilmington shall be composed of clergy and
laypersons skilled in financial matters and familiar with civil law, appointed by the
Bishop for the purpose of assisting and advising the Bishop in the administration of
the financial affairs of the Diocese. (C.492) The Council shall work closely with the
Financial Officer of the Diocese in his duties regarding the daily administration and
supervision of diocesan financial matters.

Competence
As prescribed by Canon Law, the following are the specific duties of the Finance

Council:

1) Prepare the annual budget for the Diocese in accord with the directives of the
Bishop. (C.493)

2) Approve the annual report of income and expenses at the close of the fiscal year.
(C.493) ’

3) Advise the Bishop in the appointment of the Finance Office. Should the Finance
Officer be relieved of his position before completing his term of office, the Bishop
shall first seek the advice of the Finance Council (and the advice of the Consultors).
(C.49481,2)

4) Establish the general guidelines within which the Finance Officer shall function.
(C49483)

5) Receive and approve the Finance Officer’s annual report of income and expenses.
(C.49484)

6) Choose a new Finance Officer if the Finance Officer should be elected diocesan
administrator if the See is vacant. (C.423§2)

7) Advise the Bishop on the imposition of assessments on physical and juridic
persons. (C.1263)

8) Advise the Bishop on proposed significant acts of administration. (C.1277) The
Bishop must have the consent of the Finance Council regarding extraordinary acts of
administration (and the consent of the Consultors). (C.1277).

9) Advise the Bishop what shall constitute extraordinary acts of administration for
juridic persons subject to him in the absence of any statute of the institute of
specifying same. (C.1281§2) :

10) Review the annual financial report of the administrators of ecclesiastical goods
(who have not been specifically exempted by the Bishop). (C.1287§1)
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11) Give advice and consent to the Bishop on proposed alienation of goeds within the
minimal and maximal ranges determined by the Episcopal Conference (must also
have consent of Consultors). (C. 1292§1)

12) Advise the Bishop on the safe keeping and investing of Church geods. (C.1305)

13) Advise the Bishop on any proposed reduction of burdens resulting from a will if
those burdens cannot be fulfilled. (C.1310§2)

Other duties may be specified by the Diocesan Bishop from time to time as
circumstances and events require.

Membership
1) The Finance Council shall censist of seven (7) persons, members of the Christian

faithful. Two (2) of the members shall be priests of the Diocese of Wilmington; one of
whom shall be the Episcopal Vicar for Administration. Five of the members shall be
laypersons. .

2) All members of the Finance Council shall be appointed by the Bishop.

3) Persons appointed to the Council must have good skills in financial matters and
must also be familiar with appropriate civil law affecting matters of finance.
(C.49281) '

4) Persons related to the Bishop up to the fourth degree of consanguinity or affinity
are excluded from the Finance Council. (C.492§3)

Terms of Office
1) Members of the Council shall serve for five (5) years and may be reappointed for
further five (5) year terms. (C.492§3)

2) In case of death, resignation or inability to act by any of the members, his or her
successor shall be named by the Bishop.

3) Should the term of all or any of the members expire during the vacancy of the
Diocese, the term(s) shall be extended until a new bishop takes possession of the
Diocese and appoints new member(s). :

Officers
1) The Bishop shall preside over the Council or he may delegate one of the members
as presider. (C.493§1)

2) The Financial Officer of the Diocese shall be appointed the Executive Secretary to
the Finance Council. He shall not be a member of the Council but shall be permitted
to participate fully in the proceedings of the Council. The Executive Secretary shall
keep the minutes of the Council’s meetings and shall, at the discretion of the Council,
execute its decisions and perform other such tasks as shall be determined by the
Council.
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Meetings
1) There shall be a minimum of four (4) regular meetings of the Finance Council

annually. Meetings shall be held at a time and place determined in advance and for
which ample notice shall be given in writing.

2) Special or additional meetings shall be called by the Bishop as circumstances -

require.

3) Agenda for the meetings shall be set ahead of time, prepared by the Executive
Secretary and approved by the Bishop.

Committees

The Finance Council shall establish five (5) standing committees to assist in its work.
Except for the Assessment Committee, these committees shall be made up of at least
one member of the Finance Council and other persons, lay and/or clergy having the
required knowledge and expertise, who need to be members of the Finance Council.
The chairman of each of the committees shall be a member of the Finance Council.
In the case of the Assessment Committee, all shall be members of the Finance
Council. Committee membership should number at least five (5). The five (5)
standing committees shall be named:

1. The Budget and Accounting Committee
2. The Investment Committee

3. The Assessment Committee

4. The Project Feasibility Committee

5. Audit Committee

The Budget and Accounting Committee

It shall be the duty of the Budget and Accounting Committee to assist in the
development of the annual budget for the Diocese. The committee shall determine
the appropriate means to obtain the necessary data from all agencies, offices and
department funded by the annual budget in order to make its recommendation to the
Finance Council. The committee shall at the end of each quarter provide a report to
the Finance Council and the Bishop on the status of the budget, comparing budget
with actual performance. It shall also be the duty of the Budget and Accounting
Committee to assure that appropriate and accurate accounting methods and
procedures are employed at the diocese, parishes, schools and other diocesan
institutions.

The Investment Committee

It shall be the duty of the Investment Committee to make wise and prudent
recommendations to the Bishop and the Finance Council on the safe keeping and the
investment of diocesan property and funds. "

The Investment Committee shall develop a set of objectives and procedures in line
* with the requirements and guidelines of Canon Law and the Episcopal Conference
which shall outline investment policy and activity.
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It shall be the duty of the committee to monitor the activity of all investments of the
diocese and shall make periodic reports during the year to the Bishop and the
Finance Council.

The Investment Committee shall draw up specific and detailed guidelines for the
direction of any investment advisor/manager which may be employed. The
Investment Committee shall also review and approve the investment plans and
policies of all parishes, schoo]s and other diocesan organizations prior to their
implementation.

Project Feasibility Committee

It shall be the duty of the Project Feasibility Committee to study and make
recommendations on the firancial soundness of proposals by the diocese, parishes
and other institations in the diocese to construct new facilities, renovate, expand or
engage in major repairs to existing buildings and structures.

The Project Feasibility Committee shall review any major fund raising programs
proposed by parishes and other diocesan institutions prior to their implementation.

Assessment Committee

The Assessment Committee shall be composed of members of the Finance Council
and shall annually recommend to the Bishop and the Finance Council the arnual
assessment to be imposed on each of the parishes in the diocese. The committee shall
make its recommendations after having taken into consideration each parish’s annual
income, debt obligations and other such pertinent data.

Audit Committee ‘

The primary goal of the committee will be to assist the Finance Council and the
Finance Officer in fulfilling their fiduciary responsibilities relating to the accounting
and reporting practices of the diocese. To fulfill its responsibility it will:

eOversee and appraise the quality of the audit effort of the diocese’s internal
audit function and that of its independent account;

*By way of regularly scheduled meetings, maintain open lines of communica-
tion between the Finance Council, independent accountant, internal
auditor, and financial management to exchange views and information as
well as confirm their respective authority and responsibilities; and

eDetermine the adequacy of the diocese’s administrative, operating and
internal accounting controls and evaluate adherence.

Canons are cited from the Code of Canon Law promulgated by Pope John Paul II
on January 25, 1983.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON 19982003

II. IDENTIFICATION AND GENERAL RELIGIOUS
SITUATION OF THE DIOCESE

1. ‘ JAN. 1,1998 DEC. 31, 2003

Area of the diocese 5,300 sq. miles 5,300 sq. miles

Total population 1,089,820 1,215,685
Total Catholic population 166,059 220,000
Number of 'diocesan priests 128 119
Number of religious priests 91 86
Number of major seminarians 6 14
Number of minor seminarians 0 2
Number of non-priest men religious 33 29
Number of women religious 287 259
Number of parishes - 55 57
Number of Catholic educational institutions 38 39
Number of Catholic charitable institutions 14 27
Number of Catholic Cemeteries - Diocesan 2 3
Parish 18 18

2. The Diocese of Wilmington in the ecclesiastical Province of Baltimore was
established in 1868. Diocesan patron is St. Francis de Sales. The Diocese of
Wilmington consists of the State of Delaware with its three counties of New
Castle, Kent and Sussex, and nine counties of the State of Maryland, i.e. Caroline,
Cecil, Dorchester, Kent, Queen Anne, Somerset, Talbot, Wicomico and
Worcester. Comprising 5300 square miles it is located along the Eastern
seaboard of the United States on what has come to be called the Delmarva
Peninsula. The two states that comprise the diocese were among the 13 original
colonies. It is one of the few dioceses that includes two sizable civil jurisdictions

on a state level. .
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New Castle County in Delaware is heavily commercialized and industrial while
the other counties of Delaware and Maryland are more agricultural and
interspersed with towns and small cities. There is also a fairly large turnover in
population as the degreed and management personnel (especially in large
chemical firms and new banks in the Wilmington area) are transferred in and
out. There is also significant growth in Sussex County, Delaware and Talbot,
Queen Anne, Kent and Worcester counties in Maryland as people from
urbanized areas seek homes for retirement and recreation.

The educational system is quite good in both political jurisdictions that make up
the diocese. The Delaware portion would rank above the Maryland portion.
Compulsory schooling goes to age 16. There are two state universities plus a
number of state and private colleges and community colleges-the so called
vocational-technical high schools and two year junior colleges. Adults .are
encouraged to continue their education in both job-related and leisure-time
courses. The Maryland section has two state colleges also and several private
colleges.

There are three television stations within the geographical boundaries of the
Diocese of Wilmington. In addition, television signals two neighboring
archdioceses are available to viewers in the Diocese of Wilmington. It is
estimated that 75% of television viewers in the diocese subscribe to cable or
direct-to-home satellite television service.

Approximately 60 AM, FM and Low Power radio stations are licensed to
communities within the boundaries of the diocese. Diocese of Wilmington
residents can also listen to several hundred additional radio stations from
neighboring dioceses. '

Six daily and 38 weekly and bi-weekly newspapers are published in the Diocese
of Wilmington as well as approximately 10 monthly publications.

It is estimated that over 60% of Diocese of Wilmington residents have access to
the Internet.”

The Diocese of Wilmington is geographically located in an area covered by the
public media of the large metropolitan areas of Philadelphia, Baltimore and
Washington. The archdioceses located in these cities do sponsor Catholic
programming which is available to our people depending on their closeness to
these cities. Also, these archdioceses do have Catholic colleges and universities
of which our people can take advantage for higher education of a religious and
secular nature.
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The Catholic population in 2003 is estimated to be 220,000 out of a total
population of 1,215,685. In 2002 approximately 60 percent of the Catholics in the
diocese reside in New Castle County, Delaware; 15 percent reside in Kent and
Sussex Counties, Delaware; 25 percent resided in the nine counties of Maryland
(the Eastern Shore).

In general, the population of the diocese is getting older and will continue to do
so in the next decade. The school age population has continued to decline
reflecting national trends, although in selected areas there is a noticeable impact
of increasing students because of sale of farms and construction of new housing
developments

Approximately 24 percent (291,764) of the total population are members of
minority groups; 56 percent (680,783) being African American (Wilmington, the
See City is half African American). The percentage of African Americans in the
population ranges from a low of 3.9 percent (3,465) in Cecil County to a high of
41 percent (10,249) in Somerset County, Maryland. There has been an increase in
the Hispanic population of 9.7 percent in the entire. 80,000 Hispanics (largely
Puerto Rican, with some Guatemalans, Cubans and Mexicans) live in Delaware;
60 percent (48,000) in New Castle County. Each summer about 4,000 migrant
workers-Spanish speaking and French speaking (Haitians) and some blacks -
pass through the diocese to find temporary employment on farms in the rural
areas. :

In the general population of the diocese approximately one-third has had less
than a full high school education; one-third has done college or graduate studies.

Of the 57 parishes in the diocese, 52 are territorial. Two (St. Hedwig and St.
Stanislaus) are national parishes for people of Polish extraction; one (St.
Anthony) serves the Italian population. These parishes are in Wilmington. One
territorial parish, St. Paul’s, has a special ministry to the Hispanics because many
live within the territorial boundary while others come to the parish from further
away. One parish, St. Joseph, that was originally a parish just for black Catholics
now combines to serve the needs of those who choose to go there instead of to
their territorial parish. A personal parish (St. Thomas More) serves the faculty
and students of the University of Delaware in Newark, a city adjacent to
~ Wilmington. No parishes are subject to the right of patronage or to popular
election. A number of parishes have mission churches to serve the people in
outlying districts. Two churches and one historical site are designated as shrines
in the diocese. St. Francis Xavier Church (Old Bohemia) is the cldest church now
existing in the diocese-it dates from 1704.  Masses are held the third Sunday of
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April and May, September and October. The bishop traditionally celebrates the

September Mass. Coffee Run is an historical site (1772) marked by church ruins
and a cemetery in New Castle County. An Annual Field Mass on July 4 honors
the location as the foundation stone on the church in the Wilmington area. St.
Mary of the Immaculate Conception - a parish church - has been designated a
place of special devotion to St. John Neumann since it was he as Bishop of
Philadelphia who dedicated the church in the last century.

3. The Bishop of Wilmington meets with the Archbishops of Baltimore and
Washington and selected staff members of the archdioceses and diocese as
needed to deal with items of a civil and religious nature which affect the Catholic
Church in Maryland. This body schedules meetings annually with the Governor
of Maryland and representatives of the legislature of that state. The Maryland
Catholic Conference has an Executive Director and staff to lobby with the
legislature.

The Diocese of Wilmington as the only diocese in the State of Delaware monitors
the Delaware legislature. "Bishop Saltarelli arranged annual meetings with the
Governor and legislators with his staff and theirs to discuss matters of concern.
The Bishop is assisted by a legislative advisory committee of Catholics prominent
for their practice of the faith and political connections.

Economically, New Castle County Delaware where the majority of the Catholics

live is dominated by banking, chemical and automotive industries. Family
incomes in Delaware are quite high by national standards. The number of firms
incorporated in Delaware include half of the Fortune 500 companies.
Unemployment in Delaware is slightly less than 5% despite mergers and
downsizing of some companies. Delaware is ranked as one of the best states
economically in the Middle Atlantic Region. The unemployed are largely the
urban unskilled and adequate programs are not available to help them break the
level of poverty. Welfare reform is placing greater burden on the private sector
of which the Church is a part to assist them.

The nine counties of the Eastern Shore of Maryland are less affluent as a whole,
but there are pockets of people of substance in various sections. The poor and
disadvantaged here are found in the rural areas.

Where there have been special needs of justice and charity, the Church has
responded through the work of Catholic Charities, parish senior centers, parish
outreach organizations, and well known soup kitchens run by ‘the Capuchin
Fathers and Brothers. Local Catholics have helped support these efforts through
the Bishop’s Annual Appeal. Of particular concern in the rural areas and to some
extent in the urban areas is the presence of a growing immigrant population.
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Recent legislation has curtailed government programs that assist these people
with the Church and other private agencies being asked to assist their people
who have no one else to turn to.

As regards education, because of the principle of separation of church and state,
direct support of schools is not permitted. Arguing for what might be
considered rights of citizens to access education and basic health needs, the
Church has been able through legislative lobby to obtain a measure of financial
assistance for school business and payment for school nurses. However, the
amount is not really adequate to serve the people who require it so services in
their areas must be limited. There are also some federal programs to help
younger students with basic skill deficiencies to be upgraded. However, as the
federal money must be distributed through the states to the schools through
school ‘district administrators, there is a bureaucratic reluctance to make the
programs available in a timely way. In the State of Maryland, only one of the
nine counties provides busing at public expense to schools. The Church must
also be alert to the installation of wellness centers in schools. While these
facilities are meant to provide needed health care to students, the Church must
be vigilant to see that-contraceptive devices and abortion counseling is not also
provided.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON 1998-2003

ITI. THE MINISTRY OF THE DIOCESAN BISHOP

1. Teaching -~ As shepherd and Bishop for the Diocese of Wilmington, I have a
serious obligation to join with the Holy Father in proclaiming the Good News of
Jesus Christ and teaching with fidelity the truths of the Catholic Church. In
addition to the preaching and teaching I do in our parishes, I have issued
pastoral statements to raise the consciousness of the Catholic faithful in our
diocese on contemporary issues.

In May of 1997, I issued marriage preparation guidelines that stress the need for
quality one-year marriage preparation that helps couples to live Christ’s teaching
on permanence, fidelity and openness to children in the sacrament of marriage.

On Nov. 2,1999, I issued a pastoral entitled “On the Need for a Consistent Use of
the Funeral Rites,” which emphasizes that the traditional wake service, funeral
Mass and graveside services are an indispensable source of spiritual strength and
comfort for families mourning the death of a loved one.

On Jan. 13, 2000, I issued "How to Reach Out to Inactive Catholics,” which
stresses the need for active Catholics to reach out to inactive Catholics. This
statement had more influence than I ever anticipated. It was the lead
contribution in the Jan. 27, 2000, edition of Origins (Catholic News Service) and
was used by bishops, diocesan newspapers and magazines across the country.
This outreach to inactive Catholics in the Diocese of Wilmington remains one of
my most pressing concerns and priorities.

On Sept. 28, 2000, I issued “The Respect Life Legacy of John Cardinal O’Connor
and the Obligation of Catholics to Promote the Culture of Life.” This statement
recognized the inspirational pro-life leadership of Cardinal O'Connor and urged
Roman Catholics to realize that without recognition and civic support of the
right to human life, all other rights erode. Catholics, along with their ecumenical
. and inter-religious brothers and sisters, are called to promote the culture of life
prayerfully and assertively in every sector of society.

In October 2000, I issued “Through Mary to Jesus: the Spiritual Value of the
Rosary.” This statement — which was included on my rosary CD and cassette
tapes distributed throughout the Diocese — was designed to deepen Marian
devotion and a love for the rosary in our diocese. It blends fraditional Marian
-piety with contemporary social justice concerns.
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On January 18, 2001, I issued “The State of the Diocese 2001” on the occasion of
my fifth anniversary as Bishop of the Diocese of Wilmington. In this report to
the people of the Diocese, I gave a progress report on the seven major priorities
for the Diocese of Wilmington which were established with extensive
consultation when I came to Wilmington in 1996-1997. Those seven priorities
include:

1) Conduct an aggressive campaign throughout the Diocese to promote
vocations to the priesthood and religious life.

2) Develop and implement a comprehensive pastoral plan for ministry to
Hispanic people.

3) Assess Diocesan offices and ministries to assure efficiency and effectiveness.

4) Establish new parishes and schools.

5) Explore models of parish ministry, closely examlmng the role of the clergy and
the laity in these models.

6) Evangelize the unchurched and alienated African American community.

7) Develop and implement a comprehensive plan for ministry on college
campuses.

On August 30, 2001, I issued “Holiness in the World of Work” which appeared
in both our diocesan newspaper and Origins (Catholic News Service). This
‘pastoral letter stresses that “Work is most powerfully and most essentially an
apostolate of the lay faithful.” Justin M. Carisio, Jr., the Manager of Executive
Communications for the DuPont Company and a theologically astute Third
Order Franciscan, assisted me along with the lay people of the Diocesan Pastoral
Council with this very readable and practical contribution.

On January 24, 2002, I issued “Catholic Schools: A Gift of the Church”. This
pastoral letter explores the history, contribution and vibrant future of Catholic
education in the Diocese of Wilmington and the United States.

Finally, On September 5, 2002, I issued “The Spiritual Lessons of September 11”.
This pastoral letter commemorated the one year anniversary of 9/11 and
reflected on the experience of 9/11 in the inspiring light of Roman Catholic
theology and spirituality. Enclosed are copies of the pastoral statements.

I take the Bishop’s duty to teach, to shepherd, to sanctify seriously. I continue as
did my predecessors to use The Dialog, the diocesan paper, with circulation into
every Catholic home to teach personally or see to it that articles in conformity
with Catholic teaching are printed.

1a. The Crisis in the Church and the Diocese of Wilmington _

I would first like to thank the Holy Father and the members of the Roman Curia
who provided such encouragement, counsel and guidance during the difficult
times of the crisis.

DOW 02891



Generally, the Diocese of Wilmington has navigated well through the crisis. It
was my intention from the outset to act prudently, to follow- the 1983 Code of
Canon Law (and later the Essential Norms) and to protect the rights of victims,
accused priests as well as the general public ecclesial good.

We have established a very positive and trusting relationship with the Attorney
General of the State of Delaware as well as the various State’s Attorneys who
have jurisdiction on the Eastern Shore of Maryland.

We had publicly announced that 15 priests [many of whom were deceased] from
the past 50 years had been guilty of sexual abuse. We did not announce the
names of the clergy. '

In the summer of 2002, we formed a Diocesan Review Board which included
prestigious judges, doctors, a sexual abuse specialist, a human resources
specialist and a communications professional. In january of 2003, the Diocesan
Review Board found that there was credible evidence that an additional three
priests had committed the sexual abuse of a minor. As Bishop I have accepted
the Review Board’s conclusions.

Two of the priests resigned. One priest was relieved from his duties. We are at
this time currently processing the mnecessary documentation with the
Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith. Msgr. Scicluna’s seminar at the Pope
John Paul II Center in Washington, DC August 11-12, 2003 was helpful to our
Chancellor and canonical consultant. We are carefully following civil and
criminal law developments such as the recent ruling of the United States
Supreme Court in regard to statute of limitations.

Another priest who had been working in an office of the USCCB in Washington,
DC left active ministry in the diocese after credible allegations of sexual abuse of
a minor committed when he was a lay teacher in the Archdiocese of Baltimore in
the 1970s surfaced. With consultation from the Promoter of Justice for the
Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith, the Diocese of Wilmington is in the
process of taking further steps in this delicate situation.

We have proactively implemented the guidelines from the Charter which include
policies and procedures that provide safe environments for Church youth
ministry activities as well as criminal background checks for clergy and diocesan
and parish employees who work closely with youth.

In an audit conducted October 13, 2003 —October 17, 2003, The Gavin Group, Inc.
(representing the National Review Board) stated in its October 22, 2003 report to
me: “This audit finds the Diocese of Wilmington to be in compliance with the
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Charter...The diocese was commended for its safe environment program.” No
recommendations for improvement were made. Here are some highlights of the
report:

*"The diocesan policy provides protocols for receiving reports of incidents and
notifying civil authorities. The diocese has published its policy on its internet
site and in the diocesan newspaper, and has furnished hard copies to all priests
and school officials. Procedures for reporting incidents are clearly laid out and
easy to follow. The Bishop or his representative has met with all victims or
families who have been willing to accept them.”

*'The Bishop has met with the Delaware Attorney General (AG) and the
diocesan attorney has contacted most of the Maryland State’s Attorneys. A
protocol was agreed to for reporting all allegations. In the meeting with the AG,
the bishop disclosed all information requested on all known cases for the past 40
years. An editorial in the News Journal, dated January 29, 2003, praised the
diocese for its swift and open handling of the three abuse cases. Wilmington’s
policy provided for a prompt and thorough investigation in accord with canon
law and due process.”

*” A written communications policy exists which incorporates concern for law
enforcement, parishes, public, and sex abuse prevention, and outreach programs.
The diocese has demonstrated a very open and transparent relationship with the
media.” : '

*’In July 2002, a committee of 14 was established to implement all aspects of the
background check system including a 5 year cyclical review. As of September
2003, over 6,000 individuals have undergone background checks. They
anticipate an additional 4,000 will have checks completed by the end of the year.
A stringent screening and evaluation process is used for prospective seminarians
prior to acceptance using an 11 point program.” -

*”In January 2003 a blue ribbon task force drafted priestly standards regarding
celibacy and sexuality. The Bishop maintains a consistent focus on health,
balanced priestly celibacy, sexuality and ministerial ethics.”

Please see the enclosed October 22, 2003 communication from The Gavin Group,
Inc. for more detail.

1b. Diocesan Summits and Sonrise 2000

In addition to the pastoral statements, diocesan summits on vocation awareness,
lay ministry and collaborative ministry have had a lasting impact on the
direction of the diocese. Our diocesan summit on vocation awareness helped us
realize that everyone is responsible for cultivating vocations to the priesthood
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and religious life. Our diocesan summit on lay ministry helped us to explore and
appreciate the gifts of the laity in the ministry and mission of the church. Our
diocesan summit on collaborative ministry helped us to review and study
models and approaches that could better integrate the ministry of the clergy with
the many talents, skills and ministries our lay people bring to the church.
Deanery-based reconciliation services brought many Catholics to the sacrament
of reconciliation.

In September of 2000, our diocesan Jubilee celebration “Sonrise 2000 attracted a
crowd of 3,000 for a weekend of communal faith and celebration. We celebrated
a Parade of Parishes. To the singing of “The Church’s One Foundation,”
representatives of every parish, one by one, in chronological order, brought forth
a 15-pound stone bearing a nameplate engraved with the church’s name and
date of its founding. The foundation stone of our newest parish, St. Margaret of
Scotland in Glasgow, DE, was the last stone brought up.

These symbols of history, of the spread of the faith throughout Delaware and
Maryland, were laid on top of one another in front of the hall’s stage to form a
symbolic cornerstone of the diocese. They are not only a reminder that we stand
on the shoulders and sacrifices of our fathers and mothers in the faith, but a
challenge that we have to spread the faith with the same fire that they did.

1e. Catechetical Renewal in the Diocese of Wilmington
For the last few years, I have been talking with my fellow Bishops about the need
for a bold new direction in our catechetical efforts in this country.

Within the current crisis of the Church are opportunities for renewal and reform.
Periods of renewal in the Church always involve intense and effective catechesis
(Catholic Catechism #8).

In his April 23, 2003 McGinley lecture entitled True and False Reform, Avery
Cardinal Dulles writes: “Religious illiteracy has sunk to a new low. We urgently
need an effective program of catechesis and religious education on all levels.”
Bishop Donald Wuerl speaks of such terminology as the “lost generation” and
the “undercatechized” as not pejorative but descriptive terms that accurately
describe the challenges we face today.

The controversies in this country over the Congregation for the Doctrine of the
Faith’s document Dominus lesus - which was a compelling summary of Church
teaching - illustrated how much Redeemer relativism, ecclesial relativism and
moral relativism exist among Catholics and non-Catholics alike (see our diocesan
Chancellor’s enclosed explanation of the document “John Paul II's ‘Ecumenical
Passion’: A Clear-Eyed Look at Dominus lesus” in the January 2001 This Rock).
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To refocus and reintensify our commitment to quality catechetics, the Priests’
Council at its September 8, 2003 meeting and the Diocesan Pastoral Council at its
September 22, 2003 meeting endorsed a process called Faith for Tomorrow: On
Good Soil which gathers laity, parents, catechists, DREs and clergy to engage in
focused discussions about catechesis in parishes in our Diocese. Kits have been
made available to parishes with specific instructions on how to implement the
process.

A synthesis of the insights generated by these discussions will be presented at a
Diocesan Convocation at St. Mark’s High School in March 2004. Bishop Donald
Wuerl, one of the leading voices for catechetical renewal in our country, will
speak.

Our Diocesan Steering Committee will be making specific recommendations

about how best to improve catechesis in the Diocese of Wilmington. We intend to

do a thorough audit of all religious education materials in our schools and
religious education programs to ensure that the texts have been approved by the
USCCB'’s Office for the Catechism and that the texts are in conformity with “The
Protocol for Assessing the Conformity of Catechetical Materials with the
Catechism of the Catholic Church.”

In addition to processing the insights and suggestions of the people of our
Diocese, I will ask this Steering Commiittee to “retrieve” our Catholic tradition by
studying the insights of classic texts on catechesis such as Pope Paul VI's
Evangelii Nuntiandi, Pope John Paul II's Catechesi Tradendae, the Catechism of the
Catholic Church, the General Directory for Catechesis, our own National Directory for
Catechesis, the proposed National Adult Catechism and other catechetical sources.

A return to the sources of liturgy and theology is what produced the documents
and direction of the Second Vatican Council. This same process will provide the
foundation for our own local catechetical renewal.

It is my hope that our efforts will help us especially to reach the minds and
hearts of our young people so that they will reach their potential to be
committed, theologically informed and articulate Catholics in every sector of our
local Church and society.

2. Pastoral Visits

I have visited our 57 parishes and 19 missions consistently. The Holy Father has
been my model. His efforts to be among his people in various continents and
countries express his desire to be a missionary pope. My own efforts to be
present in our par1shes and to share the faith with our people reflects my own
desire to be a missionary bishop.
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What do I see when I visit our parishes and missions? I see pastors and priests
on fire with the love of Jesus Christ bringing that love and care to their people. I
love to sit with pastors, priests and their staffs and to listen how they strategize
to spread the Gospel of Jesus Christ.

Ongoing formation of the clergy, the continuing development of lay ministry, the
thirst for a deeper knowledge of our Roman Catholic faith and deeper spiritual
lives, the efforts of our ‘parish staffs and pastoral councils to be more
authentically collaborative, bold new approaches to Catholic Youth Ministry,
new permanent deacons taking their place on our parish staffs, efforts to nourish
families spiritually as the foundation of our communities, RCIA teams that help
to create an evangelizing synergy — these are just a few of the signs that show
how our parishes are thoroughly contemporary while being solidly anchored in
our Roman Catholic tradition.

We can never rest on . our laurels. We root ourselves in the Scriptures, the
teaching of the magisterium, the contemplative spiritual tradition of our church
and the apostolic fire of the saints while discovering new ways to evangelize
Generation X and now Generation Y by using the Internet, the satellite d1sh,
television and radio.

Our Catholic schools are an integral part of this effort. They are about much
more than an extra dash of discipline and respect. Our schools are meant to be
agents of evangelization — with pastors, principals, teachers and staffs
- completely committed to integrating the Catholic vision of life into their
teaching, their curriculum and their-relationships with students and parents.
What a difference a vibrant Catholic school makes to a parish community! Our
new regional grade schools in Glasgow, DE, and Ocean Pines, MD, as well as the
expansion of St. Thomas More Academy expand our formational and
educational mission even further.

Our Catholic schools are dedicated to forming students who not only can
articulate their Catholic beliefs and attitudes but who live them. For instance, St.
Thomas More, the patron of statesman and politicians, is held up as a model of
moral integrity expressed in public life to the students of St. Thomas More
Academy. These types of customs and practices are at the heart of forming
vibrant young Catholics.

I am proud of the progress our Catholic schools have made in promoting an
authentic Catholic identity. But we must continue to strive, We need to find new
ways of inspiring the hearts and minds of our young people in the context of the
culture in which they actually live and with the truths of Christ and the Church
which set them free.
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3. Bishop and Clergy - The Diocese is of such size that the bishop can know all
priests both secular and religious. The number of permanent deacons is 76 at
present so I can interact with them with relative ease. A new class of men is
currently in formation. I meet with them for religious and social affairs. I
contact priests in hospitals and nursing homes by visits or phone calls to show
pastoral concern. I summon priests to private meetings to discuss matters of
mutual concern. Iseem able to resolve conflicts amicably.

4. Rapport with Other Pastoral Organizations - The diocese has one large air
base which is headquarters for the Military Air Transport Command on the East
Coast. It is served regularly by a chaplain. There are also two Veteran's
Hospitals (Perry Point & Elsmere) that are staffed by chaplains assigned by the
Military Ordinariate. Relation with chaplains are cordial. They are invited to
diocesan priests meetings and sent correspondence from the Chancery. The
Diocese has two priests in the military full time and four part-time
chaplains to the National Guard.

There are no personal prelatures headquartered in the diocese. Opus Dei priests
from the District of Columbia do conduct retreats periodically in the diocese in
rented facilities. They always advise the bishop of their presence and seek the
appropriate permissions for reservation of the Blessed Sacrament in the
temporary chapels established.

I have been visible to people of all ages in the diocese in both the northern and
southern sections. All parishes are visited annually for confirmation. As often as
possible confirmation is scheduled at weekend Masses so I see not only the
candidates and their families but also the parishioners who regularly attend the
Mass at which confirmation is celebrated. I am available for a social hour with
candidates and parishioners afterward. Before or after the ceremony and
reception I have a meal with the parish clergy. Parishes invite me to be present
for groundbreaking and dedication of churches, significant anniversary
celebrations of parishes and institutions, conventions of diocesan organizations,
i.e., Youth Ministry, Charismatic Renewal, Knights of Columbus. I have visited
parishes occasionally for parish council meetings, and meetings of RCIA.

I have visited the diocesan high schools and parishes and private high schools,
addressing both students and faculty separately and together. I have visited the
Newman Center of the University of Delaware for Mass and engage in
conversation with students. A number of elementary schools both parochial and
private have been visited.

I have visited the offices and agencies of the diocesan curia. I visit charitable
agencies separate from the diocese, i.e., Little Sisters of the Poor Jeanne Jugan
Home for the Elderly, Benedictine School for the Mentally Challenged, Ministry
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of Caring, St. Francis Hospital. Through these visits I not only learn about the
diocese but exercise my role as teacher, sanctifier and administrator. I generally
celebrate the Eucharist and deliver the homily on the occasion of these visits. I
will not hesitate to correct any liturgical practices not in keeping with the norms
of the liturgy.

5. Catholics of Other Rites - The largest group of Catholics of another rite are
Ukrainian who are responsible to Archeparchy of Philadelphia. Catholics of
other rites would be small in number. Because of lack of their own clergy, they
practice as Roman Catholics. When they show up for sacraments, norms of
Canon Law are observed.

6. Rapport with Civil Authorities - I have been well received by the civil
officials. Certainly, they are not sympathetic to all requests made of them in
regard to issues specific to the Church or public morality. Nevertheless, they
seem open to listen. The Diocese has a paid lobbyist to facilitate getting its issues
before the State (DE & MD) Legislatures.

The Bishop of Wilmington is a member of the Maryland Catholic Conference. I
join the Cardinal Archbishops and Bishops of Baltimore and Washington in
periodic meetings together with the Governor of Maryland. Like them, I host an
annual gathering for the representatives from the Delaware State Legislature of
the diocese in which issues of concern to the Catholics are presented.

As far as the Federal Government is concerned because Delaware is the second
smallest State, its two Senators and one House of Representative member are
approachable with regard to selected issues of concern to the Church. The
Representative to the House is a non-practicing Catholic. One Senator is a
Catholic who professes to practice but does not totally express the Church’s pro
life stand. The other Senator is a Protestant.

7. Collaboration with Bishops of Other Rites - Most Rev. Stefan Soroka, D.D,,
Archbishop of the Metropolitan Archdiocese of Philadelphia for Ukrainians, is
the only Ordinary of another rite with jurisdiction of his faithful within the
territory of the Diocese of Wilmington. There are two churches of that Rite - one
in Wilmington (St. Nicholas) and one in Chesapeake City (St. Rose). They are
served by one priest who lives in Wilmington. He is kept advised of diocesan
matters and invited to clergy gatherings. I have been invited to one or the other
church on special occasions.

8. Association with Other Ecclesial Communities - I have a good relationship
with the Oblate Apostles of the Two Hearts; Neo-Catechumenal Way;
Charismatic Movement; Cursillo Movement; Legion of Mary; Blue Army and the
Military Ordinariate.
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9. Collaboration with other Bishops Wilmington is a suffragan of the
Archdiocese of Baltimore. The Bishops of the Province meet annually to discuss
matters of church related concern as required by Canon Law. The Bishop of
Wilmington also meets with the Cardinal Archbishops of Baltimore and
Washington in the Maryland Catholic Conference to discuss matters relating to
the church in the civil sphere. The dioceses in the Maryland Catholic Conference
share the expense of maintaining an office in Annapolis, the State capitol of MD.

The Diocese of Wilmington is in Region IV of the National Conference of
Catholic Bishops.

I attend the two annual meetings of the USCCB. I have served on the following
Committees: Catechetical Sub-Committee of the Education Committee;
Advisory Board of the National Religious Retirement Office for the USCCB in
1998; Committee on Laity of the USCCB in 1999 and re-appointed in 2002; Board
of Trustees Catholic Relief Services and Chairman of the Finance Committee for
Catholic Relief Service in 2000; in 2002, appointed to the Board of St. Mary’s
Seminary; Board of Overseers of Immaculate Conception Semninary at Seton Hall
University; and Nominating Committee of the USCCB, Committee on African-
American Catholics and the Communications Committee.

_ There are no retired bishops living in the Diocese.

10. Absence of Bishop from Diocese - Canon 395 speaks of the bishop being
bound by the law of residence. During the quinquennium I have kept to the
norm of this canon. I have never been absent for longer than two weeks. Most
absences even for vacation have been for short periods and I have always been
available to the Vicar General by the modern means of communication for
pressing matters of diocesan finances or pastoral concern.

10
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“THE NEED TO PROMOTE THE CONSISTENT USE OF CATHOLIC FUNERAL RITES”

Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli

October 28, 1999

The Catholic Church has a long history and experience of helping people to prepare spiritually for
death and assisting families to degl with the sickness, death, burial and bereavement of a loved
one.

Gathering the wisdom of the Church’s long experience, I offer these words to our pastors and
priests, funeral directors, grieving Catholic families, those involved in Catholic bereavement
ministry and all Catholics in the Diocese of Wilmington.

There is a trend among some of our Catholic people to omit the traditional Catholic funeral rites
when they experience the death of their loved ones in favor of a small prayer service at the
funeral home or a private graveside service.

While our dedicated priests will minister to people in their time of need regardless of a family’s
decisions, I want to encourage Catholic priests, funeral directors, grieving Catholic families and
those involved in Catholic bereavement ministry to promote together the use of the Catholic
funeral ritual."

Three separate and sequential rites are proposed as the most fitting way to celebrate this
pilgrimage of the deceased Christian: The Vigil for the Deceased (often referred to as the Wake),
the Funeral Liturgy (or Mass of Christian Burial), and the Rite of Committal. The physical
movement or procession from one place to another for the celebration of these rites can add to the
sense of journey or pilgrimage and contribute to the experience of separation through which
mourners must pass before they are able to re-center their lives after the death of a family
member or friend.? ;

No economic consideration, no time management concern should prevent us from working
together to give our Catholic faithful the necessary spiritual and emotional support derived from a
full and active participation in the Catholic funeral ritual.

I appeal to Catholic family members making decisions about funeral arrangements for their
relatives. Please consider the deepest hopes and desires of your loved ones in their best days and
make the right choice to celebrate our Catholic funeral liturgies. The Eucharist helps to heal the
sorrow that comes from the loss of a loved one. This may very well be a special moment of grace
for you and your family.

! Canon 1176 of the 1983 Code of Canon Law reads:

1. Christ’s faithful who have died are to be given a Church funeral according to the norms of law.

2. Church funerals are to be celebrated according to the norms of the liturgical books. In these funeral
rites the Church prays for the spiritual support of the dead, it honors their bodies, and at the same time
it brings to the living the comfort of hope.

2 ¢t Reflections on the Body, Cremation, and Catholic Funeral Rites by the Cormittee on the Liturgy,
National Conference of Catholic Bishops (Washington, DC: United States Catholic Conference, 1997), 13.
Subsequent references to this document are abbreviated as RBCCF.
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Cathiolic Funeral Rites
Page 2

The Church celebrates the funeral rites:

+To offer worship, praise, and thanksgiving to God for the gift of a hfe which has now been
returned to God (Order of Christian Funerals, #5)°

+To affirm the Church’s belief in the sacredness of the human body and the resurrection of the
dead (RBCCF)

+To commend the dead to God’s merciful love and to plead for the forglveness of their sins
(OCEF, #6)

+To bring hope and consolation to the living (OCF, #7)

+To renew our awareness of God’s mercy and judgment and to meet the human need to tum
always to God in times of crisis (OCF, #7)

+To support the Church’s emphasis on the indispensable role of the wider community in the
dying and death of a Christian (RBCCF)

+To affirm and express the union of the Church on earth with the Church in heaven in the one
great communion of saints (OCF,#6)

The celebration of the Catholic funeral rites promotes a healthy grieving process that can lead to
deep levels of personal conversion and spiritual growth. In contrast, the avoidance of these
funeral rites may short-circuit grief and healing.

Our Catholic tradition urges the Church today to face death with honest rituals that preserve its
Christian and human values, Since, in rising to new life, Christ won victory over death for His
followers, faith impels the Church to celebrate that victory in its funeral liturgies. *

I also commend to you the use of our Catholic cemeteries which are 2 visible sign of our Catholic
beliefs about death, eternal life and the communion of saints.

I thank you all in advance for your cooperation and zeal in promoting the consistent use of our
Catholic funeral rites.

Sincerely yours in Christ

dael Q-

Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli
Bishop of Wilmington

* Order of Christian Funerals (New York, Catholic Book Publishing Co., 1989). Subsequent references to
this work are abbreviated as OCF.
“ RBCCF
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Bishop Saltarelli/Evangelization

How to Reach
Inactive Catholics

Active Catholics have an “obligation
to be signs of hope and gentle invitation to
our inactive brothers and sisters,” Bishop
Michael Saltarelli of Wilmington, Del,
wrote in a Jan. 13 statement. Utilizing re-
search conducted by the U.S. bishops’
Committee on Evangelization, Saltarelli
presented nine reasons why 17 million U.S.
Catholics “no longer practice their faith.”
Then, examining each of these reasons, he
suggested “ways that you and I together
might address the situation.” Salarelli
said, "My hope is to stimulate your con-
cern and creativity, and to persuade you to
approach your friends who are not prac-
ticing their faith.” Saliarelli said, for ex-
ample, that some inactive Catholics “were
hurt in some way by Catholics” and simply
need “a practicing Catholic to listen atten-
tively and empathetically.” Others, he said,
have married outside the church, disagree
with church teaching or “simply got lazy
and stopped going.” Saltarelli quoted
Paulist Father John Hurley, director of the
US. bishops’ evangelization office, who
said: “Many drop away with the hope that
someone will notice, and with large con-
gregations in many parishes, often no one
does. Would you want to join a church that
doesn’t care when you fall away?” In a
special message to parents of inactive
Catholics, Saltarelli said, “Often the issue
of Catholic practice may be tied up with
delicate emotional issues between you and
your children.” Talking with adult chil-
dren who are inactive, he said, “requires a

great deal of emotional calm, a supernatu-
ral spirit and an intuitive sense of diplo-
macy and timing!” Saltarelli’s statement
Jollows.

The most numerous body of Christian
believers in America today is the Roman
Catholic Church, numbering some 45 million
believers. Recent research shows that the
second largest body, some 17 million, consists
of those Catholics who no longer practice
their faith. These are our sons and daughters,
our spouses, our extended families, our neigh-
bors and friends, the woman or man who
works at the desk across from us — each of
them a brother or sister in Christ.

During this year of jubilee, we have been
invited to seek a deeper level of personal
conversion in our own lives. At the same time
we recall our obligation to be signs of hope
and gentle invitation to our inactive brothers
and sisters.

Like many of you, I and my brother
bishops, the shepherds of the church in
America, have wondered why Catholics be-
come inactive. Recently the U.S. bishops’
evangelization committee conducted research
to find an answer to this question. I would like
to share with you the results of this research.
Based on this information I would also like to
suggest ways you and I together might ad-
dress the situation. My hope is to stimulate
your own concern and creativity, and to per-
suade you to approach your friends who are
not practicing their faith, Like St. Peter near

(continued on page 515)
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SALTARELLI — continued from front page
the gate of the temple, we might learn to say,
“What I do have I give you ... Jesus Christ”
(Acts 3:6).

Avery Dulles writes: “The church has
become too introverted. If Catholics today are
sometimes weak in their faith, this is partly
because of their reluctance to share it.”! Each
of us needs to discern with the light and fire of
the Holy Spirit how we are to share our faith.
Our faith inevitably grows and deepens when
we do share it.

The U.S. bishops’ evangelization com-
mittee diagnosed in their research reasons why
Catholics become inactive. I have selected nine
of the reasons; I then reflect on how the
church can respond.

Why Catholics Become Inactive .

Reason 1: “Some did not experience the
power or presence of God in Catholicism or in
the Catholic community of which they were a
part.”

People are hungry and thirsty for signs of
intimacy with Jesus Christ. They want to see
evidence that people know and love Jesus
Christ personally. They want to see a Catholic
faith that reaches every part of a person’s being
and that is manifested in one’s words, actions,
manrer, smile and friendships.

Avery Dulles issues this challenge: “Too
many Catholics of our day seem never to have
encountered Christ. They know a certain
amount about him from the teaching of the
church, but they lack direct personal familiar-
ity. The hearing of the Gospel, personal prayer
and the reception of the sacraments should
establish and deepen that saving relationship.”

Each year time itself is made holy by our
celebration of the liturgical year, that rhythm of
prayers, feasts and celebrations that make
present to us on a continuing basis the life,
death and resurrection of our Savior. Each year
we are invited to enter into the spirit of these
moments to experience on an ever deepening
level the significance of the saving actions of
Jesus Christ for us personally. Perhaps in the
past year we have experienced the birth of a
child, the death of a loved one or a broken
relationship. These experiences change us in
subtle ways and open us to a new awareness of
the ways in which the experience of Jesus can
give new meaning to our own. OQur experiences
are the soil in which our Christianity, watered
by faith, grows. But Catholic faith that only
goes through the motions year after year does
not grow. This lack of growth is obvious. It
often reveals a faith that has not been fully
internalized. Our lives need to reflect the love of
Jesus growing in us. Our lives need to raise
“irresistible questions™ in the hearts and minds
of those who are searching for the way home
to Catholic truth and authenticity.

Fundamental to our faith is the reality that
Jesus Christ is “the same yesterday, today and
forever.” He is the mystery that invites us to
eucharistic faith. He is the one who awaits us in

our neighbor, the sacraments and the poor. He
is the redeemer who has made his church the
sign of God’s universal love and welcoming.

“These experiences change us
in subtle ways and open us to a
new awareness of the ways in
which the experience of Jesus
can give new meaningtoourown.
Our experiences are the soil in
which our Christianity, watered by
faith, grows. But Catholicfaiththat
only goes through the motions
year after year does not grow.
This lack of growth is obvious.”

Reason 2: “Some did not experience
warm, personal, caring relationships in their
encounters with Catholics. To them the people
seemed cold, the services boring.”

The primary point of contact between God
and ourselves, and between ourselves and our
neighbors in faith, is when we gather for the
celebration of the eucharist. Yet our eucharistic
celebrations follow a certain pattern. There is an
order to our worship that brings familiarity but can
also produce the deadening effects of routine. We
know the importance of order and routine in
everyday life. They are necessary to a good, pro-
ductive life. And we have all experienced using the
same words or phrases over and over even in our
most intimate relationships. How often have we
spoken or heard an 7 love you or a thank you in
conversation with a spouse or a child. Yet, at
times, we recognize that we or they are merely
going through the motions, that the words are
being used from habit.*

The same may become true of our partici-
pation in worship. Each of us has to take seri-
ously our baptismal commitment to participate
fully, actively and consciously in our Catholic
liturgies with attentive minds and hearts. Our
authentic participation in the Mass, the Liturgy
of the Hours and our traditional Catholic devo-
tions will extend to our attitude as a community
that lives the faith it celebrates. Our public
worship nourishes our private prayer; our pri-
vate prayer leads us back to Christ, who always
leads us to our brothers and sisters. We need to
reach out to new parishioners, visitors and
those who are taking another look at the church.

Paulist Father John Hurley recently said:
“Many drop away with the hope that someone
will notice, and with large congregations in
many parishes, often no one does.-Would you
want to join a church that doesn’t care when
you fall away?”*

We need to ensure that our local parishes
are welcoming communities for all of God’s
people. Our communal worship must lead to
apostolic works of mercy and love, especially
on behalf of the marginalized.

For a past text in Origins
that discusses inactive Catho-
lics, along with the themes of
evangelization, apologetics
and the witness of faith, see
“The Apologetic Moment in
Evangelization,” by Bishop
Stephen Blaire, now of Stock-
ton, Calif.; Vol 26, pp. 557ff
in the edition dated Feb. 13,
1997.

QUOTE FROM A PAST
TEXT OF CURRENT
INTEREST:

“Before we even think
about reaching out to those
who have not had contact
with the church, we need to
Sfirst ask ourselves if we are
ministering effectively to the
marginal Catholics who do
come to our parish occasion-
ally. Perhaps they are ar-
ranging a funeral, a wedding
or a baptism. What sort of re-
ception do they find when
they come to us? Is it easy for
them to find the parish of
fice? Is there a sign indicat-
ing where the offices are? Are
the grounds and buildings
clean and well-taken care of?

“What is the enviromment
that marginal Catholics en-
counter when they come to
us? Does our parish office
look less inviting than a
teller's window in a bank?
Everything should be inviting
and hospitable when they en-
ter the parish office, and our
atiitude should be a positive
attitude, not one of looking
Jor an excuse to say no to
what they want....

“Let's look at registra-
tion. We should always en-
courage people to register,
but do we give them the op-
portunity to register in the
parish outside of normal
working hours? It is very
helpful to contact newly reg-
istered parishioners by a let-
ter from the pastor, A bro-
chure giving information
about the parish could be in-
cluded. Surely, it's a terrible
thing if the first contact that
the newly registered parishio-
ners have is the monthly
mailing of the parish enve-
lopes! i

“Let us look at the sacra-
ments. We should have a
positive atlitude when some-
one comes for sacraments. If
they have had a baby, we
should congratulate them. If

>
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they have just goiten en-
gaged, we should rejoice
with them. If they have come
to arrange a funeral, we
should first of all express our
sympathy to them. Our atti-
tude should be positive.

“The Code of Canon Law
does not require registration
as a prerequisite for receiv-
ing sacraments. We are do-
ing a terrible thing to people
if we reguire them to be reg-
istered for six months before
they can baptize their baby.
We should also remember
that we cannot require prior
attendance at Mass, use of
envelopes or a certain level
of donations for the sacra-
menis either. To mention
these requirements to inac-
tive Catholics will only turn
them further away from the

Saith.

“Certainly we must give
suitable preparation for the
sacraments, but the prepara-
tion showld not be burden-
some, and we should also be

Jlexible so that we assist them
in receiving the sacraments.
Remember that we should
challenge people 1o be fully
Catholic, but we must never
crush them....

“Parish regulations
should be few in number,
and there should be a
healthy flexibility in meeting
the requests of people of
good will. When a
marginalized Catholic sees a
little self-sacrifice on the part
of their priest or deacon, it
creates a great deal of good
will. Obviously some people
can take advantage of this
and treat the parish priest
and leaders rudely. There is
no reason that we should put
up with rude and un-Chris-
tian behavior, but most
people do not approach us
in this way. Those parishes
that have stole fees should
handle the subject with the
greatest tact. Nothing creates
more ill will toward the
church than giving the ap-
pearance that we are ‘selling
the sacraments.’

“Sometimes people who
have fallen away from the
church have their first con-
tact when a loved one is dy-
ing. When the priest responds
quickly and compassion-
ately, not only do we become

>»
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Reason 3: “Others did experience the com-
plex religious system that seemed to lack relat-
edness to their lives and, for many, a lack of
ministers appreciating their language and cul-
ture.”

Each week as we worship we pray to-
gether the creed crafted by the fathers of the
church at Nicea. We say, “I believe in one, holy,
Catholic and apostolic church.” These four de-
scriptive words — one, holy, Catholic, apos-
tolic — are sometimes referred to as marks of
the church. The word catholic comes from two
Greek words meaning worldwide or universal.
The Catholic Chirch is the one worldwide or
universal family of God.

When you see the Holy Father celebrating
Mass outside St. Peter’s Basilica, you notice the
Bernini columns on St. Peter’s Square which
symbolize the arms of the church reaching out
to the whole world. All of us need to support the
church in all its cultural and linguistic contexts,
always realizing that our experience of distinct
cultural expressions of the faith — when rooted
and balanced — helps to expand and enrich our
own faith,

Reason 4: “Some were hurt in some way by
Catholics — clergy or laity— and have not been
reconciled.”

Sometimes an inactive Catholic simply
needs a practicing Catholic to listen attentively
and empathetically to the hurt in his or her past.
It may be a difficult Catholic school experience.
It may be a story of a priest who was insensitive
to them at the funeral of their mother or father.
1t may be a story about disillusionment with the
behavior of a Catholic layperson. Whatever the
story — and we know there are many — we
need to listen well. Your simple listening, your
gentle apology on behalf of the church, is part of

the reconciling ministry of Christ. You become

an instrument of grace. Such a moment can
result in the person going to the sacrament of
reconciliation the following Saturday night and
returning to Mass and receiving communion on
Sunday for the first time in many years,

The National Conference of Catholic
Bishop's 1992 statement “Go and Make Dis-
ciples: A National Plan and Strategy for Catholic
Evangelization in the United States” described
the refined sensitivity that is necessary: “We
want to let our inactive brothers and sisters
know that they always have a place in the
church and that we are hurt by their absence as
they are. We want to show our regret for any
misunderstandings or mistreatment. And we
want to help them see that, however they feel
about the church, we want to talk with them,
share with them and accept them as brothers
and sisters. Every Catholic can be a minister of
welcome, reconciliation and understanding to
those who have stopped practicing their faith.”

Reason 5: “Some are in conflict with the
teachings of the church on ... matters of faith
and morality,”

We mentioned above that the church is
one, holy, Catholic and apostolic. Being apos-
tolic means that the belief of the Catholic Church

is founded upon the words and witness Jesus
Christ left with his apostles. It is his teachings
that we profess. We call this the deposit of faith,
which makes up the moral and doctrinal teach-
ing of the Catholic Church. We cannot “spin”
these truths to satisfy polls or the contemporary
American cultural myopia, But what we can do
is improve the way we communicate the truth of
our church’s teaching. Catholic truth will al-
ways find a home in a heart that is sincerely
searching for the truth.

As a church, we still need to absorb the
teachings of our Holy Father’s “The Splendor of
Truth” and “On the Relationship Between Faith
and Reason,” which not only diagnose the de-
structive influence of moral relativism and the
culture of death but show beautifully the consis-
tent Catholic belief that faith and reason are
designed to work in harmony. Each of us needs
to work on understanding the faith and being
able to give a reason for the faith that is within
us.

Often faith is effectively shared over a cup
of coffee or during a long walk with a good
friend. That’s the way friendship works. We
discuss our experiences. We reveal our deepest
convictions about life. We influence the choices
and life direction of others,

Witnessing to Christ to our friends and
neighbors in a way that is bold and natural is like
any skill. We need to develop it.

We not only live our Catholic faith vi-
brantly, we also reflect on our personal faith
experiences so that we can verbally share them
with others. We study the marvelous logic and
reasoning behind our Catholic teachings so that
we can communicate the truth that will set
people free.

“Often faith is effectively shared
over a cup of coffee or during a
longwalk witha goodfriend. That's
the way friendship works. We dis-
cuss our experiences. We reveal
our deepest convictions about
life.”

Cardinal Newman put it well more than a
century ago: “T want a laity ... who know their
faith, who enter into it, who know just where
they stand, who know what they hold and what _
they do not, who know their creed so well that
they can give an account of it and who know
encugh of history to defend it. I want an intelli-
gent, well-instructed laity.™

Reason 6: “Others never knew their faith
well and were ignorant of basics. They were
easily misled in their lack of understanding,
exploited by those who attack Catholic beliefs
and practices for their own purposes.”

Often there is a lack of formation in the
Catholic philosophy of life. The connections be-
tween the word of God, Catholic worship and a
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Catholic way of life have not been made. The joy
of discovering the way each mystery of Catholic
faith is grounded in Scripture, centered in Christ
and proclaimed in the liturgy has never been
experienced. This lack of integral faith forma-
tion leaves a vacuum. ‘

An obvious sign of a vacuum is our
culture’s obsession with television program-
ming which appeals to the cruel and violent side
of human nature. Talk shows that encourage a
public confession of sins and indiscretions in a
crazed Roman Colosseum-type atmosphere only
leave the vulnerable victims more wounded.

In contrast, the sacrament of reconcilia-
tion allows Christ’s peace to enter our hearts.
We verbalize our sins and come to grips with
them in private with the complete assurance of
confidentiality through the seal of the confes-
sional, Whereas the talk-show confession falsely
confirms that we are “all right” in our sinfulness,
the sacramental reconciliation reminds us that
our sinfulness is a wound — but that we are
made whole in Christ Jesus. We are liberated
from our sins and renew our confidence and
hope in God’s mercy and strength.

Another sign of a vacuum is vulnerability
in faith. Often our secular education far sur-
passes our Catholic faith education. A typical
example of this is when first-year Catholic col-
lege students in secular universities are shaken
by their Philosophy 10! course. We need to
remember that we have access to the richest
intellectual tradition in the world with minds as
brilliant and diverse as St. Augustine, St. Thomas
Aquinas, St. Catherine of Siena, St. Teresa of
Avila, Avery Dulles and Pope John Paul II. We
cannot forget or neglect this intellectual tradition.
We need to learn it. We need to teach it.

We need to support parents, the primary
catechists in the family, and catechetical pro-
grams so that our Catholic children can grow in
the faith from an early age. We need to prune
what might not be authentic from our
catechetical programs and nurture those things
that promote and serve a Catholic way of life
and belief. We need to continue to promote
effective adult-education experiences. Adult
education needs to become a primary ministry in
our parishes, not an afterthought.®

‘We need to be attentive to the opportunity
to reach out to inactive Catholics in our sacra-
mental programs and in every sacramental mo-
ment, whether it be a wedding, a funeral,” mid-
night Mass on Christmas, Palm Sunday, Ash
Wednesday or Easter Sunday. We want “ashes
and palm™ Catholics to become “eucharistic”
Catholics. As in all education, we need to stress
the fundamentals of our faith.

Reason 7: “Some have been kept from full
communion with the church because of a mar-
riage outside the church.”

One of the doctrinal treasures of the
church is the doctrine of the indissolubility of
marriage. When Catholic couples reverence God
and each other through fidelity to their wedding
vows, they discover what authentic Christian
freedom in the Holy Spirit actually is.

We do need to be sensitive to those who
have had difficulties in their marriages. Very
often we may know a friend who may have had
no personal resporsibility for the breakup of a
marriage. In some cases it is possible to seek a
declaration of nullity (annulment). Contact your
priests, lay advocates or our marriage tribunal.
In situations where Catholics have been married
outside the church after the breakup of the initial
marriage, we encourage them to come to Mass
even if they cannot receive communion, We
encourage them to pray, to seek spiritual direc-
tion and to be open to God's grace.

Reason 8: “A significant number of the
inactive simply got lazy and stopped going. They
may have gotten busy with their jobs and fami-
lies, and through their own fault didn’t find the
time. In a recent survey of young-adult Catho-
lics published in America magazine, 35 percent
of the inactive simply got too busy and were lazy
and didn't find the time to be involved.”

We may have battled this phenomenon
ourselves. Faith is never static; it is growing or
fading. Time is so precious these days that we
can easily begin to slide. We decide there is just
too much to do on a particular weekend so we
miss Mass. The culture tells us we must work
harder and play harder — but nowhere does it
acknowledge that, for the sake of truly human
development, we must also rest better and pray
better. The reasoning continues to the point
where church attendance is no longer an issue.
Through friendship and casual conversation we
can help our friends and family members to
begin to practice the faith again. Invite someone
to church!

“Oftenyouradultchild’sinactive
faith can be a difficult subject for
you to broach. Defensive reac-
tions can be quick. You may have
a tendency to lecture or to nag....
Still, never give up.”

Reason 9: “Others moved to new locations
and never got around to finding a church in
their new city or neighborhood. The America
survey noted that 19 percent of the inactive
young adults fell into this category.”

These people work with us. We can easily
work into our conversations information and
enthusiasm about local parish life, Our parish
welcoming committees have a special role here.
So does eucharistic adoration — holding up
before the real presence the physical and spiri-
tual needs of our friends and neighbors.

A Special Word to Parents
of Inactive Catholics

1 know how painful it can be for you when
your children stop practicing their faith. You
wonder where you went wrong, what you failed
to emphasize, what you failed to explain. Instead
of dwelling on what went wrong, take that

<«

an occasion for the salvation
of the soul, but it makes for a
beautiful impression upon
the family. Even if someone
is already dead, it is impor-
tant that the parish respond
af once. Notning turns people
away from the church more
than when they call out in a
moment of crisis, and the
priest or parish fails to re-
spond. While due regard
must be taken to preserve the
privacy and sanity of the
priest, we also need to make
it easy to reach their priest in
times of emergency....

“Every baptized Catholic
has the right to receive c
Christian funeral in the par-
ish in which he or she resides.
It is not required by canon
law that they be registered.
Even if someone is not resid-
ing in the parish, we should
try to show ourselves anxious
to meet the reasonable re-
quest of people. It is often
helpful for the pastor to find
the time to hear confessions
during the funeral wake/ro-
sary or immediately before
the funeral Mass. This is often
the moment of conversion for
people. Obviously this is
more difficult if there is only
one priest in the parish. I be-
lieve that bereavement com-
mittees working with the
priest can do a great deal to
bring pastoral care to the
oftentimes marginalized
Catholics who participate.”

(From "New Way of Shar-
ing Faith With Others,” by
Archbishop Michael Sheehan
of Santa Fe, in Origins,

Vol. 28, pp. 295f in the edi-
tion dated Oct. 8, 1998,)
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energy and apply it to your prayer life.

Often your adult child’s inactive
faith can be a difficult subject for you to
broach. Defensive reactions can be
quick. You may have a tendency to lec-
ture or to nag. Often the issue of Catho-
lic practice may be tied up with delicate
emotional issues between you and your
children.

Still, never give up. Pray for your
inactive children and model more vi-
brantly your own Catholic faith for
them, There can be opportunities for
you to talk empathetically with your
children about the benefits of returning
to the church. It requires a great deal of
emotional calm, a supernatural spirit,
and an intuitive sense of diplomacy and
timing!

Remember St. Monica, who never
gave up on St. Augustine. She prayed
for Augustine for over 30 years. During
this period he restlessly tried a number
of intellectual philosophies and engaged
in self-centered, manipulative relation-
ships. How painful it must have been for
Monica to watch her talented son walk

this self-destructive path. .

It was through Monica’s prayer
that Augustine came home. We lift up
our sons and daughters to the interces-
sion of St. Monica and St. Augustine.
We never give up on them.

Pray and Take Action

Having reflected with you briefly
on the need of our outreach to 17 million
inactive Catholics, I encourage you to
continue with your own reflection.
Think of your friends, your family,
those in your sphere of influence in this
Diocese of Wilmington and elsewhere.

Think about how you can tactfully
speak with them and invite them back to
the church. I will be praying for your
efforts and will look forward to hearing
about your experiences and benefiting
from your own insights.

Footnotes .
U Avery Dulles, SJ, “John Paul IT and the
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ops, “Go and Make Disciples: A National Strat-
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Listen ... A Time to Heal” (Washington: USCC,
Nov. 13, 1998).
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Green and Co., 390-391.
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mation in the United States” (Washington:
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mote the Consistent Use of Catholic Funeral
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THE RESPECT LIFE LEGACY OF JOHN CARDINAL O’CONNOR
AND THE OBLIGATION OF CATHOLICS TO PROMOTE THE
CULTURE OF LIFE IN AMERICAN SOCIETY
BISHOP MICHAEL SALTARELLI
DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON
SEPTEMBER 28, 2000

On May 10, 2000, President Clinton, Vice-President Gore, Republican
presidential candidate George W. Bush, other public officials, ecumenical
representatives and Catholics from around the world gathered at St. Patrick’s
Cathedral to pay their final respects at the funeral of a man who made such a
difference in the last years of the twentieth century - John Cardinal O’Connor.

During his homily, Cardinal Bernard Law stated the obvious - that Cardinal
O’Connor was “unambiguously pro-life”. What happened after this simple
statement, I believe, is what will one day be seen as the turning point in the
struggle to promote the culture of life and defeat the culture of death in
American society.

the Cathedral suddenly came to life. Small bits of applause crescended into a
deafening standing ovation that brought everyone to their feet, including the
occupants of the first rows of the Cathedral. This moment, along with the
presence of the Cardinal’s beloved Sisters of Life, was in a sense a reminder
from the good Cardinal that he would continue to be with us in our struggle to
rebuild our American society on the foundation of a respect for human life.

In 1998, the U.S. Catholic Bishops issued a statement entitled Living the Gospel
of Life: A Challenge to American Catholics which is particularly relevant in a
year when we elect a president, a V1ce-pre51dent and a host of Federal State and
local representatives.

The Bishops write: “Opposition to abortion and euthanasia does not excuse
indifference to those who suffer from poverty, violence and injustice. Any
politics of human life must work to resist the violence of war and the scandal of
capital punishment. Any politics of human dignity must seriously address
issues of racism, poverty, hunger, employment, education, housing and health
care, Therefore, Catholics should eagerly involve themselves as advocates for
the weak and marginalized in all these areas.”
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“Catholic public officials are obliged to address each of these issues as they
seek to build consistent policies which promote respect for the human person at
all states of life. But, being ‘right’ in such matters can never excuse a wrong
choice regarding direct attacks on innocent human life. Indeed, the failure to
protect and defend life in its most vulnerable stage renders suspect any claims
to the ‘rightness’ of positions in other matters affecting the poorest and least
powerful of the human community.”

“If we understand the human person as the ‘temple of the Holy Spirit’ - the
living house of God - then these latter issues fall logically into place as the
crossbeams and walls of that house. All direct attacks on innocent human life,
such as abortion and euthanasia, strike at the house’s foundation. These directly
and immediately violate the human person’s most fundamental right - the right
to life. Neglect of these issues is the equivalent of building our house on sand.
Such attacks cannot help but lull the social conscience in ways ultimately
destructive of other human rights.”(#23)

Cardinal O’Connor was not one to allow the Catholic American conscience to be
lulled to sleep and inaction by the rhetoric and ploys of the culture of death. He
urged Catholic Americans not to check their consciences at the door of the
political process but to bring their well-formed Catholic consciences and
principles to the public square in a true spirit of democracy.

I urge all citizens, especially Catholics of the Diocese of Wilmington in the
states of Delaware and Maryland, to embrace their citizenship in this
millennium not merely as a duty and privilege but as an opportunity to
participate in building the culture of life.
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MARIAN DEVOTION:
~Through Mary to Jesus: the Spiritual
Value of the Rosary

Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli

St. Ann’s Church in Wilmington, Delaware has an unusual monstrance, the
vessel used to display the Holy Eucharist for public veneration. The stem is
the image of the Blessed Virgin Mary, her arms raised and holding aloft the
traditional sunburst and Iuna which holds the Host. Inscribed is the Ignatian
aphorism, “per Mariam ad Jesum."

“Through Mary to Jesus.” These words sum up our doctrine, devotion, and
art associated with the Mother of God. The devotion to Mary is first of all
rooted in the Word of God and the faithful witness of Sacred Tradition. The
Fathers of the Second Vatican Council recalled Mary’s prophetic words, first
spoken to Elizabeth and recorded in Luke’s Gospel, “all nations shall call me
blessed.” Our Lady’s place in salvation history is also confirmed time and
again in countless apparitions throughout the world. It is abundantly clear
that the role assigned to her by the Father is to lead the faithful ever-closer to
Jesus, the Son of God and the Son of Ma:ry.

Authentic, vibrant, and effective Marian devotion invites us ever deeper into
the mystery of Jesus and the great truths of salvation history. Beautiful
hymns, both traditional and contemporary, artistic images of the Virgin
mother in wood, stone, paint, and stained glass, and devotions and prayers
like the Litany of Loretto, the Memorare, and the Salve Regina express our
love for God’s Mother and His Son. The Rosary, in particular, helps us
encounter and ponder the mysteries of God’s grace in Christ.

We reflect on Jesus and His so-called “hidden life” prior to His public
ministry, His passion, death and resurrection, His ascension to the Father
and sending of the Holy Spirit, and His heavenly ministry until His return in
glory. Through His holy Mother we come to know and love Him more and
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more, and we grow in our understanding, however imperfect and
incomplete, of the sublime truth of Who and What Jesus is, for us each one
of us personally and also for our Church and world.

Of all the ways we honor Mary and give glory to Her Divine Son, the most

recognized, the most common, and the most powerful is the Holy Rosary.
Consider its history, its simplicity, and its power.

The use of prayer beads, of course, is something we Catholics share with
Muslims and Hindus. In our tradition, the Rosary developed in the 12®
century as various tender devotions to Jesus and Mary coalesced. Since
educated clergy and religious prayed the 150 psalms in their daily Breviary,
the custom arose of having peasant folk pray the so-called “Psalter” of 150
Lord’s Prayers—the beads at that time were called “Pater nosters,” in
English, “Our Fathers.” The idea was copied for Marian devotions, and the
words of the angel Gabriel were used to recall and relive the joy of the
Annunciation. The words of Elizabeth, “Blessed are you among women!”
were added to the “4ve” in the early 12" century.

Psalters of Our Lord and Our Lady began to apply each psalm to some
aspect of the life of Jesus or Mary. At first, only the Annunciation was used
for meditation while praying with beads. Later, 5, 10, 15, or 20 joys were
recalled. 14™ century devotion to the sorrowful Mother led to meditation on
the sorrowful mysteries of Our Lady during the second “chaplet” of 50
prayers. Later, the third series of 50 Aves were devoted to the heavenly joys
of the Blessed Mother.

Rosarium is a Latin term meaning a garden of roses, used to designate 50
phrases reflecting on Mary’s joys, each attached to an Ave. Thus, five
decades were called a Rosary, while the entire 15 decades were called a
psalter. Some people prayed the Lord’s Prayer and the Ave together,
reflecting on 150 mysteries. To make the devotion usable both communally
and by unlettered people, the mysteries were reduced to fifteen—these are
the same as the ones currently in use, except that the Assumption and
Coronation used to be combined and the Last Judgement was the final
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mystery. By the 15" century, the Rosary had developed as we know it
today, along with the second half of the “Hail, Mary.” (Since the apparitions
at Fatima in 1917, the prayer taught by Mary to the children, “O my Jesus,”
has often been added at the end of each decade.)

The Carthusians contributed greatly to the development of the Rosary, but it |

was the Dominicans who promoted its widespread use. Saints like Peter
Canisius, Philip Neri, and Louis de Montfort became great advocates of the
devotion, as did the popes, who attached various indulgences to its use.
Praying the Rosary was credited with the victory over the Turks at Lepanto
on Oct. 7, 1571, which inspired Pius V to insert the Feast of Our Lady of the
Rosary into the universal Church Calendar. Leo XIII became the “pope of
the Rosary,” and Pius XI granted a plenary indulgence for praying the
Rosary before the Blessed Sacrament.

Like other Marian devotions, “the beads” in recent years have enjoyed a
tremendous resurgence in popularity. We pray the Rosary standing at the
kitchen sink, driving a car, in the waiting area of a hospital emergency room,
or meditating quietly after Mass. We receive Rosaries on our First Holy
Communion day, and most of us will be buried with one entwined between
our fingers. It appeals to us because of its childlike simplicity, its long
tradition, and its familiarity far beyond the Church as an identifying mark of
a Catholic Christian.

Some grew up with the mistaken notion that this devotion is simply a
monotonous chain of repetitive prayers. Today, however, Catholics who
pray the Rosary frequently seem to have recovered the original sense that the
prayers form a kind of background music to meditation on the mysteries of
Jesus and Mary. Many pamphlets and booklets use Scriptural passages and
short reflections between the beads to direct our thought and prayer to the
mystery of each decade. There are Rosary meditations which are directed to
expectant moms, teenagers, vocations, the elderly, and others. The Rachel
Rosary is a powerful pro-life meditation.

In this Great Millennium Jubilee Year, let us use the Rosary to reflect on the
Gospel call to justice, and the plea of our Holy Father to deepen our
solidarity with victims of suffering, poverty, and injustice. Following are a
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few ideas which might stimulate your own creative thoughts about how to
relate these ancient mysteries of our faith to “the joy and hope, the grief and
anguish” of the people of our time. (cf. Gaudium et Spes)

The Annunciation can remind us of countless young women and girls who
suddenly and unexpectedly find themselves with child. Even Mary, who
conceived Jesus immaculately, was “troubled at the angel’s words.” Are we
quick to condemn the welfare mother with many children? Do we reach out
to help the woman with an unplanned, unexpected, perhaps unwanted
pregnancy?

Mary’s visit to her cousin, Elizabeth, reflects our special duty to the sick, the
homebound, those in hospitals, and nursing homes. And those in prison are
people we must never forget or despise. “Lord, when did we visit you when
you were sick or in prison?” And He will say to them, “I assure you as long
as you did it to one of the least of my brothers and sisters, you did it to Me.”

The Nativity of our Lord, laid in a feed box, in a cave where animals were
kept, is not just the romantic image of the family creche beneath our
Christmas tree. The circumstances of His birth remind us of the abject
poverty which Our Lord embraced, thé “human condition” which He took
upon Himself, becoming “like us in all things but sin.” What a special love
God has for the poor! How will He judge our compassion and concern for
the needy in our time and place?

The Presentation in the Temple reveals the diligence of Joseph and Mary in
“fulfilling the precepts -of the law.” It was most important to them to raise
their Son in the traditions of their ancestors and the rituals and customs of
the Jewish faith. How Catholic parents and grandparents grieve today over
children and grandchildren who no longer come to Mass and the sacraments!
Like St. Monica who wept and prayed for her son, Augustine, who later
became a great Doctor of the Church, let this mystery inspire in us heartfelt
prayer for fallen away Catholics and children whose parents neglect their
spiritual and moral nourishment.
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When Jesus and Mary realized their Son was missing, they were deeply
upset until they found Him in the temple, talking with the elders. This
mystery can recall for us the sad plight of missing children, and the anguish
of parents trying to find them. It can remind us of the tragedy of runaway
children, especially those trapped into a life of prostitution or selling drugs.

This mystery also echoes fche painful reality of families divided by hurt and -

unforgiveness, marriages and other relationships that desperately need
reconciliation.

The Agony in the Garden was a time of intense loneliness for Our Lord. It
pointed prophetically to the pain He would later experience when, rather
than just falling asleep, His disciples would abandon Him, Peter would deny
Him, and Judas Iscariot would betray Him. We might use this mystery to
consider the lonely and forgotten of this world and those stung by the bitter
wound of betrayal.

The Scourging at the Pillar is a powerful image that embodies the words of
Isaiah: “It was our sufferings that He endured... by His stripes we were
healed.” This mystery reminds us of those who suffer unjustly—victims of
religious persecution, economic exploitation, physical and sexual abuse. It
can also represent people like police and fire fighters and those in the Armed
Forces who place themselves in harm’s way for the well being of others.

The Crowning with Thoms, like the words nailed to the cross, was a
prophetic ridicule of Jesus’ identity as the King of the Jews. Perhaps this
mystery should confront us with sins like gossip and ridicule. Like the tiny
wound made by each individual thorn, they can, together, cause great pain in
the hearts of their victims.

Jesus takes up His cross. As difficult as it may be for many of us to bear
life's burdens without complaining, our Lord’s silent suffering reminds us of
people who humbly and courageously accept their lot in life, even when it is
the result of injustice or inequality. How often people work at rather menial
tasks to provide for the comfort and convenience of the rest of us! The

w
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crosses of others may seem small to us, but their weight grows as they are
carried, often for years and years.

It is our sins that nailed Jesus to the cross. It is tempting to focus on the
betrayal of Judas, the plotting of the Jewish leaders, the false accusations of

the witnesses at His trial, and the cowardice of Pilate. In the same way, we

can blame all the world’s ills on someone else. This mystery confronts us
with our need to accept responsibility, both for the death of Jesus caused by
our sins and His continuing crucifixion in the flesh of those who are
victimized by our greed, suspicion, fear, gossip, indifference, and
unforgiveness.

The Resurrection of Our Lord is the event that “broke the chains of death”
forever. Yet there are so many people in our world today who remain
captives. Some, especially nations burdened by crushing debt, are enslaved
by economic exploitation. Others are shackled by poverty, ignorance, and
disease. Still others are enslaved by prejudice and injustice. All of these
need the transforming grace of Christ’s rising from the tomb.

When Jesus ascended to the Father, His disciples were standing around
looking heavenward. The Acts of the Apostles records that an angel scolded
them for standing around when there was work to be done! We believers
always face a temptation to escape into religiosity and to neglect the Gospel
call to witness to the world by lives of service. Some will be converted by
preaching, but others will be touched by, and attracted to, God when we feed
the hungry, clothe the naked, shelter the homeless, and care for the sick.

Pentecost marks the birthday of the Church, when the Holy Spirit came upon
the disciples and Our Lady, gathered at prayer in the Upper Room. The
Scriptures tell us that the apostles began to preach in many different
languages, as the Spirit inspired them. It is easy to confuse unity with
uniformity, yet the “Catholic,” or “universal,” Church embraces many rites,
Latin and eastern, and “people of every race, language, and way of life.”

This mystery of the Holy Spirit’s descent calls us to a deeper appreciation

for the unity in diversity which is the Church. As our nation and community
change daily with the influx and growth of various ethnic groups and an
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ever-larger Muslim population, these changes challenge us to demonstrate a
profound respect to those who may be quite different from us.

The Assumption of Mary, body and soul, into heaven, points to the goodness

of creation, the sacredness of human sexuality, and the destiny of our .

physical being in a life beyond this world. This mystery reminds us of the
reverent care we owe to the human body, both in life and in death. It calls us
to work for an end to pornography, physical, sexual, and emotional abuse,
and all forms of sexism. It also reminds us of our duty to faithfully and fully
observe our Catholic funeral rites.

When Our Lady was crowned Queen of heaven and earth, she also became
queen of our hearts. Because this handmaid of the Lord was humble and
obedient in accepting God’s will, she became His first disciple and an
instrument of His Divine Grace. We honor her not only by admiring her and
singing her praises but also by imitating her great virtue. Perhaps this final
mystery should remind us to cling to Mary not only in our life of prayer but
also in our daily struggle to live the faith given to us by her Son.

/psb

October 2000
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", serious obligation to join with'the

The Capital
Stewardship
Campalgn

BISHOP’S TEACHING
" OFFICE

As shepherd and bishop for the .
Diocese of Wilmington, | have a

Holy Father in proclaiming the
" Good News of Jesus Christ and
. - teaching with fidelity the truths of
the Catholic Church. : :
" In addition to the preaching and .
7 teaching | do in our parishes, 1°
¢ have issued pastoral statements to
. .raise the consciousness of the’
. Catholic faithful in our dlocese on
. contemparary issues,

In May of 1997, | issued mar-
‘riage preparation guldellnes that.
stress the need for quality one-
year marriage preparation that
helps couples to live Christ’s
teaching on permanence, fidelity
and openness to children in the
sacrament of marriage. N :

On Nov. 2, 1999, | issued a. pas £
toral entitled “On’the Need for a.
Consistent Use of .the Funeral =% .
Rites,” which emphasizes that the
traditional wake service, funeral
Mass and graveside services are
an indispensable source of spiritu-
al strength and comfort for fami-
lies mourning the death of a loved
one.

On Jan. 13, 2000, | issued “How
to Reach Inactive Catholics,”
which stresses the need for active
Catholics to reach out to inactive
Catholics. This statement had
more influence than | ever antici-
pated. It was the lead contribu-

tion in the Jan. 27, 2000, edition
of Origins (Catholic News Service)’
and was used by bishops, dioce-
san newspapers and magazines
across the country. This outreach
to inactive Catholics in the Dio- .
cese oFWilmington remains one
of my most pressing concerns and

* priorities,

- On Sept. 28, 2000, | issued “The
Respect Life Legacy of John Cardi-

*-nal O’Connor and the Obligation
. of Catholics to Promote the Cul-

ture of Life.” This statement recog-

"nized the'inspirational pro-life

|eadership of Cardinal O’Connor
and urged Roman Catholics to
realize that without recognition
and civic support of the right to
human life, all other rights erode.
Catholics, along with their ecu-
menical and interreligious broth=

" ers and sisters, are called to pro- -

mote the culture of life prayerfully
and assertively in every sector of
society. -

In October 2000, 1 issued
“Through Jesus to Mary: the Spiri-
tual Value of the Rosary.” This -
statement — which was included
on my rosary CD and cassette
tapes distributed throughout the
Diocese — was designed to deep-
en Marian devotion and a love for
the rosary in our diocese. It
blends traditional Marian piety

_ with contemporary social justice

concerns.

Future pastoral statements will
address holiness in the world of
work, the importance of Christian

,mtegrate the ministry of the clergy
with the many talents, skills and
_ ministries our lay people bring to
" the church, Deanery-based recon-
ciliation services brought many
Catholics to the sacrament of rec-
onciliation. -

In September of 2000, our
diocesan Jubilee celebration Son-
rise 2000 attracted a crowd of
5,000 for a weekend of communal
faith and celebration. Who can
forget the opening Parade of
Parishes? To the singing of "The
L : Church’s One Foundation,” repre-

coaching in the arena of athlellcs
and the need for a vibrant . ."

Catholic faith in our college stu-

dents.

DIOCESAN SUMMITS
AND SONRISE 2000 -

In addition to these state-
ments, diocesan summits on voca-
tion awareness, lay ministry and
collaborative ministry have had a
lasting impact on the direction of
the diocese.- Our diocesan sum-
mit on vocauon i

0

awareness - sentatives
helped us realize . .+ of every
that everyone is . parish,
responsible for one by
cultivating voca- , . one, in-
tions to the ’ chrono-
priesthood and Jogical
religious life. order,’
Our diocesan “brought .~
surnmit on lay - forth a 15-
ministry * pound’
helped us to stone bear.
explore and ing a
appreciate the nameplate
gifts of the engraved
laity in the with the
ministry and church’s
mission of name and
the church. date of its
Our dioce- founding.
san summit - The founda-
on collabo- tion stone of
rative Min- " our newest
istry helped * p parish, St.
us to review and study models |
and approaches that could better See next paga.
]
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From previcus page -

"Margaret of Scotland in Glasgow,
DE, was the last stone brought up.
These symbols of history, of
tha spread of the faith throughout
. Delaware and Maryland, were

"laid on top of one another in front

.of the hall’s stage to form a sym-
bolic cornerstone of the diocese.
They are not only a reminder that
we stand on the shoulders and
sacrifices of our fathers ard moth-
ers in the faith, but a challenge
.that we have to spread the faith
wnh the same flre that they did.

PARISHES AND .
"SCHOOLS

As you know ! have made
every effort to visit our 56 parishes
and 20 missions consistently.
Sometimes you see me at confir-
mations, a Sunday Mass or anoth- _
er Celebratlon m your. - s
parish. L
The Holy”
Father has
been my
model. His -
efforts 1o be
among his
people in
various con-'
tinents and
countries
express his
desire to be a
missionary
pope. My
own efforts to
be present in
our parishes .
and to share
the faith with_
you reflects my
own desire to
be a missionary § o
bishop. C 5

What do ! BT
sée when 1 visit our parlshes and
‘missions?_ | see pastors and
priests on fire with the love'p
Jesus Christ bringing that love®-
and care to their people. I.love”
to sit with pastors, priests and -
their staffs and to listen how they -
strategize 1o spread the Gospel of
Jesus Christ. . - .

Ongomg fqrmatlon of the cler—
gy, the continuing development o
lay ministry,-the thirst for a deep
knowledge of our Roman Catho
faith'and deeper sp:rltual I|ves, the
efforts of our parish staffs and pas-
toral councils to be more authentl-
cally collakgoratuve, bold new -

approaches to Catholic Youth Min-

istry, new permanent deacons tak-
ing their place on our parish staffs;
efforts to nourish families spiritual-
ly as the foundation of our com- <
munities, RCIA teams that help o’
create an evangelizing synergy —
these are just a few of the signs
that show how our parishes are ’
thoroughly contemporary while
being solidly anchored in our
Roman Catholic tradition.

We can never rest on our lau-
rels. We have to root ourselves in
the Scriptures, the teaching of the

magisterium, the contemplative -

spiritual tradition of our church .-

“and the apostolic fire of the samfs
. while discovering new ways to ~
“evangelize Generation’X and now .

Generation Y by using the Inter- "~
net, the satellite dish, televmon
and radio. .
Qur Catholic schools are an
" integra! part of
this effort. They
‘are about much
more than an
-extra dash of
_ discipline and
: respect. QOur
schools are
meant to be
agents of .
evangeliza-
tion — with
pastors, prin-
cipals, teach-.
ers and staffs
comnpletely
committed
to integrat-
ing the
Catholic
vision of
“life into
their
teaching,
their cur-
riculum and their relationships
wnh students and parents. What
“ a difference a vibrant Catholic

Aschool makes to a parish com-

wnityl Our new regional grade
¢hools in Glasgow, DE, and

“Ocean Pines, MD, as well as the
- expansion of St. Thomas More-

Academy will expand our forma-

-1 ~tional and educational mission:

. even further. : -
* Qur'Catholic schools are dedi--
- cated to forming students who not .
“only can articulate their Catholic*

- ‘beliefs and attitudes but who live -
_them. -Think of the way that St.
.Thomas More, the new patron of -

statesman and politicians, is held -

i

istry, close-
“ly examin-

- gelize the

up as a model of mora} integrity .*

expressed in public life to the stu-
dents of St, Thomas More Acade-
my. These types of customs and

practices are at the heart of form-

ing vibrant young Catholics.

| am proud of the progress our.
Catholic schools have made in
promoting an authentic Catholic
identity. But we must continue to
strive. We need to find new ways
of inspiring the hearts and minds
of our young people in the coniext
of the culture in which they actu-
ally live and with the truths of
Christ and the church Wthh set
them free.

THE SEVEN MA]OR

“PRIORITIES FOR THE.

DIOCESE OF - .
WILMINGTON -

‘The seven major priorities for
the Diocese of Wilmington that |

_established early in my time as

bishop include:

1) Conduct an aggressive cam-
paign throughout the diocese to
promote vocations o
the priesthood and
religious life,

2) Develop and
implement a compre-
hensive pastoral plan
for ministry to His-
panic people.

3} Assess dioce-
san offices and min-
istries to assure effi-
ciency and effective-
ness.

4) Establish new
parishes and
schools.

S)
Explore
models of
parish min- 32

ing the role
of the clergy
and the laity
inthese . ~
models,

6 }Evan-

. pursum these pnorltle&

-TO CONDUCT AN
AGGRESSIVE -
A - CAMPAIGN...

' THROUGHOUT
THE DIOCESETO
PROMOTE VOCATIONS
TO THE PRIESTHOOD
AND RELIGIOUS LIFE

We cantinue to be committed
to cultivating priests who live
heroic lives of prayer, sacrifice and

. virlue in their consecration and
" mission,” Our priests help to
.model for all young people, and

especially those considering a
vocation to the priesthood and
religious life, a commitment to
proclaim the Word of God, to cel-
ebrate the sacraments with rever-
ence and care, and to serve the
people of God with the seli-emp-
tying love of jesus Christ. We have
made significant progress in the
past few years. We currently have
16 seminarians studying for the
Diocese of Wilmington; at one
point recently we had only

unchurched
and alienated.

African- = -
American commumty R
7) Develop and implement a

~comprehensive plan for ministry

on college campuses.
Let's examine our progress in

" four. We are working with. five

additional men who may enter

seminary formation in the fall of
"2001. Our directors of vocations

have worked to develop programs
See next page .
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-From previous page et

that keep vocations to the priest-

‘hood in the forefront of the minds

of people throughout the diocese.

" The director of vocations visits

" Workers Needed” and “Inquire | .-

.+ grade boys and girls to spend the
day with the bishop, the vocatlon .

sixth-and 11th-graders in the
Catholic schools throughout the
diocese.. We have used billboar
with the slogans “White Collar=

within,” reminding people of the -

need to look inside oneself prayer-A

fully to discover the call.

Attractive posters featurmg our -

seminarians are placed in ouri
parishes” and s¢hodls,’ The “Pass.
the Word" program mvrtes I‘Hh-

discuss vocations and m 1
the church. Our web’ page——
www.priestsZbe.org — helps to

reach our audience,

“-Many lay people in our dlo-
cese dedicate themselves to pray-

ing for vocations. Some who suffer:
“fficult physical crosses offer their

.ufferings in union with Christ cru-
cified for more'priests and reli-
gious, Some pray before the
Blessed Sacrament in our chapels
of perpetual eucharistic adoration.
In every vocation story there are .
prayerful lay people who have . .
encouraged the seminarianor ~
priest. Please continue to pray for

- and encourage young people to
consider the priesthood and reli- ~ -

g|ous hfe )

1O DEVELOP AND.'.
' IMPLEMENT A "%
w COMPREHENSIVE ™

PASTORAL PLAN - ..

FOR MINISTRY TO

. person team to'"

-strengthemng s’e'r-
“vices to the His- . .
. panic communi-.

HISPANIC PEOPLE

After a year—
long diocesan---
wide needs assess-.
ment iny1997, 1. ,
appomted a three- . gl

implementa four- ;:
year plan to sup- .'.
port local parish- .-
and dioeesan A
Jfices in"estab- °
tishing and

ty. Our four-year
plan focuses on

" were trained to serve as liturgical

* san level,

four areas: liturgy, community, for-
mation and social justice. -
LITURGY

. The number of parishes offer-
ing weekly Spanish Masses dou-
bled from seven'to 14. Mass, f
mation and outreach services
‘were esfablished at four seasonal’
“migrant worker sites;” Over 300

ministers. Bi-lingual Masses were
celebrated at special occasions at
nine parishes. Some parishes

have begun efforts to transport the’
faithful to Mdss and rehgtous &diis
. cation,

COMMUNITY o
I joined over 1,600 faithfu

Encuentro, the pentecost of the
Hispanic community on a dioce-

Bishop Ramazzini, from the
Diocese of San Marcos, ’
Guatemala, celebrated Masses

" and confessions and visited 2,000
of his former Guatemalteco
parishioners who are migrant
laborers in the central region of
the diocese. We are currently
considering a sister-diocese rela-
tionship with the Diocese of San

~ Marcos. This is a direct response’

to Pope John Paul Hi's appeal for
greater solidarity between dioce-
-ses in North America and South -
America in his 1999 apostolic*
exhortation The Church in Ameri-;
ca. Each parish with a Spanish . =
- Mass celebrates popular feasts .+~
-such as Our Lady of Guadalupe, .-
“.Our Lady of Providence, Living
."Stations of the Cross with outdaor-

" processions through the nelghbor-A )

" hood,* Mexican Independence

" Day, Saturday night parish fiestas,

. dances, picnics and trips. -
Nelghborhood evangellzatlon

’ pro;ects include home vxsntahon

- “men are in formation for the per-

..gathered in June of 1998 at Holy ¢
|- Cross parish for the first dlocesan

| the Old _

‘| and over
.'200 cas-

and door knocking, home -

rosaries, posadas, Bible studies

and summer children camps. At

least 1D parishes have appointed
~ Hispanics to their pastoral coun-
" cil. There are two Spanish

The diocesan Hispanic bulletin
Pueblo de Dios en Marcha was

terly. ]

FORMATION "
Three diccesan priests have

,learned Spanlsh Six Hispanic

anent diaconate; seven are in
‘the inquiry stage.. - Six Hlspamc
"women are inquiring about
becoming religious sisters..

An estimated 500 Hispanic
Cathalics took part in courses enti-
. tled “Introduction to the Sacred
Scripture,” “Overview of

Testa-
ment,”
and “fe y
Exilic”
offered at
lacal
parishes
and home
Bible stud-
les. Over
1,000 Span-
ish Bibles

settes of the
Bible in

Spanlsh have been sold or dlstnb
-‘uted.

Hlspanlc Youth and Young Adult
Groups (Pastoral Juvenil), Over
100 have received leadership
training and over 400 have partici-

+ pated in Encuentros celebrated at
tmmaculate Conception, Marydel;
St. John the Apostle in Milford;

_and St, Paul’s in Wilmington. .
Over 200 youth attended Jornada

“weekend retreats hosted by St
Paul’s.

“Eleven parishes estabhshed
- religious education programs for
children. At least 900 Hispanic
children participate in faith for- .
" mation programs. Over 500 His-,
panic adults received the sacra-
“ments of initiation after complet-
ing RCIA processes offered at -
" parishes and specjal-case migrant
worker sites. .

SOCIAL ACTlON .
" Most parishes with Spanish

Catholic weekly radio programs. --

“established and is publrshed quar-. '

Elght panshes have estabhshed

THE STATE OF THE DIOCESE: 2001 ¢~

" Masses have begun to establish
" outreach programs. Some parishes

are beginning to form associations
and community organizing groups

aimed at empowenng Hispanics to
_ organize, unify their voices and ’
"seek just working environments, . -
| . adequate housmg and lmmlgraUOn
reform.- Immigration services have

beén strengthened. A refigious sis-
ter has begun to offer counseling in

. Spanish in Wilmington. .

TO ASSESS . .- -
*-DIOCESAN OFFICES
:AND MlNlSTRIES
““TO ASSURE."
EFEICIENCY AND'
EFFECTIVENESS

The primary purpose of any - .

diocesan

- ministry is
to assist
g and enable
¥ the bish-
| op, parish-
£ es, and
church
institu-
 tions to
fulfill our
common
mission

_ resources, leadership,
direction, service, and support.

“The common vision of all of our
"diocesan offices is to assist *.
_parishes in particular to become
- vibrant communities of faith,

worship, education, service and

.evangelization. | wanted to

assure you and myself that our -
diocesan organization indeed ful-
fills its purpose.

Work on this priority began in

-the fall of 1997 with the hiring of
- consultants charged with evaluat-

ing all aspects of diocesan offices
and ministries that impacted in

.-any way their mission, purpose,

efficiency and effectiveness. - The
examination included a review of
office structure, lines of authority,
reporting, internal and external
relationships, budgeting and cost, ’
commumcatlons and planning. -

. Our assessors advised.us that
in the main our diocesan offices -
and services did a very'good job.
However, the consultants, dld have

See next page
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a number of recommendations: a
clear articulation of a common’
diocesan vision for all services; a
review of departmental structure
and reporting relationships;
improvement of internal and exter-
nal communications, particularly _
with the parishes; enhancement of
otr use of technology in the day-
to-day operations; and a tighter
planning and budgeting process.
The study’s implementation
resulted in some changes, but most
importantly it offered an oppdrtuni-

" ty for our diocesan staff to examine .

closely the services they provide,
change what needed changing,
refocus, and renew their efforts in
light of our common misston..

" Major diocesan councils’ and
committees’ purpose and need
were carefully examined and mod-
ilied where required to strengthen
leadership and to identify more.. .-
‘clearly their role and function.?

Our diocesan financial healt
is excellent. " Our finances are

managed and accounted for under -

the direction of a diocesan -.
chief finance officer. |
approved the first lay chief
finance officer in late 1996
with the advice, counsel,
and full involvement of our’
diocesan Finance Council.
We use professional invest-~_ |
ment managers and advisers
to carefully manage our
invested assets. We diligent-
ly develop and monitor an
annudl budget. We are audit-.

- ed by Price Waterhouse

* Coopers. | was most pleased -
we were able to forgive debts

owed the diocese by parishes

" and other institutions during the

Great Jubilee celebration.

TO ESTABLISH
NEW PARISHES
AND SCHOOLS

In 1868, a 36-year-old
priest named Thomas Becker was
installed as the first Bishop of the

. Diocese of Wilmington, Only 15
small churches served the scattered

- Catholic community on 6,200
square miles of the Delmarva
Peninsula. After his first tour of the

diocese, Bishop Becker noted that

he found “churches and schools, -
small buildings, old and poverty--.
stricken.” But he also found dedi-

- cated clergy and faithful lay people '

- Shore which now make up the

willing to sacrifice to support and

build up the new diocesar church.
When-[ became the eighth

bishop of Wilmington 128 years ~

fater, a very different scene greeted -

me. With God's grace and the
generosity and hard work of past

. generations of bishops, priests and .-}

laity, the Diocese of Wilmington
had grown beyond what Bishop .
Becker could have imagined.-
Catholics numberéd over
185,000 in Delaware and the nine
counties of Maryland’s Eastern

Diocese of Wilmington. There
were 56 parishes and 20 mission
churches. Nearly 16,000 children:
of all ages, races, natlonalltles.,
and economic status were .. -~
enrolled in Catholic schools,

over 30 diocesan ministries,

agencies, and offices served the
Catholic population and communi-’

-ty at large.

—»Whlle the growth in those 128
ears had been a great blessing, 1 ..
aced a number of challenges, not

the féast of Wthh was coping w1th

B glowth. Unfortunately, devel-

"opment in the diocese outpaced

planning. As | came to know my -
new leCESE, | recognized that
there was a need to establish at
least three more parishes and that
several parish churches were too !

i

small to accommodate their grow- ..,

ing numbers. Other churches .
required repair, expansion or, férg
vation. Several schools and- other

parish facilities required expansion :

and/or repair. Additionally, 1 /.
encountered near derands from *
literally*hundreds of ‘parents -
throughout the diocese for more
Catholic schools. The challenge
was how to address these issues in
an orderly and effective manner:

" We formed a Pastoral Planning:-;
Task® Force composed of ‘clergy and*.
lay persons to guxde lhe planmng : |

1" tual establishment of St. John Neu

.1 - parish in Wicomico ‘County nea

process and to make recommenda- :
tions to me." Consultants were
retained to assist in developing -

| bath the process as well as the **
plan. We identified the heaviest -

growth dreas of the olo(:ése_ and 3
arranged for consultations with _
pastors and parish pastoral coun-"

" cils to obtain the local perspective. .

. We studled datd assembled by the
-diocesan schools office,

+"§ ‘state and county planning

j agencies, and sought the
| assistance of the Urban

_ Affairs Department of the
niversity of Delaware .

- and its counterpart at the
University of Maryland.
Over a period of
eight months data was
reviewed carefully by
the Planning Task ~ *

: Force. Finallyin the
summer of 1998 a

to me which was in :

cese in a special meeting held in -
August. The recommendations of
the task force were also presented.
to our Diocesan Pastoral Council.
As you well know, the plan ~
calls for the establishment of new
;parishes. The first among them is
+St. Margdret of Scotland in New
“Castle County, Which'wa rmaIIy
set up iri May of 1998 We now -

|- look forward to the separanon ‘of -
St. Jude'iy Léwes from its mother
parish; ‘St.-Edmond in-Rehoboth - -

- Beach. We alss look to'the’ even-
mann Church as’an mdependent :

[ Ocean C|ty
- h

-Cemeteries to expand its services.

. report was presented . .

*fum reviewed by priests of the dio-

:of chiirch bmldmgs and calis for -

the construction of five' new larger
churches in existing parishes, two " .
" new regiona! schools to accom-,
modate 600 students each, as well
. as the expansion of existing parish
. and school facilities. /

“n

" November . .

of 2000 we
B . launched a
¥ $50 million
capital -,
campaign to
finance all
the objec-
tives out- -,
lined in the_
Strategic Plan
to Expand -
| Parishes and
Schaols: $30.
million desig- -
g nated for -
.churches and

-

other pansh facllity construction;:. ", -

and $20 million designated for the
construction of schools.
.. I have also directed. Cathol

to include the founding of anew:.’

. Catholic ceme'ery in Sussex ;.

County to service our Cathohc
population in the southern envi-
rons of our diocese. Our two-
existing Catholic Cemeteries, All
Saints on Kirkwood Highway and
Cathedral in Wilmington, provide -

the finest services’and facnl'tles to. ..

our Cathohc people L

T‘o Ex'PL'oRE
" MODELS OF °

“PARISH MINIS‘I"l{YA B

- "CLOSELY -
EXAMINING THE ROLE
OF THE CLERGY AND _
THE LAITY IN THESE,
MODELS .

We continue to express our
comimitmient'to a'renewal of our.

’ .Z-gpanshes anid collaborative mmlstry

e diocesan summit on col-
tion, as prevnously men- -
“tloned, helped to Teview and i
3tudy models and approaches that
could bettér integrate the mlmstry
of the Clergy-with'thé many tal-;..:
ts, skills and mmlstrles ‘our Iay

ed; _Q\e contributions
of Iay pérsons who work as'school’
prmcupals 2parish business’ man-'

‘:. -See’ next paga:

Ty .
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agers, directors of religious educa-
- tion, secretaries and accountants,
Our laity helped pioneer the RCIA
and new ‘approaches to evange-
lization and have energized our
" outreach to the poor, Our new
"Ministry Formation Institute will*
provide lay ministers the spiritual -
formation and training necessary
to enrich their parishes and the
church with their leadership.

" The diocese has begun to look
at lay ministry formation in a more
cohesive way. We are compiling
a database that will allow the dio-

- cese to know who'is in what min-,
istry and where, who has earned -
or is earning academic credit for a
minjstry, and where Iay ministers
are needed. - :

In the not too distant future,

this ministry will begin offering
classes designed to both educate
and form ail new lay ministers in
the diocese. Once introductory
core courses_are complete, the
Institute will provide training, for-

mation and certification in specn‘- :

ic lay ministries, .

The'third level will be for pro
fessional ministers — religiou
education director;, spiritual
directors or parish directors of .
liturgy — who are usually paid ~
and require college or graduate
school preparatlon.

TO EVANGELIZE
‘THE - -
} UNCHURCHED
* .. AND ALIENATED
AFR]CAN-AMERICAN
COMMUNITY. - -

The Black Catholic Ministry
encourages mcreased mvolvement

to the needs
of black . -
Catholics as”

- they seek to 5,
establish -
programs -
of outreach’
and evan-
“gelization, .

A
heeds _
assess-
ment.and
census of
the black
Catholic *
commu-

" nity are in'progress. The Diocesan J

_ Parish on French Street in Wilm-

k]

~University, A campus minister -

‘nesses to Catholic principles in
. their professions, their families.: * |
- and the public square. To accom-..

.ing ahead on a variety of dlfferent

Gospel Choir and Holy Cross
Gospel Choir continue to share
their gifts with the diocese. The
Ministry to Black Catholics
newsletter, first published in 1998,
shares important information to
the Black Catholic community as.
does a live radio program on
WAMS 1600-AM. St. Joseph's

ington has two permanent deacon -
candidates and a seminarian. The .
ministry for Black Catholics is
working toward developing pro-
grams which will afford more
exposure throughout the diocese -
like the St. Martin de Porres Mass
in the fall.

_TO DEVELOP AND
“IMPLEMENT A -
COMPREHENSIVE
PLAN FOR
MINISTRY ON -
COLLEGE CAMPUSES
. The diocese is committed to |
developing Catholic leaders on’ | -
our campuses who will one day ~
be articulate and effective wit-. _

pIish this objective, we are mov- -

fronts.

The diocese purchased proper-
ty to house the Catholic Campus
Ministry at Salisbury (MD) State :-

serves the students at that campus
and connects with the University
of Maryland Eastern Shore in -
Princess Anne.

A deacon candidate coordi-
nates campus ministry at Washing-
ton College in Chestertown, MD.
There is Sunday evening Mass for
students and discussion group -

opportunities.
Students at Wesley College in

Dover wilt have their own campus _|

liturgy beginning this spring and
Catholic Campus Ministry is

expanding at Delaware State__

*"University in-Dover.

In addition to liturgies, bible
study, gatherings of students and
faculty, speakers and vibrant
retreats, the newest program at St.

Thomas More Oratory at the Uni-
.versity of Delaware is entitled -

“Conversations: Science and Reli-

.gion.” It helps students and facul-

ty alike to explore the complex
bioethical issues of our day from a
Catholic perspective,

Many of aur college students
around the diocese continue to
hold top leadership roles in the
Natjonal Catholic Student Coali-
tion.

i

" OTHER SlGNS .

- " OF PROGRESS

IN THE DIOCESE

Other areas of progress have

positively impacted our ability to .

minister to the needs of our faith-
ful people. One s the develop-
ment and expansion of the Advo-
cale Program in our Marriage Tri-
bunal. The addition of nearly 30"
advocates, lay women and lay

men as well as religious, to assist

persons applying for review of
their marriages-by the church’s
.court has enabled us to respond
more effectively in an improved
pastoral and timely way to such

requests, -

The drocesan Women'’s Com-

mission, which invites and facili-*
tates the contributions of women
at all levels of the church’s life,
was establlshed in 1997..

A Catholic Physi- -
cians’ Guild is being

- formed to help doctors
" witness to Catholic

moral teaching in their

medical practice and in
our community.

. Our plan to increase
the number of perma- |
nent deacons who serve
our parishes and dioce-
san ministries will help
to strengthen the pastoral
vitality of our diocese.
After a 10-year hiatus, |
authorized the com-

mencement of a.new for-
mation class for deacons
in 1997. With great joy |
ordained the first eight of
* these new men to the dia-
conate on Nov. 18, 2000.
* These new deacons, many
with graduate education in
_ theology, pastoral ministry,

liturgy, and scripture, are
assigned to a variety of parishes
and institutional ministries. These
faith-filled servants will enrich us
by their work in several pastoral
fields, evangellzatlon and adult
formation.

. Just this past fall, our Office
for Cathalic Youth Ministry reor-
ganized itself to provide an
improved and more comprehen-

" sive outreach to young people.
. While many of the traditional pro-

grams remain, we have refocused
our outreach to youth, concentrat-
ing on developing youth leader-
ship in parishes and broadening
programs focused for youth at risk.
The reorganization also brings us
in line with our Holy Father's
challenge to empower young peo- "
ple to live truly as disciples of -
Christ, to draw young pecple to
responsible participation in the
life, mission and work of the’
church, and to foster the personal
and spiritual growth of each
young person. It is also important
to me to work with our staff to
explore new and creative ways fo
infuse a Catholic Christian spirit in
every level of our athletic pro-
grams and among our coaches, .
parents and young athletes.
Contributions to the Annual

See next page

DOW 02921



THE STATE OF THE DIOCESE: ZOOIV

<&

From previous page

Catholic Appeal continue to grow -

each year, enabling our diocese to
respond to the needs of literally
thousands of people through the
sacial, educational and pastoral
programs the Appeal supports. |
am at times overwhelmed by your
magnificent generosity as we ask
for your support not only of our
own diocesan needs but of the

needs of the church in this country

and around the world. Your gifts
to any number of collections taken

up throughout the vear, be it the - ¢

Campaign for Human Develop-
ment, the Religious Retirement
Fund or the Bishop’s Overseas

Appeal, far exceed on a per caprta .
measure the donations given in :; .

many other dioceses.

Finally, | must salute the many
lay women and lay men who give
time and talent not only to their
parishes through their participa-
tion in parish pastoral councils
and parish committees, but who
freely and generously give their
time and talent to the diocese by
serving on diocesan boards, com-
mittees, councils and commis- .
sions. | depend so much on their
wise counsel and advice.

FINALTHOUGHTS AND
FUTURE DIRECTIONS

As you can see from this dis-
cussion of the 2001 State of the
Diocese, we have made signifi-
cant progress in advancing the
seven priorities and other creative
initiatives these past few years.

We still have a long way to go and
must remain vigilant, | would like
to raise some other general issues

we need to be attentive to. »

First, at this five-year mark, we-
need to recommit ourselves to a
proactive spirit of evangelization
in our diocese, Our parishes need
'to continue to go beyond a main-
tenance mentality to embrace an
evangelizing and missionary men-
tality.

Cn Dec. 8, 2000, our church
celebrated the 25th anniversary of
one of the most influential docu-
ments on evangelization, issued
by Pope Paul Vt in 1975, On Evan-
gelization in the Modern World
{Evangelii Nuntiand)). Paul VI tells
us that an authentic spirit of evan-
gelization is only won at the foot -

" of the Cross, with deep prayer
- lives, “crucifying effort” and radi- -
cal conversions,

Itis necessary for each of us to

i tion, there- P
i fore, requires

; and holiness,
- for, as the

" equivalent of teaching thousands of

hear once again, with an attentive
ear, the words ‘of Christ's Gospel,
But more than that is required in
today’s circumstances. In the Unit-
ed States and elsewhere in the -
world, society seems to have lost
its sense of the meaning and the
importance of the Gospel and must
be *re-evangelized,” renewed in its
knowledge, understanding and

acceptance of the Gospel..As Pope

John Paul It has said: “Without'a
doubt a mendlng of the Christian

“fabric of society is urgently needed -

in all parts of the world. However,
. for this to come about, what is::
_needed is first to remake’the Chrrst-
Tian fabric of the ecclesial" commu-
ity itself present in these counlnes
“and -
“nations.” .
Re-
evangeliza-

that each
member of -
the parish
respond to a
personal call
to renewal

Fathers of Vati-
can Council 1}

-declared, “all

the faithful of Christ of whatever
rank or status are called to the full-
ness of the Christian life and the
perfection of charity.”
Evangelization in the contern-
porary world means making every _
possible use of television and satel-
lite dish, radio and Internet to -
spread the Good News of Jesus
Christ and the content of our
Catholic faith. A Catholic evange-
lizer recently told me that his
appearance on a television pro-
gram in a local market was the

RCIA classes simuitaneously. We;
need to draw on the expertise o
our Catholic faity to explore more
deeply the opportunities we can g
pursue.

Holistic evangehzatlon reaches -

both the heart and the head. Stim-

ulating faith experiences which
reach the heart, and stimulating

study experiences of the content of -
the Universal Catechism which ares

age pppropriate, are both necessary.
‘and complementary. Qur Holy
Father reminds us that Roman
Catholics have always treasured

the unity that exists between faith

. and reason.

“lic virtue is a5 Important as pri-

“ tradition, responsible citizenship’
s a’virtue; participati(in in the

¥

+ You all know the specral place
that inactive Catholics have in my

" heart and in my prayers. Each one "

of us reeds to continue to reach

out to these Catholics with the rec- .

onciling heart of Christ.. -

I the fall of 2000, the docu-
_ ment Dominus lesus reminded us

of the constant Vatican Council Il
teaching that the Church of Christ
subsists in the Roman Catholic
Church and that the church is the
universal sacrament of salvation. At
the same time, we remember our
ecumenical and inter-religious pas-
sion and dedication in the local
community. We are called to be

both a missionary church that pro-
poses the teaching of Christ and
one that vigorously defends reli-
gious freedom. We continue to
reach out to our ecurmenical and
interreligious brothers and sisters in

a spirit of mutual reverence, coop- -

eration and the hope of pursumg
deeper unity.

There is a danger in church
circles that we concentrate so

‘much on the internal dimension
of diocesan or parish life that we _
forget that our Catholic Christian- -’
ity is meant to sanctify the world.-’
- The faith of our Catholic laity is

meant to transform the temporal

Citizenship: *'For Catholics, pub-

Vate virtue in building up the
common good. - In the Catholic

polmcal process'is a' moral obli
ation. . Every believer is called to?
faithful citizenship, to become an

Y . informed, active, and responsib|e‘ ;
~-[ participarit in the political ¥
;|- process. Al ‘Catholics have 2
*|+ special’ obhgatlon to promote RE

tructures of our world=The U.5.."
" bishops expressed this'in Faithful

{boundarles

PAGE A7

respect for human l|fe at aIl its
stages..Our Catholic laity is

“called to be leaven in society, salt -
~and light to the world. The con-
“clusion ‘of the Catholic Mass -

_launches our lay Catholics boldly

into the secular world so that
they can live an authentic unity
of life that connects their faith,

" spirituality and sacramental life to

their family, professronal and

_ societal lives.

Pope John Paul Il has repeat—
edly expressed his desire to beati-
fy and canonize a married couple.
I need to, ask you all this question:
why shouldn’t that couple come
from the Diocese of Wilmington?
So many of the couples of our
diocese live the Gospel and the

: church’s teaching in ways that
edify and inspire me. We need to ™

continue to point to role models
of marital commitment to our
young people. We need to turn
the tide in our diverce culture
and point to the truth that indis-
soluble commitment in marriage

— even when facing challenges,
f crosses and difficulties — leads
to true happiness, fulfillment ~
and ‘holiness.-

-~ The Diocese of Wllmmgton

is a family of falth. We are the
heirs of visionary men and

-women whose sacrifices built the
churches, schools and other facil-

itles we use today. These struc-
tures are concrete expressions of

their faith. Our diocese contin-

ues to need to open new parish-
es, strengthen existing parishes
and expand _school facilities.
Our Capital Stewardship Cam-
paign, Bringing the Vision to Life,
requires our bold investment in
the church of the future. It is
your faith and your commitment

-that gives me the courage and
determination to pursue thrs camn-
“pai

ember of the d|ocese

“isJoined in‘one falth one Lord
~’and one baphsm “Our common
faith makés tis responsible for

one another.”. We are united with

‘all who havé gohe before"us and
:all who will come after us. Our

hared faith goés beyond a partic-

erof a Iarger famrly, weare all
alled to; support | ‘the mission of
the Ehiire beyond our, pansh

fimto bnng the
vision to Jife for generations to :

~

~

ular ‘place’and time. ‘As a mem;
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A $50 million
Capital
Stewardship
Campaign

‘Diocese of Wilmington

¢¢ :It ismore
than just money,
itis féal stewardship,
it§carihg
and sharing —
working fogether
tomeet
the spiritual and

- educational needs

of all Catholics, 77

BRINGING rhe
'VISION o LIFE

Bishop Michael A. Saltarelli

For more information,
call the Development Office at(302) 573-312

<
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Bishop Saltarelli/Labor Day

Holiness in the World of Work

“One common error is to believe
consciously or unconsciously that we
strive for holiness in spite of the world,
in spite of the work we do. This is a
complete misunderstanding of the lay
vocation in the church,” Bishop
Michael Saltarelli of Wilmington, Del.,
said in a pastoral statement for Labor
Day 2001. “It is precisely in work that
we are challenged to grow in holiness
and through work that we are builders
of God's kingdom,” he wrote. “Because
I believe that connecting work and faith
is a great challenge,” Saltarelli wrote,
“I made a special effort in the last few
years to learn how people in this diocese
Jeel about work and its connection to
their faith.” He said: “What I hear from
throughout the diocese is that for many
of you work serves to strengthen your
faith, and your faith strengthens your
work. In your efforts to connect faith
and work, you do meet obstacles, which
at times seem insurmountable.... But you
draw on your faith to overcome these
obstacles.” Four things every Catholic
can do “to make Christ's presence more
of a reality at work” were examined by
Saltarelli: 1) build constructive human
relationships in the workplace; 2) re-
solve to counter cynicism; 3) uphold the
dignity of all and oppose injustice in the

workplace; and 4) reflect in prayer
about how better to integrate work and
family obligations, addressing issues
such as workaholism, for example. The
bishop commented that “when Gospel
values such as respect and compassion
are practiced at the upper level of man-
agement, respect and compassion tend
to flourish throughout the workplace....
By contrast, workers find the connection
benveen faith and work more difficult to
make when they feel that management
lacks integrity or does not respect the
opinions and ideas of the workers.”
Saltarelli said that “every task, project,
meeting and deadline can be made
holy,” and he discussed several Catholic
spiritual traditions that provide guid-
ance for integrating life in Christ with
work in the world. Saltarelli’s statement
Joliows.

In his letter to the Galatians, St
Paul gives a short mission statement to
all Roman Catholics striving for holi-
ness: “It is no longer I who live, but
Christ who lives in me” (Gal. 2:20).
Every aspect of a Christian’s life is part
of our ongeing conversion in Christ.
This includes our work life. Work,
whether in the home or outside the
home, is an opportunity for living out

our call to discipleship.

Jesus was a craftsman like St. Jo-
seph. He belonged to the working world,
and his thoughts and teachings were
never far from the everyday reality of
people at work. In his parables Jesus
constantly proclaims the kingdom of
God through the lens of the human
worker; the shepherd, farmer, sower,
homemaker, servant, steward, fisher-
man, merchant and laborer. Some of the
most memorable people in the Gospels
are described not by name, but by the
work they do: the woman at the well
drawing water who proclaims the mes-
sage of Jesus; the centurion, whose ex-
tracrdinary faith Jesus held up as an
example to all. Jesus even calls Peter,
Andrew, James and John in the midst of
their daily work as fishermen. Likewise,
he calls Matthew, the tax collector, from
his accounts.

In the contemporary world Jesus
calls each of us to open our hearts to his
message and to place the work we do in
the service of God's kingdom. The Sec-
ond Vatican Council expressed it this
way: “Those who engage in human
work, often of a heavy kind, should
perfect themselves through it, help their
fellow citizens and promote the

betterment of the whole of hu- 37
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man society and the whole of creation;
indeed, with their active charity, rejoic-
ing in hope and bearing one another’s
burdens, they should imitate Christ, who
vlied his hands with carpenter’s tools
d is always working with the Father
1or the salvation of all; and they should
rise to a higher sanctity, truly apostolic,
by their everyday work itself” (Dog-
matic Constitution on the Church, 41).

“In his parables Jesus
constantly proclaims the
kingdom of Godthroughthe
lens of the human worker:
the shepherd, farmer,
sower, homemaker, ser-
vant, steward, fisherman,
merchant and laborer.
Some of the most memo-
rable people inthe Gospels
are described not by name,
but by the work they do.”

In the secular realm, after family,

work is typically the most significant
activity around which we organize our
Tives. All work involves personal toil,
2quires self-discipline and sacrifice.
Work often demands hard choices about
.how to allocate our time and energies.
Work creates opportunities not only for
us as workers, but for others as well.
Work provides us with income and cre-
ates goods and services other people
value. Work provides opportunities to
develop meaningful relationships, to
contribute to society and to transform
the environment. Work is indeed God’s
gift.

When I speak of work, I refer not
only to labor we perform for pay, but
any activity where we make a personal
decision to invest time and physical or
mental energy to accomplish a goal.
Thus housework, home schooling, child
or adult care, volunteer work and the
pursuit of an education all constitute
work even though they usually go with-
out pay and often without recognition.

Work is most powerfully and most
essentially an apostolate of the lay faith-
ful. You are on the Chrysler or Saturn
assembly lines, in the offices of MBNA,
Gore, DuPont or Astra-Zeneca. You
work in the department stores and the
shopping malls. You are the technicians,
the service workers, the nurses and
physicians. You are the state and local
government employees, the police offic-

ers and firefighters. You are the

218  service men and women at Do-

ver. You are the teachers and the
coaches. You are the prosecutor and the
public defender. You are the social
workers, the correctional officers, the
child-care providers, the countless vol-
unteers in so many programs for the
needy, the elderly and the young. All are
called to discover Jesus Christ in work.

Every task, project, meeting and
deadline can be made holy. How do we
accomplish this? First, we can draw
strength from the grace and meaning of
the eucharist, the source and summit of
our life as Catholic Christians. Second,
we can contemplate Catholic social
teaching tradition on work and be edified
by it. And third, we can allow the ex-
ample of other holy men and women to
inspire us.

Work and the Body and

Blood of Christ

. Catholic Christians make connec-
tions between faith and work primarily
in the way they allow the eucharist to be
the center of their life. At every Mass,
during the preparation of the altar and
the gifts, we hear these words: “Blessed
are you Lord, God of all creation.
Through your goodness we have this
bread to offer, which earth has given
and human hands have made. It will
become for us the bread. of life.”

Human hands create the ordinary
bread that is transformed into the bread
of life. Human feet traditionally crushed
the grapes that are transformed into the
precious blood of Christ. The central
mystery of our life as a liturgical com-
munity — the real presence of Jesus on
the altar — presupposes human work,
which prepares the elements that will be
consecrated and become our life-giving
sacrament.

Everything in our workaday lives
is given meaning by the eucharist we
share. The joy, love, compassion and
forgiveness that we experience in the
eucharist are meant to become part of
the way we interact with family, friends
and co-workers through the rest of the
week.

Work done with the love of Christ
is work that changes lives and brings
others to Christ. Our Lord has given
each of us qualities, aptitudes and inter-
ests. We need to be responsible stew-
ards of these gifts and talents and re-
member that they are meant to serve
God.

Our vocation in the world of work
is an essential part of our baptismal vo-
cation. Quality work requires the inte-
gration of virtues such as diligence, jus-
tice, fortitude, perseverance, prudence,
friendliness, fairness and truthfulness. A
deep connection exists between our

daily relationship with the Lord and our
daily practice of these virtues in the
workplace. Jesus wants us to sanctify
our work.

One common error is to believe
consciously or unconsciously that we
strive for holiness in spite of the world,
in spite of the work we do. This is a
complete misunderstanding of the lay
vocation in the church. It is not in spite
of work or against work that we pray
and strive to be holy. It is precisely in
work that we are challenged to grow in
holiness and through work that we are
builders of God’s kingdom. The Catho-
lic concept of living a “unity of life”
means that we become holy both
through prayer and sacraments and the
everyday secular work we offer to
Jesus Christ.

So whatever we do as work must
also show forth the presence of God.
We are called through work to implicate
ourselves in the ministry of Jesus. We
do this not only by allowing the Holy
Spirit to transform us but through a daily
transformation of our homes, offices
and workplaces to places of justice,
peace, respect and dignity. We should
work in a way that reflects the attitude .
and the mind of Christ as expressed in
the Beatitudes. And the product of our
labor should be compatible with the val-
ues we profess. Our work thus contrib-
utes to human dignity and divine pur-
pose.

1 am under no illusion just how
difficult this is to accomplish. Because [
believe that connecting work and faith is
a great challenge, I made a special effort
in the last few years to learn how people
in this diocese feel about work and its
connection to their faith. 1 did this by
talking with some of you individually,
and through a committee of people who
conducted interviews and surveys on
my behalf. I also listened to the insights
of our diocesan pastoral council, which
is the chief consultative body I use to
consult the laity in our diocese.

What { hear from throughout the
diocese is that for many of you work
serves to strengthen your faith, and your
faith strengthens your work. In your
efforts to connect faith and work, you
do meet obstacles, which at times seem
insurmountable and challenge you to
question whether your work contributes
to God’s plan or even if faith has any
role in work. But you draw on your faith
to overcome these obstacles. I listen to
you, and I learn from you. I am humbled
and awed by the challenges that you
encounter every day.

I know you experience difficulties
and tensions. How, for example, can a
mother continue to perform volunteer
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work with the needy, which perhaps
draws her closer to God than any paying
job could, when her labor is needed for
the financial support of her children?
How can a father plan and hope for his
family’s future when he works each day

"in an atmosphere clouded by endless
rounds of cost-cutting and layoffs? The
problems you face have no easy solu-
tions, The best advice I can give you is
that any problem can draw us closer to
God if we trust him to help us under-
stand it and cope with it. So long as we
seek a closer relationship with God
through our work, even trials and tribu-
lations will strengthen our faith, and our
faith will enhance our work.

“Everythingin ourworka-
day lives is given meaning
by the eucharist we share.
The joy, love, compassion
and forgiveness that we ex-
perience in the eucharist
are meantto become part of
thewayweinteract withfam-
ily, friends and co-workers
through the rest of the
week.” '

Perhaps because of the challenges
of many modern work situations, many
of you remain unaware that your work
matters on a grander scale. Does our
work result in a more humane, equitable
and just society? Do we work in a man-
ner that preserves the environment and
offers hope for future generations?
What effect does our work have on the
poor, children, family life (including our
own), immigrants, the homeless, our
customers, co-workers, neighbors? Re-
flecting on these indirect issues sheds
light on our immediate circumstances in
fresh and unexpected ways and can ac-
tually help us in personal decisions, ac-
tions and plans.

Holy Men and Women

There is no shortage of examples
from the lives of the saints of how holy
men and women throughout the history
of the church have integrated their life in
Christ with their work in the world. In
fact, one could argue that we remember
the saints precisely for that reason. We
see in their joys, sufferings and labors
situations that shed light on our own and
encourage us to respond to grace and
strive for holiness.

Several Catholic spiritual traditions
give us solid guidance in how to go

about this. As was noted when she was
made a doctor of the church, the “Little
Way™ of St. Terese of Lisieux offers
encouragement and hope to modern
people whose work life seems to be toil
and monotony and who are seeking holi-
ness in the very ordinariness of life. She
showed us how a way to God can be
found in daily human interactions of the
most routine kind, and she emphasized
that love must always be put into action.

An aspect of the spirituality of St.
Francis of Assisi involves moving from
action to contemplation and then return-
ing to action changed. This approach
locates holiness not only in our private
relationship with Jesus and in meditation
on God's word, but also in the work we
do. The Franciscan model of the active-
contemplative is a way of incorporating
prayer into our work life and vice versa.

Our diocesan patron, St. Francis
de Sales, was a great champion of lay
Christians. He devoted his life to leading
people to a deeper spiritual life. He
taught that each one of us, regardless of
our calling, may find in our life and work
a means to deepen our love of God. His
admonition to “be who you are and be
that well” is an affirmation of the worth
of each individual and the potential for
holiness in every walk of life.

There are many other examples
from the lives of the saints: We have
great achievers like St. Thomas More as
well and men and women who did sim-
pler work like St. Isidore the farmer or
St. Zita the homemaker. Recently, the
Holy Father announced that he would
beatify a married couple, Luigi and
Maria Beltrame Quattrocchi. Luigi, a
lawyer and civil servant, died in 1351 at
the age of 71. Maria, who dedicated
herself to her family and to several
Catholic charitable and social move-
ments, died in 1965 at the age of 81.
Like Luigi and Maria, so many couples
in our diocese live the Gospel and the
church’s teaching heroically and dedi-
cate both their work in the family and
their work in the marketplace to the
glory of God.

And do not overlook the holy men
and women who may be on the assem-
bly line with you, in the cubicle down
the hall or among your customers. I
believe that throughout our community
men and women of many faith traditions
successfully live Spirit-filled lives on and
off the job, They are easy to find: By
their fruits you will know them. These
individuals often are very willing to
share with you their journey of faith and
help guide and encourage others.

Special Word to Migrants
I'recently returned from a Catholic

Relief Services trip to the Diocese of
San Marcos, Guatemala. I saw many of
the relatives of our own people who live
in Georgetown, Selbyville, Milford and
Marydel and work in the poultry, agri-
cultural, construction, service and tour-
ist industries. To our migrant workers,
whatever your immigration status may
be, I want you to know that our diocese
and our parishes are committed to serv-
ing your spiritual and human needs.
Your lives often involve separation from
loved ones, long and difficult work
hours, and challenging living conditions.
We want to do all in our power to ensure
that through our diocese, our parishes
and our people you experience the com-
passion and strength of Christ as you
struggle to adjust to life in this country.

In this regard, I call upon the
people of the Diocese of Wilmington to
live the Gospel of hospitality and wel-
come. A century ago the church in
America responded effectively to the
spiritual and human needs of immigrants
who came to this country seeking free-
dom and opportunity. Following the ex-
ample of our Catholic ancestors, we
must respond with open hearts to our
brothers and sisters who today come
from Latin America, the Caribbean, Asia
and the Pacific Islands, and elsewhere.
It was Pope Pius XII who said that “the
émigré Holy Family of Nazareth fleeing
into Egypt is the archetype of every
refugee family.”

What Can We Do Tomorrow?

There are certain things that every
Catholic can do immediately to make
Christ’s presence more of a reality at
work.

1. We can endeavor to build con-
structive human relationships in the
workplace. Jesus always looked past the
job or the title and into the heart of every
person he encountered. With many
technologies making the workplace less
personal, it is all the more important that
we interact with others in our workplace
in a civil, genuine manner. Courtesy and
caring are authentic expressions of love
in action.

2. We can resolve to counter cyni-
cism. Cynicism is a great barrier to hope
in God. Once the atmosphere of the
workplace has been poisoned by fear
and rumors, or repeated insults and in-
justices, despair follows. For Jesus,
trust in the Father’s love and goodness
was always paramount, The Christian
worker is a realist who lives in hope
even in the face of problems and set-
backs. We defeat the tendency toward
cynicism in ourselves and in others
when we enter into our work

every day with a determined at- 279
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tityde of patience, kindness and gener-
osity.

3. We can uphold the dignity of all
and oppose injustice in the workplace.
Each of us must choose to treat others
fairly and with respect. This is especially
‘mportant for those in positions of au-
thority, but it is the responsibility of all,
Jesus gave us the ultimate example of
leadership by demonstrating that the
leader first and foremost serves. Servant
leadership will not always be expressed
the same way, but when practiced it will
be unmistakable. In the workplace we
must be prepared to be our brother’s or
our sister’s keeper by standing in soli-
darity with those who are being taken
advantage of or treated unfairly, We
must be prepared to speak out against

practices that hurt or injure people or_

which do viclence to the environment.

“All of us face different
challenges in our mar-
riages, our families and our
workplaces. These chal-
lenges — when faced with
the love and perseverance
of Christ — lead us to holi-
ness.”

4. We can reflect in prayer aboul
how better to integrate our work and
family obligations. Workaholism is a
specifically American form of spiritual
lukewarmness rooted in the consumer-
ism of our culture. Seeing our careers
and work life as a way to holiness pre-
vents us from turning our work into an
idol that alienates us from our faith, our
spouses, our families and ourselves,
Workaholism results in a damaging fall-
out. Marriages fail or are strained. Chil-
dren do not receive the attention and
nurturing they need. Families experience
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little or no time together. Family meal
times rarely occur. Family celebrations
are few and far between.

All of us face different challenges
in our marriages, our families and our
workplaces. These challenges — when
faced with the love and perseverance of
Christ — lead us to holiness. Let us tumn
to the Holy Spirit to help us to discern
how to love our spouses and our fami-
lies more deeply and more creatively,
and how to balance our work more pro-
ductively and effectively.

Good News

I am encouraged that many of you
have expressed that you find joy in your
work and that through your work, you
feel closer to God. I am also encouraged
that many view work as a place to use
ther talents, to develop personal and pro-
fessional skills, to define themselves and
to leave their mark on the world.

People find evidence of God in the
workplace through their relationships
with others. When Gospel values such
as respect and compassion are practiced
at the upper level of management, re-
spect and compassion tend to flourish
throughout the workplace. In those
positive environments, workers enjoy
the freedom and energy to explore
deeper meaning in work and relation-
ships.

By contrast, workers find the con-
nection between faith and work more
difficult to make when they feel that
management lacks integrity or does not
respect the opinions and ideas of the
workers. In those cases people are more
apt to see work as a means of economic
survival and not as God’s gift.

What is most encouraging to me,
however, is that an active life in the
church seems to support people in their
effort to make the connection between
faith and work. People who pray, attend
Mass regularly, and participate in parish
and community activities seem to have a

greater sense of meaning and possibility
in their lives. Perhaps it is the support of
a faith community that enables those of
us who practice our faith to make the
connection between faith and work. Or
perhaps it is their cooperation with
God’s grace that empowers our sisters
and brothers to identify, address and
overcome the worldly obstacles we face
in order that we may ultimately identify
ourselves with and for God.

Whatever the reason, the message
and challenge for all of us, my dear
friends, is that work offers a Christian
both an evangelical opportunity and an
apostolic opportunity. By conducting
ourselves always as disciples of Christ,
even in the most challenging and unlikely
of work circumstances, we bear wit-
ness to others that the good news of
Jesus Christ is the ultimate source of
meaning and strength in our lives. In so
doing, we preach the Gospel through
our very presence on the job.

By endeavoring to make our work
a force for good, our work becomes
part of the building of God’s kingdom. It
takes on a new meaning, a meaning that
is rich and fruitful for the individual and
for the community.

As we take time to relax with fam-
ily and friends this Labor Day weekend,
I encourage you to spend some quiet
moments in prayer. Thank our heavenly
Father for the good things that come to
us through the gift of work and ask that
the Lord continue to bless our labors as
we offer them for the fulfillment of his
plan and in the service of all God’s
people. <
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Catholic Schools: A Gift of the Church

Dear Friends in Christ:

A day after the September 11 terrorist attacks, I celebrated a Mass at St. Peter’s
Cathedral. With the trauma and the television imagery still fresh, I faced the
challenge of preaching to an assembly that included the children of St. Peter’s grade
school. I wondered how best to interpret the events in the light of our faith and how
to discuss the devastating evil with the children in a way that was direct, honest and
comforting.

It was a striking moment, not only to grieve together but to be thankful for the power
of Catholic education. While our scheols, like most schools, took full advantage of the
expertise of counselors to help our children, we could also talk to them about the
power of Jesus and His cross to rise above evil and to give us strength in the midst of
these modern-day experiences of Calvary. We could talk to them about the power of
Christian sacrifice exemplified by heroic firefighters and police officers who gave
their lives for their brothers and sisters. We could talk about the power of their
prayers and participation in the Mass for the souls of the victims and for the strength
and comfort of their families. We could ask them to pray for world leaders and the
crucial decisions they would make.

I have heard so many stories of how, in the days after September 11, our Catholic
school teachers and staffs helped the children in our schools to turn instinctively to
God and to do so in the community of their Catholic school, where they daily engage
in conversation with and about our Father. This was nothing new; turning to the
Lord is part of the daily rhythm and experience of life in Catholic schools.

In all my years as a priest and bishop supporting and promoting Catholic education,
the events of September 11 illustrated for me in a new and dramatic way the benefit
of a Catholic education. After that Mass I stood outside the cathedral and shook the
hand of every child who emerged into the early autumn sun on their way back to
school. St. Peter School has been serving and giving a lived experience of church
since the 1830’s, when the Daughters of Charity came to the parish to open a school.
The Daughters are still there ministering in the heart of our city.

Out of that foundation sprang out present impressive array of schools that today
educate 16,000 students. These schools stretch from Claymont to Salisbury and every
one is a first-rate institution of which we all can be proud. The word “Catholic” that
appears before “school” has always indicated a superior quality of academic
education in the context of our faith. For generations that has been the mission of
Catholic schools.
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To monitor academic excellence, each of the schools in our diocese goes through a
rigorous educational assessment under the auspices of the Middle States Association
of Schools and Colleges. All our schools are certified through this professional
educational association. A dramatic indicator of quality and excellence in education is
the annual presentation of the coveted Blue Ribbon of Excellence awarded by the
United States Department of Education. Our own Corpus Christi Catholic School,
which is supported by the parishes of Elsmere and Hockessin in a unique
partnership, was so honored this past year. This is the second time Corpus Christi
has received this national recognition. St. Matthew Cathollc School and Padua
Academy have also been awarded the Blue Ribbon. .

Catholic schools are a unique legacy from our shared past as church in this country.
In many ways these institutions are unparalleled in their impact on our church and
society today.

There have been critical moments in the history of Catholic schocls. The bishops of
the United States, meeting in Baltimore in 1884, mandated that every parish should
have a school even before a church building, because the immigrants from western
Europe were quickly losing the faith of their mothers and father in religious-neutral
public schools, which were often blatantly anti-Catholic. Thus was born the system of
Catholic schools as we know it today.

The decade of the 1970’s saw a dramatic decrease of women and men religious as
teachers in Catholic schools. Many people could not imagine these schools existing
without these men and women, and thus predictions abounded that Catholic schools
would be a thing of the past by the close of the decade. In 1972, the U.S. bishops wrote
a pastoral titled “To Teach As Jesus Did”, which made it clear that the schools were
an educational and evangelizing mission of the church and that they existed because
of this and not because of who happened to operate the schools. By 1980 the schools
had successfully made the transition from mainly religious to lay staffs, and they
continue to flourish nationwide to this day., Wilmington is among a number of
dioceses that are opening new schools and expanding others.

I believe we are living in another critical moment for Catholic schools as we enter this
new century. Good and intelligent people are wondering out loud if the age of the
Catholic schools has not finally come to an end. Some see our schools as anachronistic
and no Jonger essential to the life of the church. Others see them as not truly Catholic
in the sense we understood in the 1950’s. Still others see them as schools available
only to those who can afford them, not open to all in our church.

Many people who hold these views rightly acknowledge the role played by Catholic
schools in preserving the religion and culture of the western European immigrants
who cameto our shores in the 19™ and early 20™ centuries. They claim, however,
that once those immigrants became assimilated into the American ethos after World
War II, the need for the schools lessened because Catholic children were no longer
being raised in a society hostile to their religious heritage and public education was
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no longer perceived as anti-Catholic. Why not, they argue, take advantage of an
increasingly better public school system and handle religious training in the home?
Besides, the argument continues, Catholic schools no longer even pretend to educate
the majority of Catholic children, as was the case in the 1950’s, when some dioceses
could lay claim to having every Catholic child in a Catholic school.

I submit, however, that Catholic schools are not only necessary as we venture into a
new century, but they are so necessary that the mission of our church would be
seriously handicapped if Catholic schools ceased to exist.

Consider the bishops’ compelling argument from “To Teach As Jesus Did”.
Observing that school programs incorporated into Christian Education are intended
to “make one’s faith become living, conscious and active through the light of
instruction,” the bishops say:

“The Catholic school is the unique setting within which this ideal can be realized in
the lives of Catholic children and young people. Only in such a school can they
experience learning and living fully integrated in the light of faith. The Catholic
school strives to relate all human culture eventually to the news of salvation, so that
the life of faith will illumine the knowledge which students gradually gain of the
world, of life and of humankind. Here, therefore, students are instructed in human
knowledge and skills, valued indeed for their own worth but seen simultaneously as
deriving their most profound significance from God’s plan for His creation. Here,
too, instruction in religious truth and values is an integral part of the school program.
It is not one more subject alongside the rest, but instead it is perceived and functions
as the underlying reality in which the student’s experiences of learning and living
achieve their coherence and their deepest meaning.” (“To Teach As Jesus Did”,
National Conference of Catholic Bishops, November 1972, pp. 28-29)

What the bishops saw in 1972 I see even more dramatically in 2002. Catholic schools
are one of the last remaining formal ways in which the traditions, stories, experiences,
and teachings of our Catholic community are consciously and effectively preserved,
celebrated and promoted among our youth and, by extension, among the adults
associated with them.

Because of this, the schools in our diocese and throughout the United States are, in
truth, one of the major formal vehicles for promoting and expanding the lived faith
community we call “church”. Each year these schools send into the larger community
men and women who are specifically trained in the message and ministry of the
Catholic Church and who, according to every recent study about Catholic schools,
enrich and enliven parish communities across our land. Further, as these schools
continue to attract a growing number of people who are not of our faith, they are
increasingly a major means of evangelization. The newly elected president of the U.S.
Catholic Conference of Bishops, Wilton Gregory, for example, is an African
American convert whose first experience of our church came through the Catholic
school he attended.
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Closer to home, this unique position of Catholic schools in the life of the church was
dramatically articulated in a plan entitled “A Church Called to Serve”, which
resulted from a diocesan study conducted in the early 1990’s. This plan, which spelled
out pastoral directiens for our diocese, characterized Catholic schools as bringing the
community dimension of the church and the parish into “clear and particular’ focus.
“A Catholic school,” the document went on to say, “is a community of adult men and
women with students who share not only a common faith in Jesus Christ but also
share the tasks of teaching and learning together.” The gift of the Catholic school to
the diocesan community, therefore, is that it serves as a living model of the church at
large — learning, living and growing together into the vision of Jesus which He called
“The Kingdom”.

Today we have witnessed a diminishing and a realignment of the traditional
communities of the family, the civic establishment, public education and, yes, even of
Catholic parishes. This movement has been so pervasive that it is difficult to name a
strong and consistent community today that steeps people in powerful, vibrant
traditions and that gives focus and meaning to the developing life of the you. Such
communities of the past, it seems, have been partially replaced by fictional
communities portrayed in the media and by life models that emphasize a rugged
individualism that promotes personal development over, and sometimes to the
exclusion of, vibrant human communities. Could the failure of so many marriages,
for example, be laid at the doorstep of an educational process and a societal and
family model that prepare the young for individualized living rather than for the
building of deep communal commitments that are at the essence of a fully human
life?

This concept of community is essential to our church, yet today we see precious few
models of it in society. For many of our people, even the parish has become a place of
weekly worship but is hardly a community force that comes into play every day of the
week. The Catholic school, I believe, stands dramatically alone as not only a model of
community but as a model of the church that we proclaim in so many ways but
seldom see made flesh.

My decision in 1998 to embrace and continue our historic diocesan commitment to
build new schools was a reflection of all I have cited here and my own lifelong
commitment to Catholic school education. Further, diocesan studies of the 1990’s
made it abundantly clear to me that we have a new generation of young Catholic
parents who live far from a Catholic school but who are strongly committed to giving
their children the positive experience of education they themselves had in Catholic
schools. How awesome is that commitment in light of the personal and financial
sacrifices needed to make this education possible.

How equally awesome is the unselfish commitment of teachers, administrators
and pastors who daily make Catholic school education possible. We as church need to
make sure they are justly compensated for the service they render to the entire
church. This beautiful commitment not only to educate but to do so by teaching
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as Jesus did is indeed a gift to our diocese, one that needs to be nurtured as much now
as at any time in church history.

To make sure that we move together as good stewards of our God-given community
in faith, I have commissioned a study of the commitment to education in our Catholic
schools. This study will assure us that as we expand our educational commitment we
do so in the context of a comprehensive diocesan plan. We grow best when we have a
realistic picture of our history and our present story as it gets told in our institutions.
A task force of talented people has been formed to assist in this study and to
recommend to me how we best should move forward with a plan for Catholic school
education in the diocese over the next few years. As we work to “Bring the Vision to
Life” we need to realize that we best respect any vision when we continually shed on
it the light of reality and prudence. Our study will assist us in this effort,

The mission statement of our diocese says, in part, that “in communion with the pope,
who is the bishop of Rome, and guided by the pastoral care of the Roman Catholic
bishop of Wilmington, we are called and commissioned: “To be a community of faith
living the love poured into our hearts by the Holy Spirit; To proclaim the good news
of salvation announced through Jesus Christ and confided to the church; To
celebrate the liturgy, especially in Eucharist, the saving act of God in Christ; To
strengthen our allegiance to the Gospel and deepen our understanding of it;” and

finally, “To serve all our brothers and sisters as Jesus taught us.”

Our Catholic schools actively respond to and live out each of the five calls of our
diocesan mission. There are few institutions that do this so formatively and so
consistently. Yes, our faith is shared in many ways and through may programs
invelving hundreds of dedicated people, but the schools reflect the calls of our mission
in a way that is unmatched.

The strength and the unique contribution of Catholic schools lie in the amount of
“quality time” in which they are present in the lives of children and adults and in how
schools daily form community. The mission to education is not caught by a personal
whim or left to changing fads, but is anchored in the lived faith of that evolving
community. The way Catholic schools consistently address the five calls of the mission
statement makes them unique and essential to the life of our diocese. They are,
indeed, our strongest and most reliable model of the church at large, living and
growing together into the vision of Jesus which He called the Kingdom.

My prayer is that we may never lose our sense of appreciate of the gifts that have
come from the church of the past and that we will never tire in reworking them for
the church of today and tomorrow. If we do that, then indeed we will always be about
the common journey of “Bringing the Vision to Life”.

Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli
Bishop of Wilmington
January 24, 2002
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SEPTEMBER 11TH ONE YEAR LATER
A Pastoral Statement by Bishop Michael Saltarelli

As we remember the souls of the victims of September 11th in
our parishes and Catholic liturgies one year later, I would like to
reflect with you on some of the spiritual lessons of that day. In these
past months, we have been able to discern that even in a calamity of
such magnitude, God’s grace and goodness was revealed in large and
small ways, in public and private moments. From these we can take
heart and we can grow in hope.

We remember the Dead in our Prayers

We recollect that last September 11, there was not one but
three sites of terror and destruction: The World Trade Center, The
Pentagon, and the crash of aniairliner in Pennsylvania. At each
location there have been remembrances of the dead as families and
friends, colleagues and comrades — along with countless other
Americans — have sought to pay tribute to those who died.

One of the most poignant of these was a beautiful series that
ran in The New York Times, in which individual portraits were
created for each person who perished at the World Trade Center.
There were employees of the Windows of the World restaurant,
investment bankers, security guards, office workers and of course the
firefighters and police officers. The people represented every
religion, ethnic background and economic level. The Times portraits
captured their particular humor and personality, their hopes and
dreams, their relationships with their families. This series
emphasized that the victims of September 11" still matter, still count
and are, mysteriously, still with us.

Roman Catholics are at home with these sentiments which are
deeply rooted in our theology and spirituality. In our tradition, we
believe that friendship and our connection with loved ones goes
beyond the chasm of death. Those of us still on pilgrimage in this life,
those saints who are at the throne of God, those who are in a state of
purification called purgatory -- we are all united in a bond of love
with Christ at the center. ‘

We remember the Cross of World Trade Center beams that
emerged from the debris as a symbol of hope and resurrection in the
midst of evil and tragedy. Our prayer for the dead connects us with
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the Cross of Christ and mysteriously gives us strength in carrying the
Cross of our grief and trials as we stand in solidarity with those who
suffered that day and with their loved ones who suffer still.

We understand more deeply the Biblical Spirituality of the Fragility of
Life

The video footage of the Towers collapsing, the grainy
photographs of people standing on the ledges of the upper floors of
the World Trade Center in their last moments, the recorded and
written transcripts of final cell phone conversations between family
members served to remind us of a prominent theme of biblical
spirituality that can be traced throughout the Old and New
Testaments -- the fragility of human life. How eloquently, for
instance, do the psalms remind us that generations come and go in a
flash and that we need to keep our hearts vigilant and grounded in
the love of God in the present moment.

But this deepened sense of the fragility of human life that
terrorist attacks thrust upon us should not make us cower or
uncertain about how to live. It is an incentive for us to reassess the
direction of our lives. It is an invitation to become more humble and
cooperative instruments in the hands of Jesus Christ.

St. Ignatius of Loyola, the founder of the Jesuits, invited people
in his Spiritual Exercises to meditate on the scene of their own death
bed. Death is a reality of life. When we meditate on what our
Catholic Tradition calls ''the Last Things" -- Death, Judgment,
Heaven and Hell -- we are in touch with the desire for holiness and
virtue, the desire to be a saint that is within each one of us. We are
able to separate the essential from the non-essential in life. We
understand that life is fragile, but the gift that awaits us is eternal
life.

We learn from the Parables of September 11"

The Gospel parables continue to move us after two millennia
because in their hearing we experience the Kingdom of God. There
are numerous “parables” that have emerged from the events of
September 11. Firefighters rush to the upper floors of the World
Trade Center to lay down their lives for complete strangers. A young
husband and father bids goodbye to his wife on a cell phone and says
“Let’s roll!” as he leads a selfless struggle on the already doomed jet
to prevent even greater loss of life. With the elevators shut down, an
able-bodied office worker stays with a wheel-chair-bound friend
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rather than escape down the stairs — sacrificing his life so his friend
would not die alone. A dead priest is laid out in front of the altar of
sacrifice by firefighters who instinctively understand the connection
between priesthood and the Eucharist in the oldest Catholic Church
in New York.

These parables of heroism and sacrifice are a modern
commentary on the Gospel of Jesus Christ, a Gospel which is ever
new. These parables inspire us to be generous, to go the extra mile,
and to appreciate the treasure of our families. We should continue to
tell the stories of September 11 to one another and to our children.
We recognize that while the Gospel is the written Word of God, it is
also the testimony of the lives of saints among us such as those who
struggled, whe died, and who helped to save one another that day.

We Sanctify our Work

What were people doing in the morning hours of September
11th at the Pentagon and the World Trade Center? People were
going about the business of their daily work lives when their lives
were turned upside down. Secretaries were at their desks making
phone calls and scheduling appointments. Early morning meetings
were winding down. Trades were being made and contracts signed.
A young man who grew up in our Diocese was working as a naval
weatherman at the Pentagon; another man from our Diocese was
working as a flight attendant on a flight from Newark Airport.

One of the ways we honor the memory of the victims of
September 11th is to dedicate our work to Christ and to sanctify our
everyday work in many small and practical ways.

We can endeavor to build constructive human relationships in
the workplace. We can resolve to counter cynicism. We can uphold
the dignity of all and oppose injustice in the workplace. We can
reflect in prayer about how better to integrate our work and family
obligations.'

We Strive to be more intensively "Catho_lic" in a World of Globalization

""Globalization' refers to the modern reality that because of a
variety of technological and economic advances, there is a more
intimate interaction between countries and continents, governments
and economuies.

'Cf. Bishop Michael Saltarelli's Pastoral Statement Holiness in the World of Work (The Dialog, August
30, 2001 and Origins, August 30, 2001).

DOW 02935



September 11th brought this reality home in a new and
powerful way. Suddenly, there was a need to understand the culture
and history of a country like Afghanistan. There was a need to
understand and distinguish between various forms and practices of
the religion of Islam. As always, we needed to understand more
deeply the complex historical roots of modern conflict in the Middle
East.

The . dark side of globalization is that it implies a kind of
ruthless and impersonal force: wealthy sectors of our world will
simply become more wealthy at the expense of the poor who will

become more destitute. We hold up to the new reality of

“globalization” the timeless reality of our church which is “Catholic”
or universal. Now is the time for us to rediscover what it is to be
authentically “Catholic.” We are called to have the universal heart
and outlook of Jesus Christ as we interact more closely with cultures,
regions and histories that are so different from our own.

In addition, interreligious dialogue and understanding -- so
often relegated in practice to low priority status -- has taken on a new
importance for our Church. ' In their Pastoral Message on
September 11th, the American Bishops state: '"People of all faiths
must be united in the conviction that terrorism in the name of
religion profanes religion. The most effective counter to terrorist
claims of religious justification comes from within the world's rich
religious traditions and form the witness of so many people of faith
who have been a powerful force for non-violent human liberation
around the world."?

There is a great need for Catholics who are firmly rooted in the
theological and contemplative tradition of our Church to reach out in
intellectual and contemplative understanding and conversation to the
religions of the world.

Pope Paul VI explained this need so beautifully in On
Evangelization in the Modern World: '"The Church respects and
esteems these non-Christian religions because they are the living
expression of the soul of vast groups of people. They carry within
them the echo of thousands of years of searching for God, a quest
which is incomplete but often made with great sincerity and
righteousness of heart. They possess an impressive patrimony of
deeply religious texts. They have taught generations of people how to
pray. They are all impregnated with innumerable 'seeds of the
Word' and can constitute a true 'preparation for the Gospel..."""

2. U.S. Conference of Catholic Bishops' November 14, 2001 Pastoral Message Living with Faith and
Hope After September 11,
3 Pope Paul VI's Apostolic Exhortation On Evangelization in the Modern World, December 8, 1975.
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We remember too that one of the sad casualties of September
11th was our nation's turning away from some historic
breakthroughs in immigration laws between the United States and
Mexico. There is no question that our government has had valid
national security concerns, but we continue to pray for deeper
ecclesial bonds of solidarity between North America and South
America. We seek the intercession of St. Juan Diego, the newly
canonized saint of Mexico, who experienced directly and deeply the
love of Our Lady of Guadalupe, the Patroness of the Americas.

We Reaffirm the Sanctity of Human Life

) Massive, premeditated terrorism is one of the darkest
manifestations of the Culture of Death and the ongoing spiral of
violence. Our national grief and the warm comfort we received from
our brothers and sisters around the world remind us powerfully of
the inherent dignity of each human person and the immeasurable
value of human life. .

As always, our Church stands up valiantly against every form
of terrorism that would violate the sanctity of human life -- terrorism
conducted in the womb, terrorism that many in our society would
like to conduct against the elderly, the terrorism of -capital
punishment, the implicit terrorism in human cloning and immoral
forms of stem cell research as well as the terrorism of chemical,
biological and nuclear weapons. September 11th reaffirmed
dramatically for us the call to be consistent and coherent in our
efforts to reassert the sanctity of human life in all its stages.

We Embrace Our Vocation of Peacemaking and the Church's Teaching
on War and Peace

The best tribute we can offer the dead and their families who
continue to grieve is to resolve to work for peace and social justice in
our world and to invest our lives more deeply for the glory of God
and the salvation of souls.

The events of September 11th and their aftermath led me back
in prayer and study to the Pastoral Letters of the American Bishops
on War and Peace issued in 1983 (ZThe Challenge of Peace: God's
Promise and Our Response) and 1993 (The Harvest of Justice is Sown
in Peace).

I encourage all Catholics and non-Catholics alike in the Diocese
of Wilmington to read and pray over these timeless documents.
Their holistic approach to questions concerning biblical spirituality
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and Catholic moral teaching, terrorism and international conflict, the
call to peacemaking and formation of conscience, their emphasis on
securing human rights and assuring sustainable and equitable
development make these pastoral letters as relevant today in the post-
September 11th world as they were when they were first issued.

We are called to embrace our vocation to peacemaking in our
families, our communities and our world. In his January 1, 2002
Message for the World Day of Peace, Pope John Paul II reminds us:
"Prayer for Peace is not an afterthought to the work of peace. It is of
the very essence of building the peace of order, justice, and freedom.
To pray for peace is to open the human heart to the inroads of God's
power to renew all things."

_ May the Queen of Peace comfort all who grieve the loss of
loved ones from terroristic attacks on this one year anniversary of
September 11th. And may we all step boldly into the future with the.
love of Christ as our guide.

PUBLISHED: September 12, 2002

THE DIALOG
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MOST REVEREND MICHAEL A. SALTARELLI, DD
BISHOP OF WILMINGTON

Bishop Michael A. Saltarelli was born in Jersey City, New Jersey on January 17,
1933 to Michael A. and Caroline Marzitello Saltarelli. Bishop Saltarelli is one of
seven children,

He attended Holy Rosary, Elementary School and Ferris High School, both in Jersey
City. In 1956 he received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Seton Hall University and
commenced the study of Theology at Immaculate Conception Seminary, Darlington,
NJ. In 1975 he received a Master’s Degree in Religious Studies from Manhattan
College.

Ordained to the priesthood in Sacred Heart Cathedral, Newark, by Arcbhishbop
Thomas A. Boland on May 28, 1960. Bishop Saltarelli was subsequently assigned
to Holy Family Church, Nutley, NJ. He served there from June 1960 to August,
1977. He was appointed Pastor of Our Lady of Assumption, Bayonne, NJ and
remained there until August, 1982. Bishop Saltarelli remained there until August of
1982, when he was appointed Executive Director for Pastoral Services in the
Archdiocese of Newark, by Archbishop Peter L. Gerety. In 1984, Bishop Saltarelli
was named a Prelate of Honor with the title of Monsignor by Pope John Paul II. On
June 1, 1985 he was appointed Pastor of Saint Catherine of Siena Church, Cedar
Grove. In November 19876 Archbishop Theodore E. McCarrick appointed him
Vicar for Priests.

Bishop Saltarelli has served as Dean of North Essex, Dean of Bayonne and Dean of
West Essex. He served two terms as a member of the Priests’ Personnel Board, one
term as President of that Board, and was also a member of the Archdiocesan School
Board.

The appointment of Bishop Saltarelli as Titular Bishop of Mesarfelta and Auxiliary
Bishop of Newark was announced on June 12, 1990. He was Rector of Sacred
Heart Cathedral, remained Vicar for Priests and in 1992 was appointed National
Episcopal Moderator of the Holy Name Society. He was also New Jersey State
Chaplain of the Knights of Columbus.

On November 21, 1995 Pope John Paul II appointed Bishop Saltarelli to be the
Eighth Bishop ofthe See of Wilmington.

November, 1996 - United States Catholic Conference of Bishops Committee on
Education Sub-Committee on Catechesis (3 year term)

January, 1997 -  United States Catholic Conference of Bishops Committee on
African American Catholics (3 year term)

November, 1997 - Elected to the Board of Trustees for Catholic Relief Services
USCCB (3 year term)
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January, 1998 —  Appointed to the Advisory Board of the National Religious
Retirement Office for the USCCB (3) year term

November 1999 — Appointed to Committee on Laity of the USCCB for 3 year term.
November, 2000 - Re-appointed to Board of Trustees Catholic Relief Services

December, 2000 — Appointed Chairman of the Finance Commiittee for Catholic Relief
Services. (Unspecified term)

August, 2002 - Appointed to Board of St. Mary’s Seminary

August, 2002 - Appointed to Board of Overseers of Seton Hall University
November, 2002 - Re-appointed to Committee on Laity of the USCCB for 3 years
November, 2002 - Appointed to Nominating Committee of the USCCB for 3.years

September, 2003 - Appointed to USCCB Communications Committee for 3 years
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August 29, 2002

The Dialog

Judge Vincent A. Blfferato, 65, retired
in 2000 after 32 years as a judge on the
Delawara Superior, Court..He was a state legis-
lator from 1964 to 1966, a member of the state
Public Defender's staff until 1967 and from
1967-1969 was chairman of the Delaware Alco-
holic Beverage Control Commission. He is a
member of the American and Delaware Bar
Associaticns and the Board-of Consultors at Vil-
lanova Law School, as well as an adjunct pro-
fessor at Widener University School of Law, A
member of Si. Anthony’s Parish, he Is married
and has three children.

Dr. Mark S. Borer, 47, has been a child and
adolescent psychiatrist and president of Psychi-
atric Access of Central Delaware, a private prac-
tice in Dover, since 1988. He servss as a consul-
tant to the Divisien of Child Mental Health and
numeroys private agencies, including Cathelic
Social Services in Dover and Georgetown, He
received a medical degree from State University
of New York. Ha is cartified by the American
Academy of Child and Adofescent Psychiatry and
the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology.
A member of Holy Crass Parish, he is married

‘and has tour children.

Justin M. Carisio Jr.,, 49, is manager of
executiva communicalions for the DuPant
Co., where he has worked since 1981, A
graduate of LaSalle University,
Philadelphia, he has a graduate
degree from the Writing Seminars
at Johns Hopkins University. In
1987 he prolessed his permanent
vows in tha Secular Franciscan
Order, San Damiana Fraternity.
Carisio is a lieutenant colonel in
the Delaware Wing, Civil Air
Patrol-United States Air Force Aux-
illary. He belongs to St. Mary Mag-
dalen Parish in Wilmington and is the
married father of two children.

Judge Maurice A. Hartnett IIl, 75,
retired in 2000 after six years as a Delaware
Supreme Caurt Justice. Before that, he was vice
chanceller of the Delaware Court of Chancery for
17 years. He was president of the Board of Com-.
missioners of Rehoboth Beach and the Kant
County Bar Assaciation and remains active in the
American Bar Asscciation. He received a law
degree from George Washington University
School of Law, Judge Hartnett is a litelong mem-

ber of Holy Cress Parish in Dover, was en its.

parish council for 14 years and has been a parish
trustee since 1988. He and his wife have one
. daughter.

William E. Kirk Ill 52, is vice president,

general counsel and curporate secretary for Blue

_-Cross Blue Shield of Delaware, where he has
worked since 1680. He was a law clerk in the
Delaware Court of Chancery, an associate at
Young, Conaway, Slargatt & Taylor In. Wilming-
ten, and a deputy atlorney general. He has
served as a member and president of the adviso-
1y board of Catholic Charities. Since 1997 he has
been an assistant Scoul master of Troop 89 of
the Boy Scouts. He Is married with three children
and belongs to the Cathedral of St. Pater, Wilm-
ington.

Father Daniel McGlynn, 63, was recently
appointed pastor ol Holy Cross Parish in Dover
aher serving as pastor of Immaculate Conception
Parish in Elkton, Md, since 1993. He has been
associate pastor of St. Francis de Sales in Salis-
bury, Md., St. Elizabeth in Wilmington, Immacu-
late Concnpnon, and Corpus Christi, Elsmere.

-~ Members of the review board

Befora becoming a priest he worked in parsonnel
with the Navy and with the Department of Health,
Education and Wellare. He was ordained to the
priesthood for the Diocese of Wilmington In 1982
He has a-master's in theolegy from St Mary's

" Seminary and Univetsity, Baltimore, and a mas-

ter's in pastoral counseling from Loyola College,
Baltimore. He has served on the Priests' Person-
nel Committee, the Priests’ Continuing Formation
Committee and the Council of Prests.

M. Kathleen Phillips-Giles, 44, is manag-
er of human resources for the DuPont Dow Elas-

* tomers at the Chambers Works in Deepwaler,

N.J. She has alsa worked In finance, payrall,
compensation, benefits, personnel services and
employeefabor relations during her 23 years at
DuPont Dow and DuPont. She is on the board of
directors of St. Mark's High School and was on
the board of the Casholic Press of the Dlocess cf
Wiimington. She has.a bachelor's degree in
accounting from the University of Delaware and

" is certified as a Professional in Human

Resources, She is married and is a member of
St. John the Beloved Parish.

Harvey B. Rubenstein is an attorney who
recently retired from private practice to work on
activities related to the Delaware Bar. He served

as attorney for the Delaware House of Rep-
resentatives and for New Castle Coun-
ty. He is an active member and past
president of both the Delaware Bar
Association and the St. Thomas
More Saciety, which gave him its
annual award in 1998, He has
been active in public school and
community groups and served
twice as president of Adas Kode-
sch Shel Emeth Congregation in
Wiimirgton. He has three children.
Dr. M. Eileen Schmitt, 58, isa
family docter and currently medical
director of the St. Clare Qutreach (medical
van}).of St. Francis Hospital. She was president of
St. Francis' medical staff and vice president of
medical management until she was appointed
hospital president and CEO, a pesition she heald
from 1999 to 2001. She has also been in private
practice and provided care for migrant workers,
hospitalized prisoners and residents of the Salva-
tion Army. A former member of the Grey Nuns of
the Sacred Heart in Philadelphia, sha taught
junior and senior high school In New York,
Atlanta and Philadelphia. In 1980 she earned a
medical degree from the Medical College of
Pennsylvania. She was an intern and resident in
family medicine at the Wilmington Medical Cen-
ter. She is a member of St Joseph's Parish,
French Street.

Gerard M. Walsh, 47, has been senior vice
president and chief operations officer since 2000
for Share Health System of Maryland Inc., which
includes two iull-service hospitals with outpatient
services and a network of primary care physi-
cians on Maryland's Eastern Shore. He had been
vice president of operations at Derchester Gen-
eral Hospital and held a varety of hospital admin-
istrative posts In Forest Hills, N.Y. He has a grad-
uate degree in health systems management {rom
lona College, New Rochelle, N.Y., is a member
and past president of the Dorchester County
Chamber of Commerce, a member of the board
of directors of the Maryland Chamber of Com-
merce and serves on the board of the Dorchester
County YMCA. He belongs to St. Mary Refuge of
Sinners Parish, where he serves on the parish
council. He is married and has two children.
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AVIN
ROUP, INC.

October 22, 2003

Most Reverend Michael A. Saltarelli
Bishop of Wilmington :
P.O. Box 2030

Wilmington, DE 19899-2030

Your Excellency:

Enclosed please find the Executive Summary of the audit of your Diocese. Any
commendations, recommendations or instructions were presented to you at the
termination of the audit by the auditors.

If recommendations or instructions were presented to you, a response was requested on a
specific date. Needless to say, you can reply prior to the date but you are respectfully

requested to reply on time.

If you have any questions concerning any aspects of the audit, please do not hesitate to
call me.

sgerely yours
et

WILLIAM A. GAVIN

One Seal Harbor Road e Suite 704 © Winthrop, Massachusetts 02152
Tel: 617-539-1717  Fax: 617-539-1126 * bgavs@acl.com
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Executive Summary
Wilmington Diocese

An audit was conducted at the Diocese of Wilmington, DE, from October 13,
2003 — October 17, 2003. This audit, performed by V. Dave Kohl and Louis E.
Bracksieck, was to test the compliance with the Charter for the Protection of Children
and Young People (Charter), established in June, 2002, by the U.S. Conference of
Catholic Bishops (USCCB).

The Wilmington Diocese covers a 5307 square mile region of the State of
Delaware and the Eastern Shore area of Maryland. The Catholic population of the
diocese is approximately 215,000. There are 208 diocesan and religious priests serving
57 parishes and 20 missions. Additionally, there are 29 religious brothers and 77
permanent deacons. More than 15,500 students attend 41 Catholic elementary schools
and seven high schools. The diocese was established in 1868. The Most Reverend
Michael A. Saltarelli was appointed Bishop of Wilmington November 21, 1995.

This audit consisted of file reviews of diocesan records, public documents and
personal interviews to include the Bishop, Vicar General, Chancellor, Vocations Director,
Vicar for Priests, Legal Counsel, Review Board Chairman, Review Board member,
Human Resources Director, Communications Director, Victim Assistance Coordinator,
Director Catholic Youth Ministry, Superintendent of Schools, Director of Religious
Education, Attorney General for the State of Delaware, Former Chief Deputy Attorney
General, two parish priests and a law enforcement detective.

Articles 1 — 3: To Promote Healing and Reconciliation with the Victims/Survivors of the
Sexual Abuse of Minors

Wilmington has established a policy to address matters related to implementing
the Charter entitled, “Revised Policy and Procedures Governing Allegations of Sexual
Abuse of Minors, Diocese of Wilmington” October, 2003. Twenty four victims/family
members have been assisted or continue to be served through this policy. Catholic
Charities is the primary provider and coordinator of services. The diocesan policy
provides protocols for receiving reports of incidents and notifying civil authorities. The
diocese has published its policy on its intemnet site and in the diocesan newspaper, and
has furnished hard copies to all priests and school officials. Procedures for reporting
incidents are clearly laid out and easy to follow. The bishop or his representative has met
with all victims or families who have been willing to accept them. A Victim Assistance
Coordinator was appointed in July 2002. In August 2002, a Review Board consisting of
12 members with diverse backgrounds was established. The Review Board acts as a
confidential, consultative body to assist the bishop in discharging his responsibilities.
The board operates under separate guidelines. :
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Articles 4 — 7: To Guarantee an Effective Response to Allegations of Sexual Abuse of
Minors

The bishop has met with the Delaware Attorney General (AG) and the diocesan
attorney has contacted most of the Maryland State’s Attorneys. A protocol was agreed to
for reporting all allegations. In the meeting with the AG, the bishop disclosed all
information requested on all known cases for the past 40 years. An editorial in the New
Journal, dated January 29, 2003, praised the diocese for its swift and open handling of
three abuse cases. Wilmington’s policy provides for a prompt and thorough investigation
in accord with canon law and due process. It also details the procedures for placing
offenders on administrative leave and, if necessary or warranted permanent removal from
ministerial duties. At the same time, offenders are offered professional assistance for
their own healing and well-being. In all cases in which clerics have been found to have
committed sexual abuse of a minor, they have been dismissed from ministry, laicized or
have been found to be elderly and infirmed to the extent they are confined to an
institution. Canonical and civil representation is encouraged for any alleged offender.
Separate and specific conduct standards have been delineated for priests, permanent
deacomns, seminarians, religious sisters and brothers, employees, and volunteers through
covenants. Each requires a signed acknowledgement of receipt/covenant. These are
maintained at the Chancery or in personnel files. The standards are publicized in “For
the Sake of God’s Children,” Part 11 - Ethical and Behavioral Standards for Church
Personnel. They have also been the subject of media reports in the secular and diocesan
press. A written communications policy exists which incorporates concern for law
enforcement, parishes, public, and sex abuse prevention, and outreach programs. The
diocese has demonstrated a very open and transparent relationship with the media.

Article 9: To Ensure the Accountability of Our Procedures
The archdiocese has submitted the final results of the John Jay College survey.

Articles 12 — 17: To Protect the Faithful in the Future

A “safe environment” program has been established and detailed in the booklet
entitled, “For Sake of God's Children,” a five part program in Wilmington, and is the
subject of a separate commendation. The material contained in this document has been
presented in a series of meetings held for priest, deacons, seminarians, employees and
parish leadership. Parish leaders have responsibility for introducing the programs at the
parish level. Training is reinforced by administrators. Catholic schools have a self
esteem series and a program called Door of Hope for students. A Catechesis in Human
Sexuality program for grades 1-8 is an adjunct to the CCD program. Augmenting this
- program are procedures for conducting background checks. In July 2002, a committee of
14 was established to implement all aspects of the background check system including a
5 year cyclical review. As of September 2003, over 6,000 individuals have undergone
background checks. They anticipate an additional 4,000 will have checks completed by
the end of the year. A stringent screening and evaluation process is used for prospective
seminarians prior to acceptance using an 11 point program. Seminarians are continually
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screened and evaluated until ordination. In October 2002 the bishop met with cleric
members of religious institutes and women religious to discuss the sexual abuse crisis.
Bishop meets annually with major superiors of clerical institutes and the religious
communities of women. The diocese established a continuing formation committee for
priests that is active and effective. In January 2003 a blue ribbon task force drafted
priestly standards regarding celibacy and sexuality. The bishop maintains a consistent
focus on healthy, balanced priestly celibacy, sexuality and ministerial ethics.

The diocese was commended for its ‘safe environment program.”

Conclusion;

This audit finds the Diocese of Wilmington to be in compliance with the Charter.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON L 1998-2003

1V. LITURGICAL AND SACRAMENTAL LIFE,
THE CULT OF THE SAINTS

A. Statistics
| . JAN1,1998 DEC. 31,2003
1. NO. OF INFANT BAPTISMS - - 3,051 3,014
PERCENT OF CATHOLICS WHO DO n/a n/a
NOT HAVE CHILDREN BAPTIZED
2. NO. OF ADUL_T BAPTISMS 201 169
3. NO. OF FIRST HOLY COMMUNIONS : 2,685 - 2,982
4, NO OF CONFIRMATIONS 2,055 2,275

5. NQ. OF CANONICALLY CELEBRATED - 562 520
MARRIAGES '

MARRIAGES CELEBRATED IN THE | 0 0
EXTRAORDINARY FORM :

MARRIAGES CELEBRATED WITH 33 21
DISPENSATION FROM CANONICAL FORM ‘

» MARRIAGES CELEBRATED BEFORE A 0 0
DELEGATED LAY PERSON

» NO. OF MIXED MARRIAGES 463 456

6. APPROX. NO. OF PERSONS RECEIVING n/a n/a
SACRAMENT OF ANOINTING OF THE SICK
- Diocesan statistics are not kept on this subject. Hospitals and nursing
homes are covered by fulltime, part time or parish priests. Homebound
sick and disabled people are visited regularly by the clergy. Registers are
kept in parishes and institutions of those receiving the sacrament.
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JAN.1,1998 DEC. 31, 2003

7. PERCENTAGE OF SUNDAY MASS ATTENDANCE 66.5%
(DISTINGUISH THE FOLLOWING PERCENTAGES:
The Diocese of Wilmington has instituted the practice, as ini other
dioceses, of asking for a countof Mass attendees each October
since that seems to be the thonth when attendance is normal with
the dlfference that changes of seasons brmg to cmes, urban, rural
machve Parlsh prlests are concerned that parents are not as
atteritive as in the past to brmgmg their children to ¢hutch.
Because of distances from church, children without parental
support cannot attend Mass.

Attendance at Masses seems to be increasing on college campuses.
However, young people ate still eluctant to take an act1ve interest
to the same degree in Catholic activities.

B. Description

The Director of the Office of Worship assists the bishop is carrying out his
functions as promoter and guardiati of the liturgical life of the diocese, Thus, the
Director becomeés responsible for the development and coordination of the
liturgical life of the diocese. The primary responsibilities of the director include:
the development and direction of liturgical catechesis for the proper preparation
of litirgical celebrations in the parishes and diocese; the developmeént and
-direction of formation programs for liturgical ministries; the development and
coordination of formation programs for the proper implemeritation of the Rite of
Chrlstlan Imt1at10n of Adults (RCIA) if the dlocese, the development and
Jmplementahon of all recommendahons, directives arid gmdehnes promulgated
and approved by the Ordinaty.

The Director of the Office of Worship serves as the Executive Secretary of the
Diocesan Liturgicdl Commission. The Cormmission assists the Difector of
Woriship and the Ordinary by suggestmg policies and guidelines for the
liturgical life of the diocese and by serving in an advisory capac1ty to the Director
of Worship as he discerns the liturgical needs and goals of the diocese. The
Cormmission i composed of thirteen clergy and lay members who are appointed
to three year terms by the BlShOp There are two standing committees of the
Commission: the Music Committee and the Committee on Desigti and
Renovation of Worship Space. The Commission meets at least six times a year.
The Comimission i§ guided by a Constitution and By-Laws which have been
apptoved by the Ordinary.

67%
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1. Liturgy in geneial

a. The Sunday obligation is well kept by the peopleé of the diocese and the
norms for the proper celebration of the Eucharist are observed. The changes in
the liturgy mandated by the GIRM were implemented in Advent 2003.
Corrective measures are taken if any departure from approved norms are noted
by thé Bishop persona]ly, by the Director of Worship, or by others. The
Sacrament of Penancé is celebrated Weekly il parishes and more frequently as
necessary throughout the diocese with increasing numbers. During Advent and
Lent there are communal celebrations of the Sacrament of Penance in most
parishes. The ongoing liturgical formation of the faithful is accomplished
through the parish and diocesan sponsored workshops.

b. All parishes use the approved liturgical texts and valid matter and forin
for the celebration of the sacramenits. The norms governing the use of “general
absolution” are observed. Communal Penarice Services are coordiriated through
the periodic meeting of priests of the deanery so there are enough priests at each
service to provide for individiial confessions. Thete are ho occasions of which I
have knowledg_e when general absolution has been given. Diocesan Guidelines
exist for the priests to refer if there is ever a réason to warrant it.

¢. The Sacred Liturgy is of the highest priority in the diocese and is
celebrated with great care and dignity. The churches of the diocese are well
maintained as are the vestments, vessels and furnishings. All parishes provide
for congregational singing at Mass. There is also a Gospel Choir and a Gregorian
Mass Choir that provide mriusic it parishes throughout the dlocese

d. The parishes stress the importance of Advent and Lent and provide
special liturgical services and programs during those seasons. The Easter
Triduum is the hlghhght of the liturgical yeat and great empha51s is placed on
the celebration of the Easter Vigil.

e. The Funeral Rites dare celebrated according to the Order of Christian |

Funerals in all parishes, The Dioces¢ of Wilmington has three diccesar
cerneteries in New Castle County and ohe recently opened in Sussex County.
The Rite of Committal may be celebrated both at grave51de or ini 4 chapel in each
cemetery when the weather is advetse or interment in matusoleums or garden
crypts. Approved litiirgical books for the service is provided to the priests and
deacons who officiate at the services. At this titne thete is no pastoral need for
lay persons to officiate at cemetery services.
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Eighteen parish cemeteries also exist in the diocese but only provision for
in ground interment is provided, whereas, the diocesati cemeteries provide
opportunities for interment and entombiment.

Cremation is not yet w1dely chioseh as a means of disposing of the body.
About 5% of burials involve cremated remains. Christian Burial Guidelines
~ reinforce the canonical and liturgical rules when cremation is chosen.
_ Cemeteries make special provision for the cremated remnains. The indult
~ permitting B1shops irrthe USA to allow cremated remains in chirch for the Mass

of Christian Burijal was 1mp1emented by the Bishop ori November 1, 1997.

The sacramentals are provided for the faithful. While Catholic religious
goods stores are few in number some parishes provide religioiis articles stores on
a small scale for the people.

f. The Rite of Election and the Chrism Mass are extremely well attended
and are celebrated with great reverence and received by the faithful with much
enthusiasm.

g- The Liturgy of the Hours is celebrated publicly in an increasing number
of the parish churches during Advent and Lent. Public recitation, however, is not
as well received by the laity as was visualized when the Divine Office was put
into the vernacular.

h. Opportunities for popular piety are provided by the parishes in the
diocese. Most churches have First Friday and First Saturday devotions. On First
Friday in several parishes there are Eucharistic devotions with exposition and
benediction of the Most Blessed Sacrament accompanied by special prayers for
priests and for an iricrease of vocations to the priesthood. In addition, some
parishes also have a half day of adoration of the Blessed Sacrament on days other
than First Friday as part of their ongoirig Eucharistic devotion. Some parishes
also have public recitation of the Rosary eithet (1) before Mass or (2) after Mass
and espec1ally on the Flrst Saturday of the month m some churches thlS happens
Perpetual Help and Miraculous Medal. Most panshes have May Devotlons to
Our Lady that feature participatiori of young people. The Stations of the Cross
are celebrated during Lent. Some parishes celebrate the Stations of the Cross in
an ecumenical context with cur separated brethren. A bienmial diocesan
pilgrimage is held to the Basilica Shrine of the Immaculate Conception in
Washington, DC and this pilgrimage usually attracts some 1,500 people
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2. Individual Sacraments

a. The Holy Eucharist. The celebration of the Eucharist on Sunday is the
major activity of each parish and the resources of the parishes provide for the
full, active participation of the faithful in its celebration. The clergy prepare their
hotmilies well and the homilies are doctrinally sound. Anticipated Masses ate
celebrated in all the parishes. There ate no instances of a Sunday celebration in
the absence of a priest, The norns for bination and trination are observed. The
Ordinary of the Diocese has issued new guldelmes for the proper training of the
Special Ministers of the Bucharist. Viaticurn is administered when needed. The
Holy Eucharist is securely réserved in all parishes, The indult to use the Missale
Romanum of 1962 is given in two locations in the diocese.

St. Ann's Parish and Imimaculate Heart of Mary Parish in Wilmingtor, and Holy
Cross Parish in Dover all have perpetual Eucharistic adoration. lay people have
enthusiastically volunteered to spend an hour in front of the Blessed Sacrament
during the week. Some of our men in the seminary mention their consistent
ptayer in front of the Blessed Sacrament at these sites of perpetual adoration as
one of the reasons they responded to a call to the priesthood.

The people of the Diocese have benefited from the rich teachmg contained in
Pope John Paul II's recent encychcal Ecclesia in Eucharistia.

b. Christian Initiation. The Rite of Christian Initiation of Adults (RCIA) is
mandated in all parishes iri the diocese. The response has been very grahfymg
with the numbers of people who are joining the Church, The Christian initiation
of children and young people is provided through this Rite. Most infants are
baptized within a reasonable period of time after birth. Every parish has a
required preparation progtam for parents of children to be baptized.
Confirmation is celebrated at age 14 and above in the diocese with the Ordinary
as the celebrant. The Sacrament of Penance is duly celebrated before the
reception of First Holy Communion which takes place at 7 years of age. The
parishes provide training for parents to assist them in the preparation of their
children in the celebration of First Penance and First Holy Communion.

¢. Penance. The ongoing formatior of conscience concerning the meaning
of siri and conversion is part of every parish’s mission. The integrity of the
Sacrament is maintained. Even in penance celebration opportunities for private
declaration of sinfulness fo the priest is provided. Generally these penance
services take place in Advent and Lent. All parishies have proper settings for the
celebration of the sacrament with provision for anonymity. The observance of
penitential days is well practiced with a great resporisé to the practice of charity
and the works of mercy during Lent.
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d. Holy Orders. Candidates for the priesthood are normally ordained to
the diaconate in their respective seminaries. Ordinations to priesthood, when
candidates have received the necessary ecclesiastical approval and have-been
called to Holy Orders by the Ordinary, is celebrated with great dignity and
solemnity in the Cathedral with the full, conscious and active participation of the
faithful. Duting the quinquennium, nine mer weré ordained to the priesthood
and thirty-three to the permanent deaconate for service in the Diocese.

e. Marriage. The diocese has issued new guidelines for the preparation of
cotiples for the Sacrament of Matriage and is in the process of implementing
them. The previous program had required a minimum of four months of
preparation for the Sacrament of Marriage with diccesan sponsored Pre Cana,
Engaged Encounter or Couple to Couple training in addition to meetings with
the clergy The revised guidelines now require a year long period of preparation
which is more in keeping with the praenotanda of the revised Ordo celebrandi
Matrimonium of 1991. The approved liturgical texts are used in the liturgical
celebrations of marriage. The Office of Worship, with the approval of the
AOrdmary, has also issued musié guideliries to assist both couples and musicians
in selecting suitable music for the celebration of Matrlmony within the sacred
context.

f. Anointing of the Sick. The proper understanding of the criteria for
administration and the repetition of the sacrament is had by the clergy and is
itnplemented. The sacramient is readlly available to the faithful. Full time
chaplains are provided at Iarge hospitals iri the See City. Because of the number
and size of some nursing homes in the Wilmington area, one priest is assigned
full time to cover approximately 12 homes. In other areas of the diocese
parislies take responsibility for celebrating thé sacramenit in hospitals and
nursing homes in their territory. Some parishes have public Anointing of the Sick
with proper criteria as to whorm is to receive it. Priests are assisted in ministry to
the sick by lay people trained according to diocesan guideliries for visiting the
sick or taking communion to them in hospitals ot at home. Priests are instructed
to visit the homebound at least once a month, usually on First Friday, to provide
opportiinity for confession.

3. The Cult of the Sainfs
a. There are no beatified or canonized saints of the diocese.

b. There are no processes of beatification or cahonization under
investigation.
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V. CATHOLIC EDUCATION

A. Statistics

1.

JAN.1,1998

Major semingaries & total number of
seminarians for the diocese.

. Minor seminatiés & total number of

semirarizns for the diocese.

Catholic universities, number of

. students, etc;

State or secular universities & number
of students enrolled.

Ecclesiastical facultie's‘, nutmber of
professors & students ehrol'led ifi each
faculty, degrees grarited.

. Other Catholic institutions of higher learning,

number of students enrolled in each, degrees
granted.

Number of schools:
a) Catholic
b) Non=Catholic state/secular
c) others :
pré-school /kindergarten
pritnary ot elementary
secondary schools

. Number of those entolled in schiools

b) Non-Catholic state/secular
c) others

0

1-20,000

37
n/a
n/a

15,431
n/a
n/a

DEC. 31, 2003

0

1-20,000

39
‘n/a
n/a

15,495
n/a
n/a
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9. Number of teachers in Catholi¢ schools
a) pre-school/kindergarten and
primary or elementary
¢) secondary

Distinguish in each group
priests
religious
laity.

non-Catholic teachers

10. Special Catholic Schools
a)pre-school/kindergarten
b)primary or eleméntary
c)secondary

11. Percentage of Catholic children attending
non-Catholic schools who receive
religious instruction

12. Numbet of priests, religious, laity who
teach religion in
a)elementary schools
b)secondary schools
13, Priests, religious & laity teaching
Theology or Carion Law in an
Ecclesiastical Faculty, etc.

JAN.1,1998

642
374
21
71
943
172

1

(not gréd'ed)

50%

DEC. 31, 2003

729

407
15
60
1075
219

1
(not graded)

n/a

Laity Priests Religious Laity Priests Religious

452
325

5
9

1

28
3

580 0 26
354 12 14

1

N.B. There is one diocesan priest teaching Moral Theology at St. Charles

Borromeo Seminary, Overbrook, PA

B. Description

1. The Promotion of Vocations

During the quinquennium, the Vocations Office continued to manage a
nixmber of programs which had been previously successful in promoting
vocation awarenéss throughout the Diocese. Some efforts were parish-
based; some were targeted at specific age ranges. Some programs were
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geared toward priesthood and religious life; others wete more specifically
focused on diocesan priesthood.

a. Parish-Based Initiatives

ii.

iii.

Parishes were provided with vocationi-related bulletin
announcements and suggested prayers for the General
Intercessions. Homily materials and bulletin inserts
were sent to all parishes to coincide with the World Day
of Prayer for Vocations and Vocationi Awareness Week.

Parishes (and other diocesan institutions) were provided
with posters that bore photographs of our semitiarians as
well as coritact information for those interested ii
learning more about priesthood and religious life.

Altar Server Appreciation Days were held during which
seventh and eighth grade altar servers gathered with the
Bishop, clergy and local religious for prayer and

_ fellowship with a focus on vocation awareness.

b. Vocation Program for Ybung People

i

iii.

Elementary and Secondary School Visitations: This
program ensured that students attending diocesan
schools in the sixth and elevernth grades (approxiinately
11 and 16 years of age) were given expostre to local
clergy and religious whose visits included presentations
on the priesthood and religious life and provided
opportunities for questions and answers.

Vocation Video: The Diocese produced a fifteeri-minute
videotape about religious vocations; the videotape
featured local clergy and was used in presentations to
elementary and secondary students in Catholic schiools
as well as to Catholic youth groups.

Pass the Word: Assisted by the faculties of Catholic
secondary schools in the Diocese, the Vocations Office
invited young mer and women int the 11% and 12%
grades (approximately 16 to 17 years of age) to spend a
day in prayer and discussion centering around the issues

of priesthood and religious life. The youig men were

3
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takeni to the major seminaty of a nearby diocese; the
young women were taken to a diocesan retreat house.
Participants included the Bishop, the Director of
Vocations, diocesan clergy and local religious.

¢. The College Program: Taking place at the University of Delaware,
this program offered students the opportinify to participate in a
five-day retreat-like experience on campus during Lent. The
gatherings included prayer, workshops and the chance for
individual meetings with diocesan priests and religious men and
womien, giving students a chance to reflect on the journey to which
God might be calling thern.

d. Discernmient Programs

i Weekend  Discernment  Retreats: During  the

quinquennium, the Diocese offered single men and

women the opportunity to pray and reflect on where
God might be calling them in terms of vocation. The

. principles of spiritual discernment were presented along
with presentations on the priesthood, religious life,
single life and marriage.

ii.  Vocation Discernmient Group: In the first year of the

' quinquenniurii, men who were interested in considering
d vocationn to diocesan priesthood were invited to
monthly evenings of prayer, fellowship and reflection at
d parish rectory. Each mieeting was devoted to a
different topic related to priesthood (celibacy, prayet,
seminary formation, et al). A téam of four priests
_coordinated this effort.

e. Encouraging the Faithful to Accept Responsibility in Promoting
Vocations

i Use of The Dialog (Diocesan Newspaper): Throughout
the qulnquemuum, interviews with seminarians, prlests,
and religious were published. These articles served the
dual purpose of allowing the larger diocesan commiunity

to grow in its understanding of how people experience °

God’s call while at the same time raising the awareness
of local Catholics in terms of the need for all women and
men to take seriously their part in helping others realize

4
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ii.

their vocational call. During Vocation Awareness Week,
The Dialog published a vocation-themed insert which
included pictures and interviews with the seminarians.

Annual Seminary Collection: In conjunctiori with this
anntual collection, priests weré encouraged to promote
vocations to the priesthood, Many pastors invited
seminarians to share with the Catholic faithful the story
of theit vocation ]ourney and their hopes and
aspirations, impressing on them the Church’s
appreciation for their prayerful support.

f. Mass-Media Efforts

ii.

1.

iv.

Billboards: Early in the quinquennium, the Diocese
sponsored Dbillboard advertisements along a small
number of heavily traveled roads, These signs were
similar to those used in other dioceses throughout North
America and had the secondary and welcome effect of

. generating news in the local press.

Website: In the last year, the Diocese sponsored a
website specifically devoted to the Office of Vocations.
The site included a letter of welcome from the Bishop,
information on seminaries used by the Diocese, a
description of the typical program of formation, answers
to frequently-asked questions and contact information
for those who wished to receive more information froim
the Office of Vocations.

CD-ROM: The Diocese produced a CD-ROM disc that
contains a presentation on vocations to p‘ries’thood and
religious life. The corntent of the dis¢ als6 allows tisers to
connect fo various vocation-related sites on the World-
Wide-Web. :

Flying Barher: A banner attached to ari airplane was
flown over beaches within diocesan boundaries during
one summer season when the beaches were crowded
with young people. The banner contaified laniguage
used in the aforementioned billboard carhpaign.
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The Diocese of Wilmington also participated in national efforts to promote
vocations. The Diocesan Director of Vocations, the Director of Seminarians, and
priest-members of the Diocesan Vocations Board are all members of the National
Conference of Diocesan Vocationi Directors (NCDVD). This Conference has
working relationships with the Bishops’ Committee on Vocatioris, the NCEA
Semiriary Departinent, and thie National Council of Religious Vocation Directors
(NCRVD),

2. Major Seminaries

No major setninary. exists withiri the Diocese of Wilmington. During the
quinquennium, the Diocese senit seminatians to St. Mary's Seminary (Baltimore,
Maryland), Theological College at the Catholic University of America
(Washington, DC), Immaculate Conception Seminary at Seton Hall University
(South Orange, New Jersey) and Blessed John XXIII National Semmary (Weston,
Massachusetts). (The program offered at Blessed John XXIII National Seminary
is specitically oriented to men whose decision to enter formation for priesthood
has surfaced later in life.)

The concern of the Bishop, the Director of Vocations and the Director of
Seminarians is the proper formation of men for the priesthood in light of the
needs of the People of God in the local Church of the Diocese of Wilmington.
The seminaries listed above have proven useful and helpful to that end. All
formation programs afe in keeping with the Program of Priestly Formation
issued by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops.

The Vocations Office also plays an integral part in the ongoing fortmation of
candidates for priesthood. During the quinquenniufn, ceértain functions
previously administefed by the Director of Vocations were split off ffom that
position and became the basis for the newly instituted position of Director of
Seminarians. The Director of Vocations has responsibility for vocation
awareness programs and for recruiting potential seminarians and
recommending them to the Bishop for acceptarice by the Diocese and placement
in specific formation programs; once a man formally begiris seminary studies, he
falls under the purv1ew of the Director of Seminarians, whose responsibility it is
to monitot the man’s academic, pastoral and spiritual formation. Both the
Director of Vocations ard the Director of Seminarians visit each seminary twice
a year, once in the Fall and once in the Spring. The goals of thesé visits include
the pastoral support of the seminarians, the fostering of an ongoing relationship
with those chatged with the proper formation of the seminarians for the Diocese
of Wilmingtor, and the opportunity to keep the Vocations Office abreast of both
the needs and concerns of the men in formation as well as developments in the
various programs of formation.
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Seminarians are also given the opportunity for 10-week parish placements
during the summer after their second and third years of theology. Somie choose
to enter parish placements prior to those required times aiid the Vocations
Office, with the support of local pastors, does all within its power to make this a
reality for those who desire it. During the quinguennium, seminarians isi such
placements met as a group weekly with the Director of Vocations (or with the
‘Director of Seminarians, since the creation of that posmon) and the Vocations
Staff (four diocesan priests who are charged with assisting the Director of
Vocations and the Bishop). These gatherings included time for-prayer; discussion
of parish pastoral incidents shared by the seminarians, and the oppottunity to
address concerns. At the end of each summer, evaluations were written by the

seminarians and the pastoral supervisors in the parish; these werée shared with-

the Vocatioris Staff, the Bishop, and the seminary.

Each summer, the Vocations Office arranged for a three-day gathering for all
seminariahs. These times of prayer and reflection also provided opportunities
for the seminarians to get to know each other better.

A program is in place to monitor and support the transitional deacons'
movement from seminary to diaconal ministry to priesthood, Transitional
deacons were assigned to parishes after consultation with the Difector of
. Vocations, the Director of Seminarians, the Vocations Staff, and the Priests
Personnel Committee. Careful consideration was given to this very important
first ministerial assignment and to the pastors with whom the deacons would be
ministering. Group supervision occurred once a week until priestly ordination
and twice a month during the first year of priesthood.

The Bishop himself remains an integral part of this entire process. During the
quinquennium, the bishop met frequently with the seminarians, attended
seminarian gatherings, and made contact with them whenever he was in the
vicinity of one of the séminaries and his schedule allowed.

3. Formation of candidates

Candidates for the permanent diaconate undertake a four-and-a-half year
-process of spiritual, academic and pastoral formation, begmmng with a yeat
long aspirancy period. The academic program includes courses in Foundational
Theology, Introduction to the Bible, Gospels, Church History, Old Testament,
Ecclesiology, Christology, Moral Theology, Sacramental Theology, Catechetics,
Applied Pastoral Theology, Liturgical Praxix, Homiletics, Spirituality, Canon
Law and the Theology of Preaching. It addition, they have two years of pastoral
formation that ovetlay their last two years of academic courses. For the fall term,
2003, there are curtently 12 men in their fourth year of formation in an English
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language track along with three in their third year of formation in a Spanish
language track. A spiritiial formationi team of deacon couples, religious and
priests accompanies both cohorts.

4. Minor Seminaries
No minoi seminary exists within the Diocesé of Wilmington. Duririg the
quinquerinium, the Diocese sent seminarians to 5t. Andrew’s College Seminary,
affiliated with Immaculate Concepﬁon Seminary at Seton Hall Un1versﬂ:y (South
Orange, New Jersey).

5. Formation of Candidates for Priesthood Who Are of a Mature Age:

As noted in the first paragraph of section 2 (“Major Seminaries”), the Diocese

used Blessed John XXIII Natiorial Seminary for this purpose during the
quinquennium. Everything else concerning formation in that section also
applies here.

6. Ecclesiastical Faculties
Since there are no major or minor seminaries in the Diocese, theré are no
ecclesiastical faculties.

7. There are no Catholic colleges or universities in the territory of the diocese.
8. Pastoral Care in Univérsities

9. Catholic Schools

Importance of Catholic Schools

On January 24; 2002 Bishop Saltarelli issued a pastoral letter entitled “Catholic
Schools: A Gift of the Church”. In that documeént he clearly enunciates the
importance of Catholic Schools in the Dioceses of Wilmington when he says:

“1 submit...that Catholic Schools are not only necéssary as we venture
into a new century, but they are so necessary that the mission of our
Chiurch would be sériously handicapped if Catholi¢c Schools ceased to
exist.” A

..the schools in our diocese and throughout the United States are, in
ﬁuth one of the major formal vehicles for promoting and expanding the
lived faith community we call ‘church’. Each year these schools send into
the larger community men and women, who are specifically trained in the
message and ministry of the Catholic Church and who, according to
every recent study about Catholie Schools, enrich and enliveri parish
communities across out land.”
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Our Bishop so believes in Catholic Schools that he called upon the entiré Diocese

to join with him in a massive effort to "Bring the Vision to Life” and that effort -

has resulted in the opening of two new Catholic elementaty schools and the
expansion of a Diocesan high school.

Relation to Civil Authorities
Catholic Schools are mdependent of the civil authority in the United States. Our
schools, however, take advantage of local, state and federal programs that assist
us in the education of chﬂdren without jeopardizing our mission to operate
manifestly religious schools.

Financial State of the Schools

Our schools are mamly supported by tuition from parents who opt for these
schools for their children anid from subsidies provided for those schools that are
a part of the mission of local parishes, For many years the Diocese has had a
foundation established to assist needy families in taking advantage of a Catholic
School educatior. Thousands of dollars are awarded annually in financial
assistance. The Diocese, further, completed a stiidy of the financing of schools in
the winter of 2003 as a means of determining how to more creatively finarice all
our schools and to assist those institutions that afe or maybe in danger of closing
because of lack of financial support. Generally, most schools in the Diocese are
fiscally respons1ble

School Related Associations

Each of our schools has a Home and School Association Wthh is a way that
parents, teachers and administrators can work togeﬂler for the benefit of the
education of children. Every parish school has a board ot a Christian Formation
Committee which assists in an advisory way some of the governing operations
of the schools. There is a Diocesan School Board and under that Board there is
an association of parents who assist in promoting legislative activities on behalf
of the schools.

Inclusion of the Scholastic Community in Parish/Diocese

Schools actively promote social awareriess and responsibility among their
students. Most schools have programs of outreach that bring the students into
contact with people and causes which have spec1ahzed needs and concerns,

Catholic School students continue to be actively irivolved in the 11turg1ca1 life of
the parishes and at time of the Diocese. Catholic School students cortipose 4
major part of the annual March For Life efforts every year in Washington, DC.

Future Outlook for Catholic Schools
The Diocese of Wilmitigton i5 expandmg its school efforts and thus the future
appears to be bright. There are challenges from other educational institutions
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which look very much like Catholic Schools (Charter Schools, etc.). Catholi¢
Schools will survive and thrive to the extent that they creatively market their
Catholicity and the features that make them truly unique.

Catholic Identity

There is a uniform curriculum for religious instruction on all levels of learning.
The Office of Religious Educahon oversees that instriiction in the schools and in
religiotis education programs apart from the schools. The courses and the
programs of thé schools provide ample opportunities for developing the
spiritual lives of the children. The teachers are encouraged to model the living
of a spiritual life, The schools provide wonderful opportunities for students to
become actively involved in the liturgical life of the parishes and of the internal
liturgical life of the schoo'ls» Students are trained as lectors, e’t(:i.

Every teacher in our schools is required to participate each fall and spring in the
Religious Formation classes conducted by the Office of Religious Education,
These classes help the teachers in developing a solid religiously oriented life and
in keeping current with the issues imiportant to the Church.

Principals are required to assure the authenticity of Catholic teachings and the
office of Religious Education in concert with the Office of Catholic Schools
makes sure that the materials used in the instruction of children are reflective of
the teachings of the Chuich., :

Each fall every teacher new to teaching in a Catholic School attends a day
sponsored by the Office of Catholic Schools during which they are exposed to
the history of Catholic School Education in the United States and come to a
bettet understandmg of the role of teacher as catechist and minister, This
experience is reinforced by an anrual retreat required of every teacher in each
school and by religious activities that permeate the school experience. These
experiences move teachers to become more patently pastoral in theit ifistruction
and to become more visibly models of Christian living.

10
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON _ 19982003

VI. CATECHESIS

A. Statistics

JAN1,1998 DEC. 31, 2003
1. NUMBER OF CATECHISTS IN DIOCESE 1600 2070
2. ASSN. WORKING IN FIELD OF 1 ‘ 1

CATECHESIS.

INFORMATION CONCERNING THEIR EFFECTIVENESS

The diocese has a well formed and articulate process for the formation and
certificationt of catechists. The catechists in the Catholic Schools are given time
within the school year to obtain the necessary courses required for certification.
Parish catechists must achieve such certification on their own time. They are
most generous in attending courses on the weekénd and at night. The parish

catechists experience a higher turnover rate than the school catechists. Thus, the

overall level of their training is less than those in the schools. However, their
enthusiasm for the faith is contagjous and often makes an indelible impression
on those they catechize. Our catechists are formed well to carry out their tasks.

Overall, the catechetlcal instruction in the schools and the parishes is good. Its
effectiveness is limited by the amount of parental support and engagement with
the parish community. These are essential factors in gauging any long term
effectiveness. We are attempting through numerious avenues to assist parents
~ in a more intentional effort to pass on the Catholic faith.

Youth formation is a great challenge Many adults do not see a need for ongoing
growth in their knowledge of the faith. In the last few years, parishes have
increased their efforts to encourage and challenge the adults to becomie more
active in adult faith formation. Thé small faith communities, prayer groups and
Scripture study groups continue to be soutces of vibrant faith life.

B. Description
1. The Bishop works with two boards, one for Catholic Schools and one for

Religious Education. They recommend policy to him for guidance of the
educational and catechetical programs. The diocese maintains a comprehensive
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array of policies that provide direction for the catechetical efforts. The pohc1es
are updated and revised on a regular cycle.

During the past five years, the Office of Religious Education has undertaken a
major initiativé to implement the US bishops pastoral plan for adult faith
formation, “Our Hearts Were Burmng Within Us.” Ten parlshes were selected
to be part of a pilot program for developing the local adult formation programs.
An extensive survey of the people preceeded the development of the programs.

As part of the Jubilee Year effort, the diocese undertook a major initiative to
rekindle a love for the Sacrament of Reconciliation among our people.
Educational materials were prepared for the children, youth and adults, A series
of articles by respected theologians and pastors on various aspects of the
Sacrament were commissioned for our diocesan newspapér. In each deaneiy
there was a major celebration of the Sacrament with numerous confessors
available for the faithful.

There has been an increased effort to provide bilingual services for the new
immigrants, especially the Spanish speaking.

In 2003, the bishop issued a call to all parishes and schools to participate in a
parish based, diocesan wide process called: Faith for Tomorrow: On Good Soil.
Beginning with parish discussions about important issues of faith for our
childreri, our adolescents, our new members, our schools, our families, our
catechists, our whole parishes, the process will proceed to regional gatherings.
In March of 2004, there will be a diocesan convocation to reflect on the
conversations and suggest directions for the futtire.

2. Personnel and Educational Materials

a) Catechist Formation is one of the highest priorities of the diocesan
catechetical effort. There is collaboration with the Schools Office in this work.
All catechists in the parish programs and Catholic schools are expected to
partmpate in the diocesan certification and recognition program. Even teachers
in the Catholic schools who do not teach religion are requried to particpate.
They are given "recognition” rather than "certification.”. Catechists are certified
at various levels by participating in ten hour courses. The courses iriclude
methods and theology and personal spirituality. They must contiriue to take
courses until they reach the advariced level. With the support of the Catholic
Schools Office, We have been able to certify the majority of the school catechists.
The parish catechists present unique challenges. They are persons who
generously give their time to the parishes as a response to a call of the Spirit.
Most of them have jobs outside of the home and many are parents raising school

2
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aged childrer.. They have limited time. We have 1ntroduced a video assisted
basic formation element to our program, It has enabled many 1more persons to
achieve a basic level of certification. One discouragement is the turnover of
parish catechists. On average, they do not stay for more than three years. Thus
there is a constant need for recruitment and training. Every effort is made to
mmaintain unity and sortie uniforinity in the presentation of material.

The diocese has initiated a program to financially assist the graduate education
of those who would like to become parish Directors of Religious or religion
teachers in the Catholic Schools.

b) The United States is blessed with a rich variety of catechetical materials which
are of the highest quality. There are several text series for elementary and
secondary children and youth. The materials have been corrolated with the
Catechisn. New materials are reviewed by the Office to determine their
conformity with the Catechism. In the diocese, we have corrolated our
elementary and secondary curricula guidelines with the Catechism. Our
catechist formatlon courses have been reshaped to reflect the content of the
catechism.

The publication of the General Directory for Catechesis has been eéxtremely
helpful. Since its publication we have conducted numerous workshops for
diocesai and parlsh staffs on the document. It is also a basic text for the
.Catecheti¢s course for the permanent deacons. It continues to be a guiding light
for us. The diocese was very active in the consultations for the National
Ditectory.

We continuously promote the integration of media into the learning process.
The children and youth of this country are very media literate and their secular
learning includes use of many forms of media. We are still attempting to find
ways to incorporate computers inito the learning process. On the other hand, the
popular media has a pervasive, often deliterious, impact on our people. A part
of our education must include helping Catholic Christiaris becorhe more
sophisticated in their judgment about the suitablity of various media
représentations.

3. Forms of evarigelization and of catechesis:

a) Pastors and parochial vicars are engaged in catechesis. Where there are
Catholic schools, every effort is made to ensure visability and participation in
teaching on the part of the clergy. Pastors also exercise theit leadership role by
supervising the directors of religious education. Clergy take important
leadership roles in the sacramental preparation programs and most especially in
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the RCIA. With the emergence of the role of the parish director of religious
education as ore of leadership in catechesis, it is important that we keep clergy
actively engaged in this vital ministry. At the diocesan and parish levels, every
effort is made to do so. Our gmdelmes emphasize the pastor’s leadership role in
catechetical and evarngelization ministries.

b) The diocese sees the time when children prepare for the celebration of the
sacraments for the first time as important moments for evargelization and
catechesis not only of the child but of the family. Immediate preparation for
First Confession and First Eucharist are done separateiy from the regular
catechetical program. Parents miust participate in the process. Overall, these
programs have achieved their purpose of ergaging the parents in the
catechetical process and making these times special moments in the faith
development of the child and family. The changing nature of the family is
creating challenges for this approach. More and more of the families are
ecumeriical families with both parents being Christian but not Catholic. Single
parent families and families where a divorce has taken place create special
circumstances for the local programs. :

Such programs have proven to be fertile grounds for evangelization. Parents
who have been alienated from the church, when dealt with in a pastorally
sensitive way, Have returnéd to the full practice of their faith. Parents who have
had irregular marriages have been invited to consider engaging in the
appropriate canonical processes to regularize their unions. Thus, the fruits of
such special programs have been many and diverse.

Preparation for Confirmation has posed a different challenge. Many parishes
have modeled their programs on the processes established for Initiatior. The
preparation is spread over an extended petiod of time. Often there is a parish
sponsor as well as the sponsor chosen by the candidate. Many of the programs
are very well done and evoke a strong faith response from adolescents.

Revised Marriage preparation guidelines have been iri place for the past five
years. The preparation tithe for most couples has been extended to one year.
The process includes several meetings at the local parish with a member of the
clergy; a seties of workshops and small group meetings with a married couple int
the home parish.

Catechesis for the Disabled. The diocese sponsors séveral centers for children
with miental challenged. Eacli center is staffed by specially trained catechists and
aides. Christ the Teacher Elementary School has three children enrolled with
Down’s syndrome among its students. The curriculum developed through the
Kerinedy Foundation is in use. The diocese also supports a "Faith and Light"

4

DOW 02968



community based on the "L’Arche" method of being with the disabled. A
permanent deacon has been assigned to this ministry. The Knights of Columbus
have given theit suppott to many of the efforts of this ministry. Each year the
Bishop celebrates a special liturgy with the meritally challenged and their
families.

A separate ministry exists to meet the needs of the hearing impaired. A chaplain
fluent in sign language celebrates a monthly liturgy. He is also available for
other sacramental ministry and counseling. One of out parishes has a weekly
liturgy with intérpreters for the deaf. There are special religious education
classes for the deaf children at the parish. The diocese has a local coordinator of
the ministy who is deaf.

The Rite of Christian Inifiation has been restored in the diocese and the parishes.
The Rites called for are celebrated in the parishes and at the diocesan level (Rite
of Acceptance, Neophyte Mass). We have revised our guidelines for the RCIA to
better reflect a distinction between catechiimens and those being brought into
full communion, Most parishes have teams established to assist in the formation
and instruction of the Catechumens, Inquirers and those seeking union with the
church. Many parishes have particular programs for the unbaptized and
uncatechized children. The process of initiation modeled in the RCIA has been a
great gift to the catechetical community. Itis a model for all forms of catechesis.
We are still learning how to adapt the model to different cultural and
catechetical settings.

c) Since the publication of the US bishops plan for adult faith formation, “Our
Hearts Were Burning Within Us” there has been a renewed emphasis on adult
faith formation. Thls is in line with the GDC’s suppott for the priority of adult
faith formation. The diocesan office has offered nurerous workshops and
support services for the parishes . Overall parishes have increased their efforts
to provide adult education opportunities across a wide range of topics. Parishes
are attempting through surveys and other means to elicit the needs of the adult
community and to provide programs that meet these needs. Programs tailored
to young mothers, senior citizens, patrents and single persons are meeting with
some success. The diocesari office for religious education has been exploring
ways to use the Internet for some forms of adult leatning. While there are
certain drawbacks to this approach, it allows an individual to engage in learning
that meets their own schedule.

Young adult ministry (22-35) has been greatly expanded Theology ont Tap, an

outreach program to young adults during Advent and Lent has been very
sticcessful in providing a gathering place for young adults to discuss significant
theological and spiritual issues. Thete are also now three “clubs” for young
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adults in various parts of the diocese. The ministry on the secular college
camnpuses has been expanded. A full time camptuis minister has been hired for
Salisbury University/University of Maryland Eastern Shore.

d) Parishes are offering retreats and missions througout the year, but especially
in Advent and Lent. Our society makes many demands on people’s time, In
many families (more than 60%) both spouses work outside of the home and at

some distance from the home. When they return home, they haveé much to

attend to especially ca;e' for theit children. There is a need, therefore, to
introduce more spirituality into the homes. Whether it will ever be possible to
regain the Sabbath rest, is questionable.

Our people are craving a deeper spirituality to counteract the shallowness of the
culture. Our great challenge is to proclaim the gospel in a way that speaks to
their hunger and allows the Lord to fill their longings.

There is a growing effort to support the popular religiosity of the more recent
immigrants, especially the sparush speaking. At the same time, good catechesis;
especially by our Hispanic Ministry teamn, keeps the expressions of faith and
devotion grounded in sound Catholic theology.
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'

DIOCESE. OF WILMINGTON

diocese who minister within the diocese

- Proportion between celibate ; n/a
married_ ; widowed . .

- Median age of permanent deacons 64.7

1998-2003
VIIL LIFE AND MINISTRY OF THE CLERGY
JAN 1,1998 DEC. 31, 2003
1. No. of priests incardinated in diocese- 88 88
ministry within the diocese
- No. of religious priests -ministry within diocese 85 86
- Priests incardinated into other diocese who 9 8
serve within the diocese
_ Priests who were formerly religious priests 1 - 4
accepted into the diocese
- Diocesan priests working/assigned outside 12 10
the diocese '
- Diocesan priests with a license or doctorate 6 15
in Theology or Canon Law
- Diocesan priests with a License or Doctorate 4 4
in other disciplines
" - Median age of priests , 54 57
- Median age of retired priests : 72.5 84
- The ratio of priests to faithful ' 1to0 1863 - 1to0 2,500
2, No. of Permanent Deacons incardinated 37 64
in diocese ‘
- Permanent deacons incardinated into other 9 12

C - 3.7%; M-92.6%;
W=37%

63.3
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3. Total no. of parishes
- Average no. of faithful per parish

- Single Pa_rishes & groups of parishes
entrusted to a single pastor (¢. 526.1)

- Parishes entrusted to diocesar clergy
- Parishes entrusted to religious clergy

- Parishes entrusted to several priests
undet the moderation of one priest (c. 517.1)
- Total no. of priests who care “if solidum”
for such parishes :
- Parishes without a pastor entruisted to a
priests who directs the pastoral care with the
help of deacons or nori-ordained faithful(c.517.2)

- Ecclesiastical offices besides parishes which
attend to the cura animdriim

Priests working full-time in offices outside of

JAN 1,1998 DEC. 31, 2003

55
3,019

1

46

10

parochial ministry entrusted with the cura animarum

No. of pastors with an appointment ad fempus

indefinitum, & those appointed for a set period of time b) 43

- No. of parochial administrators

4. Associations of clergy present

a) 3

5

57
3,860

27

53

10
3
43

1

Thiere are no associations of
in the diocese: priests in the diocese. Interests
ahd concerns of the priests to

the Bishop are channeled

through the Vicar for Priests,
Deans who meet regularly with

priests and Priests” Council

made up of ex officio, elected

and appointed members,

Some priests are members of

Jesu Caritas.
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-The purpose of éach and ari evaluation of their presence & influence in the
diocese. :

5. Numerical data concerning Basic There are nione.
Christiari Communities

1L ‘ 1998-2003

Number of priests ordained for diocese ' 9
Diocesan priests who have died or retired 16
Diocesan priests who have left priesthood
a) without dispensation 0
b) with laicization from the clerical state : 0
c) priest who have left & returned to active 0
ministry

B. Description

1. The Diocese is currently involved in an “open-listing” process for clergy
appointments. Parish openirigs are published, priests are interviewed by the
Clergy Personnel Board and with one another, recommendations are then made
to the Bishop on thie basis of preference and diocesan needs.

The office of the parish priest remains stable and collaboration remains the goal
of all pastoral relationships.

Pastoral/Parish Councils have béen iri existence in the diocese since 1968;
specific guidelines for the councils were issited in 1993 and they seem to be
working well depending upon priestly leadership. Most priests see the Pastoral
Council as effective instruments in the direction and vision of the local parish.

The diocese has just coimpleted its policy for retired priests. Priests may retire at
age 70. At 75 they must resigh from administrative office on the patish and
diocesan level. Depending upon the health of the retiree, pastoral ministry is
recornmended to the degree the priest is able. A retired priest may liveina
rectory, his own home or apartment, with relatives or ifi an assisted living facility
provided by the diocese, The diocese has a pension and medical benefits
program, Considering the number scon to be eligible for retirement and the
contintied longevity of the clergy, plans are being considered for additional

facilities and especially accommodations for nursing care of the totally disabled.’

Programs are being considered to help clergy of all ages to prépare physically,
mentally and spiritually for their retirement years.
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Priests are prov1ded with grave space in Catholic cemeteries of the diocese il a
spot designated for them, or they may choose burial in a family plot. Opening
and closing of the grave is provided free of charge and also provided is
mernorialization of the gtave if necessary. Some priests have elected
entombment which is largely at their expense. Only one priest so far has chosen
cremaﬂon but it followed a Funeral Mass with the body present and was done
privately in 1988

2. The clergy is .currentlji; fairly well distributed with a significant number
serving city parishes in New Castle County where out parisheés ate closely
situated. :

Thus far, we have been blessed with not having to merge parishes or place two
under the leadership of one pastor. Consequently the solidarity of the faithful
and their proper parish priest remains solid. No parishes as of this tithe have
had to be given to a deacon or non-ordained person for administration.

3. The clergy of the diocese seem to be well adjusted with a good spirit and a
firm life of piety founded on the Eucharist. Celibacy and life style are accepted.
When problems arise there are people and systems in place to address the needs.
When required proper ecclesiastical attire is wotn and clergy involvement irt
political affairs is monitored with regular directives.

Appropriate housing and sustenance for priests is under the direction of special
committees which make recommendations to the Bishop at regular infervals.
The spirit of poverty and detachment is a constant source of rehiewal and
personal growth. :

Generally the attitude of the clergy regardmg obedience and the acceptance of
assignments is good: When dlfflcultles arise they are addressed by the Bishop.

Presently most priests are acceptmg to transfers and will respond to needs. Due
to out current circumstances, ie. facing shortage in the local Church, we are
reluctant to go elsewhere for ministry.

Presently there are no “Fidei Donum” priests in the diocese but we do have
several retired priests from outside the diocese plus several who are on leavé
from outside the diocese. Care is taken to assure proper credentials for all extern
priests who atre welcomed into the diocese for pastoral work.

In the period 1998 to 2003, four priests have left active ministry due to credible
allegations of clergy sexual abuse. These cases and the pre-1998 cases are all
being handled in accord with the Charter and the Essential Norms and being
referred properly to the Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith (see The Crisis
in the Church and the Diocese of Wilmington in section I1I).
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Ore priest-is presently on a leave of absence. Anothet priest who had been
working ift parishes in the Diocese of Venice, FL and the Diocese of Orlando has
made a decision to seek voluntary laicization. Neither of these casés involved
the séxual abuse of a mitior.

4. Continuing Formation of the Clergy

Priests’ Retreats - An annual retreat is provided for all diocesan priests. All
priests gather for the diccesan retreat once every four years. The Bishop
participates iri every diocesan retreat. Themes for the past years:

A) Retreats

Required 1998 “Imitate the Mystery You Handle: Searching for an Effective

Spirituality for the Diocesan Priests” :
Director - Reverend Paul L. Cioffi, S.].

1999 “Companionship with Jesus”
Director - Reverend James R. Conroy, S.J.

2000 “Ged of Mystery and Wonder”
Director - Priests of the Norbertine Commumty, Daylesford
Abbey

2001 Retreat cancelled = Director was called away for three weeks
before the retreat

Required * 2002 “Absolutely Nothing Works Except Holiness”

Director - Right Revererid Lambert Reilly, O.S.B.

Days of Reflection and Study Days -~ I addition to the retreat opportunity, days
of refléctiori and Study Days are sponsored annually. The format consists of day
conferences and extended two-day conferences. Themes include:

B) Study Days/Priests’” Conferences
1998 “The Challenge of Ministiy”

Preseritets - James J. Gill, S.J. and Reverend John C. Litiman, C.S.U.

1999 “Compassionate ahd Respornsible Servants”
Presenters - Reverend John Heagle and Sister Frai Ferder
2001 “Priesthood - A Commitinent to Spiritual Renewal, Personal
Wellriess and Presbyteral Vitality”
Presenter ~ Reverend Stephen Rossetti
2002 “The Basic Plan for the Ongoing Formation of Pr1ests The
Call to Holiriess”
Presenter ~ Mr. Michael Morton
2003 “For the Sake of God’s Children” - Etiical Stands for Priests
Facilitators - Ethical Standards Writing Comrmittee
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C) Days of Reﬂectlon
1999 ' Lenteén Day ~ Childs, MD
Preseniter - Reverend Dominic J. Matuca, S.].
2000 Lenten Day ~ Childs, MD
Presenter - Most Reverend Francis Malooly
2002 May 2002 - Sprint Day - Childs, MD
Pregenter - Msgr. Thomas Beven

D) Sabbatical Prograins

The Diocese encoutrages priests to participate in extended sabbatical programs.
Most years one or two pnests have part1c1pated in the sabbatical program at the
North Americari College in Rome. Opportunities are also available for shorter
programs at the Seminary Schools of Theology in the United States. The
difficulty of getting suitable coverage when a priest wants a sabbatical means
that permission for extended sabbatical must be rethought.

E) Study Weeks

A Study Week is held every four years for the priests of the Diocese. The Study
Week is an intensive learning experience designed to update and/or educate the
priests concerning a specific issue or area of concern. The week also promotes the
common celebration of the Eucharist, common célebration of the Liturgy of the
Hours, and fraternity and support for priests.

STUDY WEEK - Attendarice is required
2000 “Our Experience of God - Beginning the Third Millénium”
Philadelphia, PA.
Presenters — Msgr. James P. Lisarite: Rev. Donald Senior, CF;
Rev. Martin Pable, OFM: Rev. Stephen M. Fields, SJ; Rev.
Robert Leavitt, SS
2003 Will be held February 2-6, 2004, Lancaster, PA

F) Mémberships
The National Organization for Continuing Education of Roman Catholic Clergy
The National Federation of Priest Councils
- The committee also provides materials for all priests regarding
coritinuing formation published by the Committée on Priestly Life and
Ministry, USCCB
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The Statutes of the Priests’ Council
Preamble
The Bishop and the Priests of the Diocese of Wilmington share in the one
Priesthod of Jesus Christ by their Baptism and, ii a special way, by their call to
Holy Orders. While all membets of the church belong to the one Body of Christ,
priests; by their ordination, ar¢ called to a unique ministry in the church. The

Bishops and Priests are called to the same purpose: To proclaim the kingdom of
God and to build the Body of Christ.

As a sign of unity in ministry, the Priests” Council enables the Bishop and
his priests to work collaboratively in proclaiming the gospel of Jesus Christ to the
faithful of the Diocese of Wilmington.

Article I: Name

The name of this body shall be “The Priests’ Council of the Diocese of
Wilmington”.

' Article II: Purpose
The purpose of this Priests’ Council shall be:

1. To serve as a consultative body, representative of both diocesan and
religious priests of the diocese.

2. To assist the Bishop in the governance of the diocese.

3. To provide a forum for the full and free discussion of issues of
pastoral concern in the diocese.

4. To research, deliberate and advise the Bishop on those matters
pertaining to the pastoral mission and well being of the entire
diocese.

5. To search for and propose ways and means for effective
pastoral ministry. ’
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Article IIl: Membership
Section 1

The Bishop of the Diocese of Wilmington is the President of the Priests’ Council
and presides at all meetings. '

Section 2

Other members shall be the Vicars General, the Moderator of the Curid, the
Chancellor, the Vicar for the Clergy and the Chairperson of theé Priests’
Continding Education Committee. These members servé in an ex-officio
capacity.

Section 3

One priest shall be elected from each of the eight Deaneries of the diocese.

Section 4

The Bishop may choose as many as four appointed members. However, it is
recommended that at all times at least two associate pastors should be on the
Council. :

Article IV: Terms of Office
Section 1
The term of office of elected and appointed members is three years. Elected
members may serve a second term. Appointed members may be re-appointed by
the Bishop for a second term. A member whether elected or appointed shall not
serve mmore than two suiccessive terms in the same category of membership.

Article V: Officers

Section 1

The officers of the Priests” Council shall be the President, the Executive Officer
and the Secretary. .

Section 2

The President of the Council shall be the Diocesan Bishop. He shall preside at all
. meetings of the Council.
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Section 3

The Executive Officer coordinates the work of the Council in seeking the opinions
and views of the presbyterate. The Executive Officer assists the Biskop in
preparing for meetings and implementing the proposals of the Council accepted
by the Bishop. : ‘

He is elected anmuially by the Council membetship.
Section 4

The Secretary shall record the acts of the Council and see to it that the Council
minutes are given to the Chancellor for the Diocésan Archives. It is the
Secretary’s fesponsibility to prepare and forward the minutes to the presbyterate.
He also shall assist the Bishop and the Executive Officer in preparing for
meetings.

"The Secretary is elected by the Council members for a two year term.

Article VI: Elections
Section 1

All priests comprising the presbyterate of the Diocese of Wilmington, retired
priests and those religious engaged in parish or diocesan ministries, are eligible to
vote, to be nominated and elected.

Vacancies due to death, resignations or transfers shall be handled by a special
election to complete the unexpited term unless the Bishop decides this is
impractical in a particular case.

Ex-officio members serve on the Council as long as they hold office in virtue of
which they are members of the Council.

Those members who were chosen as Consultofs and whose term on the Council
expires during their tenure as Consultors remaih as Consultors but cease to be
members of the Council unless the Bishop freely appoints them to a vacant
appointed seat or, if qualified, they are elected to a Council seat.

No one may decline service on the Council unless excused by the Diocesar
Bishop.
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Section 2 - Election Process

The process for nominating and electing members to the Priests’ Council respects
the principle that each deanery be represented on the Council af all times.

To this end, nominations and elections occur within each deanery. Only members
of a particular deanery are eligible to vote, be nominated, and elected.

If a vacancy on the Council oecurs by reason of a transfer from one deanery to
another or by resignation or death, the seat is automatically vacated.

The Secretary of the Priests’ Courcil shall informa the deans when an election
within their deanery is warranted.

Normally, elections will occur in September. Using the resources of the

Chancery, the dean for his deanery will conduct the nomination and election

process which shall be by mail.
a) Two priests are noniinated from the deanery.

b) From these nominations one is elected to serve on the Priests’
Coungcil.

c) The results of this deanery election are forwarded by the dean
to the Secretary of the Priests’ Council. The Secretary in turn
advises the Bishop and members of the Priests’ Council.
d) The newly elected member takes his seat on the Priests’Council at the
next regularly scheduled mieeting.
Article VII: Meetings
Section 1 - Time
The Council shall meet at least four times a year.
A majority of the members exclusive of the Diocesan Bishop (who must also be

present) is a quoruri for purposes of a meeting. * At any time the Bishop may
make exceptions to the above.. '
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Section 2 - Ad Hoc Committees

Encouragement is given to all members of Council to participate fully. This
participatioi includes submission of topics for the agenda, open and frank
discussion, respect for all oplmons and the attempt to adopt a consensus approach
to deliberations.

The Priests’ Council does not have any standing committees. If warranted the
Bishop may form an “ad hoe” commitiee with a Council member as thé convéner.
Such committees will serve to assist the Bishop and Council in studying,
evaluating and making proposals concerning thos¢ matter assigned to it.” The
convener will be urged to choosé committee members from among the
Presbyterate. Specidl attention should be given to those who may have a
particular interest or expertise in the said topic.

The ad hoc committee will meet and make its report and recommendations to the
Bishop and Priests’ Council. Normally at that time the work of the ad hoc
committee will cease.

Should the term of the convener end before the work of the ad hoc committee is
finished, and he is not re-elected or appomted to another term, he will stay on
Council as a non-voting member until the work of the committee is finished.

Section 3 - Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of the Bishop, thé Executivé Officer, the
Secretary, a representative of the Deans, and two elected members chosen by the
Council. Others may be invited by the Bishop as the need arises. Its function
shall be to assist in the preparation of the agenda prior to each meeting and to
carry on the business of the Priests’ Council between regular meetings.

All members of the présbyterate are encoiiraged to submit agenda items through
their deanery representative or through any elected or ex-officio member or by
submitting the agenda item to the Bishop. -

Article VIII: Competence

The Canonical responsibilities of the Council as listed in the Cod¢ of Canon Law
are the following:

a) To give counsel to the Bishop on the diocesan assessment (c.
1263).

b) To give counsel to the Bishop on the permarnent use of a
Church for other purposes besides divine worship (c.1222:2).

DOW 02982



c) To select those who serve on the group which deals with issues
related to the removal of pastors (c.1742:1), and the transfer of
pastors (¢.1750).

d) To give counsel to the Bishop o1t whether a pastoral council is
to be established in each parish (c. 536).

e) To give counsel to the Bishop in the erection, suppression, or
notable alteration of parishes (c. 525:2),

f) To give counsel to the Bishop in his decision on whether to
convoke a diocesan synod (c. 461:1).

g) To give counsel to the Bishop on “matters of greater moment”
concerning the governance of the Diocese (c. 500:2).

h) To give counsel to the Bishop on the allocation of the fund to be
established among the parish accounts for offerings of the
faithful given for parochial functions done by persons other than
the pastor of the parish (c. 531).

November, 1996
- Approved November 18, 1996
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5. Permanent Diaconaté

All deacons ordained since 2000 have received copies of the “Directory for the
Ministry and Life of Permanent Deacons.” This documient serves to guide the
Diocese of Wilmitigton in directing the ministry of permarient deacons. Most
deacons are assigned to their home parish or one near whete they live. Two
presenﬂy sérve fu]l—tune as pastoral associates. Several are involved extenslvely
with prison or hospital ministry. 19 deacons and many of theif wives also serve
as advocates for the Tribunal, in addition to their formal diaconal assigninent.
Apart from a handful who are in paid ministries, most work without
compensation,

Increasingly, deacons have béen well received by their pastors and parishes since
the first permanent deacons were ordained for the Diocese of Wilinington in
1980. Over 80% of the parishes in tte Diocese of Wilmington now have one of
more deacons assigned to therh. Deacons are evaluated in their ministries every
three years although each year they must report on their continuing formation
for the prior yéar and on their plans for the upcoming year. The Office for
Deacons sponsors an annual retreat and at least on¢ continuing formation
workshop each yeat. The Office for Deacons is collaborating with other diocesan
offices to promote jointly sporisored continuing education opportunities in order
to share resotitces and t6 promote collaborative ministry with the offices of
Worship, Catholic Education, Youth Ministry and Family Life.

Tiwelve deacens incardinated in seven other dioceses presently serve in the
Diocesé of Wilmington with the permission of their ordinaries. Four others were
incardinated into the Diocese of Wilmington last year. The Director of the Office
for Deacons interviews them individually and ensures that they are fully
integrated into the local community of deacons. Pastors across the Diocese
continue to identify men they believe would make good deacons. Approximately
one quarter of the deacons in the Diocese are over age 70. Bishop Saltarelli has
ordained 33 men to the diaconate since 2000.
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A. STATISTICS:

1. Men’s Religious Institutes and.

DIOCESE:  NTLMINGTON :
VIIL INSTITUTES OF CONSECRATED LIFE AND SOCIETIES OF APOSTOLIC LIFE

Socictics of Apostolic Life Purpose 1998 2002
Houscs/Mcmbers Houses/Members

Congregation of Holy Cross Education, Serviceto Elderly: 1 9 1 5

Eastern Province/Brothers

Congregation of the Most Holy Redeemer Ministry to Poor, Pastoral Ministry. 2 4 1 2

(Redemptionists)

Missionary Fraternity of Mary Latino and Migrant Rural Ministry 1 2 0 0

Congregation of Marians of the.

Immaculate Conception Pastoral Ministry, Social Scrvices 1 2 0 0

Missionary Servants of Christ Ministry to peor, Social Work 1 8 0. 0

(Religious Institute)

‘Order of Friars Minor, - Holy Name Province Pastoral and Spiritual Ministry. to Poor 1 4 2 1 Brothers.
Evangclization 6 Priests

Capuchin Franciscan.Friars Ministry to Poor, Evangelization, 2 6 3 3 Brothers
Spiritual Ministry 3. Priests

Canons.Regular of Premontre Education, Community Service 1 14 1 9.

(Norbertine Fathers):

Oblates. Apostles of the Two-Hearts Ministry to Latino Community 1 3 1 7 Brothers

3. Priests

‘Oblates of 8. Francis de Sales Pastoral and Lducational 7 10 Brothers 7 14 Brothers.

Retreat Ministry/Retirement Community 65 Priests 48 Pricsts.
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1. Men’s Religious Institutes (Continued)

Brothers of St. Francis Xavier
(Xaverian Brothers)

Order of St. Augustine
(Augustinians)

Order of Friar Servants of Mary

Maryland Province of the Society of Jesus
(Jesuits).

California Province of the Society of Jesus
(Jesuits)

St. Joseph Socicty of the Sacred Heart
(Josephites)

Purpose

Education

Education
Ministry with Poor
Pastoral Ministry

Retired:

Pastoral Ministry

Ministry to Poor

Pastoral and Spiritual Ministry

TOTALS

1998
Houses/Members

0 0

0 0

1 1

1 1

1 1

1 2
22 132.

2002
Houses/Members

1 1

1 1

0 0

1 1

0 0

1 2

20. 37 Brothers

76, Priests



2. 'Women’s Religious Institutes-

88620 MOd

and Societies of Apostolic Life Purpose. ) : 1998 2002
Houses/Members: Houses/Members
Adorers of the Blood of Christ. Educational, Pastoral Ministry 1 i 1
Carmelite Sisters of Charity of Vedruna Ministry to Latino Rural/Migrant Poor 3 1 4
.Congregation-‘ of'the: Ministry to Poor 1 0 0.
Sisters of Divine Providence
Siéters of St. Joseph of:Carondelet Educational Ministry 1 0 0
Sisters of St. Joseph of Peace Pastoral Ministry. 1 1 1
Congregation of Sisters of St. Felix of Cantalice Educational Ministry, Ministry 14 1 9
to. Poor, especially children in need.
Congregation of 'St. Bridget Education, parish work, counseling 1] 1 1
Daughters of Charity of St. Vincent DePaul Educational and Pastoral Ministry 5 L 6
Servants of the Immaculate Heart of Mary Educational, and Pastoral, 9 4 9 '
Scranton, PA: Liturgical Ministry
Leaven of the Immaculate Heart of Mary Sisters 0 ] 2
Little Sisters of Jesus of Mary Ministry to Poor 6 2 10
Little Sisters of the Poor Ministry to Elderly Poor 12 ] 9
Mission Ilelpers qf the Sacred Heart Religious Education 1 1 1
Missionary Servants of the Most Blessed Trinity Social Serviccé/Pastoral Ministry 2 1 2
Dominican Congregation of Retired 2 1 1
Our Lady of the Rosary, Sparkill, NY
Sisters.of St. Dominic - Racine Dominicans Retired. 1 0 0
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2. Women’s Religious Institutes (Continued)

Sisters of 5t. Benedict: Monastic.-Commusity:

Sisters-of St. Basil. the.Great.

Sisters.of'St. Clare

Franciscan Sisters.of Allegany, New York

Franciscan. Sisters of Our Lady-
of'the Sacred Heart

Sisters.of St. Francis of P'hiladelphia

Oblate Sisters Francis de Sales:

Order of St. Ursula/Roman Union
Ursulines™

Poor Handmaids: of Jesus Christ.

" Religious Sisters of Mercy of Merion, PA

Religious: Sisters of Mercy of Baltimore, MD

Sisters.of Charity 'c;ficmcinnati
Sisters of Charity of St. Elizabeth
‘Sisters of Charity of Nazareth:

Sistcrs.for:Christian Community

Society of'the Holy Child Jesus

Purpose

Educational
and especially with. Poor

Retired House

Education and Pastoral
Work of All Kinds.

Pastoral and Social Scrvice

Ministry to the Poor

Educational, Migrant, Secial Services,
Healthcare and Pastoral :Services.
Educational ._Mi.nis;(ry & Community Service

Educational, Pastoral Ministry
Ministry to Homeless and Poor

‘Iribunal Judge
Educational Ministry, Service to: Poor
Puarish Ministry

Education, healthcare, pastoral ministry:
Professionals of all kinds.

Social Services
Rural/Migrant Ministry

Education, healthcare, pastoral ministry
especially with the economically poor and women

Educational Ministries

Pastoral Care

1998
Houses/Members.
4 40

1 3
0 0

1 1
1 3
20 70.
1 12
1 16
1 1
T 7

1 1
0 0
1 5
0: 0
2 3
1 b

2002
Houses/Members
3 33
1 3
1 1
1 1
0 0
17 50:
1 11
1 20
0 0
3 4
1 1
1 1
1 5
1 1
2 3
4] 0.



06620 MOd

2. Women’s Religious Institutes (Continucd)

Sisters of Notre Dame de Namur
Base: Communities Province

Sisters of Notre Dame de Namur

Maryland Province

Sisters of St. Cyxil and Methodius

Sisters of St. Joseph of Philadelphia

School Sisters. of Notre Dame

3. Mounastery of Contemplative Life

Capuchin Poor Clares

Purpose

Educational and Pastoral Ministry

Educational and Pastoral Ministry
and Social Ministries

Hospital Chaplain
Educational, Lilurgical
Pastoral Ministries

Educational Pastoral and
Social Ministries

A Contemplative Community

TOTALS

1998
Houses/Mcmbers.

2 7

pA 11

1 1

4 30

2 5

1 14

78 290

2002
Houses/Members
2 6

2. 9

1 1

3 28
2 5

1 10
62 249



N/A
Secular Institutes

The Secular Institute of St. Francis de Sales, a group with national
headquarters in Eutrope, has sixteen professed members and about fifty
associate members. In the spirit of St. Francis de Sales, they exist to
infiltrate the secular in an effort to witness to the Gospel and profiote 4
God-centered life. There are three professed members in otr diocese.

The Sisters for Christian Community are a Secular Institiute who work
toward creating Christian community and a spirit of unity wherever they
serve. At present three members serve in schools and parishes in our
diocese. ‘ ‘

The Secular Institute of the Two Hearts is connected with the
women/men communities of the Order of the Two Hearts. Their mission
is to families, youth, and the establishment of devotion to the Hearts of
Jesus and Mary. The Secular Institute has six members.

N/A

N/A
" Associations United with Institutes of Consecrated Life

The Benedictine Sisters have a twenty-five member Oblate Community
who learn to live the Gospel witnessed through the rulé of Benedict.

The Ursuline Order shares their spiritual heritage and the spirit of St.
Angela Merici with fourteen Ursuline Associates.

The Sisters of St. Joseph have a fifteen member Associate group with
whom they share their charism of unity and reconciliatiori:

The Sisters of St Francis of Philadelphia have ten companions in the
diocese who méet regularly to share faith and give witness to the Gospel
through prayer and good works.

There are two active Secular Franciscan Fraternities who give witness to
living the Gospel after the example of St. Francis of Assisi within their
- secular environs. St. Patrick Fraternity has nineteeri proféssed members
and two in formation. San Damiano had twenty-seven professed
members.
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Houses of Formation/Adminisfrations:

Formation Communities:
¢ Benedictine Sisters
¢ The Capuchin Poor Clare Nuns
Oblate Sisters of St. Francis de Sales
Captichin Pre-novitiate Program (men’s interprovincial)

Congregational Administration:
¢ Oblates of St. Francis de Sales
(one religious congregation of women and one of rmen)
» Benedictirie Sisters
» Norbertines - Canons Regular of Premontre

. DESCRIPTION

. The commitment and apostolic witness of religious life is an intrinsic part of
the ministry of the Church of Wilmington. Religious are visibly present in
every area of the diocese, serving according to their charisi ini a vatiety of
ministries, including education, parlsh ministry and health-related services.
Nine religious serve in ministries that care for the migrant and rural poor;
abotit thirteen serve the urban poor, the homeless and disenfranchised.

The Oblate Sisters and the OFM Caps have two/five members in formation.
Over the past five years, the role of the Delegate for Religious has become a
. part-time position.

The Director of the Diocesan Vocation Office works primatily with the
vocations to priesthood. The Director of the Office for Religious re-established
a Vocation Task Force to focus on vocations to the religiotis life. It is in its
initial stages.

2. The prayer, community life, ministries and simple lifestyle of the religious

wormen and men who serve this diocese witnesses to the Gospel and to the
fidelity of these religious to theit charism, As far as can be attested, the
observance of the directives of the Code of Canon Law ate followed. These
religious women &nd men proclaim the Gospel both through their
consecrated life and their dedicated apostolic service and evangelical life.

3, The Council of Religious represents all women and men religious of the

diocese. Their function is to advise the Bishop as needed and or when
consulted by the Bishop or his representatives; to plan and ¢arty out social,
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educatlonal and spiritual activities for religious. The Delegate for Religious
communicates with religious through visits and letters. The Bishop meets
yearly at gatherings to which all religious of the diocese are invited, Most
recently, the topic of housing, ir light of shifting numbers and parish facility
needs, was d1scussed These meetings are well attended and prov1de ati
opportunity for healthy on-going communication. The Bishop hosts yearly
meetings with Major Superiors and diocesan leadership to engage
collaboratively any topics of mutual concern. Religious serve on many
Boards and Comiissioris in the diocese including the Catholic Board of
Education, the Pastoral Council and the Women’s Commissioni.

. Answered above

. Rehglous in this diocese know first hand the support and encouragemernit of
the local ordinary through his visible presence both at meetings designed for
them and through his presence and care for the people of the local church.
Not only has he articulated his support for religious, but has personally
welcomed their dialogue on matters of mutual concern, especially the
pastoral care of those served. The presence of the Delegate for Religious is
also a witriess of the Bishop’s pastoral care for religious. Religious who work
with the poor express their gratitude to the Bishop for the on-going diocesan
commitient to the “poor and invisible” through the financial support that
enables religious to be present in these ministries.
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DIOCESEC)F WILMINGTON . .. .1998-2003

IX. MISSIONARY COOPERATION
A. Statistics

1. None at present.

A

2. There are Maryknoll Sisters, Jenny Brook and Mary Reese

3. None.  We do have several prlests from India,; Fr. Narimattam and Fr.
Kandathlparampﬂ who are incardinated. Fr. Johnny Laura Lazo from Pery, Fr.
Cesar Augusto Gomiez from Colombia and Fr. Max:.mo Clemente, OP from Peru
are engaged in Hispanic Ministry. Fr. Peter Lee Hae is engaged in Korean
Ministry.

N

4.
_ 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

SPF $66,459 $388,746 $150,840  $1,113,706  $122,124

HCA 11,743 18,649 15,116 7,436 8,671

St, Peter 8,066 9,129 10,072 7,239 5,885

the Apostle ' ~ : :

ABCM 24,024 8,499 - - -

Above totals are for the calendar years indicated. Holy Childhood Association is
remitted as of the end of the fiscal year. The American Bishops were no longer
remitted separately but included with the SPOF remittance as of 2000.

B. Description

In the Diocese of Wilmington major education and support work is carried
. on by the Society for the Propagation of the Faith and the Holy Childhood
Association. The Director is Rev. John P. Klevence. This position is presently a
part time position for the Director.

1. Evangelization is recogrﬁzed_as the esseritial mission of .the Chiurch and, at the
same time, the most precious gift the Church can offer to all people and nations.

In studying this theme and the missionary activity of the Church, the necessity of
carrying out the work of evangelization, not only with respect to the true cultural
valties of the life of each nation and even of each persor, bt also the nece551ty of
incarnating in them the vital and supreme values of Christian méssage, has been
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~ emphasized in the Diocése. Yet the consideratiori of these elements of
" enculturation of the Christian message must hot detract attention fromi the
primordial element of the content of evangelizatiori.

World Mission Sunday is celebrated on the fourth Sunday of October each yeat.
This Sunday is dedicated to the Missions and World Missions are stréssed in the
homily to the people. The outlines of the homily and stiggestions ate sent to all
the parishes i ample time for the priests’ prepara’aon Letters are also sent
encouraging priests in their efforts for the missions: A number of schools in the
Diocese, both elementary and high have a World Mission Day each year,

Missionaries are invited to speak to the students concerning mission work and
their owri particular congregations and orders in respect to vocations. The
children of the parishes are encouraged by their teachings through the Holy
Childhood Association to work for the missions through prayers and sacrifices
using their own original ideas in their work. There is an annual miail solicitation
for the Society of St. Péter the Apostle in the month of June.

When the Holy Childhood Director or his representatives visits parishes and
schools to stimulate interest in the miissions among the students they speak of the
missionariés from ouf Diocese and encoutage young people to become interested
in mission vocations:

A course on the theology of the missions is 1ncorporated irito the curr1culum of
the parochial school system. Confraternity of Christian Doctrine/Religious
Education programs have not as yet incorporated a mission course in the
teaching of theology. However, the Directot of Religious Educatior, Mr.
Edmund Gordon, reports that teachers use materials they receive from the Holy
Childhood Association. It is felt this Holy Childhood miaterial is based on the
theology of the missions and the teachers find it very practical and helpful. Mr.
Gordon has stated these materials have been among the best teaching materials
that have passed through his office.

Catholic Relief Services also has an annual collection called Operation Rice Bowl
to which the diocese is a participant. Seventy five percent of the amount
collected goes to the foreign countries. Twenty five percent stays in the diocese
to help the needy. This collection is taken up durmg the season of Lent. Families
are urged to keep mite boxes in the home to receive daily or weekly sacrificial
offeririgs from members. Total family offerings are turhed into the patish on
Palm Sunday and forwarded to the diocese. This program helps create an
awarenesls of Third World needs which indirectly raises conseiousness of mission
needs.

)
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and encourage membershlp in the Soc1et) for the Propagatmn of the Faith on ani
annual basis. The pastor chooses the weekend he deemns most suitable for the
appeal to be made in his parish, and the diocesan office sends out appropriate
prbmotic)nal appeal.

The Society for the Propagation of the Faith and Holy Childhood Association
sends stipends for masses to needy missionaries in addition to Volun‘tar'y
contributions to missionary organizations.

2. Each year missionaries from approximately fifteen mission communities are
given thé opportunity to make an appeal in the parlshes of the Diocese for their
work, Offerings of the people they receive go directly to their Provincialate or
Generalates. In the past the Mission Office has beeh responsible for encouragifig
a number of young people to volunteer for the lay apostolate. Several have gone
to the Appalachiars missions of our country to work for the time they would
spend on the missions. Anotlier group has gone to work among Indians in the
Diocese of Gallup, New Mexico and a number have requested information on lay
volunteers for the foreign missions though we do not at present have any lay
missionaries serving in Third World Countries. In recent years there were two
lay women who served for six months each with Mother Teresa’s Missionaries of
Charity in Calcutta.

+ 3. One parish, St. Francis de Sales in Salisbury, Maryland, has tw:inned with a
" parish in Central Aimerica. Correspondence flows back and forth. The pastors

and small groups of parishioners have visited each other. Periodic collections

from the diocesan parish it the USA are sent to the mission parish.

The Diocesari Committee for the Millennium had a sub committée on
Ecumenism and Missions which considered the diocesan sponsorship of a
mission diocese as greater encouragernent to parishes to involve themselves with
parishes in mission lands. The sub committee favored a diocese in Central
America from which the Diocese of Wilmington receives a large number of
immigrants. This recently came to fruition with a covenant being signed
between the Diocese of Wilmington and the Diocese of San Marcos, Guatemala.
As the covenant continued to be developed all parishés of the Diocese will be
asked to be working participants in the covenant.
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D[OCESE OF W[LMINGTON _1998:2003
‘ X. LAITY
A. Statistics
1. Identity of public lay associations in the diocese.

Local , National . International

Delaware Right fo Life Catholic Daughters of Aitierica Leglon of Mary

Delaware Marian Movenient ~ Knights of Columbtis St. Vinceiif de Paud

‘ in 55 Cotincils Society
Delaware Citizens for Life Daughters of Isabella Blug Army
5t. Thomas Mote Society Engaggd Encouinter Apostleship of ] Prayer
Cursille Charisnmiatic Rerigwal

Woirld Wide Marriage
Encounter '
Seculat Franiciscans
Secular Carnielites
Alliasice of the Two
Heaits

2. Free Associations

Loc¢al National International

Delaiwate Citizens for Life Christians United in Faith Holy Namie Society

Pacem in Tetrig : ‘

) Deélaware Pro Life Coalition

3. Chuich Associated Organizations for Formation of Youth

Catholic Youth Ministry (45 patishes), Boy Scouts (21 parishes), Girl Scouts (15
parishes). All parishés have religious education programs for youth, Several
parishes have organizations for young adults.

4, Institutes for Formation of Laity

¢ 5t ]oseph 's-in-the-Hills, Malverri, PA though not in the dlocese the local unit
organizes an antital retfeat with 300 men led by two priests of the diocese the
last weekend of April.

* St. Francis Renewal Center; 1901 Prior Road, Wilmington offers weekend
retreats for laymen and laywomen.

* Oblates of St. Francis de Sales, Childs, MD hosts lay people on weekends and in
the evening for classes in spirituality of St. Francis de Sales, Marnage Encouriter
(nonthly)

*Berg Ceritet, Ridgely, MD is a facility for weekend and weekly retreats

«Jesus House Prayer and Reniewal Certter

*Neumann College - Spiritual Training Program

DOW 02999



- Lay persons who exercise ministries in the Church such as a lector, commentator,
musicians, Ministers of Holy Communion, catechists and teachers in elementary
and high schools all have required courses to be taken under diocesan auspices.
The Social Ministry of Catholic Charities has “Salt and Light” workshops to
assist ifi training for soci_al ministry.

5. All groups listed above under #1 have prlests or deacons appomted as
chaplains or moderators: liaisons with the diocese by the Bishop. The various
groups may make suggestions for a partlcular priest or deacon when a vacancy
occurs, but the actual appointiment is made by the Bishop. The priest or deacon
is chosen based on his qualifications, interest in the apostolate, and WﬂhngneSs to
serve. No one is appointed by the Bishop without contact it advance. About 75
priests, deacons and religious serve the spiritual needs of these groups while
continuing regular serviceé in parishes, diocesan offices, schools and other
diocesan organizations. No orie chaplain, moderator ot deacon is full time.

6. Laymen and laywomen who exercise ministries
Pastoral Associates = 10
Ministers of Holy Communion in the Liturgy and to the Sick - 4,452
Lectors - 1,466 i
Teachers - 1,368

B. Description

1. Laity in the parishes of the diocese are organized along lines suggested by
Vatican Council II and the 1983 Code of Canon Law. The Parish Council and
Finarice Council are the channels by which the laity advise the pastor of their
needs and implement his suggestions, theif own initiated programs as well as
programs directed from the diocesan of national level. The Parish Council is
seen as the coordinating and unifying structure of the parish commumal
commitment to and maximal participation in the total life of the parish by all of
its members. The Council is a body of elected and appointed representatives (by
the pastor) from the whole parish community and serves as the means for
commiunicatiot], cooperation and spiritual growth. Although advisory in nature,
the Parish Council’s mission is to work with the pastot, his associate priests and
deacons in planning, encouragmg, guiding, advising and directing all aspects of
parish life. In living ouit its mission, the Council is called to assist the pastor in
defining parish needs, formulating appropriate policy and goals based upon
identified needs and monitoring and evaluating the programs of the parish to
meet those needs. All parishes haveé stich councils.

In order to assist the Parish Council in fulfﬂhng its rolé, permanent conimittees

established within the Council include Christian Formation (Catholic School,
Religious Education, Vocations, RCIA); Liturgy; Social Concernis (Ecumenical,
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Peace and Justice, Pro Llfe) Buﬂdmg and Maintenance; Parish and Fanuly Life
(soc1al affairs, communications, youth activities).

The pastor presides over the Council which has a lay executive officet. Hach
parish is also required to have a Finance Council with a separate executive
officer. The diocese has issued guidelines to promote an éfficient telationship
between these two councils and updated them as recently as March, 1992,

On the diocesan level, there is a Pastoral Council which advises the Bishop in
much the sathe manner as Parish Councils advise pastors of a parish. Total
embetship is 15 - 3 diocesati priests, 2 religious, 8 lay members, 1 delegate of
the ordinary. It is a representative body reflecting the cultural, ethnic and
financial groups in the diocese. Bishop Salfarelli added a youth representative to
the Council when he came to the diocese and appoirited the present youth
representative as co-executive officer with an adult. This appointrent recéived
national attention in the media.

2. The Catholic laity are active ini politics in the cities and counties of the two
states that make up the diocese, and on the national level. In the city council,
depending on the areas of the city where Catholics ate located there will be
council members elected. Wﬂrnmgton, for example, has Catholic African
Armericans arid an Hispanic on City Cotincil. On the county and state level the
Catholics are in positions of impértance whethier elected of appointed. A
Catholic is a judge on the Supreme Cotirt of the Staté. There are Catholics sitting
as judges on other levels of courts but, admittedly, in the minority, On the
national level there is a Catholic in Congress. On specific isstes they will
support to afl extent church related issues but realizing they cannot depend ori a
Catholic vote alone to elect them they will espouse legislation that will win the
votes. The St. Thomas More Society is an organization of Catholic lawyers and
judges which conducts a yearly Mass and several lectures on topics touching
Church teachings for its members. We are in the process of forming a St. Luke’s
Society for Catholic doctots. There are no institutes of Catholics of higher

learning in the diocese but Catholics, again in a minority, hold positioris of

significance in certain institutions.

The Catholic ngh Schools have quality music and art programs which produce
students who do go on to college and careets in these fields,

Through the wotk of Catholi¢ Charities, Ministry of Carmg, Delaware Citizens
Against the Death Penalty, Right to Life Organizations and The Dzalog, Catholics

and others are made aware of the Chiirch’s social doctrine and are solicited for
assistance in lobbying legislators on all levels when issues of irnportance come

up.
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3. The Bishop also takes an active role il many other organizations that are
largely lay ditected even if they have their own clerical moderatoss. The Bishop,
for example, attends meetings of the Knights of Columbus, the Third Order of St.
- Francis, the St. Vincent de Paul Society, Cursillo groups, Blue Army and is
indeed considered a member of such groups. The Bishop has personally met and
dialogued at intervals with young people through the sponsorship of the
Catholic Youth Organization. He also takes an active interest in the Newman
Apostolate at the University of Delaware. He encourages directly througli
meetings with leaders and through the Family Life Bureau the World Wide
Marriage Encounter and the Engaged Encounter. The Charismatic Renewal
Movement has twenty five prayer groups in the diocese with three hundred
people participating. The movement is clergy directed. Thiough the Office for

Rehgmus Education courses in theology, both dogma and moral, holy scripture,

liturgy and catechesis are conducted for catechists. Though designed mainly for
training catechists, these courses are open to all persons in the diocese. Parishes,
especially during Lent and Advent, sponsor renewal weeks with special
informational programs and liturgical celebrations. Sacramental preparation
programs for Baptism, First Communion, Reconciliation and Confirmation are
also glven the parents of candidates and are seen as opportunity for them to
grow in the knowledge of the faith and to fenew themselves spiritually.

4, For each committee of the Parish Council there is a diocesan office which can
offer literaturé or training sessions which enables those on the parish level to
take part in apostolic action, ecumenical activities, and liturgical endeavors.

The Liturgical Comniission is a group of religious, laypersons and clergy (both
priests and deacons) who advise the Bishop on educational programs for
renewing and enriching Christian liturgical life. The Commission sponsots
special formation programs anhually to assist the laity in developing a deeper
appreciation for the Sacred Liturgy and in providing for fuller participation in
such areas as réaders of Holy Scripture, leaders of song, special ministers of
communion, It arranges for the liturgical rites of the RCIA on the diocesan Jevel
and provides training for those implementing rites of a parish level.

The Diocese of Wilmington is largely a diocese of parishes, elementary and
secondary schools, a hospital and child care facilities. There are no inistitutions of
higher leaining sponsored by the church. Priests and religious who are assigned

to the diocese basically do parochial and educational work. In more recent years,
mariy administrative positions previously held by priests have beén assumied by

qualified laypersons; for example, the Director of Catholic Charities, the Director
of Religious Education, the Director of the Family Life Bureau. Qualified
clergymien for the full time work in the formation of the laity are difficult to come

by.
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The diocese does, however, possess a talented group of laypersons in a variety of
professional ‘fields who dohate ruch time, energy, expertise and financial
assistance iri providing aid and advice, i.e. finance, administration, organization,
the development of senior citizen facilities, the Board of Education, the Board of
Catholic Cemeteries, the Board of Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, etc.

In order to make women’s gifts available to the people to God of the Diocese of
Wilmington, the Bishop has mandatéd the establishment of a Women’s
Commissiori. The group is consultative and advisory to the Bishop on issiies
concerning women and will facilitate the coritribution of women at all levels of
diocesan life.

The Diocese of Wilmington has consistently encouraged the active participation
of wortien in all areas of parish and diocesan life in ministry currently approved
by church law, i.e., lectors, commientators, Special Ministers of Communiori,
catechists, school teachers, social workers and visitors to the sick, etc. Several
hold diocesan positions, i.e. Superintendent of Schools, Ditector for the
Religious, Diocesan Development Director and Ditector of the Annual Catholic
Appeal. In the Catholic Charities department the Deputy Director and Director
Children’s Services, Clinical Services, Community and Family Support Services,
Development and Parish Social Ministry are all women. Womien also serve on
the Pastoral Council, Board of Education, Catholic Charities Board, parish
councils. Tri accordance with civil laws of incorporation of pariskes and
institutions in Delaware and Maryland they may also be elected trustees and
frequently are:

Our Department of Communications is under the capable direction of a layman
whose expertise is respected in the community at large. He has been asked to
serve on various community groups and his suggestions have been well received
on the national level of our church. Bishop Saltarelli has asked him to lead the
effort to establish a local chapter of the National Serra Club, a lay group which
promotes vocation and the priesthood and religious life. Laypersons direct
Catholic Charities and enjoy the high regard of the community at large. Catholic
Charities fulfills certain functions of family and child care that not even the State
handles in addition to specialized attention to Catholic families.

The diocese does recruit religious from other dioceses and countries for
specialized ministry, ie. Polish, Spanish speaking, Korean and migrant work,
Laypersons from other diocese are recruited to work with migrant laborers
duririg the summer in the lower part of the State of Delaware and along the
Eastern Shore of the State of Maryland. An office has recently béen set up with a
lay paid and volinteer staff to assist in the regularization of the status of illegal
-aliens in the diacese many of whom are Catholics who come here first as migrant
workers and then settle.
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The diocese contifiies to promote the goals and purposes of the Black and

Hlspamc commimunities.

The Franciscans from the Holy Name Province of New York City, New York staff
St. Joseph Parish, the traditional parish in the City of Wilmington for blacks. The
diocese has assisted with the organization of a diocesan black gospel choir.
Through an endorseiment to the Campaign for Human Development the diocese

has gotten a national .grant to help Wilmingtorn United Neighborhood

Organization which seeks grass roots organizations in the inner city to better
conditions there. Tt is the inner city where the large black population lives.
Through grants it endorses from the Commission for Catholic Missions Amorng
the Colored People and Indians, the diocese has received approximately $38,000
a year for the last five years to help inner city parishes with tuition assistance for
school children who could not otherwise attend Catholi¢ schools, outreach
programs and crisis assistatice to poor blacks it rural areas.

The diocese sponsored delegates to the Black Catholic Congress previously and
sent 24 delegates to the National Black Catholic Corigress in Chicago in 2002.
This was the largest delegation ever to attend from Wilmington. Bishop
Saltarelli personally attended the sessions and the dedication of the new chapel
in the National Shrine of the Immaculate Conception in Washington, DC to Our
Lady of Africa along with numerous other Americaii archbishops and bishops.
The delegates returning from theé convention plan to bring evangelization
ptograms to the areas of the diocese where there are concentrations of black
citizens. A diocesan office for black Catholics has been established with a
Director and Assistant Director. Implementation of the 8 principles adopted at
the Chicago Congress are underway with various sub-committees.

Diocesan interest and activity in the Hispanic community is mentioned in the
- section on Pastoral Care of Migrants and Immigrants.

5. Lay associations connected with the church entitled to have chaplains receive
them by Episcopal appointment based on individual merit and qualifications.
The ofganization fiiay suggest possible names for their chaplain but the Bishop
makes the appointment which i§ published in the diocesah niewspaper. If their
constitution allows, permanent deacons and lay persons judged qualified (while
not ofﬁc1a11y chaplains) may be designated as diocesari liaisons tg the
organization. With the shortage of priests and their obligations to the parish or
diocesart office assighment, it is not always possible today to provide prlests as
chaplains though priests ate provided when the rehgmus events reqmre their
presence.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON

XI ECUMENISM

A. Statistics

January 1, 1998

African Methodist Episcopal
African Methodist Episcopal Zion
Anglican

Apostolic

Assembly of God

Southern Baptist

Natjonal Baptist

Charismatic

Charismiatic Episcopal Church
Christian Scientists :
Christian Disciples of Christ
Church of Christ

Chuich of God

Eastern Orthodox

Episcopal-DE

Evangelical

Friénds

Holiness

Lutheran Church

Lutheran Church Missouri Synod
Lutheran Church Wisconsin Synod
Methodist - DE and MD
Nazareng

Nondenominational

Orthodox

" Pentecostal

Presbyterian

Salvation Ay

Seventh Day Adventists
Wesleyan

December 31, 2003

African Methodist Episcopal - DE
Aftican Methodist Episcopal Zion
Anglicaﬁ

Apostolic

Assembly of God

Southern Baptist

National Baptist

Charisthatic

Christian Scientists

Eastern Orthodox

Chiirch of Christ

Church of God

Baptist - Free Will

Easterii Orthodox

Episcopal - DE

Evangelical

Friends

Holiness

Lutheran Church

Lutheran Church Missouri Synod
Lutheran Church Wisconsin Syriod
Methodist - DE and MD
Nazarene

Nondenominational

Orthodox

Pentecostal

Preshyterian

Salvation Army

Seventh Day Adventists
Wesleyan

The Diocesé of Wilmington consisting of the State of Delaware (3 counties) and
the Eastern Shote of Maryland (9 counties) has a total pdpulation in 2003 of
1,215,685. Catholics made tip 220,000 or 18% of the total population. Those of
other religions number. approximately 42% or 510,588. The number of the
unchuiched therefore would be 486,274 or 40%.
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The mainline Protestant denominations, ie. the Methodist, Presbyterian,
Lutheran and Episcopalian continue to speak of fall off in church and Sunday
School atteridance. Indeed, while the humber of Catholics continue to increase in
the USA and diocesg, the fidelity to weekly Mass attendance is ot as strong a
formerly though our attendarice records remain stronget than for members of
theit denominations. The Baptist continues to be a growing group as doeés other
fundamentalist groups like Pentecostal, Assembly of God, Christian Missionary
Alliance, Seventh Day Adventist and Charismatic groups. These groups
emphasize the Bible activity proselytizing particularly among the less affluent
and aré & constant concerri to us becatse of their présence in the I-hspamc
commniunity.

The Episcopal Church is experiencing tension over ordination of women,
ordination of diverse bishops and now a bishop who is an active homosexual. A
dissident jurisdiction of the Episcopal church continues to have a functioning
bishop in Easton, Maryland who actively recruits Hispanics.

The diocese has received some inquiries from Episcopal married priests for
conversion and ordination as Catholic priests but have not actively processed
any. We do have a married Lutheran priest whom we have accepted for
seminary training for ordinatior.

Otir relations with the other denominations rernain cordial but not much is done
on the diocesan level together. Arn organized structure has been different for
several years. On the parish level there is cooperation among individual
parishes in food closets and social programs. The only prayer sharing takes
place at Thanksgiving and the Unity Octave in January.

There is no active group of followers of Archbishop Lefebrve in the diocese. We
do provide a weekly Mass in Latin at a downtown Wilmington church and in the
State Capitol in Dover once a month in the Tridentine Rite.

B. Description :

1. The Catholic Church is recognized as a significant force in the civic and
religious community of the territory covered by the Diocese. This is trie more in
the northern part of the Diocese than in the sotithern part and in Delaware more
than on the Eastern Shore. The Church i in fact considered to be a key
participant ifi many social endeavors even of a non-denominational nature. The
Diocese is looked to for its moral leadership, organizational éxpertise and
financial backing,

An example of thée respect with which the Church is held Bishop Mulvee upon
leaving the Diocese to become coadjutor of Providence was asked to address
both houses of the State Legislature and received the Order of the State of
Delaware from the Governor - this is the highest award the State can give.

2
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Bishop Saltarelli has been well received by the civil and religious community.
His first public staterment after installation was in opposition to the death penalty
on the occasion of a local execution for which he was commended by other civie
and religious leaders regardless of whether they supported his position or not.

The former and present bishops have been asked to attend installations of other
denominational exécutives. They have been asked to pray at public fiinctions,
i.e., Chamber of Commerce Dinners.

While not directly sponsored by the Diocese, the Knights of Columbus, a
Catholic organization has been able for a number of years to place a Christmas
- Crib in the town square of Wilmington during the Christmas Season with the
approval of local church and civil atithorities. Such an event has been challenged
elsewhere in the country as the forces in society continually try to remove Christ
from the Christmas Holiday.

In general, the cooperation between the various churches has been good, Certain
issues such as abortion (Catholic), gambling (Methodist), state approval of
homosexual unions (Episcopal) have not led to a consensus, but neither have
they destroyed a workmg relatlonshlp in areas where we can agree such as on
social needs. A significant recent inter-faith venture in providing housing for the
needy which is a multi-million ‘dollar effort has received diocesan support in
both Delawate and the Eastern Shore of Maryland. Interfaith Housing Delaware
just celebrated its 17th anniversary.

2. The largest national organization to promote Christian unity is the National
" Conference of Community and Justice, formerly the National Conference of
Christians and Jews. The Diocese has both clergy and lay representatives in the
local chapter of this national orgamization which addresses common concerns ifni
the areas of racial and religious prejudice and social concerns. A clergy dialogue
group meets monthly. Topics of Theological Scripture and Pastoral Concerns are
discussed from an ecizimenical point of view.

Two awards dinners are held arnually, one in the Spring and one in the Fall, to

" honor individuals who have made contributions in accord with the group goals.
There is usually a Catholic honored periodically. On occasion the diocese has

restricted its participation wheri one of the honorees has taken positions

inconsistent with the Chirrch.

There is an organization. denominational executives of the major Christian and
non-Christiari bodies. It meets 4 times a year with 4 rotating chairman.
Problems of mutual concern are discussed and where possible mutual support is
given. The group is able to make statements if.all agree. Bishop Saltarelli’s
pastoral statement against the death penalty was supported by the group.
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The Vicar General for Pastoral Services serves as ecumenical officer. He
maintains membership in the National Association of Ecumenical Officers-
Episcopal Region IV. An annual meeting of the group is held in a different
diocese of the region to exchange information on ecumenical activities.
_committee. The Dlocese has continubusly maintained official and cordial
relations with other churches and grotps on several levels, :

At the beginning of the quinquennium, CIergy for Life had monthly meetings, a
newsletter and periodic worship services to educate and give moral support to

clergy of all faiths as they preach and witness the pro-life message to their -

congregations, However, outside the Catholic Church, very few religious bodies
in the USA are officially pro life. Therefore, clergy of these churches who are pro
life have difficulty preaching a pro life message in the face of church leaders and
members of their congregations who are pro choice. To be pro life ir some
denominations jeopardizes one’s job as pastor. The organization now meets on
call rather than regularly because it has so few members.

3. Inter-parish Ecumenical Organizations...A survey of parishes shows that 29
belong to groupings of churches in the communities where they are located. In
these groupmgs, clergy meet separately and withlaity. These groups sponsor
ecumenical services, i.e., Thanksgwmg, Chair of Unity Octave and Good Friday
and food closets for the poor among other projects. Bishop Saltarelli has been
invited to speak at churches of our separated brethren.

Covenant relat-ionships still exist between two Catholic parishes and two
Episcopal churches and between one Catholic parish and ofie Methodist church.
These are arrangemerits for common prayer, (within approved ecuinenical
guidelines), on-going study of each other's traditional comimunity concern and
social enrichment. :

4. Both Catholic and non-Christian immigrants come annually to work within the
two state, twelve county Diocese of Wilmington. The Diocese reaches out ifi a
special way to them to counteract the strong activities of small fundamental
church groups. Catholics come from Puerto Rico, Mexico, Guatemala seeking
work on farms, the poultry industry and landscape and janitorial services some
temporarily and some permanently. Recently, we have experienced an influx of
a number of Haitians whose religion is nominally Catholic.
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XII; OTHER RELIGIONS

A, Statistics

Throughout the quinquenniumi, the different religioris other than Christianity in
the diocese remains about the same. There are Jewish, Muslims, Hindus,
Baha’i, Buddhist, Native Americans and Eckankaf adherents.

Except fot Judaism, non-Christian religions are riot highly organized in the State
of Delaware and Maryland’s Eastern Shore. Indeed it is difficult to get exact
figures in their number of adherents,

On Maryland’s Eastern Shore there are substantial Synagogues in Salisbury and
Easton.

The Muslim faithi is in evidence among the people of African American descent.
It has 4 particular attraction to those of the poorer classes.

Irnmigrants from Indfa have brought Hinduism to the diocese. These pecple are
both highly educated and are professionals in business and mdustry and also
among shopkeepefs.

Since there are a number of Chinese and ]apaneée people here, we must presume
the existence of Buddhism and Shinto. However, these religions afé not operily
practiced in an organized way.

Native Americans areé in evidence, The State of Delaware recognizes the
Nanticoke Indian Tribe which has an annual pow-wow and a museum in the
southern part of the State of Delaware.,

Eckankar is a faith which has appeared in the diocese within the last 20 years. It
is supposedly worldwide but has only 25 to 50 people who openly practice it
since church attendance is not mandatory It is a mixture of Eastern arid Western
beliefs. Its founder in the United States is Paul Twitchel, the former U.S.
Chamber of Commerce public relations director. It dates from 1965. Its national
headquattets are in Chanhasseri, Minnesota.

B. Description

1. The Jewish presence is strongest in the greater Wilmington area. Their
leaders ate concerned about an, aging population, a low fertility raté, a high rate
~ of inter-marriage, high socio-economic status and lower levels of participation in
the Jewish community by the Jews themselves.
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There are a few parlshes not ag many as formerly - Who invite members of the
Jewish faith in to give instructions about the Seder meal as background to young
people and adults in preparation for Catholics to celebrate the Triduum,

There has beeri a noticeable increase in the marriage of Catholics and Jews -
generally Catholic women marrying Jewish men. This is a matter of concern
more to the Jews than to the Catholics. These are effected by observing proper
rules for the Dispensation from Disparity of Cult and Dispensatioh from
Canonical Form which allows the Rabbi to officiate outside a sacred place, and a
priest or deacon sitnply to attend to offer a prayer or blessing. In these cases the
Jewish spouse is usually non practicinig. Indeed, he is more a cultural than a
religious Jew. It is the parents and grandparents who are pleased that a Rabbi
can be present.

To show the disapproval of the Jewish community, Rabbi who are active
members of local synagogues refuse to officiate of participate in  such
ceremonies. The Rabbis who come are generally retired or not affiliated with any
congregation. Although inactive, the Jewish spouses while consenting to the
Catholic patty raising children Catholic do not show any interest in conversion.

The Ku Klux Klan has appeared on a number of public occasions in both New
Castle County and Cecil County with its doctrine of bigotry, racism and hate of
Catholic, Jews and Blacks. All Christian churches and c1vﬂ officials oppose the
Klan. No significant support comies from the rallies.

2. The largest evidence of other religions practiced in the diocese comes at
Thanksgiving time when there i an ecumenical interfaith service in Wilmington
sponsored by the NCCJ (National Conference of Commumty and Justice. The
members of various groups patticipate. The service is given wide publicity in
the media.

There is really no official contact with other groups. Black Muslims are divided
in loyalty between the followers of Flijah Mohamined and Louis Farrakhan. He
is the leader of the Nation of Islam who preaches racial separa’aon and W. Deen
Mohammed who visited Wﬂmmgton during 1997 and is known for rejecting
racial separatism. The latter was warmly received by Catholic and other
Christian Church leaders. Asthe Catholic Priest Chaplains to the Apostolate
to the Sea for the Port of Wilmington and the Delawate Psychiatric Centes
both priests have alerted the local Imam of the Muslim Center of Delaware of the
occasionial Muslim sailors who come to the Port and the occasional patient in the
hospital for his attention of which he is most appreciative. |

DOW 03012



The Mormons though small are active in proselytism among Caucasian people
including Catholi¢s. The Black Muslims who are followers of Farrakhan would
be most aggressive in the black community. The other groups listed above
present no réal threat to the Church.

There does not seem to be any recogmzable group of non believers in the diocese
though according to the Glenimary Research Center, over 43% of the people in
the territory of the diocese are unchurched. It seems to be a question of apathy
and total secularization.

Many in the USA today see the New Age Movement with its emphasis on a
personal religious experience rather than a group and cooperative experience is a
continuing challenge to the Church. However, while theré may be somie
Catholics in the diocese who have succumbed to its influence along with those of
other Christian faiths, there seems to be nio local organized group that represents
this movernent.

Asian immigrants tend to be well educated on the one hand which assures them
of jobs and if less well educated they are very industrious and become shop
owners. The medical profession and engirieering profession has répresentative
numbers of Indians. Their religious practice is questionable.

Inimigrants from foreign countries of these religious other than Judaism who
find their way to the territory of the diocese may face prejudice because of skiri
color and job opportunities. The church wishes all immigrarits to be welcomed
- and would oppose any semblance of discrimination publicly. There is no present
effort to enter religious d1alogue and agdin cooperation would be thirough the
efforts of the NC(C]J.

3. The Clergy Dialogue Group sponsored by the NCCJ would be the major
source for inter-religious dialogue. The diocesan seminarians would be exposed
to different faiths through the curriculum of the seminaries outside the diocese in
which they are trained. All of these seminaries are in majot mietropolitan areas
whiere the different faiths are representative.

4. The Hare Krishna and Moonies which we classify as sects or cults seéin to be a
waning attraction for people within the diocese. The Moonies do maintain an
address and a somewhat visible presence in Wilmingtori. Their effort to join the
NCCJ was repulsed by its leadership.
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- XIII. PASTORAL CARE OF THE FAMILY

A. Statistics 1998 2003

1. Attacks on human life within the boundaries of the diocese:
Live births (Delaware and Maryland’s Eastern Shore) 11,000 11,000
Abortionis . 3400 4,100
In Vitro Fertilization n/a n/a
Euthanasia (Physician Assisted Suicide) 0 0

Physician assisted suicide/ euthanasia is against the
law in the State of Delaware. Efforts are presently
underway that would prohibit physician assisted
suicide being made irito law in the State of Maryland.

Attacks on the family within the boundaries of the diocese:
Total marriages A . 5,425 5,300
Cohabitation - 35-40% 18,000
In rural areas of the diocese the rate is higher perhaps
as high as 70-80% than in the more populated urban/

city areas.

Total Households 192,000 299,000
Single parent families (households) 24,000 27,000
Divorce 3.580 61,000

. Homosexual unions n/a n/a
Birthrate . n/a 60 per1,000
women aged 15-44
2. Marital situation of the faithful in the diocese:
Number of marriages 1,150 976
Number of separations/ divorces 636  n/a
Civil marriages _ n/a n/a

Cominients; The numbert and rate of divorces have a hlgh correlation to: 1) age
. (teeti marriages are far less stable than older couple marriages. Few Catholic teens
miarry in the Church); 2)faith-commitment (minimal liturgical practice, participa-
tion in other church related activities and sense of belonging on the part of either
or both members of the coutple; 3) mixed faith; and, 4) lack of adequate
participation in marriage preparation programs.
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3. Church sponsored pro-life organizations:

A. Diocesan Office of Pro-Life Activities - This office is involved in the following
activities: Coordination of the efforts of the Diocesan Respect Life Committee
and the Association of Parish Pro-Life Leaders; participation in the Diccesan
Public Policy Committee; lobbying in the Delaware Staté General Assembly; and,
chairing the Justice and Pro-Life Committee of the Maryland Catholic Conference.

B. Catholic Charities

Pregnancy Counselmg

Adoption and Foster Care -

Housing and support for teen moms and their children

Project Rachel (Professional counseling and support for those who have had
abortions)

C. Gabriel Project - Spiritual, emotional and maternal help for women
experiencing difficult, unwanted and/ or problem pregnancies.

. The Dialog - Diocesan newspaper. Though The Dzalog is not a newspaper
devoted exclusively to pro-life issues, it frequently contains articles and
information about pro-life issues and activities.

E._Cathiolic Schools - Religicus, theology and other classes in Catholic elemen-
tary and high schools provide students with a pro-life education.

Support for other pro-life efforts within the Diocese:

A. Birthright and other pregnancy centers provide pre\gnancy testing, material
help and referral to ap'prbpriate agericies for pregnant women.

B. Bayard House for pregnant women.

C. Delaware Citizens for Life, Delaware Right to Lffe, Maryland Right to Life
(pro-life education/advocacy groups)

D. Delaware Coalition for Life (a pro-life educatlonal group)

There are no centers for bioethical studies and research in the diocese. Note: The
Diocese sent a priest (while he was a seminarian) with a civil law background for a
suhmer internship at the National Catholic Bioethics Center. This priest has given
testimony at the Delaware Legislature on cloning and other bioethical issues.
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(1y Education: ~Tens of thousands of persons have received pro-life education
through The Dialog, homilies, various educational forums, distribution of pro-life
material.

(2) Legislation in the last several years: 1) Required Notification of Parents of
teens seeking abortions; 2) - Official reporting of all abortions to State Office of Vital
Statistics (for the first time this will give an accutate picture of the number of abortions
in the State of Delaware; and, 3) Health Care Decisions Act, a law limiting the
withdrawal of life support to patients with specified medical conditions.

4. Artificial Contraception: Artificial contraception is prevalent in the society and is
used only somewhat less by Catholics than by the community at large. It has
widespread acceptance and with the exception of the teachings of the Catholic Church,
its morality is virtually unquestioned. There is a small group of Catholics who do use
natural methods of family planning. These methods are receiving a renewed emphasis
in the newly revised marriage preparanon process. Recent studies by the USCCB to
develop more proactive NFP programs in dioceses are currently under ¢consideration.

B. Description

1. Cultural circumstances

Poverty and low income; unemiployment; substandard housing; both parents working;
care for elderly parents; inadequate day care; lack of health insurance; no fault divorce;
high rate of out of wedlock births.

Legal and Social Policies
1. Welfare
2. Health care for many though not all poor families
3. Reasonably favorable adoption laws

Anti-life activities
1. Strong anti-life advocacy in state legislature
2. State abortion on demand policy
3. Capital punishment '

Organization against human life within the diocese
1. Planned Parenthood
2. State Affiliate - National Organization for Women
3. Many other groups organized primarily for other reasons haold pro- choice /
pro-abortion positions
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2. Pastoral Care of Families :

In healthy, wholesome and holy marriages, couples are instructed by niovements such
as Marriage Encounter, marriage enrichment; and parenting programs conducted by
Catholic Charities, various Catholic schools and parishes. Childten réceive a remote
preparation for marriage and family living within their families, In schools and
religious education programs, young people receive more formal and professional
instriictions in marriage and faIme life, In the year prior to marriage, engaged couples
participate in immediate preparatlon for marriage. This pracess involves thtee states
(one with professiorials, one with priests/deacons, and one with married couples) over
the course of one year. Professional and pastoral cotinseling is available to individuals,
couples and fariilies. Support groups exist for widowed and divorced persons as well
as fot singles. ‘

Special Circumstances: Pastoral

‘1. Mixed marriage - The priest or deacon is to request and obtain a dispensation from
the prescriptions of Canon 1086 from the local ordinary or his delegate before officiating
at the wedding of a Cathohc and an unbaptized person.

Permission of the local ordinary or his delegate is to be requested and obtained before a
priest or deacon officiates at the wedding of either a Catholic and a baptized non-
Catholic (cf. Canon 1124), or a Catholic and a former Cathohc (cf. Canon 1071 .4).

In either of the above circumstances the prescriptions of Canon 1125 regarding the
promises are to be observed. Appropriate attention is to be given to the issués involved
in marriages between persons of different religious affiliations.

2. Marriage of minors - Before consentmg to witness a marriage when at least one of
the parties is a minor, a priest or deacon must refer the matter to the local ordmary or
his deleg_ate

3. Marnages when pregnancy is involved - When approached by a couple who is
expectmg a child, a priest or deacon should follow the general procedures for marriage
preparation mcludmg procedures for other special circumstances that may apply, e.g.,
marriage of minors.

4. Martiages after a previous union - When one or both parties, regardless of religious
affiliation, have had a prior union, the priest or deacon is to complete Form M-2 and
must have proof that the prior union does not constitute an impediment to marriage (cf.
Carion 1085). Proof is to be obtained before setting a date to marry and proceeding with
marriage preparation. For a deceased spouse, proof consists of a death certificate. For
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a former living spouse, proof consists of one of the following: 1) a decree riullity from
an ecclesiastical tribunal; 2) a declaration of dissolution from the Holy See; or 3) a
decree from a diocesan bishop permitting the irivocation of the Pauline Privilege when
the fornier spouse is living.

Moreover, permission from the bishop or his delegate miust be obtained before
proceeding with the marriage of anyone who has incurred obligations arising from a
previous union (cf, Canon 1071.3). These obligations include p0551ble financial support
of a formier partner and/ or childten and visitation/custody of one’s children.

5. Convalidation of marriages - The convalidation of a couple’s civilly recognized
marriage riécessary when at least one party was a Catholic at the time of the non-
Catholic cetemony (cf. Canon 1160) is to be preceded by appropriate marriage
preparation.

The one-year process is required if the couple has been married less than five years.
When the couple has been married longer than five years and their relationship
demonstrates the stability, commitment and fidelity characteristic of a matrimonial
covenant, the priest or deacon is to determine what kind of preparation best meets the
needs of the particulaf couple and adjust the kind of preparation and duration of the
preparaﬁon period accordingly.

6. Cohabiting couples - When assessing maturity for marriage of a cohabiting couple
who present'tl'“ie'rhsélVes for marriage ‘in the Church, the priest or deacon should
consider their unique characteristics, needs and circumstances.- When a couple will not
separate, the priest or deacon is to ericourage premarital chastity, He is to take great
care in addressing thé reasons underlying the couple’s decision to cohabit before
marriagé. In addition, he is to focus or the personal and interpersonal issues which
have a great potential for bemg overlooked by a couple who live together before
marriage.

3. Activities on the part of the Church or of individuals or groups of Catliolics for the
defense of the family.

1, Legislation and public policy: lobbying directly for legislation that defends
both the r1ghts of individuals and families (e 8 health care;, welfare, pro}ubmon of
abortion, phys1c1an assisted suicide, health care decisions that include family membets
when patient is incapable of making his/her own decisions, required marriage
preparation, divorce adjustient and single parenting classes for those who divorce);
assist Catholic groups to.organize for the same putrpose.
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2, Influence on legislation and public opinion.
a) Legislation - somie laws have been enacted

s Abortion - federal and state (DE) laws that prevent tax dollars
from being used to pdy for abortion in most instances, parerital
notification law enacted (DE),

'Welfare reform some mﬂuence but stﬂl concerned about possible

~ *Health care - more poor children and families are being provided
care.

*Health care decisions bill enacted into law - though not perfect,
it is a far better bill than the one originally introdiiced into the

Delaware General Assembly, Somewhat less influential on a
similar bill in the State of Maryland. Close to eénacting a ban on
partial abortions in Delawate and at the federal level.

*Education of parents when they divorce (DE). Focus on well-
being of children.

sProhibition of same sex marriages in Delaware.

b) Public Opinion
*The biggest change i iri the abortion debate. This change is some-
what favorable and is due to the efforts of many pro-life people

most often led by the Catholic Church to have a law banning partial
birth abortions banned.

There is a public interest in providing health care for poor prégnant
wornen and poor families but it is not universal. There is a congerfi
both about cost and government control.

There is a growing public concern about widespread divorc¢e and
its iripact o children but the concern has not become sufficiently
critical for any public policy changes.

*Initiative of diccesan agencies for transmitting Church teaching
on sexual morality, marriage and tespect for life.

_ . * Bishop: Public statemenits, preaching, speaking engagements,
- ' lobbying.
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* Parishes: Homilies, adult education programs, printed materials.

* Schools: Educational programs at elementary and high school

levels,

* Religious Education Office: Parish programg.

¢ The Dialog (diocesan newspaper): Articles and editorials.

» Catholic Charities/Family Life Bureau: Educational programs,
lobbyifig:

. Commumcaﬂons Office: Radio, TV and print media (enables
personinel from many of the above-mentioned agenc1es
and offices to appear on or get space in these various
medjia,

* Clergy Education Committee: Education programs.

* Various diocesarn agencies sometimes join in projects, i.e., Let’s
Talk and Let’s Keep Talking, human sexuality programs.
for patents/ pre-teens/ teens sponsored by Catholic
Charities/Family Life Bureau, Religious Education
Office and St. Francis Hospital.

* Diocesari lobbyist and Maryland Catholic Conference: Lobby

‘ for bills that promote Catholic values and against those
that promote values at variance with Catholic values.

» Diocesan Pro-Life Office: Education, coordinating of diocesan
pro-life efforts, lobbying:

* Association of Parish Pro-Life Leaders: Education and lobbying.

4. Activities of pro-life organizations and movements in the diocese to:

A) Protect the life of the Unborn.

* Provision of direct assistance to pregnant mothers: medical care
(Catholic hospital); pregnancy testing (pregnancy centers);
‘housing (Bayard House, Casa); financial assistanice, clothing,
food, rent, etc.

* Prayer and fasting, spiritual adoptions

*Lobbying at both the federal and state levels

sEducation: School groups, community groups, church groups, etc.

B) Foster the dignity of motherhood
* Blessings of mothers and mother to be
* Healthi care for pregnant mothers
» Flexible working schedules for mothers in some Catholic facilities
» Conscious efforts to create a respectful environment in Catholic

institutions
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Q) Promote natural anid morally licit methods of regulation of human fertility
+Natural Family Plan.mng edicational programs conducted by the
Farnily Life Bureau

D) Provide for the spiritual and material assistance for the dying
+Provide a wide variety of both spiritual and material services for
those living and dying with AIDS. (Prayer for and with PWA's,
liturgies, spiritual direction, rent assistance, food, fransportation,
‘counseling, support groups, etc. by AIDS miinistry).
+Education of clergy
+Provision of pastoral care and celebration of sacraments by priests
and hospital chaplains. '
*Provisiof of pastoral counseling by priests, deacons and other
pastoral ministers,
+Provision of direct assistance by Parish Social Concerns
Committee and parish outreach offices.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON _____ 19982003

XIV. EVANGELIZATION OF CULTURE

A. Statistical Note

There atfé no associations in the diocese Whose primary purpose is the
evangelization of culture. Rather, all diocesan offices as well as parishes are called to
- become increasingly aware of their responsibility through prayer, works and the
withess of their lives for the transformation of our society.

B. Déscription

1. The Diocese of Wilmirigton is l6cated on the Eastern Seaboard of the United States
of Artierica, It was colonized initially by Europeari Americaris. The eatliest colonists
in the 16th century to what is now the State of Delaware sailed up the Delaware Bay,
They were Swedes: Th_ey were followed by Dutch, French and English. The Eastetri
Shore of Maryland was initially settled by English Catholi¢ to be succeeded by
English Protestants. '

At both the beginning and the eénd of the qulnquenmum, the dominant culture would
be Buropeani Ametican representing influences by English, French, Irish, German,
Polish, Italian. Hispanic influénces the most rapidly growmg representing
nnrmgrants of Puerto Rico, Mexico, Cuba, Guatemala, El Salvador and the islands of
the Caribbean mostly Haiti. There aré two Polish national parlshes in Wilmington
and an Italian hational parish. Orie predominantly Irish patish in the last fifty years
has become almost totally Hispanic, These immigrants both old and new have

brought a Catholi¢ or at least Christian culture to the area which makes up the

northern part of the diocese. Indeed, through the earlier half of the 20th ¢entury, the
" Chuirch has been appreciated for the schools and services to the poor, ard its
mernbers have beeni present in marny facets of public life.

There are African-Americans in significant numbers. These are Christians who are
descendants of Africar immigrants and slaves freed during the Civil War. In recent
years a numbet have been attracted to the Musliin faith. There are Jewish people,
Asians (Koreans, Chinese, Viethamese, Japanese) though smaller iri numbers but
influential.

Politically speaking, the leaders of the state and municipalities are largely Furopean
Americaris though people of other cultures are making inroads into 31gmf1cant
positions. ‘
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There are some political figures and especially some members of the media who are
antagonistic towards the Church and the clergy. The Catholic Church has been the
strongest credible voice opposed to sexual immorality and continues to witness to the
indissolubility of marriage, the imriorality of sex outside of marriage, the immiorality
of homosexual actions and the sacredness of hurman life. Some media personnel and
some political leaders have branded the Church as mtolerable and archaic,

The diocese has responded vigorously to the antagonism with reasoned offenses.
The Church is not just condemning the evils of modern society. It's working to aid
the poor, the widowed, the young and old, and adults, ete: Marriages are being
saved. Young people’s lives are being sarictified, sick and homebound people are
being visited each day. It should be noted also that there has been positive media
coverage of the Church and its activities. The leadership of the Catholic Church is
recognized as making valuable contributions in the areas of morality, family life and
spirituality. When the diocese issued hew marriage guidelines calling for a year of
preparation, the local newspaper in Wilmington in an editorial praised the Chiirch
for its work to promote healthy family life. Inc1denta]1y, the Guidelines received
attention nationally with other dioceses requesting copies. Their presence was noted
in Ireland and Germany.

2. Even though one might see European American culture as dominant it is no
loriget-as perhaps could be said at oné time Christian. Secularism and relativism
pervade moral values. There is separation of Church and State so that religion does
not get any financial support directly. Mary people are un-churched and even
hostile to values held by religious people.

There is divorce, single parent families, cotiples living together outside marriage,
pornography, child abuse, lack of respect for human life of the unborn and the
elderly. There is alcoholism and drug abuse, active homosexuality with AIDS and
the consequerices of I—[[V

Unemployment in Delaware, according to a recent statistic, is just under 5%.
However it can be said that those at the lowest rung of the social ladder are not
benefiting by the expanding number of job opportunities. Skilled labor is what is if
demand and not unskilled labor. The State of Delaware also had the best econiomy of
the Middle Atlantic States Region becausé of the automobile, chemlsh'y and bank
service industries.

As regards atheism, it is not organized but definitely many people can be called
practical atheists.
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The diocese does not have seminaries or institutions of higher leaining under its own

jurisdiction, but in the schools where seminarians are trained for the diocese the
setting is urban. Serninariais aré niade aware of the problems of society of the day.
They are initiated into pastoral work largely amorig urban families in cities and
suburbs. In the summer, placement during the theology years of study they are
placed in supervisory experiences in the rural as well as urban life situations. It may
also be noted that as the candidates for priesthood seemi to be older, they bring with
thetn 4 broad experience of the cultiral life of the United States, Partlcularly, the
permanent deacons in the latest class represent a broad spectrum of the community
and include Hispanic and African Amierican members.

3. -The age in which we live in the United States promotes materialism and
individualism at the expense of respecting compassion for those who lack material
power. The diocese tries to nourish and sustain cultiire among the underprivileged

in a variety of ways. The largest group of underprivileged are the Hispanics and the,

African Americans.

Primary among the efforts at evangelization is the celebration of the liturgy as a
centtal element of the activity of the local church. In the Hispanic community in
many parts of the diocese there are prlests and sisters (admittedly not enough) who
have Mass and provide religious services. Evangelization efforts among the
Hispanics are: 3 Hispanic priests, 3 Hispanic deacons, 5 Anglos who are bilingual, 4
Hispani¢ sisters and 4 Anglo sisters who are bilingual. Catholic Charities also
provides in the name of the Church important social service work.

The annual St. Martin DePorres Mass provides an opportunity for people of African
American ethnic background thtough the American style of worship to celebrate
their religious and cultural experience and witness it to other groups. The Black
Gospel Choir now has European American members, There is also ar annual
celebration for Native Americans who have been recognized as an object of
apostolate activity. A priest was appointed their chaplain.

There are three inner city schools in W]lrmngton which have large Africani American
(and non-Catholic) and Hispanic entollments. These schools give educational
opportunities to people of other backgrounds that they would not have in the public
schools. Tuition assisted programs exist which are funded by prlvate donations, the
diocese, and the Commission for Black Catholic Missions Among the Native
Americans and the Colored People. In the southern part of the diocese the Church
has fiinded a Latino and Migrant Program, Casa San Francisco, the Setoni Center ifi

Princess Anri¢ and more recently the Hispanic Task Force to see what more can be |

done. Regularly, the diocese still has been unable to attract priestly vocations from
the ethnic groups themselves.
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4. Recoghizing evangelization is the essence of the Church’s mission, the diocesan

activity seeks to proclaim the Gospel through its parishes, its schools and ifistitutions.

Regrettably, Sunday morning is still the most segregated tune in the USA. Various
races and cultutes worship separately despite the fact that they may work togethet
and go to school together. Housing patterns caused by economic diversity promote
this to an extent, but more needs to be done to bring the various groups together

An mterestmg program in the northern Néw Castle area where WIhmngton is
situated is the Emmanuel Dining Room rtirn by the Ministry of Cating. Churches and
synagogues take turns supplying not only food but church members as kitchen help
and waiters to serve the poor and homeless in dining rooms that are attractive and
well kept. This Ministry now 25 years old is well respected in the community and
through a network of offices and institutions, helps the poor and unfortunate of all
agencies. Thete is an employment agency, senior citizen facility, homes for homeless
men and women, HIV/AIDS day care centers. The Ministry is served by a core of 6
Capuchin friars and many paid and volunteer lay people.

Because of the influence of the Black Catholic Congress and the Hispanic Pastoral
Plan the diocese sees the challenges before us in celebrating thé Millennium with
renewed efforts at evangelization.

The 29 eciimenical ministerial associations to which parishes belong give Cathohcs an
opportunity to share their faith with others and to work at sharing the faith in action
with others of different faiths and ethnic backgrounds. Catholics have also joiried

with other groups protesting pornography, abortion, drugs and the gay rights -

agenda. Many are active in Alcoholics Anonymous and drug rehabilitation
programs. Through the Rachel Project the Church also reaches out to those who
have suffered abortion.

5. Popular re1101051ty has been described as an important guardian of culture, history
and identity. It is not only a vehicle for evangelization in many disparate ethnic
communities but also has functions as a forum to preseérve what is good and noble ir
the heritage although admittedly also abetting the resistance to assimilation.
Popular expressions of faith are celebrated voluntarﬂy by mary people. They are

transmitted from generation to generation since they manifest the true identity and

cultural soul of the people.
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Diring ati average year the following ethnic celebrations can be cited:

Jatiuary 16 Martin Luther King Day - African American
March 17 St. Patrick’s Day - Irish
Holy Week & Passover - Christian and Jewish
June Greek Festival held on grounds of Holy Trinity Orthodox
: Church

- St. Hedwig's Festival - Polish
St. Anthony’s Festival - Italian
St. Paul’s - Puerto Rican

September St. Andrew Kim - Korean
October Octoberfest - German & Christian
Columbus Day Festival - Italian '
November Thanksgiving - All American Faiths
December Posadas + Hispanic

Hanukkah - Jewish
Christmas - Christian.
KWan'za - African American

Someé of the events started out as secular or purely religious events proper to one .

group but have taken on ecumenical overtones and aré positive forces for good in the
community. In celebrating one tradition or identity there are opportiunities to bring
others of différent persuasions or no persuasions together, Rich and poor, the
educated and non educated, professional and blue collar, the old and the young

mingle together. Other festivities start out secular and have developed religicus

overtones.

The diocese responds to the needs of the various groups for worship in other
languages, i.e. Polish, Korean, Hisparnic, Haitian. It recognizes in Hispanic culture
religion is part of daily life. If the Catholic Church cannot provide the need they will
turn to other churches and unfortunately many have. Yet the church recognizes the
poor socig-economi¢ condition of Phspamcs and provxdes opportu_nltle_s to Insure
Catholic school education wheréver possible. While the diocese has fried to reach
out, it realizes it has not been doing enough and there is an Hispanic Task Force with
a pa1d director and advisory board studying how better the Chuirch of Wilmingtori
can minister to its Hispanic brothers and sistets.

For the Catholics of African descent, public displays of religion and popular devotion
aré very similar to those of non-Catholic African Americans which indeed is the
dominant Black Catholic culture. African American spirituality is fiimly based on
the scriptures.  Effective inculturation of the Gospel embraces the four major
characters of the black spirituality: the contemplative, holistic, joyful and
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communitarian. The diccesé has sent a representative delegation to'the Black
Catholic Congress. Tweiity two attended the Congress in 2002 in Chicago with the
Bistiop. They have retirned renewed in spirit to evangelize their neighbors. The
staffing of the Black Catholic Ministry Office has been expanded to a lay director and
an assistance with a goal to recover the lapsed Black Catholics and evangelize the
unchiiched. ‘

From the title of the event, one can readily see how the ethnic groups that have been
here since the turn of the century tried to preserve the tradition of their native lands.
Americans of Italian, Polish, German, Irish descent continue to celebrate processions
and devotions in behalf of the homeland patrons. The personal parish for the Polish
has one Mass each weekend in the native tongue. The Italiahs have dropped Mass in
their tongue. The Germans have an ecumenical service each year during the
Octoberfest. '

For people growing up in the USA the challenge is whether the practice of devotions
or traditions of their ethnic heritage will continue as the children and grandchildren
of immigrants adapt more and more to the cultures of the United States.

For the Church the challenge is how to preach the Gospel to the different groups by
encouraging religious expressions that are theologically sound and cultural
meaningful.
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XV. SOCIAL COMMUNICATIONS
‘A. Statistics

1. At the present time, there are no Catholic publishing houses in the Diocese of
Wilmington.

2; Thete are several Catholic book stores in the Diocese of Wilmington as well as
non-denominational religious book stores which stock Catholic publishers.
Most Catholics in the dioceése are also able to purchase Catholic books and
products onling via the Internet.

3. The diocesan publication, The Dialog, has a weekly circulation of 54,000
households in Delaware and nifie cotinties in the State of Maryland. Some
Diocesan offices (Chancery, Liturgy Office, Catholic Charities, Youth Ministry,
Parish Social Ministry) produce and distribute monthly or quarterly newsletters.
All parishes have weekly parish bulletins.

4. There are no Catholic radic or television stations which operate within the
diocese at this time. However; Eternal Word Television Network (EWIN), a
Catholic satellite and cable delivered televisiori service, is seen on a total of 10
cable systemis in the diocese, systems reaching approximately 323,000
households.

5. There are tio centers of formation associated with the Church in the field of
comrmunications located in the Diocese of Wilmington.

6. The most widely circulated newspapers and magazines in the diocese include
The News Journal (Delaware), The Daily Times (Salisbury), The Star-Democrat
(Easton), The Whig (Elkton), Delaware Today (Delaware) plus national
publications such as The Wall Street Journal, USA Today, Modern Maturity,
Reader's Digest, TV Guide, Better Homes and Gardens.

The most popular publications of rehgmus interest to Catholics are The Dialog
(Catholic Newspaper of the Diocese of Wilmington), Catholic Digest, St.
Anthony Messenger, National Catholic Reporter, America, Wanderer, Our
Sunday Visitor, National Catholic Register.
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B. Description

1. The majority of the media in the Diocese of Wilmington has a largely positive
general attitude toward the Church despite the extensive coverage of the
Church’s sexiial abuse crisis that was presented in the media from early 2002
until late in 2003. © Media outlets based in the diocese continue to respect the
local Church due to past and continuing efforts of our Bishops and diocesan
officials to deal with sexual abuse issues iti a proper and open manner. For
example, the most-read daily newspaper in the diocese has praised the Bishop on
several occasions for his Review Board appointments and handling of allegations
of abuse: The continuing media relations efforts of the Diocese of Wilmington’s
Office of Communications have also contributed to this attitude.

While the idéological and moral orientation of locally owned and operated
broadcast and print media remains strong; the deregulation of and the resulting
ownership consolidation in the newspaper and radio industries, have taken
control of content out of the hands of local individuals at many media outlets.
Content decisions are often made by . cerporate staffs outside of the diocese that
lack knowledge of local commumty mores. ! :

Over the past five years, an increasing number of the radio programs heard in

“the diocese come from outside of the diocese via syndicated shows from New
York, - Washington, D.C." and elsewhere. This is generally a negative
development since these programs are directed at a national audience and ignore
market-specific attitudes and needs. While sorhe of these radio programs contain
a great deal of sextial content and so-called “adult” language (i.e. Howard Stern)
others espouse pro-family values and have an anti-abortion orientation (i.e. Dr.
Latira Schlessinger, Sean Hannity, etc.)

Very little television programming originates within the geographlc boundaties
of the Diocese of Wilmington. Local and regional programming is mostly news
and pubhc affairs.  Nationally produced broadcast and cable television
programming continues to be more sexually explicit in it content and coritain
language that was unheard on television ten years ago.

The Office of Communications has had a long standing relationship with media
throughout the diocese. Our Director of Communications makes frequent visits
to the print ahd eléctronic media outlets located ifi the diocese.

The diocese has updated the equipmient in its radio broadcast production center
in the Chancery Building that has been providing programming to radio stations
for many years. '
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The radio communicatiotis efforts began in the diocese in April of 1939 with the
production of the Catholic Forum of the Air program; a program that is on the air
to this very day. In addition, the Catholic Broadcasters Association was born in
the Wilmington diocese in the early 1940’s and continued until the early 1970's
when it came part of the worldwide UNDA organization, now Signis.

The diocese has always looked for ways to provide the broadcaster with quahty
programs and distributes two additional radio programs to stations in the
diocese; Country Roads and Catholic Radio Weekly. Additionally, the Hispanic
Ministry Office and the Ministty to Black Cathiolics of the diocese each produce
weekly radio programs targeted to their andiences.

Over the past several years, the Diocese of Wilmington has established and
developed its Internet presence with a robust web site; www.cdow.org. The site
includes over 400 pages of information and links to other sites and receives ovetr
30,000 page requests per month,

The Director of Communications serves as the spokesperson for the diocese and
assists the media in identification of resource people with additional expertise.

The Commiunication Office serves as the diocesan office for social
commuriications.

2. The Diglog and the Diocese of Wilmington’s Web site are the only Catholic
communications media that originate in the diocese.

Bishop Michael Saltarelli, The Dialog’s publisher and its editor, assure doctrinal
orthodoxy and fair and honest reporting. Its financial stability is that of the
diocese and it has a notable influence on the Catholic community since it is
miailed each week to every régistered Catholic family in the diocese.

Each diocesari departmént or office is responsible for the content of its own
section of the diocssan Web site. Oversight of the homepage and features
belongs to the Office of Communications. The Moderator of the Curia supervises
the Director of Communications in this and other areas.

3. The diocese is in the process of developing a pastoral plan for
communications at this time. We have no specific program for pastoral care for
communications professionals. To promote and defend Christian morality in the
media, the Diocese of Wilmington participated in the USCCB’s Renewirig the
Mind of the Media campaign in 2001 and 2003. '
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4. The Catholic Press is actively promoted throughout the Diocese of
Wilmington on an ongoing basis. Ag previously mentioned, all registered
parishioners in the parishes of the diocese receive a copy of the diocesan
newspaper. Otr radio efforts are promoted on the diocesan Web site and in the
'dlocesan newspaper, The Web site is promo’ced in the paper and or the radio.

Efforts are made to educate young people in our Catholic schools and religious
education progranis regarding the influence of media in their lives.

Diocesan priests, deacons and serninatians are involved and have been for many
yeats in the commuinications efforts, especially in radio. A priest hosts our
Hispanic Ministry program, a deacon is involved in each weekly Catholic Forum
program and priests and seminarians are involved on a regular and reoccurring
basis.
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XVI. SOCIAL JUSTICE AND THE SOCIAL TEACHING OF THE CHURCH

A.Statistics

Families in ot of hoime care

_ Indlcator ,  Delaware 1 Maryland
_Per capita income . 1$23,308 $25,614 o
Median Household Income 647381 $52,868
Percent of Families Below 6.5% 6.1%
Poverty Level (1999) . o
Percent of Households with 26.9% 22.5%
Social Security Income B i .
Percent of Households with 2.7% 2.4%
Public Assistance Income o ] o ] o : B
Rate of child abuse ' 28.6 per 1000 children (a decrease | 22.8 per 1000 children (a decrease
of 25% from 1990) of 34% from 1990)
Children dying as a ) result of 0 0
Child abuse , N o
Children hvmg away from their | 1,098 (on Sept. 30, 2000) 13,133 (on Sept. 30, 2000)

Percent of children reanited with
their families when exiting foster
care

793%

60.4%

109,983 (a 15.4% increase from

Children enrolled in State 5 578 (a 19.6% increase from 2000)

Children’s Health Program iri 2000)

2001 - . |

Fair market rent for 2-bedroom | $717 per month (72.9% of the $895 pér month (106.2% of the

apartiient in 2002 income of a pérson earning income of a petsori earning
L _ minimum wage) | minimum wage)

Graduation rate of high school | 86.1% 85.7%

Seniots == o _ )

Grandparents with primary 6,699 45,757

Responsibility for caririg for

Grandchildren in 2001

B. Description

1. (a) The administration of justice and the violation of himan rights.

The legal system in the diocese follows established norms throughout the
country based on principles contained in the American constitution. Those
accused of criries are entitled to legal representation. If they cannet afford a
private attorney, the state-financed Public Defender’s Office provides such
représentation. In addition, the State Huiian Relations Division and private
~ groups, such as the National Association for the Advaricement of Colored
People, the American Civil Liberties Union, and the Anti-Defamation League of
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B'nai Brith, have beeni established to act as “watchdog” girc')up‘s for perceived
violations of civil rights of certain groups.

Race is a central issue in our nation and our communities. Even when we don't
give voice to it, it is present — critical, but unspoken. When we do talk abouit it,
it is often at times of crisis, when racial divisions become apparent or racial
terisions turh to violence. There are times of national awaretniess when the
countty’s problems with race tratisfix all of us,

Questions of racism and race relations touch us every day, in personal ways.
Race affects where we live, where we walk, whete we shop, the jobs we hold,
and how we are edicated. Ini workplaces, schools, and hotises of Worslup,
racial and ethnic divisions persist, Misperceptions, sterestyping; fear, and
distrust exist in every ethnic group toward miembers of other ethnic groups.

Race also has a great impact or our public life. In our comimunities, racial and
ethnic divisions: prevent us from working together ori pressing common
concerns such as education, jobs, and crime.

Racism has existed for hundreds of years, clashing with our founding
principles of equality and justice. The wars against Native American tribes and
later discrimination against native peoples; the enslavement of Africans
brought to this country and the oppression of African-Americans after they
were freed; the internment of Japanese Ameticans during World War II; and
discrimination against immigrants — all of these and mote have been based on
the belief that some people are inferior due to the color of their skin.

In few areas are the disparities between races as evident as in ouf criminal
justice system. The following table provides some indication of that disparity.

V' Incarceraﬁon Rates of Adult Males by Race

~ Rate per 100,000 of each race A o
Black White Black/White Ratio
R : , | (Ranking)
. Delaware 6888 | 736 | 94to1(19% hlghest) _
Maryland 3602 353 | 10.2to1 (16 highest)
USA 4631 482 | 96tol

The unborn, the aged and infirm, and the poor are quite vulnerable to a denial
of rights. The unborn have no legal right to life.
Although the US. Supreme Court has recently ruled that no coristitutional

right to assisted suicide exists; there is a strong movement toward legalizing
assisted smc1de on a state-by-state basis. At this time, Delaware criminalizes

2
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doctor-assisted suicide by statute and Maryland by common law. In Maryland,
legislation was introduced (but killed in committee) to permit a physician to
prescribe a lethal dose of a drug to a patient suffering from an incurable disease
or illness that causes substantial physical pain and suffering.

The treatment of immigrants is quite varied. Legal, educated, English-speaking
immigrants genera]ly have the work ethic and skills which result in successful
assimilation into society. However, there exists in the diocese a growing
niuinber of poorly educated immigrants, legal and illegal, mostly from Central
America, who -lack Enghsh language skills. These individuals often find
employment in the area’s poultry and agricultural industries, working in jobs
and under conditions that most locals would not accept. There have been
‘several raids by INS agents on these workplaces in an effort to detain and
deport iminigrants who are in this country illegally.

In the mid-1990s, Congress passed the largest changes in 1m1mgra’c10n law and
immigrant access to public benefits since the First World War. These changes
were overwhelmingly negative for immigrants.

With the release of the 2000 US. Census, the presence and influence of
immigrants’ on our national landscape became lmp0551b1e to deny. For
communities throughout the United States, their économic contributions had
become mcreasmgly evident, along with the challenges of providing health and
human services to a diverse population. Over the past few years, a number of
significant legislative and administrative measures at federal and state levels
had begun to address these challenges, while legxslahon to broaden

" immigration opportunities was being discussed in Congtess. Most prominent
during the summer of 2001 was the prospect of some kind of general
legalization ot amnesty for undocumented immigrants living in the U S.

Since September 11, 2001 however, there has been no further discisssion of a
legalization program, In fact, the passage and signing of the USAPATRIOT Act
of October 26, 2001 sent the pendulum in the opposite direction. Some have
“called for greater limits on immigration and other internal restrictions of
immigrant rights.

(b) Violence toward ethnic miriorities and against other social groups
Although race-relations in general can be strained, violent, racist actions and
language directed at minority groups are rare, relegated mostly to graffiti and
attitudes expressed by alienated youth. The Ku Klux Klan, the group most
noted for fomenting racial hatred, is vilified in the press and by nearly all
people, and, although it exists, has no influential presence in the diocese.
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Minorities who are victimg of crimes are generally victimized by other
members of the samé minority group. This takes the form of assaults;
robberies, and burglaries.

(c) Socio-political problems

Welfare

- With sweeping legislative actlon, the federal government, in 1996, dismantled
60 years of federal responsibility for public aid to families with dependent
children, . The federal Aid to Families with Dependent Children program
(AFDC) was eliminated and teplaced with the Ternporary Assistance to Needy
Families program (TANF). Under this new program, respons1b1hhes for pubhc
assistance for the poor have been given to the states in the form of federal block
grants with strict rules for work requirements, time limits, and stricter
eligibility requirements for the most basic of cash and food assistance. Welfare
caseloads have declined significantly and mote former welfare recipients are
working. However poverty persists despite work.

Welfare-to-work efforts create a dilemma. Even though various work scenarios
allow working families to rise above official "poverty," the expenses in their
frugal budget still exceed income as did the "pre-work" situation from which
the family begar.

Health care

Nearly one in every six Americans (42.6 million) is without health insurance.
Despite the longest economic boom in history, the number of persons without
health insurance dipped just 4% in 1999. With the current economic downturn,
some states are already cutting back coverage, with Oklahoma mailing out
termination letters to Medicaid recipients and North Carolina imposing a
freeze ori enrollment in the Children’s Health Initiative Program.

Compared to othér wealthy industrialized nations, the United States health
care system provides coverage to the fewest and costs the most. In 1997, health
expendltures as a percentage of the gross domestic product ranged from a high
of 13.6% in the United States to 6.7% in the United Kingdom. When compared
to the other highly industrialized countries in the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development, infarit mortality tates are the highest and life
éxpectancy rates are the lowestin the US.

Market competition has not succeeded in bringing the U.S. health care costs in
line with those of other industrialized countries, Market based reform has not
expanded health instirance coverage but has rather, directly or indirectly,
increased the number of under insured and uninsured Americans. Medical
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researchi and education have suffered and medicine's social mission has
declitied.

In Delaware 11.4% of the state's population lacked health care coverage in the
year 2000, compared to 13.4% for the region (Maryland, Pennsylvania, New
Jersey and New York), From the mid 1990’s to the present, the rate of
uninsured in Delaware decreased from 13.6% to 114%. This diop in the
number of Delawareans without health insurance is credited primarily to the
increased coverage of children ﬂuough the Healthy Childten Program initiated
in January 1999.

The bulk of the 96,000 uninsured Delawateans are the working poor who do
not qualify for Medicaid, are not provided health insurance by their employets,
and whose income is insufficient to purchase health care coverage. The profile
of the typical uninsured Delawarear: single, white, inale, over age 17, working
with an income above poverty level.

In Delaware and Maryland there has been an overhaul of the Medicaid
prograrn which provides health care coverage for the poor: Medicaid pays for
doctor visits, hospital care, laboratory work, prescription drugs, transportation,
routine immunizations for childrer, mental health and substance abuse
treatment. The program has been “privatized,” thatis, contracted to private
insurers which agréee to provide certain benefits for a stipulated payment. This
recent change has been initially positive in that a) all Medicaid recipients have
a pr1mary care phys1c1an Who manages theu‘ care and b) the program covers all
children up to 185% of poverty Medlcald beneﬁts contifwe for two years for
those individials who leave public assistarice for employment.

Medicare is the federally sponsored health care program for those over 65, It
covers hospital stays, skilled nursing facility care, home health care, hospice
care, outpatient medical and surgical services, laboratory services, and certain
medical supplies. It does not cover dental care, cistodial care, hearing aids;
outpatient prescription drugs, routine foot care, routine eye care, routine
physical exams unless the individual is enrolled in a Medicare HMO plan.
Recently, -congress has been debating the inclusion of an outpatient
prescription drug benefit in the basic Medicare plan.

Soc1a1 Seciurity

Social Security is a  federal program for retirement security financed by
mandatory worker and employer contributions. It is predicted to be solvent
until 2025. However, like Medicare, the futiure of Social Securlty is in doubt.
Those in the workforce who will retire ten or more years from now will receivé
less from Social Security than they contributed. This will spur proposals for
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alterhative private retirement savings plans and investment options likely to be
encouraged through tax incentives.

Taxation

In the US. approximately 356% of the average petson’s income goes toward
federal, state, county, local, and school taxes. Despite serious tax inequities
resulting from a “flattening” of the tax tates in recent years, there is stll
significant political support for tax cuts which disproportionately favor the
well-off and for lowering the upper tax brackets even fiirthet.

(d) Labor and the problem of unemployment, unions, and other workers’
organizations. ‘

The unemployment rate in Delawate in May 2003 was 3.4% and in Maryland
4.2%. InJanuary 2002 the rates were 4.7% and 4.9% réspectively. Theére is some
belief that the reported rates aré skewed to the low end with many individuals
giving up on finding employment and so not appearing in official statistics.
The largest private industries in Delaware are in the areas of manufacturing,
service industries, and financial, real estate, and insturance services. Maryland
has a strong economic base in biotechnology, telecommunications, aérospace,
and goods distribuﬁon;

The largest employers in the Diocese are the State (15,000); MBNA Bank
Ammerica, the nation’s second largest credit card company (10,000); the DuPont
Comipany, an international chemical company (9, 900); Christiana Care Health
System (7,900); and Dover Air Force Base (7,700). Delaware experiericed a net
loss of 6,000 jobs in 2002.

Unionizationi of workers in the diocese is simildr to uhionization it the United
Sates as a whole. In the USA 14.9% of workets are represented by a union. In
Delaware the percentage is 14.6% and in Maryland the percentage is 16.7%.

The states with the highest percentage of unionization are New York, Hawaii,
Alaska, Michigan, and New ]ersey (all between 20 and 27%). The states with
the lowest percentage of unionization ate North Carolina, South Caroling,
Virginia, Georgia, and Texas (all under 10%).

(e) The conservation of the enivironment;

Governmient agericies, such as the Environmental Protection Agency and state
departments of natural resources, and quas1—govermnental agencies, such as
solid waste authorities, have the major public responslblhty for ptotecting the
environment, controlling pollution, and managing waste dlsposal There are
also voluntaty organizations which act as “watchdogs” to monitor
governmient’s handling of its responsibilities.
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Using its website, Goverrimerit agencies inform the pubhc of such matters as

toxic releases, pollutmg facilities, the status of superfund sites, pesticide

mforma’aon, and human exposure to efivironmental chemicals.

Land use planning has become the most important political issue at the county
level of government. Building of new hoiising and commercial developments
has outstrlpped the abﬂlty of the transportanon, water, and sewer
infrastructure to support the growth. There is great public concern and
disagreement as to.the best means of haridling a populatiori growing faster
than the national average while maintaining a high quality of life.

In general, during the course of a year, the largest cities in the region,
Philadelphia and Baltimore, meet Environmental Protection Agency air quality
standards for carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, particulate
matter, and lead. Those cities do riot meet EPA standards for ozotie. Of the six
principle pollutants, ozone is the only one in Delaware that does not meet
federal air quality standards.

The following table identifies four common environmental causes of health

risks and the respective national rankings of Delaware and Maryland: the

higher the ranking, the worse the probler.

Health Risk " Delaware Maryland

Hazardous ait pollutants 860 (7th) 870 (6th)

(added cancer risk per 1 :

million population)

Cliemical releases 10 million pounds 44 million pounds
- - (a4) (29th)

Impaired surface water 49% (3r9) 26% (7t)

Animal waste 1 millior tons (43+d) 4 million tons (38th)

Public order and ideological confhcts

There is generally a high degree of respect for the law enforcement and judicial
establishments. While the crime rate in certain areas is high, especially crimes
of violence in major cities, there is generally good public order with little open
defiance of authority by large segments of the community. Ideological

diffetences are usually handled by mearis of the electoral process.

The following table shows the rate per 100,000 populatlon and ranking of
Delaware and Maryland for crime in general, violent crime, and incarceration
of their citizens.
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Indicator Delawate Maryland

Crime rate,/100,000 A 4,478 (17th) 4,816 (12th)
Violent Crime 684 (6th) 787 (39
rate/ 100,000
Property crimes 3,794 (19th) 4030 (17t)
/100,000 ' '
Murders/ 100,000 (sznd) 8 (314)

(g) Conduct of Cathohcs in public life.

The Church has been able to maintain good communication with those
Catholics who hold public office at all levels of government. They do not
always support the Church’s stand on issues, particularly on abortion. In
many other areas of Catholic Social Teaching, Catholic officials are generally
supportive. ‘ A

2. (a) Agencies

The Diocese of Wilmington, having nine counties of the State of Maryland
within its borders, belongs to the Maryland Catholic Conference (MCC). This
past year the conference focused cons1derabl_e advocacy attention on efforts to
meet basic needs, assist families leaving welfare, attaining quality education for
children, improve health care, address the health needs of womien and the
unborn, oppose the death penalty; address the problenis of immigrants, and
fight against the expansion of gambling.

Duririg the past legislative session the MCC successfully fought a rieasure that
would have required Catholic clergy to break the seal of confessioni in child
abuise cases. Its advocacy wor continuation of energy assistarice funding and
preservation of particularly important safety-net provisions of state welfare
law. In a difficult budget year; state allocations actually increased for
comifriunity mental health setvices, services for the developmentally disabled,
and assisted living for senior citizens.

The conferencé also responded to bills permitting unfettered access to
abortifacient mornirig-after pills, disposing of “leftover embryos,” eliminating
the sexual orientation exemption for faith-based social service organizations,
humian cloning, and measures to facilitate the movement of immigrarits into the
societal mainstrearm.

In Delaware, the diocese has worked on matters such as a 24-hour wai’tmg
period for abortions and opposing certain minimum mandatory sentences in
favor of educatior, job training, and substance abuse treatrnent for prisoners
involved with dealing drugs.
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(b) Programs

The diocesan Catholic Campaign for Human Development helped support grass
roots organizing efforts aimed at the empowerment of poverty groups. A
poultry justice alliance, an Hispanic organizing group, and a4 community
development agency promoting a campaign to increase use. of tax credit
programs by the poor were groups assisted this past year with national and
local grants.

(¢) Publications

Catholic Charities’ Office of Parish Social Ministry publishes a monthly
newsletter, Points for Parishes, and sends alerts emianating from the U.S.
Conference of Catholic Bishops to parish social concerns volunteers to keep
them informed of important matters of social justice. Catholic Charities also
publishes a rewsletter entitled Faith.Works.Wonders, which keeps the public
informed of social setvice activities carried out tnder Diocesan auspices,

3.  The primary vehicles which Catholic Charities employs to provide
formation of the laity regarding Catholi¢ Social Teaching are educational
seminars and Salt and Light Leadership Training, Educational seminars are
provided at parishes to RCIA groups, teachers, and others, This past year,
there were 30 presentations reaching 364 people. The Salt and Light training
conducted by the Office of Parish Social Ministry provides an important
foundation in Catholic Social Teaching for parish social coricerns leaders. This
seven session training, which has been held at numerous sites for over eight
years, lias been revised and accepted for publication by Ave Maria Press.

4. Catholic Charities has historically joined with othet organizations to form
housing coalitions, public assistance task forces, special committees on the
needs of childrén, aging advisory councils, pro-life committees, and other
bodies to proclaim the rights of the most vulnerable and promote social change.
Catholic Charities works cooperahvely with governmental authorities on most
issues of importance to those in need of service and to our c¢onstituencies.
Communication between Catholic Charities and state policy-makers is
generally good.
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XVIL CHRISTIAN CHARITY AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT
A. Statistics
B. Description

1. Through its Office of Parish Social Ministry, Catholic Charities has developed
a leadership training program called Sqlt and Light. Based on the 1994 statement
* of the US. Catholic Bishops on building the social concerns ministries of
parishes, this program educates participants in Catholi¢ Social Teaching,
identifying the seriptural and magisterial foundations of the call to greater
concern for God’s people. Participants are encouraged to use the major themes

and documents of Catholic Social Teaching to appreciate the fullness of the social |

mission and stimulate the development of appropriate social conicerns activities
in their parishes. The Salf and Light training manual has been updated to reflect
changes in the principles of Catholic Social Teaching - most notably the addition
of the seventh principle, “Care for God’s Creatior.” With input from parish
social ministty leaders from across the country a revision was produced entitled
Becoming a Commiunity of Salt and Light: Formation in Parish Social Ministry, The

book will be published by Ave Maria Press and becomie available to the public in -

thie Eall of 2003.

In addition, the Office conducts presentations throughout the diocese on various

aspects of Catholic Social Teaching and social justice. These presenta’aOns are
offered to adult educationi classes, RCIA classes, and teachers in parochial
~ schools. Social justice themes aré incorporated in the annual Charity and Justice
conference which attracts 150-200 participants.

2. Poverty.

The poverty rate in Delaware for the two year period 2000-2001 was 7.6%. The
poverty rate in Maryland for the same period was 7.3%. Maryland’s rate
rémained unchanged from the previous two yeat period, while Delaware’s
declined 1.8%. The 2003 federal poverty level for a famlly of three i§ an arinual
income of $15,260 or less.

In Delaware in 2001, a family of three receiving only welfare and food stamp
benefits was 44% below the federal poverty level. In Maryland, the same family
was 38% below the federal poverty level. From December 2001 to June 2002 the
number of welfare recipients declined in both states: less than 1% iri Delaware
and almost 10% in Maryland.
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The poverty rate for a female headed household with no spouse present in
Delaware is 204%. However, 37.1% of female headed households with a child
below the age of five are living in poverty. In Delaware, 7.9% of persons 65 and
older are living in poverty and 11.9% of Delaware children are living in poverty.
In Maryland, the poverty rate for a female headed household with no spouse
present is 184%. If a child below the age of 5 is present, the petcentage in
poverty jumps to 32.6%. In Mafyland, 8.5% % of persons 65 and older ate living
in poverty and 10.3% of Maryland children are living in poverty.

. Income disparity.
During the period from 1990 to 1998, the dollar and percent cliange in average
income for the bottom fifth of Delawarearis was -$742 (- 4.5%), while the top fifth
“realized an inctease of +$25,228 (+22.8%).

During the longet period from 1980 to 1998, the dollar and percent change in
average income for the bottom fifth of Delawarezans was +$211 (+1.4%), while,
fot the top fifth it was +§33,604 (+32.9%) i increase.

The share of incorne held by bottom fifth of Delawareéans changed from 7.0% of
the total in 1980 to 5,6% in 1996-98. During this same period, the sharé of incore
of the top fifth changed from 38.1% (1980) to 44.4% (1998).

Greatly Increasing National Incomie Inequality

From 1989 to 1997, the average after-tax income of the top one petcent of
households increased 36 percent, or $180,000 per household. This was six times
the average percentage gain the middle fifth of households received. It was 90
times the average dollar gain the middle fifth réceived.

In 1979, the top one petcent of the population received 7.5 percent of the after-tax
income in the nation. In 1997, it received 13.6 percent of the income, niearly twice
its share in 1979. Among the bottom 40 peicent of the population, the story is
reversed. This group received a markedly smallef share of the national i income in
1997 than in 1979. In fact, in 1979, the bottom 40 percent of the population
received nearly two and one half times as much ini after-tax income ag the top
one percent of the population, but by 1997, the top one percent received nearly as
miich income as the bottom 40 percent. In 1997, the 2.6 million peoplé who made
up the top one percent of the population had as much after-tax income as the 100
million Ameticans with the lowest incomes.
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Programs and initiatives to realize the preferential option for the poor:

All the programs operated by Catholic Charities are operated for the benefit of
the poor. Certain programs have a special focus to directly assist those iti
poverty who are facing an economic crisis. These programs include: emergericy
financial assistance for fent and utility costs, home heating assistance, emergency
and stpplemental food programs, emergency shelter services, and the provision
of free or low-cost clothing and household goods. During the sumrner growing
- season, sérvices are exténded to the several thousand migrant farm workers who
enter the diocese.

Diocesan social ministry also operates through two networks of parish-based
services: . the 5t. Vincent de Paul Society and parish outréeach, These two
networks function with parish volunteers and operate ini most parishes. They
opérate food pantries. and clothing closets, provide direct financial assistance,

visit shut-ins, and provide special Thanksgiving and Christras help to the poor.

Also functioning within the diocese are ministries to the poo'r under the direction
of religious orders of men and women. The largest of these is the Ministry of
Caring, sponsored by the Capuchin Fathers and Brothers. Their work includes
shelters for homeless mien and women, a ]ob placement centet, a day caré center,
dining halls, a dental clinic, a mobile health van, and a residence for men with
AIDS. They are aided by many hundred volunteers from churches of all
deriominations who help preparé and serve meals to the poor at the dining halls.

The Benedictine Sisters in Ridgely, MD provide services to the poor on the
property of their mother house. Known as St. Martin’s Barn and St. Martin's
House, services are provided by religious sister and volunteers. Services include
emergency food, clothing, and a five unit shelter for hormieless mothers and their
children.

The Little Sisters of Jesus and Mary have established a multi-service center in
Salisbuty, MD. They provide emergency and transitional housing services, daily
hot meals, food and clothing, emergency financial assistance, help in job-seeking,
a child day care center, and an adult education center.

Through the Campaign for Human Development, the diocese seeks to assist the
poor to assume greater control over their lives by addressing the structural
causes of poverty. By supporting grass roots groups of the poor and
marginalized, the diocese helps empower these groups to organize and advocate
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for changes i laws, pubhc and private policies, and public and private
priorities, which have fiot been supportive of low-incoiie people,

3. In addition to programs intended to address cere problenis related to poverty,
the diocese, through Catholic Charities, runs programg that treat, protect;
support, and enrich families and individuals. These programs, which operate for
the benefit of persons throughout the diocese, include: residential group care for
abused, neglected, and emotionally disturbed children and youth; adoption
services; counseling services for families and individuals, including specialized
intensive mental health counseling for childten; drug and alcohol freatment;
immigration and refygee resettlement; family life education; marriage
preparation; AIDS ministry; domestic violence counseling; a nutrition program
for children in day care homes; after-school and sumirner enrichment services for
childreri; and aduilt basic ediicatior.

Several collections are taken up annually in patishes to support social justice and
human development activities outside the diocese. These include: 1) The
Campuaign for Human Development, which raises over $85,000 each yeat, three-
fourths of which is sent outside the diocese for national programs, 2) Black and
Native Aerican Missions, which taises $45,000 each yeat, three-fourths of which
is sent outside the diocese for national programis; and 3) Catholic Relief Services,
which raises $45,000 each year and is used to support the church’s interna’aonal
aid effort.

4 Collabora,tlon W1th c1VlI authorltxes and w1th other state agenc1es, as Well as
of human Chrlstlan development takes many forms Many of the s services
ptovide by Catholic Charities and other religious groups in the diocese,. ate
funded by means of govetnment grarits and conitracts. These organizations are
recogmzed for the quality of their work and the pdsitive values, motivation, and
ideals they bring to the task. Indeed, governiment relies on nonprofits, religicus
groups, and voluntary associatioris to make up its service delivery network,
Collabozatiofi also occiirs thiough part101pat10n on nufrierous commuttees and
task forces (that include representatives from government, chuiches, and
community orgamzatlons) which endeavor t6 asséss community needs and
conditions and implement huriian service initiatives.
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. DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON

A, Statistics

XVIII. HEALTH CARE

1. Total Patients Served (Catholic Facilities)
St. Francis Hospital (Wilmington)
St. Francis Care Center (Brackenville) 104 beds
St. Francis Care Center (Wilmington)

Birth Center ~ Sold 2 /99

Primary Care Satellites
Center of Hope .
St. Clare Van

Jeanne Jiigan Residence

Assessment of Importance
St. Francis Hospital is the only Catholic Hospital in the State of Delaware. St.
Francis is a major force in the Wilmington Community for advocating the needs

Jan.1,1998 Dec. 31, 2003

187,152 177,740
241 139

338 220
1,096 608
134,346 39,362
2,918 4,976
250 4,418

82 405

of the poor and underserved which is evidenced throughout this document.

The St. Francis Care Centers for the elderly at Wilmington and Brackeriville are
the only Catholic nirrsing homes in Delawaré along with Jeanne Jugan Residence
which is conducted by the Little Sisters of the Poor, Beds in these institutions are
in-constant demand. They are appreciated by the community, both Catholic and

noh-Catholic,

2. Number of priests, deacons and religious iii healthcare instifutit)ﬁs. _

~ St. Francis Hospital

St. Fraricis Care Center
(Brackenville)

St. Francis Care Center

(Wilmington)

Jeannie Jugan Residence

Jan. 1,1998
Priests 1FT-2PT
Religious 10 FT -2PT
Rel. Voluriteets - 5
Priests 1PT
Religious  1FT-1PT

‘Rel. Volunteer - 1
Priests 1PT
Religious 1PT
Rel. Volunteer - 1
Priests 1
Religious 12

Dec. 31, 2003
Priests 2PT
Religious 3 FI-2PT
Rel. Volunteers - 2 PT
Priests.

Religious 1PT
Rel. Volunteer

Priests

Religious 1PT
Rel. Volunteer

Priests

Religious 9

DOW 03051



The Antonian Priests 1 Priests 1
Marydale Religious 2 Religious 2
St, Patrick House Priests 1 Priests 1
Vianney House for Priests 1 Priests 3
Priests

The Pastoral Care Téam at the Hospital also accepts Spiritual Care referrals at
both fursing homes.

- 3. To our knowledge, thefe is no Catholic or Christiari association of nurses,
phatmacists, ot obstetricians, but there is a Christian Association of Physicians
and a Christian Midwives Association. Orie of St. Francis Hospital’s physicians
is very active in the Catholic Medical Association in Pennsylvania.

4. St Francis Hospital has a thrée-year Family Practice Residency Programi
affiliated with Temple University and Philadelphia College of Osteopathic
Medicine with six students per year and eight faculty members, one of whom is
part-time.

1998 2003
18 students 18 stiidents

St. Francis does not have a nirsing school but prov1des clinical expetience for
nursing students of Neumanr College which is conducted by the Sisters of St.
Francis of Philadelphia. In addition, it does the same for the Delaware Skills
Center, University of Delaware, Salem Comimunity College, Delaware State
University, Delcastle High Schiool, Howard Career Center and Hodson
Vocational / Technical School.

B. De.scrip'ti'on,

1. Organizations and theif activities

Delaware’s only Catholic hospital was founded in 1924 and is licensed for 395
beds. In October 2002, St. Francis launched the region’s most comprehensive,
state-of-the-art Open Heart program as part of its $20 million, five-year Master
Facﬂﬂ:y Plari. The St. Francis Heart Center provides a full range of cardiac
services from expanded cardia¢ catheterization sefvices. to a broad tange of
treatment options iricluding bypass and othet sutgery and rehabilitation,

St, Brancis is a full-service community hospital with the Emergency Department

as part of the Delaware Trauma System; offers the Family Birthplace and
considers wormen’s health one of its specialties.
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Also part of the healthcare system are the Franciscan Care Centers at Wilmington
and in Hockessirt. The centers prov1de long-term care and restorative nursing
cate, along with rehabilitation services. Commiunity outreach efforts consist of
the Center of Hope, a family practice center in Newark, the Tiny Steps prenatal
program for low-income pregnant womefi and the St. Clare Van which provides
niedical care to the poor.

2. Results and Difficulties

The Catholic Hospital and Homes for the Elderly in the diocese enjoy a tradmon
of caring and commitment to quality, In 1996 and 1997 St. Francis Hospital has
been awarded the Delaware Quality Award. There has been parinering with
other organizations of similar values to help meet community health needs. The
values of Human Life and Dignity, Holism, Preference for the Poor, and
Stewardship contiriue to be fostered in each of out organizations.

The outreach provgrams sponsored by the hospital and its charity care program
provided $17 million in un-reimbursed charity care. This represents 10% of the
hospital’s total operating expenses.

3. Pastoral Care of the Sick

Each patient is visited upon admission by one of the priest chaplains, Referrals
are theri made to the Spiritual Care Department. Each member of the department
assumes responsibility for a specific unit. Communion is distributed daily to our
Catholic patients.

‘Mass is celebrated daily. Recitatiori of the rosary precedes the dally Mass. A
prayer service is held each Thursday at noon and religious miusic is played
continuotisly. The priest chaplains also celebrate liturgy at the long:term care
facilities.

There is interaction between patishes and the Spiritual Care Department. The
most recent examples related to new HIPAA privileges.

There is an active Ethics Committee that is guided by the Ethical and Religious
Directives. Interaction with the system office provides updates on critical ethical
issues, Each long-terin facility has an ethics sub-committee and ethics consults
are provided as needed, Birth and end of life issues are of special concern as pro
life is an integral part of our Catholic identity.

Advocacy efforts are significant. . Support is again provided by system
leadership. '

Provision of spiritual care to staff and families is very important.
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Volunteensm is promoted in the Kospital as well as in the hursing homes. The
two arms of volunteers serving the hospitals and its pa’aents and staff are the
Juniot Board Members who atfe involved pnmanly in fundraising, and the
Director Setvice Volunteers who provide service directly to patients and staff.

Volunteers are recrulted via the Cathohc paper and ecumemcal church bulletms

Oﬁfers

The student volunteer program provides service opportunities to students
tequited to do commiunity/Christian service volunteer hours as patt of their
academic requirements. Also, students researching the healthcare field as a
possible career, also find accommodation ini the programs. Retired Sisters,
Christian Brothers in the Novitiate and Lay Ministers taking time from their life
to serve, also find placement that suit their needs,

The goveining board and foundation board ate also conduits for local volunteer
i’nvolvejment_.

5, Questions Recra.rdmg Life, Suffermg and Death

The hospital and nursing hornes abide by the Ethical and Religious Directives for
Healthcare Facilifies. All physicians on the hosp1tal’s medical staff are made
familiar with the directives, receive a copy and agree to abide by them in their
sérvice at the hospltal its satellites and outreach programs. Several of these
physicians also servé as consultants to make recommendations whenever an
ethical-moral question is raised. In addition to working with Diocesan Pro-Life
staff, the hospital hag worked closely with the Catholic Health Association in
opposmg assisted suicide or othier pertinent legislation such as stem cell research
at state and federal levels,
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XIX. PASTORAL CARE OF MIGRANTS AND ITINERANTS

A. Statistics

1. There are at least 4,000 Hispanic seasonal laborers whom migrate to at least
56 migrant laborer sites scattered throughout the Wilmington Diocese. They
work in a variety of settings: nurseries, farming, horse-breeding and racehorse
grooming, crabbing and poultry processing.

2. There is no significant emigration of the faithful from the diocese to other
countries

3. Tourism in the diocese: The diocese is located on a peninsula jutting out into
the Atlantic Ocean. Surrounded as it is by water, there are innumerable bays,
inlets, rivers which provide vacation homes and resorts during the summer
season (June through August). In addition, an increasing number of people
because of affluence are continuing to visit vacation homes on weekends in the
“shoulder” season of April to June and September to November. Retired people
from the large metropolitan areas of Washington, Baltimore (Maryland) and
Philadelphia (Pennsylvania) along with Wilmington in the northern part of the
diocese, are seeking to settle in the resort areas and now require year-round
services not previously needed. Diocesan and parish structures have continued
to grow in order to keep pace with this development.

B. Description

1. The fifty-six known migrant laborer camps have been divided into four
regions and various pastoral agents have been assigned to coordinate each
region. Sacramental, outreach and special needs services have been established
at the seven largest camps. In 2003, an extensive needs assessment has begun to
assist in developing ministry at the remaining camps.

Most significant challenges have been poverty, lack of education, health care,
legal assistance, depression, alcoholism, prostitution and the presence of
Evangelicals. The greatest hope lies in the faith-filled response of most of the
migrant laborers as well as the commitment of twelve clergy and religious
serving migrants and training local parish clergy and lay leaders to welcome the
stranger on the move.
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I promulgated A Journey Unfolding, our second diocesan plan for Hispanic
Ministry (2003-2007), calling our clergy and faithful to continue building
Hispanic Ministry in areas of liturgy, community, formation and social action. In
this plan, I have emphasized that Hispanic Ministry must be parish based, the
pastoral and fiscal responsibility of all pastors not just solely the Diocesan Office
of Hispanic Ministry. The responses have been supportive.

2. The Apostleship of the Sea is active at the Port of Wilmington, the See City.
The diocese has maintained part-time chaplaincy to Catholic seamen at the port
for some years to service seamen who crew the cargo ships bringing crude oil,
hard good and fruit, and taking away manufactured goods. The cultural
backgrounds of the Catholic seamen are Filipino, Italian, German, Polish. The
Chaplain is assisted by lay volunteers. Many services to seamen are also
rendered on an ecumenical basis through the Seaman’s Center staffed around the
clock by volunteers of all faiths.

3. There are no international airports, railway stations or passenger terminals for
ocean going vessels in the diocese.

Pacem in Terris, a local ecumenical organization, annually bring Irish youth both
Catholic and Protestant from the north of Ireland to the diocese for six weeks of
studying, living and working together. Local families host the young people.
Our Catholic families through their parish are most supportive of this effort.
They witness by word and deed how Catholics and Protestants can live together
in peace in the USA. Hopefully, when the young people return, they can bring
this message to their brothers and sisters.

4. Because of the insignificant number of those people emigrating to other
countries, there is no need to prepare them for this experience. Through the
Chancery Office, arrangements are made for those who wish to attend a Papal
Audience when they visit Rome. From time to time each year, diocesan priests
lead pilgrimages to the sacred sites of Europe and the Middle East.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON : 1998-2003

XX. ARTISTIC AND HISTORICAL PATRIMONY OF THE CHURCH

A, Statistics:

Sacred Buildings

1998 2003

55 Parishes 57 Parishes
20 Missions 19 Missions

Parishes or missions with two churches

St. John the Baptist-Holy Angels

St. Mary Star of the Sea Mission (current church and 1767 Tubman Chapel
shrine)

Total sacred buildings: 80
" Historic Churches, built before the 1868 founding of the diocese:

1767 St, Mary Star of the Sea Golden Hill, MD (Tubman Chapel)*

1782 St. Joseph, Cordova, MD

1793  St. Francis Xavier (Bohemia, founded 1704), Warwick, MD*

1816 St. Peter, Wilmington, DE (transept of present Cathedral)

1819 St. Patrick, Pilottown, MD*

1819 St. Elizabeth, Denton, MD

1827 5t. Peter, Queenstown, MD

1830 St. Peter, New Castle, DE

1858 St. Mary of the Immaculate Conception, Wilmington
(consecrated by St. John Neumann)

1866 St. Teresa, Port Deposit, MD

Parishes maintain 76 sacred buildings in regular use as places of worship of
which seven were built before the establishment of the diocese in 1868 and have
considerable historic significance. Three other early churches of great historic
significance, noted by * above, are not in regular use because of small size or
remote location but are maintained by their respective parishes as historic
shrines and used on special occasions.
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B. Description

1. Conservation efforts. The historic and architecturally significant Sacred Heart
Church, built in 1874 to serve German and Polish immigrants to Wilmington,
was preserved with all its appointments after the parish closed in 1996, and now
operates as an oratory after being transferred to a Franciscan ministry serving
the urban poor. The Diocesan Real Estate Committee oversees an inventory of all
land and buildings owned by the diocese or individual parishes. The Archivist
maintains an inventory, with photographs, of the major diocesan artifacts of
historic significance and-has custody of objects not in use elsewhere. An
inventory of all parish registers has been compiled, and early registers not
previously microfilmed were identified and included in the filming completed in
1998. The Archivist provides technical assistance to parishes in developing
archives and patrimony preservation programs, which are encouraged but not
yet directed. The historic archives of the diocese were moved to a facility
providing considerably more space and a larger storage area, which is
maintained at optimum temperature and humidity, with sensors monitored on a
24-hour per day basis by a contracted security service. A secure fire-resistant
cabinet is available for objects of intrinsic value.

2. Directives and Responsibilities. Parishes have been directed to obtain diocesan
approval, through the Chancery Office, before disposing of liturgical objects, art,
statuary, or building appurtenances that are no longer in use, to guard against
loss of our patrimony. A lay archivist, professionally qualified, works part-time
under the immediate supervision of the Vicar General for Pastoral Concerns and
the Chancellor. The archivist manages the historical archives and some other
inactive records, has custody of historic objects not in active use, and advises
diocesan departments and parishes on records management at their request. An
interpretive exhibition of some of the documents and artifacts held by the
Archives is being prepared. The Archives research room is open to the public one
day a week and also by appointment, and there are generally no restrictions on
public access to records prior to 1968 except for microfilmed baptismal records
after 1930, to which restrictions apply to protect the privacy of living persons.
Programs on the care and use of the diocesan patrimony are developed and
offered to parishes and agencies in response to requests or opportunities.

3. Attention to architectural and artistic quality. Construction and renovation of
churches is planned by qualified professionals and reviewed by the Diocesan
Building Committee and Liturgical Commission to assure dignity and suitability
in design, and respect for the patrimony exhibited by existing structures and
their appurtenances. A major step in preserving the musical patrimony of the
diocese has been the organization of a Diocesan Gospel Choir that travels
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through the diocese to demonstrate the vitality of the African-American musical
tradition in worship.

4. Collaboration with civil authorities. Ongoing cooperation over the last 30
years has resulted in nominations of a number of churches by the States of
Delaware and Maryland, and their subsequent listing in the National Register of
Historic Places. Register listing recognizes their historic, architectural and
cultural significance to the larger community, and also offers some protection
against ill-considered governmental action, as well as consultation and technical
assistance on their continued preservation, and even financial assistance under
special circumstances. Churches listed either individually or as significant
elements of districts include in Delaware St. Peter Cathedral, St. Anthony, St.
Hedwig, and St. Mary of the Immaculate Conception, Wilmington; St. John the
Baptist, Newark; St. Joseph, Greenville; St. Joseph, Middletown; and in Maryland
St. Francis Xavier, Warwick, and St. Peter, Queenstown.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON 1998-2002

XXI. FINANCIAL STATE OF THE DIOCESE

A, Statistics : '
(See XXIII Supplemental Information)

1. General Economics/Financial Condition of the Diocese
The Diocese has benefited during the last forty or fifty years from generous gifts and
bequests from a number of the faithful. Of course, we must continue efforts to cultivate

the goodwill of Catholics blessed with sufficient assets to leave a portion of their estates

to the Church. The Ordinary Income of the Diocese consists of an assessment imposed
on the weekly offerings of the faithful in each parish and upon other regular parish
income. In addition, there is an Annual Catholic Appeal conducted each year to supply
the Diocesan Bishop with additional funds to underwrite the cost of the Diocese’s
pastoral, educational, religious and charitable endeavors.

The Diocese is presently engaged in a capital campaign to raise monies for the
construction of two elementary schools and an addition to St. Thomas More Academy,
one of the two Diocesan high schools. The parish based campaign is hoping to raise $50
million, $30 million for parish use and $20 million for the schools. With the approval of
the Congregation for the Clergy, $12.5 million in tax exempt bonds was issued to
provide necessary funds to pay for the construction while the campaign pledges are
belng received.

The generosity of the faithful in the Diocese together with the prudent financial
management of reserves should provide adequate funds for Diocesan services in the
near term. Review of Diocesan financial needs and planning is an annual exercise with
the Diocesan Finance Council.

2. Financial Resources, Patrimony, Contributions, Levees or Taxes

In the imposition of assessment on parishes and other juridic persons, the Presbyterial
Council and Finance Council are consulted. Contributions by the faithful to support the
Diocese and Church, as well as the Parishes, are reviewed on an annual basis. There are
programs in place, under the direction of the Diocesan Development Office, which
encourage parishes to review needs annually, and to make those needs known to the
faithful, requesting appropriate increases in contributions when needed. An annual
stewardship program is strongly encouraged by the Diocesan Bishop in every parish.
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3. Assistance lent to other Dioceses and special contributions and offerings
Information regarding assistance to other dioceses and contributions to the Apostolic
See (Canon 1271), and the Peter’s Pence offering are also contained in the Supplement.

B. Description

1. Diocesan Department of Finance

The Department’s purpose is to assist the Bishop, the Diocesan Finance Council and
others responsible for the temporalities of the Diocese to fulfill their duties, both current
and long range. This is accomplished through the development and implementation of
broad financial policy for the Diocese, its parishes and all diocesan institutions, and the
supervision of all diocesan and parochial financial functions. The Finance Department
provides accounting, investment services, financial analysis and audit support for the
Diocese and most subsidiary corporations, and management oversight of parishes.
Certain larger subsidiary groups such as St. Mark’s High School, Catholic Cemeteries,
and Catholic Ministry to the Elderly maintain their own accounting division. Until
recently, Catholic Charities had also maintained its own financial staff, however,
activities of this office are now consolidated within the Diocesan Department of
Finance. The other groups interface with the Diocesan Finance Department, the
Department providing oversight through quarterly and annual reports, formal, outside
auditing and internal audits. All budgets of all corporations/agencies must be
approved by the Vicar General for Administration, the Chief Finance Officer and the
Diocesan Budget Committee prior to submission to the Bishop for final action. The
Department is responsible to initiate, monitor, and improve standard accounting
procedures and other methods of financial control for all diocesan departments,
agencies and parishes.

The Finance Department issues quarterly and annual reports on the financial affairs of
the Diocese to the Bishop and Finance Council. The office interprets data,
developments and conditions for the Bishop and Finance Council.

The Diocesan Finance Department staff participate on committees which approve major
expenditures by any diocesan organization and parishes, including new construction.
Staff cooperates with the Departmental and Program Heads in the development of
annual budgets, and provides fiscal advisory services to the Bishop and the Finance
Council, as well as consultative and oversight services to the parishes and other
organizations. The Department likewise keeps abreast of tax laws and other legislation
of possible financial consequence. '

Oversight of the parishes includes: review of annual budgets and annual financial
reports; a closer, on-site review (audit) of the parish financial operations on a rotating
basis; approval of funding plans for new construction or major renovation; issuing
financial policy and regulations; approval of parish investment plans.
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With the consolidation of the staff at Catholic Charities, the Finance Department has a
staff of ten, all lay persons. They are: The Chief Finance Officer, Catholic Charities’
Controller, three Accountants, three Accounting Clerks, Auditor, and Secretary.

The Diocesan Finance Council has been in place since 1983 and functions in accord with
the Canons of the Revised Code. Prior to the Code’s requirement of a Finance Council,
the Diocese of Wilmington had in place (since the mid 1960’s), a Finance Committee
which had advised the Chief Finance Officer of the Diocese in much the same fashion as
the Finance Council advises the Bishop. Membership on the Council is both lay and
clergy; the majority of the members are lay persons. Council members number nine.
The Council is broken down into several standing committees, including: investment;
assessment; audits; and project feasibility.

Diocesan Finance Staff
As mentioned above the staff of the Diocesan Finance Office numbers ten.

The Chief Finance Officer is Joseph P. Corsini, appointed November 4, 1996, by the
Most Reverend Bishop. Mr. Corsini is a Certified Public Accountant with extensive
experience in accounting, auditing, financial planning and management. His
background includes twenty-five years in progressively responsible positions at both
corporate and divisional levels. Mr. Corsini is forty-seven years of age, is married and
has four children.

The Chief Finance Officer reports to the Vicar General/Moderator of the Curia and
interfaces with the Bishop as needed or requested.

Support of the Clergy

A system of benefices does not exist in the Diocese of Wilmington. Clergy in the
Diocese are supported by and receive remuneration from the parish or institution to
which they are assigned. If they work within the Diocesan Curia, they are compensated
. by the Diocese. In instances where the local parish or the institution to which a
clergyman is assigned cannot generate sufficient funds for the support of the assigned
clergy, the Diocese provides. Salary for clergy is reviewed annually by a special
committee of the Priests’ Council which recommends to the Bishop appropriate salary
adjustments. Effective January 1, 2003, a new compensation policy was adopted for
priests of the Diocese. While many facets of this new policy remained unchanged from
the prior program, several enhancements are noteworthy. Specifically, remuneration
now better reflects equity and consistency among all priests, having eliminated as much
as possible, disparity in income based upon parish size, location, and number of stole
fees. To accomplish this objective, base wage rates were increased, guaranteed Mass
stipend amounts were established, and stole fees have become income to the parish.
Further, every priest is provided an expense allowance monthly, either by the
parish or the institute to which he is assigned. Clergy are also provided health
insurance, disability coverage and retirement benefits.
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2. Program of Health Care Coverage for Clergy

The Diocese has a special fund entitled the Priests Health, Welfare and Pension Fund
which provides for health and pension benefits for retired priests. The Bishop may also
draw from this fund in special cases to support priests not retired. Medical and dental
insurance is provided for all clergy and should priests become disabled, their needs are
cared for and underwritten by the Diocese beyond any health insurance coverage.

As regards criteria used to provide for the just remuneration of the clergy, as noted
above, the Priests” Council of the Diocese reviews, through a special committee, the
annual salary provided clergy taking into consideration increases in cost of living.
Since the 1970’s, there exists a set of guidelines which sets forth principles and
directives which regulate clergy salaries, provision of adequate living arrangements,
directives regulating services to be provided by rectories, medical insurance, retirement
benefits, continuing education benefits, sabbaticals, leave time (vacation), and
ministerial fees.

It is our belief that the Diocese of Wilmington maintains sufficient reserve funds to meet
the various expenditures and known liabilities of the Diocese in accord with Canon
1274. (In the financial reports submitted as attachments, the “common reserve fund” is
found in the amounts listed as “general, security and charity funds.”) However, the
assumption of $12.5 million of long term debt used to finance the school construction
projects may place a strain on available assets. This is especially true if investment
performance is not favorable.

3. Ecclesiastical Title

Diocesan and parochial properties are in the name of separate, civil corporate entities.
All parishes of the Diocese of Wilmington are incorporated separately as are certain
institutions such as residences for children, Catholic Cemeteries, facilities for senior
citizens, high schools, etc. The Diocese itself is incorporated as the Catholic Diocese of
Wilmington, Inc., a Corporation Sole, with the Diocesan Bishop as the sole member of
the corporation.

Each parish corporation has five members including the Diocesan Bishop, the local
Pastor, the Diocesan Chancellor and two lay trustees (the latter in accord with civil law).
Officers of the corporation are President and Treasurer. The Pastor of the parish serves
in these positions Ex-officio. The third officer is the secretary, normally appointed by
the pastor.

Several Diocesan agencies are incorporated separately. Those corporations are listed
below. These entities have been created for insurance purposes, hopefully further
protecting the patrimony of the Diocese:
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Catholic Cemeteries, Inc. Catholic Charities, Inc.

Catholic Diocese Foundation Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc. Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc.
Catholic Youth Organization, Inc. Children’s Home, Inc.

Seton Villa, Inc. Siena Hall, Inc.

Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc. (Holding company for the Diocesan High Schools,
St. Mark’s and St. Thomas More Academy)

In the accompanying financial statements it is noted that the invested resources of the
Local Church are divided among and assigned to various purposes. The origin of most
of these funds is gifts given by the Faithful for specific purposes. Thus, the corporations
listed, for example, under Catholic Charities, is for the most part, gifts designated by
donors for that purpose. The “free and clear” reserves of the Bishop are listed under
General Fund, Security Fund and Charity Fund.

There also exists a Catholic Diocese Foundation, established in 1928, distinct from the
Diocese, but with the purpose of supporting educational, charitable and religious
projects within the Diocese of Wilmington. The Diocesan Bishop is an Ex-offico
member of the Board of Trustees of the Catholic Diocese Foundation. The management
of the assets and the distribution of grants is at the discretion of the Board of Trustees.

Various properties and assets of the Diocese are held in the various corporations.
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DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON ' 1998-2003

' XXII. GENERAL ASSESSMENT AND OUTLOOK FOR THE FUTURE

1. General Assessment . :

The Diocese of Wilmington is a medium sized diocese in territory encompassing 5,300
square miles. It includes the total State of Delaware (2,000 square miles) and the nine
(9) counties of the Eastern Shore of Maryland (Maryland, east of the Chesapeake Bay)
(3,300 square miles). The See City is located in Northern New Castle County, the most
populace of the 12 counties in the diocese.

The 220,000 Catholics of the Diocese of Wilmington make up a little over 18% of the
total population. The bulk of the Catholic population (60%) live in the northern-most
county of Delaware, New Castle County.

Of the 57 parishes and 19 missions in the diocese, 33 parishes are in New Castle County.
Twelve (12) of these parishes are in the City of Wilmington. Several of the city parishes
are experiencing the problems characteristic of parishes in any large city in the country;
shrinking congregations, aging facilities and major financial difficulties (including the
Cathedral parishy).

One of the city parishes services a small African-American community and is staffed by
Franciscans (OFM). Several other parishes number a few African-American members.
In March 1999 a Task Force on Ministry to Black Catholics began which attempted to
identify African-Americans in the diocese. The diocese now has an office for this
ministry. -

There are an estimated 80,000 Hispanics in the diocese consisting of Puerto Ricans and
Dominicans who began to arrive in the 1950’s and 1960's as well as Mexicans,
Guatemaltecos, Salvadorans and Columbians who have immigrated to the diocese over
the past ten years. In addition, there are Peruvians, Nicaraguans, Costa Ricans,
Ecuadorians, Bolivians and other Hispanics. A great diversity among Hispanics exist:
their educational levels, types of employment, variety of city and rural dwellings and
forms of religious and cultural expression create a beautiful tapestry.

Franciscan Friars (OFM) serve the Hispanic Ministry Parish, St. Paul’s, in the City of
Wilmington where there is a very successful elementary school with a large Hispanic
population. Four Carmelites of Charity Verduna community from Spain serve the
second largest Hispanic Ministry Parish, St. Michael the Archangel in Georgetown, DE.

Four Sisters of Charity of Convent Station serve a rural migrant and immigrant
population in Westover, MD. One Sister of St. Joseph, one Sister of St. Bridget, one
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Augustinian priest and one Dominican priest from Peru are the primary pastoral agents
of Hispanic Ministry at seven additional parishes.

Six diocesan priests celebrate Spanish Mass assisted by six recently appointed lay
Pastoral Associates at eight different parishes. Five diocesan priests and several
diocesan seminarians have taken summer time Spanish immersion courses.

The Faithful

The faithful of the diocese are probably typical of most Catholic populations in America
in many respects. The fact that so many of our Catholic people live in one county poses
a unique challenge to creating real diocesan unity. However, I would quickly add, our
experience is that parishes in the more scattered and less populated areas of the diocese
respond equally as well (if not better at times) to the Bishop’s appeal and to other calls
for financial support and varied spiritual and pastoral programs, as the parishes in the
more populated part of the diocese. Given the fact that a number of parishes in the less
populated areas are smaller, participation in parish life is often at a higher percentage of
the membership. Programs for youth seem more attractive to people in these areas also.

At times, one hears the complaint that most of the resources of the diocese are
concentrated in the more populated area, but I do not consider this a major problem.
Diocesan offices and agencies are quite aware of the need to take special care to offer
services and programs in all parts of the diocese. From my very first week here I have
referred to the diocese as “the Diocese of Wilmington in Delaware and the Eastern
Shore of Maryland”.

Most Catholics attending Mass receive Communion. Many lay persons volunteer to
serve as lay ministers offering their services as lectors, Ministers of Communion,
visitors of the sick and outreach workers. The laity’s participation in the life of the
parish is also aggressively sought by invitation to serve on parish pastoral and finance
councils and other types of parish committees.

While the life of the parish could be described as active, there was a need for
development of additional spiritual exercises and devotions. Three parishes, St. Ann
and Immaculate Heart of Mary in Wilmington and Holy Cross in Dover set up
Perpetual Adoration Eucharistic Chapels.  Other examples include: parishes have
public recitation of the Rosary either before or after Mass; First Friday and First
Saturday devotions; First Friday Eucharistic devotions with exposition and benediction
of the Blessed Sacrament accompanied by special prayers for priests and for increased
vocations. We have an active diocesan youth ministry office. They have started
“Theology on Tap” in four parishes and have five active young adult teams in other
parishes around the diocese. These teams organize events and activities such as weekly
faith sharing and weekly activities for their area. Some members of these teams will
attend a nationally recognized professional team to help them improve the young adult

ministry.
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The Clergy

There are 119 diocesan clergy. Fourteen (14) are retired; two (2) are in the military and
ten (10) are servicing institutions or other church offices outside the Diocese of
Wilmington; five (5) are on leave. Of the 88 active priests in the diocese, most are
involved in parochial ministry; some are working in specialized fields; seven (7) are
chaplains to hospitals, prisons and other institutions; one (1) is a pastoral minister at a
secondary school; one (1) are involved in the Neuman Apostolate full time. Ten (10)
diocesan priests are attached to some office of the Diocesan Curia. Six (6) of these priests
are also pastors of parishes in the diocese.

There are 86 religious priests in the diocese many of whom are involved in school work.
Two religious orders of priests operate private secondary schools.

We are fortunate to have a number of Capuchin Friars, both priests and brothers,
working among the poor under an umbrella organization known as Ministry of Caring
founded by the Capuchin Father, Fr. Ronald Giannone. The ministry began as a shelter
for homeless women in the mid 70’s and has grown in the number of its services, now
providing four shelters for abandoned women, two shelters for homeless men, a home
for homeless Aids patients, transitional home for families, transitional housing for
women and children, affordable housing for seniors, three soup kitchens or dining
rooms, two child care centers, a job placement center, a furniture and clothing
distribution center, dental office, Samaritan Outreach and mobile medical van. In
addition, the Friars have attracted a host (literally hundreds) of lay volunteers as well as
religious women to assist them in their many ministries which are primarily focused in
and around the See City.

There are other groups of religious and priests staffing institutions and ministries
servicing the poor in other parts of the diocese including the Little Sisters of Jesus and
Mary, the Little Sisters of the Poor, the Sisters of Charity of Convent Station and the
Carmelites of Charity Verduna communities.

Enthusiasm for the church and priestly life is relatively good among most diocesan
priests. The majority of the priests can be counted on to support the various initiatives,

‘programs and efforts of the bishop. At times some priests can be a little difficult and

somewhat independent. This usually manifests itself by a less than enthusiastic
endorsement of programs or by passive opposition to diocesan staff.

There is a hesitance among some priests to accept parishes which include a school. This
creates a real problem when the number of priests are few. Some pastors complain
about an abundance of “administrative paperwork”. Yet others are learning well the
art of delegation and empowerment of the laity by hiring business managers and other
lay staff and religious to free themselves of certain types of administrative detail so that
their ministries might truly focus more on the pastoral.
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I sincerely believe the majority of priests in this diocese want to be effective, good
priests. They will respond to a motivating, energetic bishop who is supportive,
accessible and who also requires accountability. When accountability is lacking, this
impacts negatively upon many who would work hard and re-dedicate themselves to
the Lord each day as I believe every priest must.

Diocesan Curia

As regards the Diocesan Curia, I believe it is well organized and adequate to meet the
needs of the local church. Few priests are in the Curia, a common experience in many
dioceses. However, I do believe we are “thin” in some areas. The Tribunal currently
has only one diocesan priest on staff. Only one priest is involved in Catholic Charities
as a counselor; no priest works in the Religious Education Office or the Schools Office
but there is a priest as Director in the Worship Office.

We have a fully qualified Catholic with wide experience in business and finance as the
Chief Financial Officer. He is a diocesan official. In the period of time he has been here
he has done much to strengthen the financial accounting and reporting practice of the
diocese. The Finance Council is also composed of Catholic laypersons with long years
of dedication to the church and its ministry as well as expertise in their respective areas
of competence.

Three of the top administrative persons in the Curia, the Vicar General for
Administration and Moderator of the Curia, the Vicar General for Pastoral Services and
the Chancellor have multiple responsibilities. This is not uncommon in dioceses these
days but in this writers opinion we could be placing the diocese at some risk in the
future. -

The lay staff in the Curia are dedicated and well prepared for their jobs, particularly
those who head departments or offices. Our lay staff truly envision their jobs as
ministries.

The Diocese of Wilmington, like so many other dioceses throughout the country,
experienced a decline of vocations. During the five years of the quinquennium, our
ordinations have averaged three per year in 2000, 2002 and 2003. We currently have
sixteen seminarians studying for the priesthood . The local Vocation Office efforts to
attract vocations is commendable, however, we need to have our local parish clergy to
increase in their encouragement to men to consider the priesthood.

The clergy’s orthodoxy and loyalty to the Holy See in my opinion is good I am aware
of little, if any, evidence to the contrary.
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Finances :
The financial state of the diocese is directed and managed by a competent and well
suited Finance Council and finance staff. Over the years the bishops have attempted to
build reserves or endowment funds for the many diocesan institutions and ministries.

It is becoming increasingly difficult to finance the operating budget of the diocese from
regular income (the Bishop’s Appeal, the assessment and special collections). While the
Annual Appeal’s return has increased each year (nearly doubled in the last 10 years),
pastors of many parishes oppose any effort to increase the assessment and the Bishop’s
Appeal.

The Diocese is presently engaged in a capital campaign to raise monies for the
construction of two elementary schools. With the approval of the Congregation for the
Clergy, $12.3 million in tax exempt bonds was issued to provide necessary fund to pay
for the construction while the campaign pledges are being received.

We do not believe the assessment on parishes is burdensome. The average is 11% in the
aggregate on regular ordinary income (the weekly offertory, Christmas and Easter
collections and recurring special benefits which support annual budgets [e.g., bazaars]).
Tuition income, capital campaigns, special purpose income and investments are not
subject to assessment. In addition, we employ a graduated assessment system asking
less than 11% (as low as 6%) from parishes with a limited financial base and up to 13%
from those parishes blessed with affluent or comfortable income families.

2. Pastoral Plahning

The Seven Major Priorities for the Diocese of Wilmington

The seven major priorities for the Diocese of Wilmington that I established early in my

time as bishop include:

1) Conduct an aggressive campaign throughout the diocese to promote vocations to the
priesthood and religious life,

2) Develop and implement a comprehensive pastoral plan for ministry to Hispanic
people. A

3) Assess diocesan offices and ministries to assure efficiency and effectiveness.

4) Establish new parishes and schools.

5) Explore models of parish ministry, closely examining the role of the clergy and the
laity in these models.

6 )Evangelize the unchurched and alienated African-American community.

7) Develop and implement a comprehensive plan for ministry on college campuses.
Let’s examine our progress in pursuing these priorities.
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1) TO CONDUCT AN AGGRESSIVE CAMPAIGN THROUGHOUT THE DIOCESE TO
PROMOTE VOCATIONS TO THE PRIESTHOOD AND RELIGIOUS LIFE

We continue to be committed to cultivating priests who live heroic lives of prayer,
sacrifice and virtue in their consecration and mission. Our priests help to model for all
young people, and especially those considering a vocation to the priesthood and
religious life, a commitment to proclaim the Word of God, to celebrate the sacraments
with reverence and care, and to serve the people of God with the se]f-emptying love of
Jesus Christ. We have made significant progress in the past few years. We currently
have 16 seminarians studying for the Diocese of Wilmington; at one point recently we
had only four. We are working with seven (7) additional men who will enter seminary
formation in the Fall of 2003. Our directors of vocations have worked to develop
programs that keep vocations to the priesthood in the forefront of the minds of people
throughout the diocese. The director of vocations visits sixth and 11th-graders in the
Catholic schools throughout the diocese. We have used billboards with the slogans
“White Collar Workers Needed” and “Inquire Within,” reminding people of the need to
look inside oneself prayerfully to discover the call.

Attractive posters featuring our seminarjans are placed in our parishes and schools.
The “Pass the Word” program invites 11th-grade boys and girls to spend the day with
the bishop, the vocation director, sisters and seminarians to discuss vocations and
ministry in the church. Our web page — www.priests2be.org — helps to reach our
audience.

Many lay people in our diocese dedicate themselves to praying for vocations. Some
who suffer difficult physical crosses offer their sufferings in uriion with Christ crucified
for more priests and religious. Some pray before the Blessed Sacrament in our chapels
of perpetual Eucharistic adoration. In every vocation story there are prayerful lay
people who have encouraged the seminarian or priest. Please continue to pray for and
encourage young people to consider the priesthood and religious life.

2) TO DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT A COMPREHENSIVE PASTORAL PLAN FOR
MINISTRY TO HISPANIC PEOPLE

After a diocesan-wide needs assessment, in 1998 a four-year Diocesan Plan for Hispanic

Ministry (1998-2002) was developed. - On April 29, 2003 I approved a new four-year

(2003-2007) Diocesan Plan entitled, “A Journey Unfolding: Pastoral Guidelines for

Hispanic Ministry in the Delmarva Peninsula”,

Liturgy
The number of parishes offering weekly Spanish Masses doubled from seven to 14.

Mass, formation and outreach services were established at four seasonal migrant
worker sites. Over 300 were trained to serve as liturgical ministers. ‘Bi-lingual Masses
were celebrated at special occasions at nine parishes. Some parishes have begun efforts
to transport the faithful to Mass and religious education.
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Community
I joined over 1,600 faithful gathered in June of 1998 for the first diocesan Encuentro, the

Pentecost of the Hispanic community on a diocesan level. Also, I joined 2,000 faithful in
June 2001 for the second Diocesan Encuentro titled “Somos el Cuerpo de Cristo-—-We are
the Body of Christ”, emphasizing community between English and Spanish-speaking
Catholics paralleling the national Encuentro 2000 in California.

Bishop Ramazzini, from the Diocese of San Marcos, Guatemala, celebrated Masses and
confessions and visited 2,000 of his former Guatemalteco parishioners who are migrant
laborers in the central region of the diocese. We are currently entering into a sister-
diocese relationship with the Diocese of San Marcos. This is a direct response to Pope
John Paul II's appeal for greater solidarity between dioceses in North America and
South America in his 1999 apostolic exhortation “The Church in America”. Each parish
with a Spanish Mass celebrates popular feasts such as Our Lady of Guadalupe, Our
Lady of Providence, Living Stations of the Cross with outdopr processions through the
neighborhood, Mexican Independence Day, Saturday night parish fiestas, dances,
picnics and trips. '

Neighborhood evangelization projects include home visitation and door-knocking,
home rosaries, posadas, Bible studies and summer children camps. At least 10 parishes
have appointed Hispanics to their pastoral council. There are two Spanish Catholic
weekly radio programs. The diocesan Hispanic bulletin Pueblo de Dios en Marcha was
established and is published quarterly.

Formation

Three Hispanic men were ordained permanent deacons in 2002; six are in formation.
Four Hispanic seminarians are in formation for priesthood. One Mexican immigrant
youth group alumnus has professed simple vows with Missionary Sisters in
Washington, DC. Currently several Hispanics are in the inquiry stages into ordained or
religious life.

Because of extensive activities of mainline Protestant denominations, Evangelical and
Fundamentalist congregations and Jehovah’s Witnesses, extensive Catholic formation
opportunities have been developed. An estimated 500 Hispanic Catholics took part in
courses entitled “Introduction to the Sacred Scripture”, “Overview of the Old
Testamment”, and “Fe Y Exilio” offered at local parishes and home bible studies. Over
3,000 Spanish bibles, over 200 cassettes of the bible in Spanish have been distributed or
sold.

Eight parishes have established Hispanic Youth and Young Adult Groups (Pastoral
Juvenil). Over 125 have received leadership training over 500 have participated in four
diocesan Encuentros Juvenil. Over 250 youth attended Jornada weekend retreats hosted
by St. Paul, Wilmington. A Diocesan Hispanic Youth and Young Council has been
established in 2003. '
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Thirteen parishes established religious education programs that cater to the special
needs of immigrant children. Three parishes offer mission-style religious education at
homes and apartment complexes in order to respond to challenges of lack of
transportation or remote location from main parish. Over 1000 Hispanic adults
received the Sacraments of Initiation after completing RCIA processes offered at
parishes and special-case migrant worker sites. Five parishes offer English as a second
language programs for adults.

Social Action v

Most parishes with Spanish Masses have begun to establish outreach programs. St.
Paul parish has begun to form Voces Sin Fronteras aimed at empowering Hispanics to
organize, unify their voices and seek just working environments, adequate housing,
immigration reform and drivers license accessibility. Immigration services have been
strengthened. One religious sister and one lay woman have been appointed to offer
counseling in Spanish at two parishes and Catholic Charities.

3) TO ASSESS DIOCESAN OFFICES AND MINISTRIES TO ASSURE EFFICIENCY
AND EFFECTIVENESS

The primary purpose of any diocesan office or ministry is to assist and enable the

bishop, parishes, and church institutions to fulfill our common mission by providing

resources, leadership, direction, service, and support. The common vision of all of our

diocesan offices is to assist parishes in particular to become vibrant communities of

faith, worship, education, service and evangelization.

Work on this priority began in the fall of 1997 with the hiring of consultants charged
with evaluating all aspects of diocesan offices and ministries that impacted in any way
their mission, purpose, efficiency and effectiveness. The examination included a review
of office structure, lines of authority, reporting, internal and external relationships,

- budgeting and cost, communications and planning.

Our assessors advised us that in the main our diocesan offices and services did a very
good job. However, the consultants did have a number of recommendations: a clear
articulation of a common diocesan vision for all services; a review of departmental
structure and reporting relationships; improvement of internal and external
communications, particularly with the parishes; enhancement of our use of technology
in the day-to-day operations; and a tighter planning and budgeting process.

The study’s implementation resulted in some changes, but most importantly it offered
an opportunity for our diocesan staff to examine closely the services they provide,
change what needed changing, refocus, and renew their efforts in light of our common
mission.
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Major diocesan councils’ and committees’ purpose and need were carefully examined
and modified where required to strengthen leadership and to identify more clearly their
role and function.

Our finances are managed and accounted for under the direction of a diocesan chief
finance officer. Iapproved the first lay chief finance officer in late 1996 with the advice,
counsel, and full involvement of our diocesan Finance Council. We use professional
investment managers and advisers to carefully manage our invested assets. We
diligently develop and monitor an annual budget. We are audited by Price Waterhouse
Coopers. -1 was most pleased we were able to forgive debts owed the diocese by
parishes and cther institutions during the Great Jubilee celebration.

4) TO ESTABLISH NEW PARISHES AND SCHOOLS

In 1868, a 36-year-old priest named Thomas Becker was installed as the first Bishop of
the Diocese of Wilmington. Only 15 small churches served the scattered Catholic
community on 6,200 square miles of the Delmarva Peninsula. After his first tour of the
diocese, Bishop Becker noted that he found “churches and schools, small buildings, old
and poverty-stricken”. But he also found dedicated clergy and faithful lay people
willing to sacrifice to support and build up the new diocesan church.

When I became the eighth bishop of Wilmington 128 years latet, a very different scene
greeted me. With God's grace and the generosity and hard work of past generations of
bishops, priests and laity, the Diocese of Wilmington had grown beyond what Bishop
Becker could have imagined.

Catholics numbered over 185,000 in Delaware and the nine counties of Maryland’s
Eastern Shore which now make up the Diocese of Wilmington. There were 56 parishes
and 20 mission churches. Nearly 16,000 children of all ages, races, nationalities and
economic status were enrolled in Catholic schools, and over 30 diocesan ministries,
agencies, and offices served the Catholic population and community at large.

While the growth in those 128 years had been a great blessing, I faced a number of
challenges, not the least of which was coping with that growth. Unfortunately,
development in the diocese outpaced planning. As I came to know my new diocese, I
recognized that there was a need to establish at least three more parishes and that
several parish churches were too small to accommodate their growing numbers. Other
churches required repair, expansion or renovation. Several schools and other parish
facilities required expansion and/or repair. Additionally, I encountered near demands
from literally hundreds of parents throughout the diocese for more Catholic schools.
The challenge was how to address these issues in an orderly and effective manner.

We formed a Pastoral Pianning Task Force composed of clergy and lay persons to guide
the planning process and to make recommendations to me. Consultants were retained
to assist in developing both the process as well as the plan. We identified the heaviest
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growth areas of the diocese and arranged for consultations with pastors and parish
pastoral councils to obtain the local perspective. We studied data assembled by the
diocesan schools office, state and county planning agencies, and sought the assistance of
the Urban Affairs Department of the University of Delaware and its counterpart at the
University of Maryland.

Over a period of eight months data was reviewed carefully by the Planning Task Force.
Finally in the summer of 1998 a report was presented to me which was in turn reviewed
by priests of the diocese in a special meeting held in August. The recommendations of
the task force were also presented to our Diocesan Pastoral Council.

As you well know, the plan calls for the establishment of new parishes. The first among
them is St. Margaret of Scotland in New Castle County, which was formally set up in
May of 1998. We recently accomplished the separation of St. Jude in Lewes from its
mother parish, St. Edmond in Rehoboth Beach. We also look to the eventual
establishment of St. John Neumann Church as an independent parish in Wicomico
County near Ocean City.

While the plan strongly recommends founding new parishes, it also addresses the
insufficiency of church buildings and calls for the construction of five new larger
churches in existing parishes, two new regional schools to accommodate 600 students
each, as well as the expansion of existing parish and school facilities.

A new Catholic cemetery in Sussex County, Gate of Heaven, was opened to service our
Catholic population in the southern environs of our diocese. This néw cemetery
expands the services of Catholic Cemeteries to our two existing Catholic Cemeteries, All
Saints on Kirkwood Highway, Wilmington and Cathedral in the City of Wilmington
which provide the finest services and facilities to our Catholic people.

5) TO EXPLORE MODELS OF PARISH MINISTRY, CLOSELY EXAMINING THE
ROLE OF THE CLERGY AND THE LAITY IN THESE MODELS

We continue to express our commitment to a renewal of our parishes and collaborative

ministry in a variety of ways.

The diocesan summit on collaboration, as previously mentioned, helped to review and
study models and approaches that could better integrate the ministry of the clergy with
the many talents, skills and ministries our lay people bring to the church.

For many years now, we have benefited from the contributions of lay persons who
work as school principals, parish business managers, directors of religious education,
secretaries and accountants. Our laity helped pioneer the RCIA and new approaches to
evangelization and have energized our outreach to the poor.

10
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6) TO EVANGELIZE THE UNCHURCHED AND ALIENATED AFRICAN-
AMERICAN COMMUNITY

There is at present no organized Diocesan Program of Evangelization to the
unchurched. The Priests’ Council studied “Disciples in Mission” for this purpose but
rejected it. We had a Ministry Formation Institute which sponsored a pilot project in
five parishes using deacon candidates as leaders, but the program did not last after
financial and personnel problems caused the closing of the MFI. Parishes are
encouraged to have “Come Home for Christmas” programs but even where
enthusiastically undertaken they enjoy minimal success because of lack of follow up.

Our most successful prbgram of evangelization is the RCIA program which brings
approximately 450 candidates, unbaptized, baptized and fallen away Catholics to the
Church each year.

Black Catholic Ministry became more formalized during the quinquennium. A part-
time coordinator was hired and a structure was established that resulted in a Black
Catholic Gospel Choir obtaining more visibility. Eight hundred Black Catholics are
now on a mailing list. St. Joseph on French Street because of its location in the inner city
has achieved new stability with Franciscan Friars in charge (the traditional Black
Catholic Church for blacks before integration the 1960s). Bishop Saltarelli led a
delegation of twenty Black Catholics to the National Black Catholic Congress IX in
September 2002 in Chicago. They returned with enthusiasm. Co-Directors (still part-
time) were hired to replace the first part-time director. An office is being set up in the
basement of the parish of Christ Our King. Increased visibility of the group is
evidenced by radio programming in both the north and south of the diocese. Plans are
underway to implement the 8 principals of the 2002 Black Catholic Congress to bring
the gospel message to the inactive Black Catholics and unchurched members of the
Black Community. :

7) TO DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR MINISTRY
ON COLLEGE CAMPUSES

The diocese is committed to developing Catholic leaders on our campuses who will one
day be articulate and effective witnesses to Catholic principles in their professions, their
families and the public square. To accomplish this objective, we are moving ahead on a
variety of different fronts.

The diocese purchased property to house the Catholic Campus Ministry at Salisbury
(MD) State University. A campus minister serves the students at that campus and

* connects with the University of Maryland Eastern Shore in Princess Anne.

A deacon coordinates campus ministry at Washington College in Chestertown, MD.
There is Sunday evening Mass for students and discussion group opportunities.

11
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Students at Wesley College in Dover will have their own campus liturgy beginning this
spring and Catholic Campus Ministry is expanding at Delaware State University in
Dover.

In addition to liturgies, bible study, gatherings of students and faculty, speakers and
vibrant retreats, the newest program at St. Thomas More Oratory at the University of
Delaware is entitled “Conversations: Science and Religion.” It helps students and
faculty alike to explore the complex bioethical issues of our day from a Catholic
perspective.

Many of our college students around the diocese continue to hold top leadership roles
in the National Catholic Student Coalition.

c. Other responses on planning I believe are in the responses to the section marked
Appendix A: Challenges and Opportunities in the 90’s and Beyond. 1 might add,

The articulated priorities to date are:
+ Increase in vocations
+ Ministry to Hispanic community
+ Ministry to African-Americans
Increased outreach on college campuses
Strengthening and expanding schools
Development of a Strategic Plan to provide for new parishes.

*

+* »

12
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Quinquennial Report

Supplemenfal Information

As a result of the significant volume of data necessary to satisfactorily address item
XXI A-1, the Financial State of the Diocese - Statistics/ General Economic Situation,
this supplemental information has been compiled. It contains multiple audited
financial statements covering the years 1998 - 2002, and the budget for the present
year (Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2003) for the twelve Diocesan organizations. This
information is summarized by section according to the index which follows on the
succeeding page. A thirteenth section contains the information specific to item XXI
A-3, assistance made to other dioceses and contributions towards the needs of the
Apostolic See and the Peter’s Pence Offering.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington
XXII. FINANCIAL STATE OF THE DIOCESE
Statistical Index

Ref:

Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.

Catholic Cemeteries, Inc,

Catholic Diocese Foundation

Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc.

Catholic Youth Organization, Inc.

St. Mark’s High School

Catholic Charities, Inc. .

Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc.

9. Children’s Home, Inc.

10. Seton Villa, Inc.

11. Siena Hall, Inc.

12. St. Thomas More Academy

13. Other Data: Assistance to Other Dioceses; Contributions towards the needs
of the Apostolic See; Proceeds of the Peter’s Pence Collection

NI PN
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington
XXIII. FINANCIAL STATE OF THE DIOCESE
Statistical Index

- Entity: Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.

Enclosures:

¢ Audited Financiél Statements for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001
. | Audited Financial Statements for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999
¢ Audited Financial Statements for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997

¢ Budget summary for the year ending June 30, 2003
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Catholic Diocese of
Wilmington, Inc.

Financial Statements for the Years Ended
June 30, 2002 and 2001
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PRICEAATERHOUSE( COPERS

Two Commerce Square, Suite 1700
2001 Market Street
Philadelphia PA 19103-7042

’ Telephone (267) 330 3000
Facsimile (267) 330 3300

’ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Reisort of Independent Accountants

To the Audit Committee
Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Wilmington, Delaware

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets — modified cash basis of the Catholic Diocese
of Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 and the related statements of
activities and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Diocese’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemnents are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures ir the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our andits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

" As described in Note 1, these financial statements were prepared on the modified cash basis,
which isa comprehenswe basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

The Diocese has not adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93),
“Recognition of Depreciation by Not-for-Profit Organizations,” which requires not-for-profit
organizations to recognize depreciation as a cost of using up the future economic benefits of their
long-lived tangible assets. Also, equipment is expensed at the time of purchase that, in our
opinion, should be capitalized in order to conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The effects of not complying with SFAS 93 and of not capitalizing
equipment are not reasonably determinable.

In our opinion, except for the effect of not recognizing depreciation expense of long-lived
tangible assets and of not capitalizing equipment as discussed in the preceding paragraph, the
financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Diocese as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows
for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note 1.

Frriewatn i Goppees LD

November 6, 2002
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Balance Sheet - Modified Cash Basis

June 30, 2002

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pooled investments

Other investments — priests’ health
and welfare trusts

Other assets (net)

Pledges receivable (net)

Notes receivable

Real estate

Assets held for affiliates

Total assets
Liabilities and Net Assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted - general
Unrestricted - designated
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2002 2001
Unrestricted

General Designated Total Restricted Total
$ 543,745 3 55037 § 598,782 S 48,696 8 647,478 3 1,187,328
9,987,268 22,609,387 32,596,655 7,621,397 40,218,052 52,696,923
- 6,056,671 6,056,671 - 6,056,671 6,989,230
903,538 156,420 1,059,958 64,362 1,124,320 544,990
- - - 16,071,395 16,071,395 7,670,486
708,625 - 708,625 - 708,625 746,378
1,164,680 - 1,164,680 - 1,164,680 1,164,680
- - - 71,065,255 71,065,255 80.348,363
$13,307.856 $28,877.515 $42,185371 § 94871105 $137.056476 $151,348,378

$ 15,152,683

$ 7,828,375

$ 2,116,859 % - $ 2,316,859 § 13,035824
. - - 71,065,255 71,065,255 80,348,363
2,116,859 - 2,116,859 84,101.07% 86,217,938 88.176.738
11,190,997 - 11,190,997 - 11,190,997 12,763,415
- 28,877,515 28,877,515 - 28,877,515 32,682,152
- - - 5,238,197 5,238,197 12,194,244
. . - 5.531,829 5,531,829 5,531,829
11,190,997 28,877,515 40,068,512 10,770,026 50,838,538 63,171,640
$13,307.856 528,877,515  $42,185.371 $ 94.871,105 $137,056476 $151.348,378

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

2.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Balance Sheet - Modified Cash Basis

June 30, 2001

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pooled investments

Other investments — priests’ health
and welfare trusts '

Other assets (net)

Pledges receivable (net)

Notes receivable

Real estate

Assets held for affiliates

Total assets
Liabilities and Net Assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets dug to affiliates

Total liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted - general
Unrestricted - designated
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

-3-

2001
Unrestricted

General Designated Total Restricted Total
S 761,070 §$ 89,857 $ 850927 § 336,401 S 1,187,328
11,115,299 25,492,992 36,608,291 16,088,632 52,696,923
- 6,989,230 6,989,230 - 6,989,230
377,567 110,073 487,640 57,350 544,990
- . - 7,670,486 7,670,486
746,378 - 746,378 - 746,378
1,164,680 - 1,164,680 - 1,164,680
- - - 80.348,363 80,348,363
$14,164,994  $32,682.152  $46,847,146  $104,501,232  $£15],348,37%
$ 1,401,579 $ - § 1,401,579 § 6,426,796 S 7,828,375
- - - £0.348,363 80,348.363
1,401,579 - 1,401,579 86.775.159 §8,176.738
12,763,415 - 12,763,415 - 12,763,415
- 32,682,152 ° 32,682,152 - 32,682,152
- - - 12,194,244 12,194,244
- - - 5,531,829 5,531,829
12,763 415 32,682,152 45,445.567 17,726,073 63.171,640
514,164,994  $32,682,152 $46,847,146  §104,501,232  $151.348.378
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets - Modified Cash Basis

For the Year Ended June 30, 2002

Revenues and other support:
Assessments
Annual appeal
Pooled investment loss
Other investment loss
priests” health and welfare trusts
Collections
Contributions
CDF Grant
Priests’ insurance premiums
Lay employee insurance
premiums (see Note 4)
Other
Nel assets released
from restrictions

Total revenue and
other support

Expenses:
Program services:

Catholic Charities

Catholic education

Communication

Distributions:
Education Fund
Other funds
National collections
Other

Pastoral services

Total program services

Supporting scrvices:

Administration

Capital expenditures

Development

Finance

Priests’ insurance expense

Lay employee insurance
expense (see Notc 4)

Lay employee benefits

Total supporting szrvices
Total expznses

Changes in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Unrestricted Temporarily Restricted
Capttal Permanently
General Designated Tetal General Campalgn Restricted Total

§ 3,171,993 s - § 3,171,993 S ) - 8 - 3 - 5 3,171,993
2,014,179 - 2,014,179 - - - 2,014,179
(412,662) (1,779,788B) (2,192,450) (1,077,048) (7,082) - (3,276,580)
- (545,949) (545,949) . - - - (545,949)

- 88,260 88,260 947,041 - - 1,035,301

74,631 479,134 553,765 583,374 5,666,921 - 6,804,060

- 25,000 25,000 - - - 25,000

- 1,223,226 1,223,226 . - - 1,223,226

- 5,040,967 5,040,967 . - - 5,040,967

220,887 191,517 412,404 33,623 - - 446,027
892 880 12,209.996 13.102.876 (2,787.738)  (10.315.138) - -
5.961.908 16,932 363 22.894.271 (2,300,748 _ (4.655.299) - 15,918,224
923,416 181,797 1,105,213 - - - 1,105,213
739,438 - 739,488 - - - 739,488
87,186 - 87,186 - - - 87,186

- 1,212,588 1,212,588 - - - 1,212,588

- 720,230 720,230 - - - 720,230

- 974,046 974,046 - - - 974,046

344,940 - 344,940 - - - 344,940
820,355 709,436 1,529,791 - - - 1,529,791
2,915 38s 3,798,097 6,713 482 - - - 647_13.482
2,529,588 1,785,149 4,314,737 - - - 4,314,737
. 152,368 9,107,002 9,259,370 - - - 9,259,370
300,033 - 300,033 - - - 300,033
390,738 - 390,738 - - - 390,738

- 1,016,537 1,016,537 - - - 1,016,537

: . 5,030,215 5,030,215 - - . 5,030,215
1,246,214 - 1,246.214 - ol - 1.246214
4,618,941 16,938,903 21,557.844 - - - 21.557.844
7,534326 20.737.000 28.271.326 - = - 28.271.326
(1,572,418)  (3,804,637)  (5,377,055)  (2,300,748)  (4,655,299) - (12,333,102)
12,763 415 32.682.152 45.445.567 10,489.408 1,704,336 5.531,829 63,171,640
511,190,997  $28,877,515  $40,068,512 § B,188,660 $(2,950,463) 55,531,829  §50,838,538

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

4.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets - Modified Cash Basis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2001

Revenues and other support:
Assessmenis
Annual appeal
Pooled investment income (loss)
Other investment income (loss) -
priests’ health and welfare trusts
Callections
Contributions
CDF Grant .
Priests’ insurance premiums
Lay employee insurance
premiums (sc¢ Note 4)
Other
Net assets released
fram rtestrictions

Total revenue and
other support

Expenses:
Program services:
Catholic Charities
Catholic education
Communication
Distributions:
Education Fund
Other funds
National collections
Other

Pastoral services

Tolal program services

Supporting services:

Administration

Capital expenditures

Development

Finance

Priests” insurance expense

Lay employee insurance
expense (see Note 4)

Lay einployee benzfits

Total supporting services
Tatal expenses

Changes in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Unrestricted Temporarily Restricted
Capital Permanently -
General Designated Total Genersl Campaign Restricted Tota}

$ 2,902,869 § - 5 2,502,869 - - § -~ § 2,902,869
2,744,158 - 2,744,158 - - - 2,744,153
(328,624) (694,674) (1,023,258) § 29,969 % (94) - (993,423)
- (542,498) (542,498) - - ~ (542,498)

49,882 127,961 177,843 1,088,474 - - 1,266,317
70,941 528,480 599,421 680,789 3,569,631 - 4,849,841
5,298 25,000 30,298 - - - 30,298

- 1,059,436 1,059,436 - - - 1,059,436

- 3,829,693 3,529,693 - - - 3,329,693

300,814 106,917 407,731 77,994 - - 485,725
345711 4,176,965 4,522,676 (2.657.975) 1,864,701 - .
6.091,049 8,617,280 14,708,329 {780.749) 1,704,836 - 15.632.416
845,799 200,119 1,045,913 - - - 1,045,918
638,704 - 638,704 - - - 638,704
106,758 - 106,758 - - - 106,758

- 1,294,057 1,294,057 - - - 1,294,057

- 1,462,293 1,462,293 - - - 1,462,293

49,882 793,931 843,813 - - - 843,813
794,680 - 794,680 - - - 794,680
786,173 - 6R0412 1,466,585 - - - 1,466,585
3,221,996 4430812 7,652,808 - - - 7.652,808
2,352,585 1,200,039 3,552,624 - - - 3,552,624
138,052 - 138,052 - - - 138,052
382,474 - 382,474 - - - 382,474
372,543 - 372,543 - - - 372,543

- 1,167,949 1,167,949 - - - 1,167,949

- 4,428,862 4,428,862 - - - 4,428,862
1,249.432 - 1,249,432 - - - 1,249.432
4,495,086 6,796,850 11,291.936 - - - 11,291.936
7,717.082 11,227,662 18.944.744 - - - 18,944,744
(1,626,033) (2,610,382) (4,236,415) (780,749) 1,704,836 - (3,312,328)
14,389,448 35.292.534 49,681,982 11,270,157 - 55,531.829 66,483,968
512,763,415  $32,682,152  $45,445,567 $10,489,408 §1,704,836 $5,531,829  §63,171,640

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows - Modified Cash Basis
For the Years Ended June 30, 2002 and 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Changes in net assets ‘
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

used in operating activities:
Net depreciation on pooled investments
Net depreciation on other investments -
priests” health and welfare trusts
Bad debt expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Pledges receivable
Other assets (net) -
Assets held for affiliates
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliates

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Amounts drawn from pooled investments for operations

Reinvestment of interést and dividends into pooled investments

Reinvestment of interest and dividends into other investments -
priests’ health and welfare trusts

Deposits into pooled investments

Amounts drawn from other investments for priests' pension
payments :

Amounts drawn from pooled investments for health insurance

Issuance of notes receivable

Repayments of notes receivable

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2002 2001
$(12,333,102)  $(3,312,328)
4,107,090 2,216,854
738,497 763,903
1,208,136 701,065
(9,609,045)  (8,263,706)
(579,330) (42,507)
9,283,108 6,556,119
7,324,308 6,741,312
(9.283.108) (6,556,119}

(6,143,446},

_(1,195,407)

10,950,582 5,718,283
(830,510) (1,223,431)
(192,548) (221,405)

(6,051,284) (5,910,440)

367,778 336,202
4,321,825 3,740,836
(14,363) (410,045)
52,116 52.718
8.603.596 2.082,718
(539,850) 887,311
1,187,328 300,017

$ 647,478 $ 1,187,328

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

-6-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operatmns
Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) is a not-for-profit corporation having as its

objects and purposes the promotion of the teachings of Jesus Christ, as taught and set forth by the
Roman Catholic Church throughout the Diocese in the State of Delaware and the nine (9) Counties of
the State of Maryland’s Eastern Shore and such territory over which the Diocese will have
jurisdiction as delegated by proper authority of the Universal Roman Catholic Church.

Basis of Reporting
The Diocese reports using the modified cash basis of accounting, which differs from the accrual basis

principally in not recognizing certain pledges and grants and in not establishing accruals for pension
liabilities and priests’ health and welfare trusts. The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with these principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying financial statements reflect only the operation of the Diocese. Certain other
operating entities have not been combined in the accompanying statements, the more significant of

which are as follows:

Affiliated Parishes and Schools
Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.

Catholic Charities, Inc.

Catholic Diocese Foundation
Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc.
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc.
Catholic Youth Organization, Inc.
Children’s Home, Inc.

Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc.
Seton Villa, Inc.

Siena Hall, Inc.

The Diocese acts as a fiduciary for these entities by investing funds in 1ts pooled investment and cash
management accounts on behalf of these entities,

Financial Statement Presentation
Resources are reported for accounting purposes into separate classes of net assets based on the

existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. A description of the three net asset classifications

follows:

o Unrestricted Net Assets include those assets that are available for the support of operations
and whose use is not externally restricted, although their use may be limited by other factors
such as by contract or board designation.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

» Temporarily Restricted Net Assets include gifts for which donor imposed restrictions have
not been met and pledges receivable for which the ultimate purpose of the proceeds is not
permanently restricted. Temporarily restricted net assets are primarily restricted for youth
education and related activities, education of men for the priesthood, and the upkeep of
specific facilities. : '

e Permanently Restricted Net Assets include gifts, trusts, and pledges which require by donor
restriction that the corpus be invested in perpetuity and only the income be made available for
operations in accordance with donor restrictions.

Contributions )
Noncash contributions are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Contributions of cash and

other non-capital assets are reported as temporarily restricted operating revenue if the contributions
are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is
accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported
in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Donor restricted contributions
which are received and expended within the same fiscal year are reported as unrestricted revenues.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less. The Diocese investments in cash and cash equivalents are interest bearing. At times
these amounts may exceed federally insured limits.

- Pooled Investments
Pooled investments are stated at fair value. Pooled investment income on the statement of activities

includes interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses, net of consulting and
custodial costs.

The Diocese manages an investment pool for its investments and those of its affiliated organizations.
The investment pool is held in a custody account at Mellon Trust. The pool is invested in a
combination of fixed income and equity securities and mutual funds.

The investment pool is exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risk. Due to
the level of risk associated with certain investments and the level of uncertainty related to changes in
the market value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near term
could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.

Pledges Receivable .

Except for pledges made to the Annual Catholic Appeal and grants made by the Catholic Diocese
Foundation, Inc., which are accounted for on a cash basis, unconditional promises to give are reported
at fair value as pledges receivable and contributions in the period the promise is received. All pledges
are due in one to five years. The Diocese is not the recipient of any conditional pledges.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

" Real Estate and Equipment
Real estate consists of buildings and the related land. All real estate acquisitions are capitalized at

cost, when purchased, or at fair value at date of gift, when donated. Equipment is expensed at the time
of purchase.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93), “Recognition of Depreciation by
Not-for-Profit Organizations,” requires not-for-profit organizations to recognize depreciation as a cost
of using up the future benefits of their long-lived tangible assets. The Diocese has not adopted

SFAS 93.

Assets Held for/Due to Affiliates
These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and invested for the affiliates by the Diocese in

the pooled investments.
2. Pooled Investments
The composition of pooled investments as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 was as follows:

2002 2001

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,894,581 $ 2,451,555

Fixed income 11,411,771 14,487,903
Domestic equity 20,773,266 28,537,920
6,138,434 7,219,545

International equity

Total pooled investments $40,218,052 $52,696,923

The comj)osition of other investments — priests’ health and welfare trusts at June 30, 2002 and 2001
was as follows: '

2002 2001
Cash and cash equivalents A $ @2917) $ (106,516)
Fixed income 2,723,238 2,616,674
Dormestic equity 3,376,350 4,479,072
Total other investments $6,056,671 $6,989,230

The fair value of these investments was determined based on quoted market prices at June 30, 2002
and 2001. .
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

Pooled invéstment income for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001 consisted of the following:

Interest and dividends
Net (loss) appreciation

Pooled investment (loss) income

2002 2001
S 830,510 § 1223431
(4,107,090) (2,216,854)
$(3,276,580) $ (993,423)

The pooled investment income was net of custodial and advisory fees in the amounts of $309,066 and
$344,184 for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Other investment income — priests’ health and welfare trusts for the years ended June 30, 2002 and

2001 consisted of the following:

Interest and dividends
Net (loss) appreciation

Other investment (loss) income

3. Notes Receivable

Notes receivable at June 30, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Korean Catholic Community - interest payable at 2.8% in monthly
installments of $948.95 over 15 years, starting June 2000

St. Mark's High School (roof repairs) - payable in annual -
installments of $40,000 the first year and $45,000 the
next eight years beginning December 30, 1997,
non-interest bearing

St. Hedwig

Other

" Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc,

Total notes receivable

-10 -

2002 2001

$ 192,548  $ 221,405
(738,497) (763,903)
$(545,949)  $(542,498)

2002 2001
$104,666  $111,333
180,000 225,000
53,430 53,430
800 | -
369,729 356,615
$708,625  $746,378
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

4. Capital Campaign

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2001, the Diocese initiated a Capital Campaign. Pledges
received as part of the Capital Campaign are shared by the Diocese and individual parishes based on a

predetermined formula. Pledges are receivable over a period of up to five years. Pledges receivable

over the next five years are as follows:

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

Total

Discount for net present value
Allowance for uncollectible pledges

Total Capital Campaign pledges receivable

Liability to parishes at June 30, 2002, included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses

Diocese pledge revenue for the year
ended June 30, 2002

The Capital Campaign will continue in future periods.

5. Related Party Transactions

$§ 7,351,713
6,754,850
3,203,563
1,550,527

313,168
600

19,174,421
(1,270,647)

1,909,201

$13,035,824

_$ 5,666,921

Certain members of the Diocese’s board are also board members of certain affiliated corporations.

The Diocese includes on its balance sheet assets held for/due to affiliated corporations which are
reported in restricted net assets. These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and are
included in the financial statements of the Diocese to portray the fiduciary relationship on these
assets.

The Diocese received assessments from its parishes in the amount of $3,171,993 and $2,902,869 for
the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and from Catholic Cemeteries in the amount of
$120,000 and $114,000, respectively.

During 2002 and 2001, the Catholic Diocese:Foundation awarded the Diocese $175,000 and
$185,110, respectively. Because the Diocese reports on a modified cash basis, only the cash amounts
received of $25,000 and $30,298, respectively, from the Catholic Diocese Foundation were included
on the statements of activities of the Diocese.

-11-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

During 2002 and 2001, St. Mark’s contributed $144,578 and $174,552, respectively, to funds held
and administered by the Diocese and Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of Catholic Youth Organization, Inc. (CYO) for wages,
payroll taxes and health benefits. During the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, the Diocese
disbursed a total of $237,220 and $217,160, respectively, on behalf of CYO. Of these balances,
amounts still due to the Diocese of approximately $10,715 and $15 407, respectively, are included ir.
other assets for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of the Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc. (Press) for wages,

payroll taxes, health benefits and other miscellaneous expenses. During the years ended June 30, 200:!
and 2001, the Diocese disbursed a total of $332,289and $305,567, respectively, on behalf of Press. Of

these balances, amounts still due to the Diocese of approximately $55,000 and $53,000, respecn\ ely,
are included in other assets for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of St. Thomas More Academy (St. Thomas) for wages, payroll
taxes and health benefits. Duning the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, the Diocese disbursed a
total of $907,333 and $815,939, respectively, on behalf of St. Thomas. Of these balances, amounts
stil] due to the Diocese of approximately $81,000 and $72,000, respectively, are included in other
assets for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001.

The Diocese provided funding to related organizations. The more significant funding provided was as

follows:
© 2002 2001
Press . $ 467,701 $425,183
Catholic Charities, Inc. 923416 845,799
St. Mark's High School . 1,207,197 776,940
CYO 129,900 123,504
St. Thomas 508,270 466,880

The Diocese provides administrative services for the Catholic Diocese Foundation, CY O, the Press,
and St. Thomas. The Catholic Diocese Foundation was invoiced $10,623 and $10,207 for these
services for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Diocese absorbed the cost of
the services to CYO, the Press, and St. Thomas since the amounts are not significant.

The Diocese pays all claims and other expenses related to their self-insurance plan, which
commenced on July 1, 1998. The self-insurance plan covers health insurance, workers’ compensation
and automobile insurance, and property and liability insurance. Each affiliated corporation pays the
Diocese a premium for their portion of the plan claims and expenses. In 2002 and 2001, the Diocese
recéived approximately $5,000,000 and $3,800,000, respectively, in premium revenue from affiliated
corporations. These premiums are invested in an insurance reserve fund, and the Diocese pays all
claims out of this fund. In 2002 and 2001, the Diocese paid approximately $5,000,000 and
$4,200,000, respectively, in actual claims, Included in accounts payable and accrued expenses is an
amount for estimated incurred but not reported claims.

-12-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

The Diocese also sponsors a health and welfare trust for priests, which became self-insured effective
January 1, 2001. Each affiliated corporation pays the Diocese a premium for their portion of the
plan’s claims and expenses. The Diocese received approximately $1,200,000 and $1,100,000 in
premium revenues from affiliated corporations in the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001,
respectfully. ' :

The Diocese provides life insurance and long-term disability for all full-time employees of the
Diocese, parishes, and certain affiliated corporations, at no cost to those entities since these amounts
were not significant. The Diocese also provides pension for all full-time employees of the Diocese,
parishes and certain affiliated corporations. Approximately $75,000 and $59,300 of pension costs
were charged to other entities for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Diocese charged rental fees of $2,136 and $2,052 for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, to the Catholic Diocese Foundation and rental fees of $22,932 and $22,050 for the years
ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, to the Press. A diocesan-owned building was used by
CYO, without charge, since the value was not significant.

6. Pension Plans

The Diocese sponsors a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all full-time
lay employees of the Diocese, parishes, and affiliated corporations, except Catholic Charities, which
has a separate plan. The Plan benefits are based on a monthly pension equal to 1% of the high five-
“year average compensation for each year of service. The following table sets forth the Plan’s status
determined using the measurement dates of January 1, 2002 and 2001:

2002 2001
Accurulated benefit obligation, including vested
benefits of $15,301,980 and $13,485,717 $15,862,621 $£13,987,131
Plan assets at fair value 9,201,254 9,550,328

The more significant actuarial assumptions utilized as of each valuation date are as follows:

Cost method ~ Aggregate

Interest rate : 7.5% per annum

Discount rate 7.5% per annum

Mortality 1984 Uniform Premium Table
Salary progression 4.0% per annum

For the yeﬁrs ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, $1,000,000 and $750,000, respectively, was funded into
the Plan and included as an expense in the statement of activities.

The fair value of Plan assets as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 was $8,§12,442 and $9,518,550,
respectively. The Plan assets are invested in Domestic Equity and Domestic Bonds.

-13-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2002 and 2001

The Diocese has also established a Revocable Priests Retirement and Welfare Trust to cover the
health and retirement cost of the clergy of the Diocese. As of June 30, 2002 and 2001 the fund assets
totaled $6,056,671 and $6,989,230, respectively. This balance is included within other investments on

the balance sheet. :

7. Income Taxes

The Diocese is a not-for-profit corporation which has been granted exempt status from federal
taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code,

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Diocese will support the operations of other related entities to the extent that those entities are not
financially self-sufficient.

In addition, the Diocese will support the operations of St. Thomas during the first several school years
of operation when enrollment levels and corresponding tuition is not expected to cover operating
expenses and planned capital expenditures. It is estimated that approximately $3.5 to $4.5 million of
Diocesan support will be required for St. Thomas for the years 1998 through 2004. As described in
Note 5, during 2002 and 2001, approximately $508,000 and $467,000, respectively, was provided to
St. Thomas by the Diocese in the form of contributions. It is expected that further support will be
provided by loans or additional contributions from the Diocese.

The Diocese is subject to lawsuits and claims with respect to various matters that arise out of the
normal course of its operations. In the opinion of the Diocese’s internal and external counsel,
considerable uncertainty exists with respect to the outcome of these matters. An estimate of the
expected liability for these matters is included in the balance sheet at June 30, 2002. Actual results
could differ from this estimate. Management does not anticipate that the ultimate liabilities from
these matters will have a material adverse effect on the financial position or liquidity of the Diocese.

-14 -
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2001 Market Street
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» Facsimile (2671 330 3300

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Audit Committee
Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Wilmington, Delaware

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets - modified cash basis of the Catholic Diocese of
Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) as of June 30, 2000 and 1999, and the related statements of activities
and changes in net assets and cash flows - modified cash basis for the vears then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Diocese’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generaily accepted in the United States
of America, which standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion,

As described in Note 1, these financial statements were prepared on the modified cash basis, which is a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The Diocese has not adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93),
“Recognition of Depreciation by Not-for-Profit Organizations,” which requires not-for-profit
organizations to recognize depreciation as a cost of using up the future economic benefits of their long-
lived tangible assets. Also, equipment is expensed at the time of purchase that, in our opinion, should
be capitalized in order to conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The effects of not complying with SFAS 93 and of not capitalizing equipment are not
reasonably determinable.

In our opinion, except for the effect of not recognizing depreciation expense of long-lived tangible
assets and of not capitalizing equipment as discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Diocese
as of June 30, 2000 and 1999 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then
ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note 1.

Drreosvatarpae (ogpots LLP

October 6, 2000
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Batance Sheet - Modified Cash Basis

June 30, 2000 and 1999

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pooled investments

Other investments — priests’ health
and welfare trusts

Other assets

Piedges receivable

Notes receivable, net of allowance

Rea] estate

Assets held for affiliates

Total assels
Liabilities and Net Assets

Accounis payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted - general _
Unrestricted - designated
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2000 1999
Unrestricted

General Designated Total Restricted Total “Cotal
b 928385 $ 37.086 % 129971 % 170,046 % 300,017 % 586.544
13,383,292 27,208,575 40,691,867 16,468.215 57.160.082 52.548.280
- 7,946,873 7.946.873 - 7.946.873 £.180.815
446,603 - 446,603 . 55,880 502.483 764,629
- - - 107,845 107,845 116,622
389,051 - 389.051 - 389.051 968.120
1,164,680 - 1,164,680 - 1,164,680 1.164.680
) . . - 86,904,482 86,904,482 79 705,147
$15,476,511  $35292,534  §50,769,045  $103,706,468 $154,475,513  $144.034,837
1,087.063 - [1.087,063 - 1,087.063 518,514
- - - 86,904,482 86,904,482 79,703,147
1,087.063 - 1,087,063 86,904,482 87,991,345 80,323,661
14389448 - 14,389,448 - 14,389,448 14, 239,087
- 35,292,534 35,292,534 - 35,292,534 32, 44,601
B - - 11,270,157 11,270.157 10, 25,639
- - - 5.531,829 5,531,829 5.21,829
14,389,448 35,292,534 49,681,982 16,801,986 66.483,968 63711176
$15476.511  $35,292,534 $50,769,045 $103,706,468  $154.475.513  $144.434.837

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Balance Sheet - Modified Cash Basis

June 30, 1999

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pooled investments

Other investments — priests’ health
and welfare trusts

Other assets

Pledges receivable

Noses receivable, net of allowance

Real estate

Assets held for affiliates

Total assets
~ Liabilities and Net Assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliates

.....

Net assets:
Unrestricted - general
Unrestricted ~ designated
Tempoerarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total )iabilities and net assets

1999
Unrestricted

General Designated Total Restricted Total
$ 4.37,094 $ 2408 $ 461,180 § 125,364 % 386.544
12,628,904 23,886,580 36,515,484 16,032,796 32,548,280
- 8180815  8.180.815 - 8.180.815
711,923 - 711,923 52,706 764,629
- - - 116.622 116.622
315.000 653,120 968,120 - 968,120
1.164.680 - 1,164,680 - 1.164.680
- - - 79,705,147 79.705.147
$15,257,601  $32,744.601 $48.002202 § 96,032,635 $144,034.837
618,514 - 618,514 - 618.514
- - - 79,705,147 79.705.147
618,514 - 618,514 79,705,147 80,323,661
14,639,087 - 14,639,087 - 14,639.087
- 32,744,601 32,744,601 - 32.744.601
- - - 10,795,639 10,795,659
. - - 5,531,829 3,531,829
14,639,087 32,744,601 47,383,688 16,327,488 63,711,176
$15,257.601  $32,744,601 $48,002,202 § 96,032,635 $144,034.837

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets - Modified Cash Basis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2000

Revenues and other support:
Assessments
Annual appeal
Pooled investment income
Other investment income —
priests’ health and welfare trusts
Collections
Contributions
CDF Grant
Priests’ insurance premiums
Lay employee insurance
premiums (see Note 4)
Other
Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenue and other support

Expenses:
Program services:
Catholic Charities
Catholic education
Communication
Distributions;
Education Fund
Other funds
National collections
Other

Pastoral services

Total program services

Supporting services:

Administration

Capital expenditures

Development

Finance

Priests’ insurance expense

Lay employee insurance
expense (see Note 4)

Lay employee benefits

Total supporting services
Total expenses

Changes in net assets
Net assets at_beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Unrestricted

Temporarily Permanently

General Designated Total Restricted Restricted Total
S 2833819 - § 2833819 - - % 2833819
2,627,875 - 2.627.875 - - 2.627.875
1,657,066 § 3,060,831 4,717,917  § 1,740.536 - 6.458.453
- 263,177 - 263,177 - - 263,177
- 44,937 63,724 108,661 1,070,772 - 1.179.433
99,855 570,201 670,056 303.652 . 973.708
44,841 20,000 64.841 - - 64.841
- 1,061.696 1,061,696 - - 1.061,696
- 3,634,804 3.634,804 - - 3.634.804
184,506 154,900 339,406 28.026 - 367.432
210,840 2,457,648 2,668,488 (2,668,488) - -
7,703,739 11,287,001 18,990,740 474,498 19,465.238
998,900 194,533 1,193,433 - - 1,193,433
651,997 - 651.997 - - 7 651,997
82,131 - 82,131 - - 82.131
- 961,004 961,004 - - 961,004
- 293,24] 293,241 - - 293,241
44,937 832,965 877,902 - 877,902
946,282 - 946,282 - - 946,282
761,313 960,764 1,722,077 - - 1,722,077
3,485,560 3,242,507 6,728,067 - - 6,728,067
2,472,183 1,181,620 3,653,803 - - 3.653.803
64,259 - 64,259 - - - 64,259
347,445 39,544 386,989 - - 386,989
358,103 - 358,103 - - 358.103
- 887,173 §87.173 - - 887.173
- 3,388,224 3,388.224 - - 3,388,224
1,225,828 - 1,225,828 - - 1,225,828
4,467,818 5,496,561 9,964,379 - - 9,964,379
7.953,378 8,739,068 16,692,446 - - 16,692,446
(249,639) 2,547,933 2,298,294 474,498 - 2,772,792
14,639,087 32,744,601 47,383,688 10,795,65%  $5,531,829 63,711,176
$14,389,448  $35292,534 $49,681,982 §$11,270,157 $5531,829 566,485,968

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets - Modified Cash Basis

For the Year Ended June 30, 1999

Unrestricted

Temporarily Permanently

General Desipnated Total Restricted Restricted Total
Revenues and other support:
Assessments $ 2668324 - § 2.668.324 - - § 2.668.324
Annual appeal 2,584,688 - 2,584,688 - - 2,584.688
Pooled investment income 991,294 $ 1.624,729 2,616,023 § 1.260,179 - 3.876.,202
Other investment income — '
priests” health and welfare trusts - 1.149,458 1,149,458 - - 1.149.458
Collections 41,795 120,766 162,561 986,181 - 1,148,742
Contributions . 332,125 445,127 777,252 205299 § 3,061 985.612
CDF Grant 7,560 25,000 32,560 ’ - - 32.560
Priests’ insurance premiums - 959,717 959,717 - - 959.717
Lay employee insurance
premiums (see Note 4) - 3.323,514 3,323,514 - - 3.323.3514
Other 106,793 164,129 270,922 21.340 - 292,262
Net assets released from restrictions 585,758 1,180,708 1,766,466 (1,766,466) - -
Total revenue and other support 7,318,337 8,993.148 16,311,485 706,533 3,061 17.021.679
Expenses:
Program services:
Catholic Charities 894,653 176.567 1,071,220 - - 1,071,220
Catholic education 541,578 - 541,578 - - 541578
Communication 72,349 - 72,349 - - 72,349
Distributions:
Education Fund - 745,463 745,463 - - 745,463
Other funds - 592,227 592,227 - - 502,227
Nationa: collections 42,714 717.676 760,390 - - 760.390
Other 1,108.482 - 1,108,482 - - 1.108.482
Pastoral services 809,700 311,415 1,121,115 - - 1,121,115
Total program services 3,469,476 2,543,348 6,012,824 - - 6.012.824
Supporting services:
Administration 2,085,792 531,939 2,617,731 - - 2,617.731
Capital expenditures 82,616 - 82.616 - - 82.616
Development 363,532 28,597 392,129 - - 392,129
Finance 372,746 - 372,746 - - 372.746
Priests’ insurance expense - 1,013,118 1,013,118 - - 1,003,118
Lay employee insurance
expense (see Note 4) - 2,899,716 2,899,716 - 2,899,716
Lay employee benefits 1,219,498 - 1,219,498 - - 1,219,498
Total supporting services 4,124,184 4,473,370 8,597,554 - - 8.597,554
Total expenses 7,593,660 7.016,718 14,610,378 - - 14.610.378
Changes in net assets (275,323) 1,976,430 1,701,107 706,533 3.061 2.410,701
Net assets at beginning of year 14,914,410 30,768,171 45,682,581 10,089,126 5,528,768 61,300,475
Net assets at end of year $14,639,087 $32,744,601 $47,383,688  $10.795,659 $5521.829 $63.711,176

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows - Modified Cash Basis
For the Years Ended June 30, 2000 and 1999

Cash flows from operating activities:
Changes in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
used in operating activities:
Net forgiveness of notes receivable
Net appreciation on pooled investments
Net appreciation on other investments -
priests’ health and welfare trusts
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Pledges receivable
Other assets
Assets held for affiliates
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliates
Loss on sale of real estate

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:-

Amounts drawn from pooled investments for operations

Reinvestment of interest and dividends into pooled investments

Reinvestment of interest and dividends into other investments -
priests' health and welfare trusts

Deposits into pooled investments

Amounts drawn from other investments for priests' pension
payments )

Amounts drawn from pooled investments for health insurance

Proceeds from sale of real estate

[ssuance of notes receivable

Repayments of notes receivable

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents af beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2000 1999
$2,772,792 $2,410,701
653,120 ;
(5.051,747)  (2.580,744)
(42,220)  (954,050)
8,777 412293
262,146  (502,657)
(7,199,335) 1,049,104
468,549 488,217
7199335 (1,049,104)
- 18,184
(928,583)  (708.056)
2373435 4,030,100
(1,406,706)  (1,295.458)
(220,957)  (195,408)
(3.361221)  (4323,017)
497,121 365.420
2834435  2.137485
i 61.869
(120,000) .
45,949 56,480
642,056 837.471
(286,527) 129.415
586,544 457,129
$ 300017 $ 586,544

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations ,

Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) is a not-for-profit corporation having as its
objects and purposes the promotion of the teachings of Jesus Christ, as taught and set forth by the
Roman Catholic Church throughout the Diocese in the State of Delaware and the nine (9) Counties of
the State of Maryland’s Eastern Shore and such territory over which the Diocese will have
jurisdiction as delegated by proper authority of the Universal Roman Catholic Church. Approximately
35% and 30% of the revenue for the Diocese was generated through income on investments for the
years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Basis of Reporting

The Diocese reports using the modified cash basis of accounting, which differs from the accrual basis
principally in not recognizing certain pledges and grants and in not establishing accruals for pension
liabilities and priests’ health and welfare trusts. The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with these principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying financial statements reflect only the operation of the Diocese. Certain other
operating entities have not been combined in the accompanying statements, the more significant of

7 which are as follows:

Affiliated Parishes and Schools
Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.

Catholic Charities, Inc.

Catholic Diocese Foundation :
Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc.
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc.
Catholic Youth Organization, Inc.
Children’s Home, Inc.

Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc.
Seton Villa, Inc.

Siena Hall, Inc.

The Diocese acts as a fiduciary for these entities by investing funds in its pooled investment and cash
management accounts on behalf of these entities,
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

Financial Statement Presentation A

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit Organizations. Resources are reported
for accounting purposes into separate classes of net assets based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. A description of the three net asset classifications follows:

‘e Unrestricted Net Assets include those assets that are available for the support of operations
and whose use is not externally restricted, although their use may be limited by other factors
such as by contract or board designation.

» Temporarily Restricted Net Assets include gifts for which donor imposed restrictions have
not been met and pledges receivable for which the ultimate purpose of the proceeds is not
permanently restricted. Temporarily restricted net assets are primarily restricted for youth
education and related activities, education of men for the priesthood, and the upkeep of
specific facilities.

¢ Permanently Restricted Net Assets include gifts, trusts, and pledges which require by donor
restriction that the corpus be invested in perpetuity and only the income be made available for
operations in accordance with donor restrictions.

Contributions

Contributions are recognized as revenue in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 116, “Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made.” Noncash
contributions are recorded at fair value on the date of donation. Contributions of cash and other nor.-
capital assets are reported as temporarily restricted operating revenue if the contributions are receivad
with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that
is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is accomplished,
temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement
of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Donor restricted contributions, which are received
and expended within the same fiscal year, are reported as unrestricted revenues.

Cash and Cash Equivalents '

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less. The Diocese investments in cash and cash equivalents are interest bearing. At times
these amounts may exceed federally insured imits.

Pooled Investments

Pooled investments are stated at fair value. Pooted investment income on the statement of activities
includes interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses, net of consulting and
custodial costs.

The Diocese manages an investment pool for its investments and those of its affiliated organizations.
The investment pool is held in a custody account at Mellon Trust. The pool is invested in a
combination of fixed income and equity securities and mutual funds.
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

The investment pool is exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risk. Due to
the level of risk associated with certain investments and the level of uncertainty related to changes in
the market value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near term
could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.

Pledges Receivable

Except for pledges made to the Annual Catholic Appeal and grants made by the Catholic Diocese
Foundation, Inc., which are accounted for on a cash basis, unconditional promises to give are reported
at fair value as pledges receivable and contributions in the period the promise is received. All pledges
are due in one to five years. The Diocese is not the recipient of any conditional pledges.

Real Estate and Equipment

Real estate consists of buildings and the related land. All real estate acquisitions are capitalized at
cost, when purchased, or at fair value at date of gift, when donated. Equipment is expensed at the time
of purchase.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93), “Recognition of Depreciation by
Not-for-Profit Organizations,” requires not-for-profit organizations to recognize depreciation as a cost
of using up the future benefits of their long-lived tangible assets. The Diocese has not adopted

SFAS 93. '

Assets Held for/Due to Affiliates ,
These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and invested for the affiliates by the Diocese in
the pooled investments.

2. Pooled Investments

The Diocese invests in a combination of fixed income and equity securities and mutual funds. The
composition of pooled investments as of June 30, 2000 and 1999 was as follows:

2000 1999
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,396,718 $§ 1,691,336
Fixed income ‘ 17,471,878 14,700,454
Domestic equity 29,873,646 30,136,018
International equity 7,417,840 6,020,472
Total pooled investments $57,160,082  $52,548.280
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

The composition of other investments — priests’ health and weifare trusts at June 30, 2000 and 1999
was as follows:

2000 T 1999
Cash and cash equivalents ' $ (98,776) $ 5,541
Fixed income ’ 2,524,549 2,568.039
Domestic equity , 5,521.100 5,607.235
Total other investments - i $7,946.873 $8,180.815

The fair value of these investments was determined based on quoted market prices at June 30, 2000
and 1999,

Pooled investment income for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999 consisted of the following:

2000 1999
Interest and dividends ] $1,406,706  $1,205,458
Net appreciation 5,051,747 2,580,744
Pooled investment income l $6,458,453  $3,876,202

The pooled investment income was vet of custodial and advisory fees in the amounts of $377,536 and
$265,650 for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Other investment income — priests’ health and welfare trusts for the years ended June 30, 2000 and
1999 consisted of the following;:

2000 1999
Interest and dividends ' $220,957 $ 195,408
Net appreciation 42220 954,050
Other investment income $263,177 $1,149,458

-10 -
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

3. Notes Receivable

Notes receivable at June 30, 2000 and 1999 were as follows:
. 2000 1999

Korean Catholic Community - interest payable at 2.8% in monthly

installments of $948.95 over |5 years, starting June 2000 $119,051 -
St. Mark's High School (roof repairs) - payable in annual

installments of $40,000 the first year and $45,000 the

next eight years beginning December 30, 1997,

non-interest bearing 270,000 $ 315,000
St. Anthony of Padua (construct Padua Academy) -

payable in annual installments of $25,000 due

June 30, non-interest bearing - 1,636,000
Diocesan guaranteed bank loan to a seminarian - 26,020
Total notes receivable . 389,051 1,977,020
Allowance for uncollectible receivables | - (1,008,900)
"Total notes receivable, net $38%,051 $ 968,120

During the year ended June 30, 2000, $1,662,020 of notes receivable were forgiven. Of this balance,
$1,008,900 had been reserved.

4. Related Party Transactions
Certain members of the Diocese’s board are also board members of certain affiliated corporations.

The Diocese includes on its balance sheet assets held for/due to affiliated corporations which are
reported as restricted net assets. These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and are
included in the financial statements of the Diocese to portray the fiduciary relationship on these
assets. : :

The Diocese received assessments from its parishes in the amount of $2,833,819 and $2,668,324 for
the years ended Jurne 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and from Catholic Cemeteries in the amount of
$103,617 and $71,250, respectively.

During 2000 and 1999, the Catholic Diocese Foundation awarded the Diocese $218,365 and
$319,476, respectively. Because the Diocese reports on a modified cash basis, only the cash amounts
received of $64,841 and $32,560, respectively, from the Catholic Diocese Foundation were included
on the statements of activities of the Diocese.

During 2000 and 1999, St. Mark’s contributed $205,854 and $229,100, respectively, to funds held
and administered by the Diocese and Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc.

-11-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of Catholic Youth Organization, Inc. (CYO) for wages,
payroll taxes and health benefits. During the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, the Diocese
disbursed a total of $132,889 and §132,521, respectively, on behalf of CYO. Of these balances,
amounts still due to the Diocese of approximately $6,700 and $8,000, réspectively, are included in
other assets for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of the Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc. (Press) for wages,
payroll taxes, health benefits and other miscellaneous expenses. During the years ended June 30, 2000
and 1999, the Diocese disbursed a total of $297,630 and $24 1,253, respectively, on behalf of Press.
Of these balances, amounts still due to the Diocese of approximately §47,000 and $49,000,
respectively, are included in other assets for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of St. Thomas More Academy (St. Thomas) for wages, payroll
taxes and health benefits. During the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, the Diocese disbursed a
total of $571,881 and $370,335, respectively, on behalf of St. Thomas. Of these balances, amounts
still due to the Diocese of approximately $59,000 and $39,000, respectively, are included in other
assets for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999.

The Diocese provided funding to related organizations. The more significant funding provided was as
follows: '

2000 1999
Press $420,617 $390,276
Catholic Charities, Inc. 998,900 940,000
St. Mark's High School 726,440 785,263
CYO 60,000 28,941
St. Thomas 693,500 797,482

The Diocese provides administrative services for the Catholic Diocese Foundation, CYO, the Press,
and St. Thomas. The Catholic Diocese Foundation was invoiced $9,671 and $11,776 for these
services for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Diocese absorbed the cost of
the services to CYOQ, the Press, and St. Thomas since the amounts are not significant.

The Diocese pays all claims and other expenses related to their self-insurance plan, which
commenced on July 1, 1998. The self-insurance plan covers health insurance, workers’ compensation
and automobile insurance, and property and liability insurance. Each affiliated corporation pays the
Diocese a premium for their portion of the plan claims and expenses. In 2000 and 1999, the Diocese
received approximately $3,600,000 and $3,300,000, respectively, in premium revenue from affiliated
corporations. These premiums are invested in an insurance reserve fund, and the Diocese-pays all
claims out of this fund. In 2000 and 1999, the Diocese paid approximately $3,400,000 and
$2,900,000, respectively, in actual claims. Included in accounts payable and accrued expenses is an
amount for estimated incurred but not reported claims.

The Diocese also sponsors a health and welfare trust for priests, which became self-insured effective
January 1, 2000. Each affiliated corporation pays the Diocese a premium for their portion of the
plan’s claims and expenses. In 2000 and 1999, the Diocese received approximately $1,100,000 and
$1,000,000, respectively, in premium revenues from affiliated corporations.

-12-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc,
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

The Diocese provides life insurance and long-term disability for all full-time employees of the
Diocese, parishes, and certain affiliated corporations, at no cost to those entities since these amounts
were not significant. The Diocese also provides pension for all full-time employees of the Diocese,
parishes and certain affiliated corporations. Approximately $49,700 and $44,300 of pension costs
were charged to other entities for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The Diocese charged rental fees of $1,956 and $1,872 for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, to the Catholic Diocese Foundation and rental fees of $20,988 and $21,866 for the years
ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, respectively, to the Press. A diocesan-owned building was used by
CYO, without charge, since the value was not significant.

5. Pension Plans

The Diocese sponsors a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all full-time
lay employees of the Diocese, parishes, and affiliated corporations, except Catholic Charities, which
has a separate plan. The Plan benefits are based on a monthly pension equal to 1% of the high five
year average compensation for each year of service. The following table sets forth the Plan’s status
determined using the measurement dates of January 1, 2000 and 1999:

2000 1999
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested
benefits of $11,963,304 and $10,468,979 $12,377.850  $10,802,635
Plan assets at fair value 10,014,280 8,493,857

The more significant actuarial assumptions utilized as of each valuation date are as follows:

Cost method Aggregate

Interest rate 7.5% per annum

Mortality 1984 Uniform Premium Table

Salary progression 4.0% per annum !

For the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999, $1,075,000 and $1,000,000, respectively, was funded ’
into the Plan and included in the statement of activities.

The fair value of Plan assets as of June 30, 2000 and 1999 was $10,036,794 and $9,84l ,945,
respectively.

The Diocese has also established a Revocable Priests Retirement and Welfare Trust to cover the
health and retirement cost of the clergy of the Diocese. As of June 30, 2000 and 1999 the fund assets
totaled $7,946,873 and $8,180,815, respectively. This balance is included within other investments on
the balance sheet. : m

- 13-
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2000 and 1999

6. Income Taxes

The Diocese is a not-for-profit corporation which has been granted exempt status from federal
taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

The Diocese guaranteed a loan of St, Thomas, which had an outstanding balance of $263,500 at
June 30, 1999. This loan was paid in full in prior to June 30, 2000.

In addition, the Diocese will support the operations of St. Thomas during the first several school years
of operation when enrollment levels and corresponding tuition is not expected to cover operating
expenses and planned capitai expenditures. It is estimated that approximately $3.5 to $4.5 million of
Diocesan support will be required for St. Thomas for the years 2000 through 2004. During 2000 and
1999, approximately $694,000 and $797,000, respectively, was provided to St. Thomas by the
Diocese in the form of contributions. It is expected that further support will be provided by loans or
additiona! contributions from the Diocese.

- 14-
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
i 2400 Eleven Penn Center
| Philadelphia PA 19103-2962
Telephone (215) 9563 80C0

imile (215) 963 8700
Report of Independent Accountants Facsimile (215)

To the Audit Comrmittee
Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc.
Wilmington, Delaware

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets - modified cash basis of the Catholic Diocese of
Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) as of June 30, 1998 and 1997 and the related statements of activities
and cash flows - modified cash basis for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Diocese's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, which standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit aiso includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial staternent presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

As described in Note 1, these financial statements were prepared on the modified cash basis, which
is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles.

The Diocese has not adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93),
"Recognition of Depreciation by Not-for-Profit Organizations,” which requires not-for-profit
organizations to recognize depreciation as a cost of using up the future economic benefits of their
long-lived tangible assets, The effect of not complying with SFAS 93 is not reasonably
determinable. :

In our opinion, except for the effect of not recognizing depreciation expense of long-lived tangible
assets as discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Diocese as of June 30, 1998 and 1997 and
the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended, on the basis of reporting
described in Note .

September 21, 1998
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CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON, INC.

Balance Sheets - Modified Cash Basis
June 30, 1998 and 1997

ASSETS

Cash

Pooted investments.

Other investments

Other assets

Pledges receivable

Notes receivable, net of allowance
Real estate

Assets held for affiliates

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Assets due to affiliales

Total liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted - general
Unrestricted - designated
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

1998 1997
Unrestricted
Board
General Designated Total Restricted Total Total

$ 391568 % 19,086 $ 410,654 $ 46475 % 457129 % 574,735
12,823,580 22,700,208 35,523,788 14,992,859 50,516,647 44,831,270
7,396,777 7,396,777 - 7,396,777 6,634,226

212,327 212,327 49,645 261,972 661,994
528,915 528,915 340,514

372,500 652,100 1,024,600 1,024,600 706,600
1,244,732 1,244,732 1,244,732 1,242,732
80,754,251 80,754,251 66,943,385

$ 15,044,707 $ 30,768,171 $ 45,812,878 $ 96,372,145 $ 142,185,023 $ 121,935,456
130,297 130,297 130,297 217,788

- 80,754,251 80,754,251 66,943,385

130,297 - 130,297 80,754,251 80,884,548 67,161,173
14,914,410 14,914,410 14,914,410 14,697,035
30,768,171 30,768,171 30,768,171 26,709,423

10,089,126 10,089,126 7,840,866

5,628,768 5,628,768 5,526,959
14,914,410 30,768,171 45,682,581 15,617,894 61,300,475 54,774,2_18_3‘_

$ 15,044,707 $ 30,768,171 $ 45812878 $96,372,145 $ 142185,023 $ 121,935,456

The accompanying notes are an integral

part of the financial statcments.




02L€0 MOd

Revenues and other support:
Assessments
Annual appeal
Pooled investment income
Other investment income
Collections
Contributions
COF Grant
Other

Total revenue

Expenses:
Program sesvices:
Catholic Charities
Christian Formation
Communication
Distributions:
Education Fund
Other tunds
National collections
QOther

Pastoral Concerns

Total program services
Supparting servicas:
Administration
Capital expendituras
Development
Finance
Lay employee benefits
Total supporting services
Total expenses
Excess/({deficiency) ol revenus over expenses
Net assels released from restriclions
Changes in net assets

Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets al end uf year

CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON, INC.

Statement of Activities - Modlfied Cash Basis
for the year ended Junc 30, 1998

Unrestricted _ — Restricted
Board Donor Temporarily  Permanently
__General Designated  __ Related Total Restricted _Restricted Tolal _ Total
$ 2,536,150 $ 2,536,150 $ 2,536,150
2,164,298 2,164,298 2,164,298
2,082,075 § 3525938 5,608,013 § 2,388.453 $ 2,388,453 7,996,466
- 1,107,030 1,107,030 - 1,107,030
38.860 62,759 101,819 847,508 897,508 999,127
73,988 413,359 487,348 1501089 §$ 1,808 1,582,898 2,070,248
153,225 25,000 X 178,225 400,000 - 400,000 578,225
167,772 868,185 _ 1,085,957 7898 _ 7,898 1,043,855
7,216,369 6,002,271 - 13,218,640 5,274,948 1,809 5,276,757 18,495,397
760,474 - $§ 168,354 928,828 . 928,828
657,582 - 657,582 - 657.582
447,747 . 447,747 - 447,747
- -, 773,578 773,578 - 773578
- 126,361 920,029 1,046,390 - 1,046,390
38,345 - 1,034,293 1,073,638 - 1,073,638
1,235,065 - 1,235,065 - 1,235,065
__..B45243 323,401 968,644 . 968,644
3,785,456 449,762 2,896,254 7131472 - - - 7,131,472
1,413,028 1,472,817 2,885,845 . 2,885,845
416,615 - 416,615 - 416,615
346,878 - 346,878 - 346,878
466,274 - 466,274 - 466,274
722,129 - 722,123 - 722,121
3,364,916 1472817 - 4837733 _ - - - 4837733
7,150,372 1,922,579 2896 254 11,969,205 - - - 11,869,205
65,997 4,079,692 (2.896,254) 1,249,435 5274948 1,809 5,276,757 6,526,192
151,378 {20,944} 2,896,254 3,026,688 {3,026,688) - (3,026 ,688) -
217,375 4,058,748 - 4,276,123 2248260 - 1,809 2,250,063 6,526,192
14,697,035 26,709,423 - _ _41406,458 7,840 865 5,526,959 13,367,825 54,774,283
$ 14914410 § 30,768,171 - $45,682,581 $10,089,126 §$5528,768 § 15617,894 $ 61300475

The accompanying notcs are an tntegral part of the financial statements.
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Revenues and other suppart:
Assessments
Annual appeal
Pooled investment income
Other invesiment income
Collections
Contributions .
CDF Grant
Other

Total revenue

Expenses:
Program services:
Catholic Charities
Christian Formalion
Communication
Distributions:
Education Fund
Other lunds
National collections
Other

Pastoral Concerns

Tatal pragram services
Supponing services:
Adrninlsiration
Capital expenditures
Developmeti
Finance
Lay employee benelits
Total supporting services
Total expenses
Excess/{deficiency) of ravenue over expenses
Net assets refeased from restictions
Changes in net assels

Net assels at beginning of year

Net assels at end of year

CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON, INC,

Statement of Activities - Modiﬁcd Cash Basis
for the year ended June 30, 1997

Unrestricted Restricted
Board Donor Temporarily  Permanently
General Designated Relaled Total _ Restricted Restricted Total Total
$ 2,380,600 $ 2,380,600 - $ 2,380,600
2,420,868 2,420,868 - 2,420,868
2205524 $ 3,463,711 5669235 § 1,832,561 $ 1,832,561 7,501,796
- 1,238,328 1,238,328 . - 1,238,328
39,163 91,055 130,218 862,808 862,808 993,026
25,684 311,240 336,924 2,040,740 $ 13,334 2,054,074 2,390,998
33,750 25,000 58,750 350,000 350,000 408,750
215,220 102,155 317475 20,718 20,718 338,093
7,320,809 5,231,489 12,552,299 5,106,827 13,334 5,120,161 17,672,459
752,546 $ 162,844 915,390 - 915,390
518,957 518,957 - 518,957
471,088 471,088 - 471,088
624,254 624,254 - 624,254
269,228 112,152 381,381 - 381,381
43,824 823,537 867,361 . 867,361
325,800 325,800 - 325,800
655,984 253,685 903,669 - 908,669
2768199 _ 522914 1,722,787 5,013,800 - i - 5,013,900
972,073 524,815 1,496,888 - 1,496,888
546,919 546,919 - 546,919
337,323 337,323 - 337,323
474,869 474,869 474,869
174,192 174,192 . - 174,192
2,505,376 . 524815 - 3,030,191 - _ . - 3,030,191
5,273,575  _ 1,047,728 1,722,787 8,044,091 . _ - 8,044,091
2,047,234 4,183,760 (1.722,787) 4,508,207 5,106,827 13,334 . 5,120,161 9,628,368
568,031 (82,250} 1,722,787 2,218,568 {2,025983] __(192585) _ (2,218,568} -
2,635,265 4,091,510 - 6,726,775 3,080,844 (179,251) 2,901,593 9,628,368
12,061,770 22617913 - 34,679,663 4,760,022 _5,706.210 10,466 232 45,145,915
$ 14,697,035 § 26,709,423 - $41406458 § 7,840,866 $5526959 $ 13,367,825 § 54,774,283

The accompanying notcs are an integral part of the {inancial statements,
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CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997

1998 1997
Cash fiows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $ 6,526,192 $ 9,628,368
Adjustmenits to reconcile change in net assets 1o net cash
(used in)/provided by operating activities:
Net appreciation on pooled investments (6,657,806) (6,246,578)
Other investment income (1,107,030) - (1,238,328)
(Increase)/decrease in pledges receivable (188,401) 3,134,038
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 400,022 (513,909)
Increase in assets held for affiliates (13,810,866) (11,320,160)
Increase/{decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses (87,491) 163,531
Increase in assets owed to affiliates - 13,810,866 11,320,160
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (1,114,514) 4,927,122
Cash flows from investing activities:
Amounts drawn from pocled investments for operations 3,947,000 2,794,006
Reinvestment of interest and dividends into pooled investments (1,338,660) {(1,255,218)
Deposits into pooled investments (1,635,912) (6,515,313)
Amounts drawn trom other investments for priests' pension
payments 344,480 321,788
Purchase of building or improvements {2,000) {138,804)
Issuance of notes receivable {400,000} -
Repayments of notes receivable 82,000 50,985
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 996,908 (4,742,556)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash (117,608) 184,566
Cash at beginning of year 574,735 390,169
Cash at end of year $ 457129 § 574,735
Non-cash activities:
Forgiveness of note receivable - $ 491,100

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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CATHOLIC DIOCESE OF WILMINGTON, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Nature of Operations:

Catholic Diocese of Wilmington, Inc. (the Diocese) is a not-for-profit corporation having as
its objects and purposes the promotion of the teachings of Jesus Christ, as taught and set forth
by the Roman Catholic Church throughout the Catholic Diocese of Wilmington in the State
of Delaware and the nine (9) Counties of the State of Maryland's Eastern Shore and such
territory over which the Catholic Digcese of Wilmington will have jurisdiction as delegated
by proper authority of the Universal Roman Catholic Church. Approximately 50% of the
revenue for the Diocese is generated through income on investments.

Basis of Reporting:

The Diocese reports using the modified cash basis of accounting, which differs from the
accrual basis principally in not recognizing certain pledges and grants and in not establishing
liabilities for pension liabilities. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
these principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying financial statements reflect only the operation of the Diocese. Certain
other operating entities have not been combined in the accompanying statements, the more
significant of which are as follows:

Affiliated Parishes

Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.

Catholic Charities, Inc.

Catholic Diocese Foundation
Catholic Ministry to the Elderly, Inc.
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc.
Catholic Youth Organization, Inc.
Children's Home, Inc.

Diocese of Wilmington Schools, Inc.
Seton Villa, Inc.

Siena Hall, Inc.
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:
Basis of Reporting, continued:

The Diocese acts as a fiduciary for the above entities by investing funds in its pooled
investment and cash management accounts on behalf of the above entities.

Financial Statement Presentation:

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 117, "Financial Statements: of Not-For-Profit Organizations."
Resources are reported for accounting purposes into separate classes of net assets based on
the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. A description of the three net asset
categories follows:

° Unrestricted Net Assets include those assets that are available for the support of
operations and whose use is not externally restricted, although their use may be
limited by other factors such as by contract or board designation.

. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets include gifts for which donor imposed

restrictions have not been met and pledges receivable for which the ultimate purpose
of the proceeds is not permanently restricted.

° Permanently Restricted Net Assets include gifts, trusts, and pledges which require

by donor restriction that the corpus be invested in perpetuity and only the income be
made available for operations in accordance with donor restrictions.

Contributions:

Contributions are recognized as revenue in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 116, "Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions
Made." Noncash contributions are recorded at fair value on the date of donation.
Contributions of cash and other non-capital assets are reported as temporarily restricted
operating revenue if the contributions are received with donor stipulations that limit the use
of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time
restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net
assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as
net assets released from restrictions. Donor restricted contributions, which are received and
expended within the same fiscal year, are reported as unrestricted revenues.
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:
Cash:
At times the Diocese maintains cash balances that may exceed federall y.msured limits.
Pooled Investments:

Pooled investments are stated at fair value. Pooled investment income on the statement of

‘activities of activities includes interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and

losses, net of consulting and custodial costs.

The Diocese manages an investment pool for its investments and those of its affiliated
organization. The investment pool is held in a custody account at Delaware Trust Capital
Management. The pool is invested in a combination of fixed income and equity securities
and mutual funds.

The Diocese utilizes a total return policy to determine the level of support for operations and
capital expenditures from pooled investments. The level of support is determined annually.

The investment pool is exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risk.
Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments and the level of uncertainty
related to changes in the market value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible that
changes in risks in the near term could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements.

Pledges Receivable:

Except for pledges made to the Annual Catholic Appeal and grants made by the Catholic

Diocese Foundation, Inc., which are accounted for on a cash basis, unconditional promises to
give are reported at fair value as pledges receivable and contributions in the period the
promise is received. The Diocese is not the recipient of any conditional pledges.

Real Estate:

Real estate consists of buildings and the related land. All acquisitions are capitalized at cost,
when purchased, or at fair value at date of gift, when donated.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 93 (SFAS 93), "Recognition of
Depreciation by WNot-for-Profit Organizations," requires not-for-profit organizations to
recognize depreciation as a cost of using up the future benefits of their long-lived tangible
assets. The Diocese has not adopted SFAS 93. The effect of not complymg with SFAS 93 is
not reasonably determinable.
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:
Assets Held for/Due to Affiliates:

These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and invested for the affiliates by the
Diocese in the pooled investments.

Reclassifications:
Certain amounts in the 1997 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
1998 presentation.
Pooled Investments:

The Diocese invests in a combination of fixed income and equity securities and mutual funds.
The composition of pooled investments as of June 30, 1998 and 1997 was as follows:

- 1298 1997
Cash and cash equivalenis $ 880223 $ 640,976
Fixed income 13,962,359 13,333,273
Domestic equity 32,681,579 28,184,969
Internationat equity 2,992,486 2,672,052
Total pooled investments $ 50,516,647 $ 44,831,270

The fair value of these investments was determined based on quoted market prices at June 30,
1998 and 1997.

Pooled investment income for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 was comprised of the
following:

1998 1997
Interest and dividends $ 1,338,680 § 1,255,218
Net appreciation ) 6,657,806 6,246,578
Pogled investment income $ 7,996,466 $ 7,501,796

The pooled investment income was net of custodial and advisory fees in the amounts of
$310,920 and $274,409 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

DOW 03126



3. Pledges Receivable:
Pledges receivable as of June 30, 1998 are due as follows:

Amounts due within one year : $
Amounts due in one to five years

4, Notes Receivable:

Notes receivable at June 30, 1998 and 1997 were as follows:

St. Mark's High School {roof repairs) - payable in annual
installments of $40,000 the first year and $45,000 the
next eight years beginning December 30, 1997,
non-interest bearing ) $

St. Anthony of Padua (construct Padua Academy) - :
payable in annual installments of $200,000 due
June 30, non-interest bearing

St. Helena (past due assessment) - payable in ten
semi-annual installments of $4,500 plus interest

_ at 3%, beginning June 30, 1993

Holy Family (refinance) - payable in two instaliments
of $12,500 due June 1, 1998 and January 1, 1999,

. non-interest bearing

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

454,746
74,169
528,915
1998 1997
360,000 -

1,661,000 § 1,686,000

- 4,500
12,500 25.000

Total notes receivable

Allowance for uncollectible receivables

2,033,500 1,715,500

(1,008,900) (1,008,900)

Total notes receivable, net 3

1,024,600 $ 706,600

5. Related Party Transactions:

Certain members of the Diocese's board are also board members of certain affiliated

corporations.

The Diocese includes on its balance sheet assets owned by affiliated corporations which are
reported as restricted net assets. These assets are owned by the affiliated corporations and are
inclided in the financial statements of the Diocese to portray the fiduciary relationship on

these assets.

10
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

Related Party Transactions, continued:

The Diocese received assessments from its parishes in the amount of $2,536,150 and
§2,380,600 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively, and from Catholic
Cemeteries in the amount of $57,000 and S55,000, respectively.

During 1998 and 1997, the.Catholic Diocese Foundation awarded the Diocese $467,100 and
$1,987,470, respectively. Because the Diocese reports on a modified cash basis, only the
cash amounts received from the Catholic Diocese Foundation were included on the
statements of activity of the Diocese.

In 1997, the Diocese received $4,424,140 from the Foundation's Education Fund. Of this
amount, $3,000,000 represented a pledge receivable as of June 30, 1996 to provide
supplements to teachers' salaries at parish and Diocesan elementary and secondary schools.

The Diocese disburses funds on behalf of Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc. for wages,
payroll taxes, health benefits, and other expenses. During the years ended June 30, 1998 and
1997, Press reimbursed the Diocese a total of $215,621 and $213,810, respectively.

The Diocese provided funding to related organizations. The more significant funding was
provided as follows: -

1998 1997
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc. $ 375,692 - $ 400,000
Catholic Charities, Inc. 891.250 1,014,390
St. Mark’s High Schoal 252,716 276,036
Catholic Youth Organization 37,399 18,280
St. Thomas Mare Academy 965,575 -

In addition, the Diocese advanced $400,000 to St. Mark's High School for a roof repair
project during 1997. This advance was converted to a note receivable during 1998. The
Diocese forgave a $491,000 note receivable from St. Mark's High School in 1997.

The Diocese provides administrative services for the Catholic Diocese Foundation, the
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc., and St. Thomas More Academy, Inc. The Catholic
Diocese Foundation was invoiced $12,926 and $23,142 for these services for the years ended
June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The Diocese absorbed the cost of the services to the
Catholic Press of Wilmington, Inc. and St. Thomas More Academy, Inc. since the amounts
are not significant.

The Diocese provides life insurance and long-term disability for all full-time employees of
the Diocese, parishes, and certain affiliated corporations, at no cost to those entities. These
amounts were not significant. The Diocese also provides pension for all full-time employees
of the Diocese, parishes and certain affiliated corporations. Pension costs amounted to
$1,580,000 and S1,000,000 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Of
these amounts, approximately $43,600 and $38,600 were charged to other entities for the
years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

11
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

Related Party Transactions, continued:

The Diocese charged rental fees of $1,788 and $1,716 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and
1997, respectively, to the Catholic Diocese Foundation and rental fees of $19,244 and
S18,480 for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively, to the Catholic Press of
W 11m1ngt0n A diocesan-owned building was used by Catholic Youth Orgamzatlon without
charge, since the value was not significant.

Pension Plans:

The Diocese sponsors a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all
full-time lay employees of the Diocese, parishes, and affiliated corporations, except Catholic
Charities, which has a separate plan. The Plan benefits are based on a monthly pension equal
to 1% of the high five year average compensation for each year of service. The following
table sets forth the Plan's status determined using the measurement dates of January 1, 1998
and 1997:

1998 1997
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested
banefits of $2,212,500 and $8,238,350 $ 9,542,861 $ 8,602,100
Plan assets at fair value 7,826,738 6,872,009

The more significant actuarial assumptions utilized as of each valuation date are as follows:

Cost method Aggregate

Interest rate 7.5% per annum

Mortality 1984 uniform premium table
Salary progression 4.0% per annum

For the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, $500,000 and $0, respectively, have been
funded into the Plan.

The fair value of Plan assets as of June 30, 1998 and 1997 was $8,028,532 and $7,244,549,
respectively. )

The Diocese has also established a Revocable Priests Retirement and Welfare Trust to cover
the health and retirement cost of the clergy of the Diocese. As of June 30, 1998 and 1997 the

fund assets totaled $7,396,777 and $6,634,226, respectlvely This balance is included within
other investments on the balance sheet.

Income Taxes:

The Diocese is a not-for-profit corporation which has been granted exempt status from
federal taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

12
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Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

Subsequent Event:

The Diocese has renegotiated its policies for property, liability, employee fidelity, and errors
and omissions insurance coverage. In that connection, an aggregate deductible in the amount
of $200,000 1s effective July 1, 1998 for claims made for these types of coverages.

Commitments and Contingencies:

The Diocese guaranteed a loan of St. Thomas More Academy, Inc. (St. Thomas), which had
an outstanding balance of $527,000 at June 30, 1998. ‘

In addition, the Diocese will support the operations of St. Thomas during the first several
school years of operation when enrollment levels and corresponding tuition is not expected to
cover operating expenses and planned capital expenditures. It is estimated that-
approximately $3.5 to $4.5 million of Diocesan support will be required for St. Thomas for
the years 1998 through 2004. During 1998, approximately $965,000 was provided to St.
Thomas by the Diocese in the form of contributions. It is expected that further support will
be provided by loans or additional contributions from the Diocese.

13
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Catholic D 32se of Wilmington, Inc.

Financial Trends

General Revenues

Parish Assessment

Appeal

Parish Over Goal Appeal Rebates

Collections:
Communications
Human Development
Aids

Cemetery Assessment

Gifts and Contributions and Other

CDF Granis

Subsidiary Corporation Pension Contribution

Subtotal General Revenues

Investment Income
General Fund
Security Fund
Charity Fund

Subtotal Investment Income

Total Genl Rev & Inv Inc

NET BUDGET EXPENSES:
Administration -

Catholic Charities

Catholic Education
Communications
Development

Finance

Pastoral Services

Net Budget Expenses

SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

FY 03 Budget

FY 02 Estimate

FY 02 Budget

3,124,200 50.9%

§ 3,283,844 47.7% $ 3125875 46.8% $

2,086,701 30.3% 2,038,239 30.5% 1,452,602 23.7%

(41,700) (154,157) (91,600)

25,000 24,941 25,000
3,000 3,000 3,000

0 28,000 0.4% 0 27941  0.4% 0 28,000 0.5%
125,000 1.8% 120,000 1.8% 120,000 2.0%
57,500 0.8% 57,659  0.9% 50,000 0.8%
0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
50,000 0.7% 45000 0.7% 45000 0.7%
5,589,345 81.2% 5,260,557 78.8% 4,728,202 77.0%
729,025 10.6% 764,038 11.4% 764,038 12.4%
359,920 5.2% 416,354  6.2% 416,354 6.8%
206,580 3.0% 232971  3.5% 232971 3.8%
1,295,525 18.8% 1.413,363 21.2% 1,413,363 23.0%
$ 6,884,870 100.0% $ 6,673,920 100% $ 6,141,565 100%
$ 4,189,306 53.7% $ 3,756,265 52.8% $  4,045685 54.8%
990,756 12.7% 960,766 13.5% 963,416 13.0%
850,282 10.9% 811,119 11.4% 726,405 9.8%
95,804 1.2% 90,003  1.3% 08,341  1.3%
307,486  3.9% 273,410 3.8% 256,006 3.5%
422,541 5.4% 381,420 5.4% 391,848  5.3%
938915 12.0% 839.405 11.8% 903,686 12.2%
7,795,000 100.0% 7,112,388 100.0% 7,385,387 100.0%

$  (910,220) $  (438,468) $_ (1,243,822)
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AMINISTRATION
Bishop's Office
Bishop's Residence
Building Commitiee
Charity Fund (misc)
Clergy in Prof Studies*
'Council for Religious
VG Administration
Lobbyist
Capital Equipment (GF)
Capital Improvements (GF)
Other General Fund Exp (GF)
Lay Pension Contribution (GF)
Lay Group Term Life Insur (GF)
Lay Long Term Disabllity (GF)
Lay Blood Bank (GF)
Natl/Regional Assessments (GF)
Chyristmas Bonus (GF)
High School Appeal Allocations (GF)
Pastoral Council
‘Pastoral Planning
Pasteral Plan - Sr. Suzanne
Council of Priests

Vicar for Priests .

Law Department

MIS

Tribunal

Women's Commission
Human Resources
The Dialog

Vianney House*
Admin Spec Assistant

Less: Restricted Funds *

Total Administration

CATHOLIC CHARITIES

CATHOLIC EDUCATION
Boy Scouts
_ Campus Ministry
Catholic Schools
CYO/Youth Ministry
Deaf Ministry
Dir Religious Education
Girl Scouts
Resource Center
Special Ministry

Total Catholic Education

COMMUNICATION
Communications
News Radio

Total Communications

NET BUDGETS FUNDED BY THE DIOCESE

FY 00 FY 01 FY 02 FY 02 FY 03 DIFFERENCE
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGETED ESTIMATED BUDGETED FY 03 LESS
NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE  NET EXPENSE FY 02 BUDGET %
105,618 110,275 114,643 114,500 122,657 8014  7.0%
40,761 43,071 44,108 42,147 45,266 1158  2.6%
1,086 2,000 2,000 2,000 1,810 (190}  (8.5%
0 40,000 32,833 -32,833 32,833 0 0.0%
42,218 ° 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
454 2,500 0 0 0 ‘ 0 #DIV/O|
89,828 93,607 97,632 98,359 109,539 11,907 12.2%
37,408 33,225 31 471 29,745 32,415 944  3.0%
51,196 75,000 75,000 75,000 100,000 25000  33.3%
13,062 82,000 82,000 70,955 115,000 33,000  40.2%
689,673 450,892 585,168 380,376 533,838 (51.330) (8.8%)
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,060 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 0.0%
116,443 124,000 126,000 149,009 154,176 28176  22.4%
108,297 114,000 116,500 94,780 98,568 (17.932) (15.4%)
1,088 1,054 1,100 1,135 1,100 0 0.0%
107,215 110,200 115,500 115,950 126,450 10,950  9.5%
52,708 53,000 52,600 53,946 54,000 2,000  3.8%
327,800 327,800 339,273 344,940 344,940 5667  1.7%
84 185 150 155 200 50  33.3%
553 50,000 30,000 11,250 30,000 0 0.0%
5,166 0 0 0 0 0 #DIVIO!
7,561 9,327 8,642 8,358 8,910 268 3.1%
14,421 13,245 12,564 11,205 12,865 301 2.4%
115,037 158,259 143,238 140,370 202,862 50,624  41.6%
157,146 250,528 171,385 140,476 169,577 (1,808)  (1.1%)
198,915 226,622 218,102 195,727 240,289 22187  10.2%
5,616 7,294 2,193 5,070 2,193 0 0.0%
162,563 144,739 169,412 164,660 164,418 (4.994) (2.9%
420,617 425,183 467,701 467,701 478,730 11,029  2.4%
75,018 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/OI
6,616 6,550 7,070 5,618 6,670 (400)  {5.7%)
3,954,168 3,954,556 4,045,685 3,756,265 4,189,306 143621  3.5%
(117,236) 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
3,836,932 3,954 556 4,045,685 3,756,265 4,189,306 143621  3.5%
998,900 974,385 963416 960,766 990,756 27,340 2.8%
1,839 2,100 3,850 2,000 4,050 200 52%
90,082 103,515 87,822 86,652 88,347 525  0.6%
221,067 220,953 248,452 348,269 373,122 124,670  50.2%
107,427 123,501 128,600 128,600 133,700 5100  4.0%
7,773 10,725 10,725 8,775 10,625 (100}  (.9%)
191,877 218,585 206,664 204,653 223,628 16,964  8.2%
1,220 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 0 0.0%
26,453 32,124 34,222 26,225 10,485 (23,737) #REF!
4,266 5,000 4,870 4,745 5,125 255 0.7%
652,004 717,703 726 405 811,119 850,282 123877 17.1%
82,131 84,316 58,341 90,003 95,804 (2,537)  (2.6%)
-0 0 0 0 0 0
82,131 84,316 98,341 90,003 95,804 (2,537)  (2.6%)

Ri2&120O0OR
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wcVELOPMENT

Development
Capital Campaign

Less:Restricted funds*
Total Development

FINANCE
' Finance
Service-Maint/Delivery
Print Shop

Total Finance

PASTORAL SERVICES

Archives

Chancery
Chaplains/Institutions
Clergy Cont Education*
Hispanic Ministry - Seaford
Hispanic Ministry

Ministry to Black Catholics*
Office for Religious
Ordained Deacons
Deacon Farmation*
Spirituality Training*
Seminary*

Radio Rosary/Marian Dev*
Ministry Formation Institute
Disciples in Mission
Worship Office

Liturgical Commission
Vocations*

Less:Restricted Funds*@
Total Pastoral Services

TOTAL ALL DEPARTMENTS
UNRESTRICTED NET EXP

CHAPLAINS/INSTITUTIONS
Christiana Hospital
Delaware State Hospital
Delaware State Police
Eastern Correctional
Gander Hill Prison
Recovering Community
Nursing Homes
Port of Wilmington
Smyma Prison

Total Institutions

NET BUDGETS FUNDED BY THE DIOCESE

FY 00 FY 01 FY 02 FY 02 FY 03 DIFFERENCE
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGETED ESTIMATED BUDGETED FY 03 LESS
NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE NET EXPENSE FY 02 BUDGET %

0 0 256,006 273,410 307,486 51,480 20.1%
0 0 185,118 149,641 162,237 (22,881) (12.4%)
0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/OI
0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
0 0 441,124 423,051 469,723 28559  6.5%
0 0 185,118 149,641 162,237 (22,881)  (12.4%)
347 445 329,582 256,006 273,410 307,486 51,480 20.1%
369,529 387,314 408,299 409,812 430,588 22,289  5.5%
(11,425) (25,339) (16,451) (28,362) (8.047) 8,404 (51.1%}

0 0 0 0 0 0
358,104 361,975 391,848 381,420 422,541 30693  7.8%
13,229 13,285 20,225 2,076 13,850 (6.375) (31.5%)
118,764 128,416 132,756 125,654 143,872 11,116 8.4%
272,175 291,482 301,511 289,801 303,064 1553  0.5%
51,912 37,228 37,228 37,228 37,228 0 0.0%
60,162 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
152,088 214,442 219,146 213,739 243,482 24,336 11.1%
(38,807) 0 0 {12.682) 22,318 22,318 #DIV/O!
21,144 54,062 42,260 . 43477 41,383 (677)  (21%)
17,545 19,127 20,628 20,572 21,088 460  2.2%
{6,585) 0 22,685 21,435 1,706 (20,978)  (62.5%)
{4,570) 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O]
229,371 327,151 359,836 286,157 299,747 (60,088) (16.7%)
(10,318) .0 -0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
0 45,645 61,797 61,797 70,950 9,153  14.8%
0 0 0 0 0 0 #DIV/O!
104,170 107,261 80,228 71,086 77,202 (3.026) (3.8%)
2,034 2430 2,450 2,450 0 (2,450)  (100.%)
101,022 102,396 85,616 115,793 77,680 (7.936)  (9.3%)
1,083,336 1,342,925 1,386,366 1,278,583 1,353,570 (32,796)  (2.4%)
322,025 466,775 482,680 439,178 414,855 {68,025) (14.1%)
761,311 876,150 903,686 839,405 938,915 35229  3.9%
7,036,827 7,258,667 7,385,387 7,112,388 7795090 - 409703  5.5%
65,660 71,917 75,315 75,191 95,004 19,779 26.3%
14,121 15,555 16,575 14,475 14,890 (1,685)  (10.2%)
5,010 6,060 6,012 6,019 6,085 73 1.2%
643 1,875 1,470 638 1,450 (20} (1.4%)
1,803 1,852 1,954 1,805 1,993 39 2.0%
35,914 37,150 38,998 38,025 46,174 7176 18.4%
111,310 116,732 117,056 113,375 80,751 (26,305) (22.5%)
355 600 600 129 613 13 2.2%
36,359 39,631 43,531 40,144 46,014 2483  57%
272,175 291,482 301,511 289,801 303,064 1553  0.5%
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Catholic Diocese of Wilmington
XXIII. FINANCIAL STATE OF THE DIOCESE
Statistical Index

Entity: Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.

Enclosures:

Audited Financial Statements for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001

Audited Financial Statements for the years ended June 30, 2000 and 1999

Audited Financial Statements for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1997

Budget summary for the year ending June 30, 2003

DOW 03134



CatholicCemeteries, Ihc.

Financial Statements for the Years Ended
June 30, 2002 and 2001
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Twe Commerce Square, Suite 1700

2001 Market Street

Ptiladelphia PA 19103-7042
Telephone (267) 330 3000
Facsimile (267) 3303300

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors
Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.
Wilmington, Delaware

Ir. our opinion, tﬁe accorapanying balance shests and the related statements of activities and
changes in net assets and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Catholic Cemeteries, Inc. (Cemeteries) as of June 30, 2002 and 2001 and ‘he changes in its net
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
35ponsibility of Cemeteries’ management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financia! statements based on our audits. We conducted cur audits of these statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Urited States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statemnents are free-of material misstatement. An audit includes examin:rng, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the émounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounﬁng principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provice a reasor:ab’e basis for

oUur OpINION.

%/MW%A/W[’ Vf/@w&é’b

September 13, 2002
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Catholic Cemeteries, Inc.
Balanc